
Agenda 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT EFFICIENCY TASK FORCE 

Meeting 03 
February 22, 2021 
Zoom Webinar 
 
 
 

I. Call to order Chair 
II. Roll call Administrative Assistant 

III. Task force member questions on local government 
efficiency issues and recommended solutions 
provided to the task force 

 

Chair, Members 
 

Tiffany Henderson, Senior Public 
Policy Coordinator, Florida Association 

of Counties 
 

Rebecca O’Hara, Deputy General 
Counsel, Florida League of Cities, Inc. 

 
Chris Lyon, 

Lewis, Longman & Walker, Florida 
Association of Special Districts 

IV. Presentation and consideration of potential task 
force initiatives 

Chair, Members 
 

OPPAGA staff 
V. Task force next steps Chair, Members 

VI. Other business Chair and Members 
VII. Public comment Open to public 

VIII. Closing remarks Chair 
 



 

 

 
MELISSA MCKINLAY 
PRESIDENT 
PALM BEACH 
 
RALPH C. THOMAS, JR. 
PRESIDENT ELECT 
WAKULLA 
 
LEE CONSTANTINE 
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT 
SEMINOLE 
 
BILL TRUEX 
SECOND VICE PRESIDENT 
CHARLOTTE 
 
NICK MADDOX 
IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT 
LEON 
 
VIRGINIA “GINGER” 
DELEGAL 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Date: February 11, 2021 
 
To: Chair Whitmore, Vice Chair Caldwell, and Members of the Local Government 

Efficiency Task Force  
 
From: The Florida Association of Counties 
 
RE: Local Government Efficiency – Recommendations/Solutions 
 
 
Per the request of the task force we have listed possible recommendations to the 
efficiency issues we outlined during the task force meeting on Wednesday, January 
20, 2021. 
 
Efficiency Issues & Recommendations/Solutions 
 
Issue: Unfunded mandates that require counties to take on additional 
administrative and policy responsibilities, which change the structure in how 
counties operate and do business. 
 
Preemptions continue to be an area that plagues the efficiency of local 
government. The state legislature has passed a complete preemption on the 
regulation of firearms and ammunition, additional restrictions on smoking, use of 
plastic bags/styrofoam by retail establishments, tree trimming, beach access, 
autonomous vehicles, small cell bill and scooters.   
 

Recommendation: The Florida Association of Counties guiding principles 
states the association opposes any state or federal unfunded mandates and 
preemptions that ultimately limit the ability of local elected officials to make 
fiscal and public policy decisions for the citizens to whom they are 
accountable.  We recommend that these statutes be evaluated. 

 
The Florida Association of County Attorneys developed a white paper 
addressing unfunded mandates including: 

• Public Records and Open Meetings – Chapters 119 and 286 
• Ordinance Adoption – Section 125.66  
• Other Notice Certain procurements – Chapter 50  
• Ethics - Chapter 112  

o Ethics training - Section 112.3142(2)(a) 

FACA Unfunded Mandates Whitepaper, November 2016 (attached) 

FACA Unfunded Mandates Quick Reference Guide, November 2016 

(attached) 
 

http://faca.fl-counties.com/sites/default/files/2016-12/County%20Unfunded%20Mandates%20in%20Florida.Final%202016.pdf
http://faca.fl-counties.com/sites/default/files/2016-12/County%20Unfunded%20Mandates%20in%20Florida.Final%202016.pdf
http://faca.fl-counties.com/sites/default/files/2016-12/Unfunded%20Mandates%20Cheat%20Sheet.Final%2011.2016.pdf
http://faca.fl-counties.com/sites/default/files/2016-12/Unfunded%20Mandates%20Cheat%20Sheet.Final%2011.2016.pdf


 

 

 
MELISSA MCKINLAY 
PRESIDENT 
PALM BEACH 
 
RALPH C. THOMAS, JR. 
PRESIDENT ELECT 
WAKULLA 
 
LEE CONSTANTINE 
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT 
SEMINOLE 
 
BILL TRUEX 
SECOND VICE PRESIDENT 
CHARLOTTE 
 
NICK MADDOX 
IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT 
LEON 
 
VIRGINIA “GINGER” 
DELEGAL 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

The following list are areas over which the Legislature has preempted 
counties from acting. Note, in some cases preemption is complete. In other 
cases, it is partial.  

• Regulation of smoking – Section 386.209  
• Testing of cigarettes for flammability – Section 633.142(11)  
• Cultivation and processing of medical cannabis by dispensing 

organizations – Section 381.986(8)  
• Mobile home park landlord-tenant issues – Section 723.004(2)  
• Sanitary standards in mobile home parks and R.V. parks – 

Section 513.051  
• Environmental control definitions – Section 403.7031  
• Regulation and certification of electrical power plants – Section 

403.510(2)  
• Certification of electrical transmission lines – Section 403.536(2) 

State Preemption of County Regulatory Authority (attached) 
Preemption of County Authority in Florida (attached) 

 
 
Issue: Local government plays a vital role in economic development and the 
business community.  Businesses should not be forced to navigate the state 
legislative process for minor matters that are easily addressed at the local level. 
This is particularly problematic for small businesses, which may lack the resources 
to pursue matters legislatively. Local governments are the most accessible venue 
to resolve business concerns because most familiar with their communities. 
 

Recommendation: We recommend that local governments continue to be 
the leaders and decision makers in the planning and implementation of 
economic development initiatives in their communities as well as seeking 
opportunities through state agencies such as Enterprise Florida and the 
Department of Economic Opportunity. 

 
The National Association of Counties (NACo) highlighted Hillsborough County 
economic development initiatives in the Strong Economies, Resilient 
Counties: The Role of Counties in Economic Development.  Hillsborough 
County economic development initiatives include: 

• Manufacturing Academy and Apprenticeship/Internship Program 
(MAAIP) a two-year program to promote manufacturing as a career 
not only for students, but also the current workforce in the county, 
especially veterans, women, minorities and underserved 
communities.  Funded by Hillsborough County and administered by 
the County Economic Development Department. 

• Competitive Sites Program which aims to provide immediate 
information on development opportunities, regulatory assistance 
and strategic public sector investments. 

http://faca.fl-counties.com/sites/default/files/2016-12/Preemption%20Cheat%20Sheet.Final%202016.pdf
http://faca.fl-counties.com/sites/default/files/2016-12/Preemption%20Research.Final%202016.pdf


 

 

 
MELISSA MCKINLAY 
PRESIDENT 
PALM BEACH 
 
RALPH C. THOMAS, JR. 
PRESIDENT ELECT 
WAKULLA 
 
LEE CONSTANTINE 
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT 
SEMINOLE 
 
BILL TRUEX 
SECOND VICE PRESIDENT 
CHARLOTTE 
 
NICK MADDOX 
IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT 
LEON 
 
VIRGINIA “GINGER” 
DELEGAL 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

• The Economic Development Innovation Initiative (EDI2) is a 
comprehensive program to help the growth of technology and 
innovative start-ups and small businesses within the county.  

 
NACo Strong Economies, Resilient Counties: The Role of Counties in 
Economic Development Report (Hillsborough County attached) 
 

Issue: Working with other local government entities forming interlocal agreements 
for shared services that offer efficiencies and potential cost savings.  The shared 
services model will become ever more important as local governments navigate 
the effects of the Coronavirus pandemic. 
 

Recommendation: We recommend that the task force strongly encourage 
interlocal agreements and shared services whenever feasible.  Examples of 
county government shared services include affordable housing, animal 
control, court services, economic development, infrastructure maintenance 
and jails.    
 
A County Manager’s Guide to Shared Services in Local Government 
(attached) 

 
Issue: Reporting required by the state that do not lead to actionable items or 
changes yet requires staff time and resources to develop and submit. 
 

Recommendation: We recommend the state implement a sunset review of 
required reporting.  The state should do an inventory of reporting and 
analyze how it is being utilized and whether or not the reporting is leading to 
actionable items or changes.    

  
We surveyed county managers regarding reporting required by the state and the list 
of reports we received are attached. 
 
If the task force needs specific information, please let us know and we can reach out 
to the counties that responded to obtain more details.  Again, thank you for allowing 
us to provide information on local government efficiency and we look forward to 
working with you throughout this process. 
 
 
 

https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/documents/Strong%20Economies%20-%20Urban%20Case%20Studies_updated_0.pdf
https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/documents/Strong%20Economies%20-%20Urban%20Case%20Studies_updated_0.pdf
https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/event_attachments/Additional%20Service%20Sharing%20Resources.pdf


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MANDATES ON COUNTIES IN FLORIDA 
 
 

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIESi 
AND FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY ATTORNEYSii 

NOVEMBER 2016 



 

i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 

 
I. INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................... 1 
II. HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF COUNTY HOME RULE AND THE UNFUNDED MANDATES 
PROVISION................................................................................................................................ 2 

A. Home Rule Powers ....................................................................................................... 2 
B. The Unfunded Mandates Provision .......................................................................... 2 

III. THE OBLIGATIONS AND UNCERTAINTY BEHIND MANDATES DELEGATED TO COUNTY 
GOVERNMENTS ......................................................................................................................... 3 

A. County Operations ....................................................................................................... 3 
B. County Buildings .......................................................................................................... 6 
C. Public Safety and Courts ............................................................................................ 8 
D. Health and Human Services ......................................................................................13 
E. Parks, Recreation, and Libraries .............................................................................16 
F. Growth Management ...................................................................................................17 
G. Environmental Protection .........................................................................................19 
H. Transportation .............................................................................................................21 
I. Constitutional Officers ................................................................................................20 

IV. EXAMPLE OF COUNTY EXPENDITURES ............................................................................24 
 
 
 



1 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
State and federal mandates are proclamations of law – pursuant to a 

constitutional or statutory provision, or an administrative regulation – which 
require a local government to carry out a specified activity, service, or program or 
otherwise expend money in a dictated way.1 In a fiscal sense, a mandate is the 
“difference between what a local government spends on a legally mandated activity 
and what the government would spend on the same activity [or lack thereof] in the 
absence of that mandate.”2 In the last quarter of the 20th century, there was an 
influx of federal mandates placed on state governments in order to maintain social 
policy control while cutting federal spending. These fiscal responsibilities required 
by federal law led to states enacting their own cost-shifting legislation onto local 
governments. Florida is no exception to this trickle-down trend.3   

In the 1980’s alone, Florida’s legislature enacted approximately 300 
mandates requiring local governments’ compliance.4 Counties and municipalities 
were forced to spend millions of dollars to comply with these mandates, often 
addressing problems from which they did not themselves suffer. Moreover, many of 
these mandates were completely unfunded by the state.5 In response to the surge of 
mandates, the Florida Legislature proposed an amendment to the state’s 
constitution which would restrict mandates in 1990.6 Although this amendment 
(known as the “Unfunded Mandates” provision) was considered a win amongst 
many local government officials, there were, many exemptions and exclusions that 
allow for the continuance of cost-shifting legislation by the state. Even after the 
Unfunded Mandates provision, counties remain particularly susceptible to mandate 
legislation, as compared to cities, due to their closer connection to the state. 

Florida’s counties rely on ad valorem taxes, service charges, state-shared 
revenue, utility service taxes, and other lesser revenue sources in order to comply 
with the numerous mandates handed down to them by the state (and somewhat by 
the federal government) and to fund their own local needs. It can be challenging to 
accurately measure the costs of these mandates for many reasons. Data on the costs 
of mandates may not always be reliable. Many officials have different definitions of 
what qualifies as a mandate, and there are countless indirect costs associated with 
mandates.7 This report aims to flesh out the myriad of mandates which require 
Florida’s counties to fund the different responsibilities rendered to them by the 
state.  Only express, specific constitutional or statutory mandates on counties are 
included in this report 

 
                                                           

1 Joseph F. Zimmerman, The State Mandate Problem, 19 STATE & LOCAL GOV. REV. 2, at 78 (1987). 
2 Id. 
3 Nancy Perkins Spyke, Florida’s Constitutional Mandate Restrictions, 18 NOVA L. REV. 1403, 1404 (1994).   
4 Id.  
5 J. Edwin Benton, Fiscal Aid and Mandates the County Experience (providing that sixty-five percent of 

state mandates were paid for in whole or partially by counties, while only twenty-seven percent of federal 
mandates were such). 

6 Fla. Const., art. VII, § 18. 
7 Benton, supra note 5.  



 

2 
 

II. HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF COUNTY HOME RULE AND THE UNFUNDED 
MANDATES PROVISION 
 

The 1885 Florida Constitution included a rather glossed over approach to 
governing counties than the State Constitution of today. Similar to the current 
constitution, the 1885 version provided the guidelines for local government in 
Article VIII. However, the provisions mainly focused on the establishment of 
counties and appointment of commissioners and other county officers, thus speaking 
relatively little to the authority of counties and other forms of local government. 
The major revisions of Florida’s Constitution took place in 1968, which added a 
majority of the language seen today. 
 

A. Home Rule Powers 
Prior to this 1968 constitutional revision, Florida’s counties could only 

exercise the powers granted by the legislature. However, due to the public’s 
expectations for local governments to resolve the matters particular to their area, a 
national movement developed favoring the broadening of powers for county and 
municipal governments.8 The reallocation of power into counties that occurred with 
the 1968 Constitution gave counties the ability to enforce rules on matters of local 
concern and gave local decision-makers the tools to meet the demands of their 
people.9 While the State furnished counties with many of the powers it once held 
exclusively, the counties did not develop complete independence.  
 Chapter 125 of the Florida Statutes prescribes the general powers of 
counties. “These powers illustrate the many functions in which counties are 
involved, including fire protection, health and welfare services, zoning and business 
regulations, air pollution control, parks and recreation, libraries, museums, waste 
and sewage regulation and control, and public transportation.”10 A critical focal 
point to this report involves the concept that Chapter 125 gives the power for 
counties to act in these many different forms—it does not, however, demand that 
counties provide such services. 

 
B. The Unfunded Mandates Provision  

The 1990 Unfunded Mandates provision was one of the most popular 
amendments to the Florida Constitution ever adopted. In total, over two million 
electors voted for the amendment sponsored by the Florida Legislature.11 The 
amendment contains five subsections pertaining to mandate restrictions: (a) 
provides that there must be certain conditions met in order to for counties and 
municipalities to fund the mandated requirement; (b) prohibits altering the local 

                                                           
8 FAC, FLORIDA COUNTY GOVERNMENT GUIDE 25 (2012). 
9 Id. 
10 Id. at 26. 
11 Laws Affecting Local Governmental Expenditures or Ability to Raise Revenue or Receive State Tax 

Revenue, Florida Dep’t of State Div. of Elections, available at 
http://election.dos.state.fl.us/initiatives/initdetail.asp?account=10&seqnum=57 (recognizing 2,031,557 as voting 
for the constitutional amendment, as opposed to only 1,140,745 voting against it). 



 

3 
 

government’s revenue power without super majority vote; (c) prohibits minimizing 
the state tax shared with local governments without super majority vote; (d) 
provides that laws funding pension benefits, criminal laws, election laws, the 
general appropriations act, special appropriations act, laws authorizing but not 
expanding statutory authority, are exempt; and (e) provides a catch-all that if a law 
has an “insignificant fiscal impact” it is exempt from the mandate restrictions. 
 
III. THE OBLIGATIONS AND UNCERTAINTY BEHIND MANDATES DELEGATED TO 
COUNTY GOVERNMENTS 
 

The Florida Constitution is the organic source of what is required of counties; 
however the Florida Statutes, Attorney General Opinions, and case law also provide 
crucial references in identifying county mandated responsibilities. Chapter 125 of 
the Florida Statutes provides the powers and duties that county governments have 
the authority to provide. This comprehensive list does not mean that counties must 
provide such services, just that they have the ability to do so.   
 

A. County Operations 
 

      i. Public Records and Open Meetings 
The Florida Constitution entitles every person to access public records and 

meetings in connection with the official business of any “public body, officer, or 
employee of the state, or persons acting on their behalf.”12  

The “Government in the Sunshine Law” obligates public boards or 
commissions (e.g. Board of County Commissioners) to open their meetings to the 
public, to provide reasonable notice of such meetings, and to provide minutes of 
such meetings.13 The notice requirement is somewhat broadly defined as “any 
procedure that is fair under the circumstances and necessary to protect the public 
interest.”14 Moreover, a new additional feature to this “open meetings” mandate is 
the requirement for members of the public to be given the opportunity to be heard 
before a board or commission.15  

Public records encompass a wide-ranging amount of materials,16 but as long 
as the record is “made or received by an agency in connection with official business, 

                                                           
12 Fla. Const. art., I, § 24. 
13 Fla. Stat. § 286.011 (2013) (“All meetings of any board or commission of any state agency or authority . . . 

are declared to be public meetings open to the public at all times.”). 
14 Fla. Stat. § 120.525(3) (2013). Currently, the notice is not required to contain an agenda with every issue 

that will be discussed, Grapski v. City of Alachua, 31 So.3d 193 (2010), but is required to inform the public 
where and when the meeting will be openly held, Lyon v. Lake Cnty., 765 So.2d 785 (2000). 

15 Fla. Stat. § 286.0114 (2013) (“Members of the public shall be given a reasonable opportunity to be heard 
on a proposition before a board or commission.”). 

16 Fla. Stat. § 119.011(12) (2013) (“’Public records’ means all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, 
photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical 
form, characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection 
with the transaction of official business by any agency.”). 



 

4 
 

and is used to perpetuate, communicate or formalize knowledge of some type” the 
public has the right to inspect or copy it.17 
 

ii. Ordinance Adoption Requirements 
 Counties have the power to enact ordinances to the extent authorized by the 
Florida Constitution.18 However, these ordinance-making powers are restricted by 
mandated procedures which require: notice,19 official copy kept available to the 
public, a place for the public to view the copy of the ordinance, and opportunity for 
interested parties to be heard with respect to the proposed enactment or 
amendment of the ordinance.20 Ordinance adoption procedures for land use 
ordinances are spelled out in the statute.  Other ordinance requirements:  Sec. 
125.67 provides requirements for ordinances and ordinance amendments and 
includes: 
 

The enacting clause of every ordinance shall read: “Be it Ordained by 
the Board of County Commissioners of      County” 

 
iii. Other Notice Requirements 

Besides enacting or amending county ordinances, there are many other 
county actions which mandated with notice and advertising procedures. Chapter 50 
of the Florida Statutes contains the extensive practice and procedure guidelines 
which a county must use when notifying the public of certain solicitations for 
products and services. In general, any statutorily required legal notice, 
advertisement, or publication must be published in a newspaper: that has been in 
existence for at least one year,21 printed and published weekly or more often, 
contains at least one-quarter of its words in English, and is for sale to the general 
public.22 
                                                           

17 Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid and Associates, Inc., 379 So 2d 633 (Fla. 1980); Fla. Stat. § 
119.01(1) (2013) (“It is the policy of this state that all state, county, and municipal records are open for personal 
inspection and copying by any person.”). 

18 Fla. Const. art. VIII, § 1. 
19 Notice must be published in a newspaper serving said county. See infra Part.III.A.iii (discussing the 

several requirements when posting a notice within a newspaper is necessary). 
20 Fla. Stat. § 126.65(2)(a) (2013) (“The regular enactment procedure shall be as follows: The board of county 

commissioners at any regular or special meeting may enact or amend any ordinance, . . . A copy of such notice 
shall be kept available for public inspection during the regular business hours of the office of the clerk of the 
board of county commissioners. The notice of proposed enactment shall state the date, time, and place of the 
meeting; the title or titles of proposed ordinances; and the place or places within the county where such 
proposed ordinances may be inspected by the public. The notice shall also advise that interested parties may 
appear at the meeting and be heard with respect to the proposed ordinance.”). 

21 Fla. Stat. § 50.031 (2013) (requiring publication to be “in a newspaper which at the time of such 
publication shall have been in existence for 1 year and shall have been entered as periodicals matter at a post 
office in the county where published”). 

22 Fla. Stat. § 50.011 (2013) (“Whenever by statute an official or legal advertisement or a publication, or 
notice in a newspaper has been or is directed or permitted in the nature of or in lieu of process, or for 
constructive service, or in initiating, assuming, reviewing, exercising or enforcing jurisdiction or power, or for 
any purpose, including all legal notices and advertisements of sheriffs and tax collectors, the contemporaneous 
and continuous intent and meaning of such legislation all and singular, existing or repealed, is and has been 
and is hereby declared to be and to have been, and the rule of interpretation is and has been, a publication in a 



 

5 
 

 
iv. Ethics 

 Besides the notice and public meeting requirements, county commissioners 
and constitutional officers are also mandated to complete ethics training annually 
that addresses the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees and Florida’s 
public records and public meetings laws.23 
 

v. Budget System 
Counties are required to “prepare, approve, adopt, and execute” a budget 

every fiscal year.24 The budget must be approved by the board of county 
commissioners and must be balanced so that the receipts match the appropriations 
and reserves.25 After the constitutional officers have provided proposed budgets to 
the board of county commissioners and the board then forms a tentative budget, the 
budget is then subject to notice and hearing requirements.26 The board of county 
commissioners is required to prepare a summarized statement of the adopted 
tentative budgets (with different requirements therein) and advertise the summary 
through a newspaper in order to allow people to participate in public hearings when 
adopting final budgets.27 Amendments to the final adopted budgets are also 
mandated to comply with their own notice and public hearing requirements.28  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
newspaper printed and published periodically once a week or oftener, containing at least 25 percent of its words 
in the English language, entered or qualified to be admitted and entered as periodicals matter at a post office in 
the county where published, for sale to the public generally, available to the public generally for the publication 
of official or other notices and customarily containing information of a public character or of interest or of value 
to the residents or owners of property in the county where published, or of interest or of value to the general 
public.”). 

23 Fla. Stat. § 112.3142(2)(a) (2013) (“All constitutional officers must complete 4 hours of ethics training 
annually that addresses, at a minimum, s. 8, Art. II of the State Constitution, the Code of Ethics for Public 
Officers and Employees, and the public records and public meetings laws of this state. This requirement may be 
satisfied by completion of a continuing legal education class or other continuing professional education class, 
seminar, or presentation if the required subjects are covered.”); Fla. Stat. § 112.3142(1) (2013) (defining 
“constitutional officer” to include: “the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the Attorney General, the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Commissioner of Agriculture, state attorneys, public defenders, sheriffs, tax collectors, 
property appraisers, supervisors of elections, clerks of the circuit court, county commissioners, district school 
board members, and superintendents of schools”). 

24 Fla. Stat. § 129.01(1) (2013). 
25 Fla. Stat. § 129.01(2) (2013) (“The budget must be balanced, so that the total of the estimated receipts 

available from taxation and other sources, including balances brought forward from prior fiscal years, equals 
the total of appropriations for expenditures and reserves.”). 

26 Fla. Stat. § 129.03 (2013) (“The board of county commissioners shall receive and examine the tentative 
budget for each fund and, subject to the notice and hearing requirements . . .”). 

27 Id. (“Upon receipt of the tentative budgets and completion of any revisions, the board shall prepare a 
statement summarizing all of the adopted tentative budgets. The summary statement must show, for each 
budget and the total of all budgets, the proposed tax millages, balances, reserves, and the total of each major 
classification of receipts and expenditures, classified according to the uniform classification of accounts adopted 
by the appropriate state agency. The board shall cause this summary statement to be advertised one time in a 
newspaper of general circulation published in the county, or by posting at the courthouse door if there is no such 
newspaper . . .”). 

28 See Fla. Stat. § 129.06 (2013) (requiring the different notice and public meeting requirements pertaining 
to amendments of the county budget, including: advertisements in newspaper and posting to the county’s official 
website). 



 

6 
 

vi. Contract Procedures and Bidding Requirements 
There is no general mandate which requires Florida’s counties to 

competitively bid or award the lowest bidder, however, the “strong public policy of 
the state requires” that “expenditures of public funds must be made on competitive 
bids whenever possible.”29 Moreover, there are several statutory provisions that 
require counties to participate in competitive bidding. When a contract or purchase 
is subject to competitive bidding, counties must publish a notice soliciting 
submission of bids and then the county must award the contract to the lowest or 
“best” bidder.30 For example, the Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act (CCNA) 
requires counties to fulfill a three-step process – including public announcement, 
competitive selection, and negotiation between multiple parties – in order for the 
county to contract professional services of an architect, engineer, landscape 
architect, surveyor, or design-builder.31 

Further, beyond each county’s responsibilities towards the bidders, the 
“Public Bid Disclosure Act” requires counties and other local governmental entities 
to disclose all permits or fees (including license, permit, impact, and inspection fees) 
in the bidding documents.32   

 
vii. Florida Retirement System 

“Participation in the Florida Retirement System is compulsory for all officers 
and employees” throughout Florida, including county officers and employees.33 

 
 

B. County Buildings 
 

i. Supervision and Control of County Property 
Counties have the primary responsibility for the supervision and control of all 

county property not delegated to another “custodian.”34 This responsibility is 
ultimately vested in the board of county commissioners, and the property purchased 
by the board or by the county officers must comply with the board’s instructions.35 
                                                           

29 66-9 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1966). 
30 See Marriott Corp. v. Metropolitan Dade Cnty., 383 So.2d 662 (1980) (holding that the county was 

obligated to follow competitive bidding standards requiring award to be made to lowest or best bidder and that 
the board of county commissioners may not simply approve a local biddee). 

31 See general Fla. Stat. §287.055 (2013). 
32 Fla. Stat. § 218.80 (2013) (“It is the intent of the Legislature that a local governmental entity shall 

disclose all of the local governmental entity's permits or fees, including, but not limited to, all license fees, 
permit fees, impact fees, or inspection fees, payable by the contractor to the unit of government that issued the 
bidding documents or other request for proposal, unless such permits or fees are disclosed in the bidding 
documents or other request for proposal for the project at the time the project was let for bid. It is further the 
intent of the Legislature to prohibit local governments from halting construction to collect any undisclosed 
permits or fees which were not disclosed or included in the bidding documents or other request for proposal for 
the project at the time the project was let for bid.”). 

33 Fla. Stat. § 121.051 (2013) 
34 Fla. Stat. § 274.03 (2013) (“A governmental unit shall be primarily responsible for the supervision and 

control of its property but may delegate to a custodian its use and immediate control and may require custody 
receipts.”). 

35 60-18 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1960). 



 

7 
 

Moreover, counties are given the power to “provide and maintain county buildings” 
– which although this is just an authority bestowed, seems to suggest that the board 
of county commissioners is responsible for the maintenance of county-owned 
property that is not delegated away.36 
 

ii. County Courthouse 
The county commissioners are explicitly required to “erect” a courthouse and 

suitable offices for all county officers that are necessary to be at the courthouse.37 
Counties are also required to fund many aspects of the state court system: including 
facilities for “trial courts, public defenders’ offices, state attorney’s offices,” and 
clerks’ offices of the circuit and county courts.38 However, the state is responsible to 
fund the necessary salaries, costs, and expenses for the state court system.39  
 

iii. County Jail 
While there is an explicit statute for the construction of a county courthouse, 

there is no such statutory requirement for a county jail. Moreover, the Florida 
Statutes previously provided that a jail was required to be erected, but that 
provision was subsequently deleted by the Legislature.40 However, “read as a 
whole,” the Florida Statutes require the county to be responsible to provide for its 
prisoners.41 In addition, the county commissioners are required to designate a chief 
correctional officer.42 A majority of a county commission may charge the county 
sheriff with the duties of chief correctional officer, delegating to the sheriff 
responsibility for the daily operation and maintenance of county jails43 Counties 

                                                           
36 Fla. Stat. § 125.01 (2013). 
37 Fla. Stat. § 138.09 (2013) (“The county commissioners shall erect a courthouse as soon as possible and 

provide suitable offices for all the county officers who are required by law to keep their offices at the courthouse 
at the place so selected as the county seat.”). 

38 Fla. Const. art. V, § 14. 
39 Id. 
40 91-25 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1991).  
41 Id. (“Accordingly, I am of the opinion that the deletion of the word ‘jail’ in s. 138.09, F.S., does not remove 

the responsibility of the county to provide for county prisoners.”); Fla. Stat. § 950.01 (county in which offense is 
committed is to bear the cost of housing inmate if housed in another county). 

42 Fla. Stat. § 951.06 (2015) 
43 Fla. Stat. § 951.061 (2013); Jones ex rel. Albert v. Lamberti (S.D. Fla. 2008) “(The Florida Supreme Court 

has held that “the internal operation of the sheriff’s office … is a function which belongs uniquely to the sheriff 
as the chief law enforcement officer of the county.” (citing Weitzenfeld v. Dierks, 312 So.2d 194, 196 (Fla.1975)). 
As such, if the County has designated the Sheriff as chief correctional officer, since the County lacks supervisory 
control over the Sheriff, it then lacks supervisory control over the daily operation of the jail and the supervision 
of inmates and cannot be held responsible for actions of the Sheriff that gives rise to a claim under 42 U.S. § 
1983.); 079-49 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1979) (“A sheriff is responsible under the statute for equipping the county jail 
and repairing, maintaining, and replacing the equipment necessary for the proper and efficient operation of the 
jail, and he should include as part of his annual budget the estimated amounts necessary for such operation, 
equipment, and maintenance during the next fiscal year. Repairs, construction, or capital improvements to the 
county building in which the jail is located, however, remain the responsibility of the board of county 
commissioners and are to be paid from general county funds.”). 



 

8 
 

may also be given the custody of any prisoner via the authority of the United 
States44 and can be responsible for the medical expenses of their arrestees.45 
 

iv. Criminal Laws and the Impact on Jail Capacity 
The passage of state laws, such as “Zero Tolerance,” in Florida has led to an 

increase in inmates for county jails, thus an increase in the costs associated with 
holding and processing such inmates. When counties are required to comply with 
State laws that can potentially increase the amount of inmates within the county 
jail system, this is essentially a mandated compliance standard that can impose 
significant costs to counties across Florida. Criminal laws are specifically excluded 
from the requirements of Art. VII, § 18, Fla. Const. prohibiting unfunded state 
mandates.46 While the increase in costs may be substantial, challenge is not 
possible under Art. VII, § 18, Fla. Const. 
 

C. Public Safety and Courts 
 

i. Emergency Medical Services  
Counties are mandated to comply with the Florida Emergency 

Communications Number E911 State Plan Act, under which a system for contacting 
emergency services is required to be created and maintained throughout the state.47 
Boards of county commissioners are required to establish a fund to be used 
exclusively for receipt and expenditure of 911 fee revenues collected from telephone 
companies.48 This money must be appropriated for 911 purposes and incorporated 
into the annual county budget.49 

In 2014, the Legislature adopted Chapter 2014-196, Laws of Florida, which 
added Section 365.172(9), Florida Statutes providing for a prepaid wireless E911 
fee. This session law also modified Section 365.173(2), Florida Statutes, such that 
this new fee is subject to the same requirements as the fee received from telephone 
companies described above. 

Also, the Federal Communications Commission is in the process of issuing 
proposed rules mandating a "text to 911" system on the states. See Press Release, 
FCC Proposes Action to Accelerate the Availability of Nationwide Text-to-911 (Dec. 
12, 2012) and Text-to-911 Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 12-149 
                                                           

44 Fla. Stat. § 950.03 (2015) (“The keeper of the jail in each county within this state shall receive into his or 
her custody any prisoner who may be committed to the keeper’s charge under the authority of the United States 
and shall safely keep each prisoner”). 

45 Fla. Stat. § 901.35 (2015) (“Upon a showing that reimbursement from the sources listed in subsection (1) 
is not available, the costs of medical care, treatment, hospitalization, and transportation shall be paid . . . [f]rom 
the general fund of the county in which the person was arrested”). 

46 Art. VII, § 18(d), Fla. Const. 
47 Fla. Stat. §§ 365.171-.173 (2013). 
48 Fla. Stat. § 365.173(2)(c) (2013) (“Any county that receives funds . . . shall establish a fund to be used 

exclusively for the receipt and expenditure of the revenues collected . . . All fees placed in the fund and any 
interest accrued shall be used solely for costs [related to 911]. The money collected and interest earned in this 
fund shall be appropriated for these purposes by the county commissioners and incorporated into the annual 
county budget.”). 

49 Id. 



 

9 
 

(Dec. 12, 2012). There is a concern that the State of Florida may turn around and 
impose this mandate on the counties. Implementation of this capability is likely to 
involve expensive software updates to 911 systems. 

 
 

 
ii. Animal Control 

There are statutory mandates regarding animals related to public health, 
stray livestock, dangerous dogs, domestic animal vaccination and euthanasia, 
animal control, and cruelty ordinances. 

The “fence laws” require owners of livestock to prevent their animals from 
“running at large or straying upon public roads” or be subject to costs and liability.50  
The law imposes a duty on the sheriff or county animal control center to “take up, 
confine, hold, and impound” stray livestock.51  Each county commission shall 
establish and maintain pounds for the keeping of impounded livestock.52  

While there is no mandate that counties operate an animal control shelter or 
establish an “animal control authority,” if counties elect to provide local animal 
control, state law establishes minimum criteria and responsibilities. 53 

Chapter 767, Fla. Stat. (2014) entitled “Damage by Dogs;” establishes 
statutory liability for owners of dogs who damage livestock or domestic animals.54  
It sets forth “uniform requirements for the owners of dangerous dogs” and 
establishes procedures governing the investigation, certification, notice and hearing, 
confinement, and appellate remedies related to dangerous dogs.55  These procedures 
govern county animal control authorities.  There is a statutory definition of a 
“dangerous dog,” and the law requires that a dog that has been “declared dangerous 
attacks or bites a person or a domestic animal without provocation” shall be 
“destroyed in an expeditious and humane manner.”56  In all cases, the law requires 
that a dog that “causes severe injury or death of any human” shall be euthanized.57  

A county operating an animal control authority must maintain and make 
certain data available for inspection on a monthly basis regarding the disposition of 
dogs and cats.58  The law mandates procedures that will result in “sterilization of all 
dogs and cats sold or released for adoption” from any county shelter.59  The 
euthanasia of dogs and cats is also regulated.60  Technicians who perform 

                                                           
50 § 588.15, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
51 § 588.16, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
52 § 588.21, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
53 In areas not served by a local animal control authority, the sheriff must carry out the duties of the animal 

control authority.  § 767.11(5), Fla. Stat. (2014); Florida Statute, § 828.27 (2015) (outlines the criteria, 
responsibilities, and definitions related to animal control should a county enact an ordinance regulating same). 

54 Chapter 767, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
55 § 767.12, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
56 § 767.13(1), Fla. Stat. (2015). 
57 § 767.13(2), (3), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
58 § 823.15. Fla. Stat. (2014), Ch. 2015-18 Laws of Fla. 
59 § 823.15, Fla. Stat. (2014)(3), Ch. 2015-18 Laws of Fla. 
60 § 828.058, Fla. Stat. (2014). 



 

10 
 

euthanasia must complete a 16-hour course approved by the Board of Veterinary 
Medicine.61  There are also minimum educational criteria for county animal control 
officers.62  They must report all animal bite or diagnosis of disease that “may 
indicate the presence of a threat to humans.”63  State criteria governs how animal 
control officers should respond to “domestic animals which are suffering from an 
incurable or untreatable condition or are imminently near death from injury or 
disease” and there is a statutory process governing how animal control officers react 
to “animals found in distress.”64 
 

iii. Fire Protection Services 
There is no explicit requirement for counties to fund an organized fire 

department.65 Only if counties adopt fire safety responsibilities will they be 
mandated to adopt and enforce the Florida Fire Prevention Code and employ a fire 
safety inspector.66 There is no constitutional or statutory provision which stipulates 
which counties have fire safety responsibilities or how a county adopts such a 
status. Further, for any county that does not employ a fire safety inspector, the 
State Fire Marshal shall assume the duties of the county with respect to certain fire 
safety inspections.67 Lastly, maintenance and fire protection of forests and wild 
lands within a county is funded by state and federal funds.68  
 

iv. Emergency Management 
During the World War II era, Florida enacted legislation to create the State 

Civil Defense Council in response to the possibility of emergencies resulting from 
enemy action or natural causes. Under the Florida Civil Defense Act of 1951, 
counties were required to create “civil defense councils” consisting of county 
commissioners and other elective county officials.69 By the early 1980s, Florida 
completely revised its emergency operations to include county disaster 

                                                           
61 § 828.058, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
62 See § 828.27, Fla. Stat. (2014). Biennial continuing education requirements are also established). 
63 § 381.0031, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
64 § 828.05, Fla. Stat. (2014), § 828.073, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
65 See Fla. Stat. § 633.112(b) (2013) (“If the fire or explosion occurs in a municipality, county, or special 

district that does not have an organized fire department or designated arson investigations unit within its law 
enforcement providers, the municipality, county, or special district may request the State Fire Marshal to 
conduct the initial investigation.”) (emphasis added). 

66 Fla. Stat. § 633.208 (2013) (“[E]ach municipality, county, and special district with firesafety 
responsibilities shall enforce the Florida Fire Prevention Code as the minimum firesafety code required”) 
(emphasis added). 

67 Fla. Stat. § 633.104(7) (2013) (“[I]n any county, municipality, or special district that does not employ or 
appoint a firesafety inspector certified under s. 633.216, the State Fire Marshal shall assume the duties of the 
local county”). Fla. Stat. §633.112(6)(b) (2013) (“County, municipality, or special district without an organized 
fire department or arson investigations unit may ask State Fire Marshal to conduct initial investigations of fore 
or explosion.”) 

68 Fla. Stat. § 125.27 (2013) (Total costs of “the establishment and maintenance of countywide fire 
protection of all forest and wild lands within said county” shall be “funded by state and federal funds.”). 

69 Id. 



 

11 
 

preparedness responsibilities and a more inclusive “all hazards” approach to 
emergency management.70 

Today, in accordance with the “State Emergency Management Act,” counties 
are mandated to create and maintain an emergency management agency and 
develop a county emergency management plan consistent with the state’s plan – all 
pursuant the board of county commissioners’ direction.71 This county agency is also 
required to coordinate with different entities in order to ensure there is suitable 
public shelter in case of hurricane or disaster.72  Moreover, it is explicitly stated in 
the Florida Statutes that counties are responsible, in coordination with their local 
medical and health departments, for developing and planning for special needs 
shelters.73 Because Federal and State grants do not always cover the costs of 
emergency management, counties may be forced to use their ad valorem funds in 
order to comply with the program. 

In 2014, the Florida Legislature adopted Chapter 2014-163, Laws of Florida, 
which revised Section 252.355, Florida Statutes concerning the registration of 
persons with special needs who would need special assistance in an emergency. The 
new statute provided for the State Division of Emergency Management to create a 
statewide database of such persons and have local agencies upload patient names 
and medical data to this state database. However, uploading the medical data 
involves the transmission of health information protected by the federal Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and is therefore likely a 
violation of this statute. It is noted that HIPAA has its own federal preemption of 
state law provision, 42 U.S.C. § 1320d–7 (2015), which, together with HIPAA’s 
serious penalty provisions, 42 U.S.C. § 1320d–6 (2015), would seem to justify non-
compliance with this particular provision of state law. A HIPAA implementing 
regulation, 45 C.F.R. § 164.512 (2015), provides for the use or disclosure of HIPAA 
protected information under specific circumstances where other law requires this 
use or disclosure. There are provisions in this regulation for public health and 
health oversight activities, but it is not clear these provisions cover emergency 
management. Chapter 2014-163 should have been written to ensure consistency 
and compliance with HIPAA. 
 

                                                           
70 FAC, FLORIDA COUNTY GOVERNMENT GUIDE 159 (2012). This new approach to a broader emergency 

management program “was especially productive for Florida, given our high susceptibility to all forms of 
natural disasters (e.g., hurricanes, floods, wildland fires, tornadoes, etc.).” Id. 

71 Fla. Stat. § 252.38 (2013) (“[E]ach county must establish and maintain such an emergency management 
agency and shall develop a county emergency management plan and program that is coordinated and consistent 
with the state comprehensive emergency management plan and program.”). 

72 Fla. Stat. § 252.385 (2013) (“The local emergency management agency shall coordinate with these entities 
to ensure that designated [public shelter space] facilities are ready to activate prior to a specific hurricane or 
disaster.”). 

73 Fla. Stat. § 381.0303(2)(b) (2013) (“County health departments shall, in conjunction with the local 
emergency management agencies, have the lead responsibility for coordination of the recruitment of health care 
practitioners to staff local special needs shelters. County health departments shall assign their employees to 
work in special needs shelters when those employees are needed to protect the health and safety of persons with 
special needs. County governments shall assist the department with nonmedical staffing and the operation of 
special needs shelters.”). 



 

12 
 

v. Juvenile Detention                                                   
Counties are statutorily mandated to contribute financial support to juvenile 

detention care, including a portion of detention care (respite beds), unless the 
county is deemed “fiscally constrained.”74 Furthermore, counties are required to 
fund juveniles’ predisposition assessment centers and provide a broad array of 
intake services.75 Counties may establish and be responsible for all operational 
costs associated with a juvenile detention facility, but are not required to create 
such facilities.76  

Chapter 985, Fla. Stat. (2014) states that the state and the counties have a 
“joint obligation . . . to contribute to the financial support of the detention care 
provided for juveniles.”77 Counties may elect to provide detention care for 
preadjudicated juveniles at their own expense or under contract with another 
county.78  If a county elects to utilize the state system, it must pay the “actual costs” 
of secure juvenile detention for its residents incurred “prior to final court 
disposition.” 79  The costs for “fiscally constrained counties” are borne by the state.80  
Counties participating in the shared juvenile detention system must include the 
cost in their annual budget and remit estimated monthly payments to the 
Department of Juvenile Justice.81  An annual reconciliation process may generate a 
credit or an additional charge. 

 
vi. State Courts System 

In November, 1998, the Florida electorate approved Revision 7 to Article V of 
the Florida Constitution.  Article V provides for the judicial branch of state 
government.  Revision 7 was designed to allocate state’s court system funding 
mechanism among the state, counties, and users of the courts.  Revision 7 was fully 
implemented by the Legislature in 2004.  The Florida Constitution now requires the 
state to fund the state courts system, state attorneys’ offices, public defenders’ 
offices and court-appointed counsel, except as provided in section 14(c) of Article V.  

                                                           
74 Fla. Stat. § 985.686 (2013) (“It is the policy of this state that the state and the counties have a joint 

obligation, as provided in this section, to contribute to the financial support of the detention care provided for 
juveniles...Each county shall pay the costs of providing detention care, exclusive of the costs of any 
preadjudicatory nonmedical educational or therapeutic services and $2.5 million provided for additional medical 
and mental health care at the detention centers, for juveniles for the period of time prior to final court 
disposition.”). 

75 Fla. Stat. § 985.135(2) (2013) (“The department shall work cooperatively with substance abuse programs, 
mental health providers, law enforcement agencies, schools, health service providers, state attorneys, public 
defenders, and other agencies serving youth to establish juvenile assessment centers. Each current and newly 
established center shall be developed and modified through the local initiative of community agencies and local 
governments and shall provide a broad array of youth-related services appropriate to the needs of the 
community where the center is located.”). 

76 Fla. Stat. § 985.688 (2013) (“A county or municipal government may establish and operate a juvenile 
detention facility in compliance with this section, if such facility is certified by the department.”). 

77 § 985.686, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
78 § 985.686(10), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
79 § 985.686(3), (5), Fla. Stat. (2014). See, Okaloosa County etc. v. Department of Juvenile Justice, 131 So. 

3d 818 (Fla. 1st DCA 2014). 
80 Id. 
81 Id. 



 

13 
 

County funding is limited to the cost of communications services, existing radio 
systems, existing multiagency criminal justice information systems, and the cost of 
construction or lease, maintenance, utilities, and security of facilities for the circuit 
and county courts, public defenders’ offices, state attorneys’ offices, guardian ad 
litem offices, and the offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts performing 
court-related functions.82  Counties are also statutorily required to pay the 
reasonable and necessary salaries, costs, and expenses of the state courts system, 
including associated staff and expenses, to meet “local requirements”.  Local 
requirements are those expenses associated with specialized court programs, 
prosecution needs, defense needs, or resources “required of a local jurisdiction as a 
result of special factors or circumstances”83 (1) when imposed pursuant to an 
express statutory directive; or (2) when circumstances in the local jurisdiction 
necessitate the implementation of programs impacting the resources of the state 
courts system.  Local requirements specifically include legal aid programs and 
alternative sanctions coordinators.84  The expenditures associated with the county 
funding of the state courts system is required to increase each year by 1.5 percent 
over the prior county fiscal year.85 

 
D. Health and Human Services 
 
i. Medicaid 

Around half the states in the nation require counties to share in the cost of 
the Medicaid program; Florida is one of these states. Today, counties are mandated 
to supply an annual contribution to the State in order to fund Florida’s Medicaid 
program.  This contribution will collectively cost the collective counties as much as 
$277 million for the 2014-2015 fiscal year.86 In 2012, Florida began collecting these 
Medicaid obligations automatically, directly from each county’s revenue sharing 
through the Agency for Health Care Administration and Department of Revenue, 
leaving a county unable to review its “bill” before it was automatically paid.87 
Moreover, a year later, legislation passed changing the method of calculating county 
Medicaid contributions altogether.  Specifically, beginning in the 2013-14 fiscal 
year, counties began paying contributions calculated according to statutorily-set 
percentages, which are based on AHCA’s actual historical collections; however, 
beginning in the 2015-16 fiscal year, these percentages will begin transitioning to a 
                                                           

82  For purposes of section 29.008(1), Florida Statute, the term “circuit and county courts” includes the 
offices and staffing of the guardian ad litem programs,  and the term “public defenders’ offices” includes the 
offices of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel.  The county designated as the headquarters for each 
appellate district is also required to fund those costs for the appellate division of the public defenders’ office in 
that county. 

83 Fla. Stat. § 29.008(2)( 2014) (describing in greater detail what the counties are responsible for in the state 
courts system pursuant to Article V, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution, with regard to local requirements).  

84  Fla. Stat. § 29.008(3) (2014). 
85  Fla. Stat. § 29.008(4) (2014). 
86 Fla. Stat. § 409.915 (2013) (“Although the state is responsible for the full portion of the state share of the 

matching funds required for the Medicaid program, the state shall charge the counties an annual contribution 
in order to acquire a certain portion of these funds.”). 

87 HB 5301 (Fla. 2012). 



 

14 
 

system that will ultimately be based solely on each county’s respective percentage 
share of residents who are enrolled in Medicaid.88  This Medicaid enrollment 
formula is estimated to increase Medicaid costs for many counties, although other 
counties will remain stable or see decreased costs. 
 

ii. Indigent Care 
Counties are mandated to reimburse participating hospitals which provide 

care for indigent patients for their respective citizens.89 
 

iii. County Health Units 
County health department units are required to be established within 

counties to provide for environmental health, communicable disease control, and 
primary care services.90 These county public health units, can be but not always 
are, agencies of county government, not state agencies.91 
 

iv. Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services 
“The Community Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Act”92 states 

that local governments are required to participate in the funding of Florida’s mental 
health and substance abuse system.93 “Local governing bodies” are required to 
supply 25% of the community programs’ funding, with the state disbursing the 
other 75%.94 Counties are not solely responsible to produce these “local matching 
funds,” as there are many other sources – e.g. city commissions and special districts 
– contributing to local match.95 

 “The Florida Mental Health Act” (also known as “The Baker Act”)96 was 
enacted to “reduce the occurrence, severity, duration, and disabling aspects of 

                                                           
88 HB 5301 (Fla. 2012). 
89 Fla. Stat. § 154.306 (2013) (“Ultimate financial responsibility for treatment received at a participating 

hospital or a regional referral hospital by a qualified indigent patient . . . is the obligation of the county of which 
the qualified indigent patient is a resident.”). 

90 See Fla. Stat. § 154.01 (2013) (providing that “[a] functional system of county health department services 
shall be established which shall include the following three levels of service and be funded as” environmental 
health services, communicable disease control services, and primary care services). 

91 80-28 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1980). 
92 Fla. Stat. § 394.65 (2013). 
93 77-97 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1977); Fla. Stat. § 394.76(9) (2013) (“State funds for community alcohol and 

mental health services shall be matched by local matching funds . . . . The governing bodies within a district or 
subdistrict shall be required to participate in the funding of alcohol and mental health services under the 
jurisdiction of such governing bodies. The amount of the participation shall be at least that amount which, when 
added to other available local matching funds, is necessary to match state funds.”). 

94 Fla. Stat. § 394.76(3) (2013) (“All other contracted community alcohol and mental health services and 
programs, except as identified in s. 394.457(3), shall require local participation on a 75-to-25 state-to-local 
ratio.”). 

95 Fla. Stat. § 394.67(13) (2014) (““Local matching funds” means funds received from governing bodies of 
local government, including city commissions, county commissions, district school boards, special tax districts, 
private hospital funds, private gifts, both individual and corporate, and bequests and funds received from 
community drives or any other sources.”).  However, the mental health agencies do look to the counties to 
provide those local matching funds, even if they do come from other sources. – regardless of the language of the 
statutes and applicable rules. 

96 Fla. Stat. § 394.451 (2013). 



 

15 
 

mental, emotional, and behavioral disorders.”97 Counties are not the primary source 
of funding for the treatment of Baker Act commitment, but there are different 
exceptions in which a county could be liable for such medical payments.98 
 

v. Unclaimed Bodies 
If the anatomical board does not accept an unclaimed body, then the board of 

county commissioners must dispose of the body of persons who die within the 
confines of their county.99 The county is also responsible for making a reasonable 
effort to identify the body, as well as accepting responsibility to arrange for the 
body’s burial or cremation.100 
 

vi. Medical Examiners 
The fees, salaries, and expenses associated with the medical examiner must 

be paid from the funds under the control of the board of county commissioners.101 
These medical examiner expenses, including transportation and laboratory facilities 
costs, are borne by the county.102 
 

vii. Child Protective Services 
Counties are mandated to pay for the initial costs of the examination of 

allegedly abused, abandoned, or neglected children; however, parents or legal 
custodians are required to reimburse the counties for the costs of such 
examination.103 
 

viii. Veteran Services 
Veteran Service Officers (VSOs) may be employed by the board of county 

commissioners to assist their residents by providing advocacy and counseling to 

                                                           
97 Fla. Stat. § 394.453 (2013). 
98 93-49 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1993) (“[A] a county is not primarily responsible for the payment of hospital 

costs for the treatment of an involuntary Baker Act commitment. However, a county may be liable for such 
payments in the event a person in the county is arrested for a felony involving violence against another person, 
is taken to a receiving facility and specified sources for reimbursement are not available.”). A county shall also 
designate a single law enforcement agency to transport persons held under the Baker Act to treatment facilities. 
Fla. Stat. § 394.462 (2013).  

99 Fla. Stat. § 406.50(5) (2013) (“If the anatomical board does not accept the unclaimed remains, the board of 
county commissioners or its designated county department of the county in which the death occurred or the 
remains were found may authorize and arrange for the burial or cremation of the entire remains.”).  

100 91-87 Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (1991).  
101 Fla. Stat. § 406.08 (2013) (“Fees, salaries, and expenses may be paid from the general funds or any other 

funds under the control of the board of county commissioners.”). 
102 Id. (“When a body is transported to the district medical examiner or his or her associate, transportation 

costs, if any, shall be borne by the county in which the death occurred. . . . Autopsy and laboratory facilities 
utilized by the district medical examiner or his or her associates may be provided on a permanent or contractual 
basis by the counties within the district.”). 

103 Fla. Stat. § 39.304(5) (2013) (“The county in which the child is a resident shall bear the initial costs of 
the examination of the allegedly abused, abandoned, or neglected child; however, the parents or legal custodian 
of the child shall be required to reimburse the county for the costs of such examination . . .”). 



 

16 
 

veterans and their families.104 While VSOs are not required to be employed by the 
counties, currently all sixty-seven counties employ at least one VSO. 
 

ix. Mosquito Control 
In an effort to suppress disease-bearing and pestiferous arthropods, 

“mosquito control districts” were created.105 Counties are not mandated to create 
such mosquito control agencies, but if they do – there are many sources of funding 
(including tax levying and state matching funds).106 In the event state funds do not 
fully fund mosquito control budgets, counties will need to fund the difference.  
“County commissioners’ mosquito and arthropod control budgets . . . shall be 
incorporated into county budgets.”107 
 

E. Parks, Recreation, and Libraries  
 

Although Chapter 125 of the Florida Statutes authorizes counties to provide 
parks and recreational areas, there is no specific statute which mandates that 
counties shall fund such facilities.108 Moreover, it is the Division of Recreation and 
Parks of the Department of Environmental Protection that assumes the duties in 
accordance with “all public parks, including all monuments, memorials, sites of 
historic interest and value” owned by the state, to which the county is capable of 
purchasing.109 However, parks are a required element of a county’s mandated 
comprehensive plan, and therefore must be considered for future development 
within a county.110 

                                                           
104 Fla. Stat. § 292.11 (2013) (“Each board of county commissioners may employ a county veteran service 

officer; provide office space, clerical assistance, and the necessary supplies incidental to providing and 
maintaining a county service office; and pay said expenses and salaries from the moneys hereinafter provided 
for.”). 

105 Fla. Stat. § 388.021 (2013) (“herefore, any city, town, or county, or any portion or portions thereof, 
whether such portion or portions include incorporated territory or portions of two or more counties in the state, 
may be created into a special taxing district for the control of arthropods under the provisions of this chapter.”) 
(emphasis added). 

106 See generally Fla. Stat. § 388.261 (2013) (“Every county or district budgeting local funds to be used 
exclusively for the control of mosquitoes and other arthropods, under a plan submitted by the county or district 
and approved by the department, is eligible to receive state funds and supplies, services, and equipment on a 
dollar-for-dollar matching basis to the amount of local funds budgeted.”). 

107 Fla. Stat. §388.201 (2013). 
108 Fla. Stat. § 125.01(1)(f) (2013) (“Provide parks, preserves, playgrounds, recreation areas, libraries, 

museums, historical commissions, and other recreation and cultural facilities and programs.”). 
109 Fla. Stat. § 258.004(1) (2013) (“It shall be the duty of the Division of Recreation and Parks of the 

Department of Environmental Protection to supervise, administer, regulate, and control the operation of all 
public parks, including all monuments, memorials, sites of historic interest and value, sites of archaeological 
interest and value owned, or which may be acquired, by the state, or to the operation, development, 
preservation, and maintenance of which the state may have made or may make contribution or appropriation of 
public funds.”). 

110 See infra Part III.F; see also Fla. Stat. § 163.3177(6)(e) (2013) (“A recreation and open space element 
indicating a comprehensive system of public and private sites for recreation, including, but not limited to, 
natural reservations, parks and playgrounds, parkways, beaches and public access to beaches, open spaces, 
waterways, and other recreational facilities.”). 



 

17 
 

The state is responsible for a State Library that will be located within 
Tallahassee and is administered by the Division of Library.111 However, there is no 
mandated requirement for a county library.  
 

F. Growth Management 
 

i. Generally 
Florida adopted the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land 

Development Regulation Act in 1985, which mandated counties to create local 
planning agencies to prepare and manage a “comprehensive plan.”112 In 2011, the 
Act was renamed to the “Community Planning Act,” with which all 67 counties, 
Walt Disney World, and Reedy Creek Improvement District must comply. A 
comprehensive plan is required to consider many different elements in order to 
guide future development, including: capital improvements, future land use plan, 
transportation, conservation, recreation and open space, housing, 
intergovernmental coordination, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable 
water, and natural groundwater recharge, and waste elements.113  In addition to 
these core elements, all coastal counties are required to include a coastal 
management element in the plan. In 1995, a major revision of the Act required 
counties to consider joint planning efforts with school districts and interlocal 
agreements for all such joint planning efforts. “The goals, objectives, policies, 
standards, findings, and conclusions within the proposed comprehensive plan must 
be supported by relevant and appropriate data which is gathered in a professionally 
accepted manner.”114 Also, while a comprehensive plan is required to include 
affordable housing considerations, counties are not mandated to increase affordable 
housing.115 However, despite the permissive language regarding the provision of 
affordable housing found in Section 125.01055, the Community Planning Act 
effectively requires a county to address this issue or be found not in compliance with 
state law. Specifically, Section 163.3177(6)(f) requires the county’s housing element 
to include “standards and strategies” for “[t]he elimination of substandard dwelling 
conditions” and “[t]he provision of adequate sites for future housing, including 
affordable workforce housing as defined in Section 380.0651(3)(h), housing for low 

                                                           
111 Fla. Stat. § 257.01 (2013) (“There is created and established the State Library which shall be located at 

the capital. The State Library shall be administered by the Division of Library and Information Services of the 
Department of State.”). 

112 Richard Grosso, Florida’s Growth Management Act: How Far We Have Come, and How Far We Have Yet 
to Go, 20 NOVA L. REV. 589, 591 (1996); Fla. Stat. § 163.3174 (2013) (“The governing body of each local 
government . . . shall designate and by ordinance establish a ‘local planning agency’ . . . [which] shall prepare 
the comprehensive plan or plan amendment after hearings to be held after public notice and shall make 
recommendations to the governing body regarding the adoption or amendment of the plan.”). 

113 See Fla. Stat. § 163.3177 (2013) (containing the many elements that the comprehensive plan shall 
provide for the “orderly and balanced future economic, social, physical, environmental, and fiscal development” 
of the county). 

114 Grosso, supra note 112. 
115 Fla. Stat. § 125.01055 (2013) (“[A] county may adopt and maintain in effect any law, ordinance, rule, or 

other measure that is adopted for the purpose of increasing the supply of affordable housing using land use 
mechanisms such as inclusionary housing ordinances.”) (emphasis added). 



 

18 
 

income, very low income, moderate-income families, mobile homes, and group home 
facilities and foster care facilities, with supporting infrastructure and public 
facilities.” Accordingly, while there is no specific mandate that a county provide 
affordable housing, the mandatory compliance provisions of Section 163.3177(6)(f) 
have the effect of requiring counties to take action and spend resources for this 
purpose.  

The Community Planning Act also has several implementing requirements 
that cause counties to expend resources. The first of these is concurrency, which is a 
requirement that certain public facilities be in place and available to serve new 
development no later than the issuance by the local government of a certificate of 
occupancy or its functional equivalent.116 As a cornerstone of the 1985 Act, 
concurrency has been a controversial provision for both local governments and the 
development community. In essence, if the required facilities are not in place 
concurrent with the development, the local government cannot allow the 
development to proceed, which for some counties has resulted in temporary building 
moratoria. Under the original law, the county was required to apply concurrency to 
the following public facilities: sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water, 
recreation and open space, and transportation. However, the 2011 Community 
Planning Act eliminated the state mandate for transportation concurrency, while 
allowing communities to retain it by local option.  Although the transportation 
mandate has been lifted117, state law still requires counties to apply concurrency for 
water, sewer, drainage, and solid waste. To ensure the adopted levels-of-service for 
these services are maintained, the county’s capital improvements element (CIE) 
must include a 5-year schedule of projects and their accompanying funding source.   

The second implementing requirement of the comprehensive plan is for each 
county to develop, adopt, and maintain a set of land development regulations that 
ensures the goals, objective, and policies of the plan are carried out in a consistent 
manner. Given the breadth and extent of the comprehensive plan and all of its 
requirements, the scope of the land development regulations often match or exceed 
the size of the plan and, as such, have comparable local cost requirements.     

The procedure to amend a county’s comprehensive plan has historically been 
a long, arduous process full of mandated drafts, public hearings, comment periods, 
and state review.118 This process (usually exceeding six months) was then revised 
for an “expedited state review process” in 2011; and now most amendments can be 
proposed and decided within a shorter amount of time and with fewer mandated 
processes.119 

                                                           
116 See Fla. Stat. §163.3180(2) 
117 However, a local government chooses to retain transportation concurrency pursuant to Sec. 163.3180 and 

an applicant in good faith offers to enter into a binding agreement to pay for or construct its proportionate share 
of required improvements, the local government may not require payment or construction of transportation 
facilities whose costs would be greater than a development’s proportionate share of the improvements necessary 
to mitigate the development’s impacts.  This is an unfunded mandate.  

118 See generally Fla. Stat. § 163.3184 (2013). 
119 See Fla. Stat. § 163.3184(3) (2013). The expedited state review process applies to all future plan 

amendments “except those that are small scale amendments, in areas of critical state concern, propose a rural 



 

19 
 

 
 

ii. Development Permits 
 

Sec. 125.022 contains several mandates as follows: 
  
 (2) When a county denies an application for a development permit, 

the county shall give written notice to the applicant.  The notice must 
include a citation to the applicable portions of an ordinance, rule, 
statute, or other legal authority for the denial of the permit. 

 (4) For any development permit application filed with the county 
after July 1, 2012, a county may not require as a condition of 
processing or issuing a development permit that an applicant obtain a 
permit or approval from any state or federal agency unless the agency 
has issued a final agency action that denies the federal or state permit 
before the county action on the local development permit. 

 (5) Issuance of a development permit buy a county does not in any 
way create any rights on the part of the applicant to obtain a permit 
from a state or federal agency and does not create any liability on the 
part of the county for issuance of the permit if the applicant fails to 
obtain requisite approvals or fulfill the obligations imposed by a state 
or federal agency or undertakes actions that result in a violation of 
state or federal law.  A county shall attach such a disclaimer to the 
issuance of a development permit and shall include a permit condition 
that all other applicable state or federal permits be obtained before 
commencement of the development.     

 
G. Environmental Protection 

 
In general, the mandates considering environmental interests are handed 

down at the federal level – e.g. the Clean Water Act – costing both the state and 
local governments billions of dollars per year to conform to the standards and 
requirements provided by these environmental protection-focused acts. Florida’s 
Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) has wide-ranging responsibilities 
for the state’s air, land, and water qualities; however, DEP is mandated to work 
closely with local governments to collect adequate data and enforce regulations for 
several aspects of environmental protection.120 

Counties are not mandated to establish or administer any form of local air 
and water pollution control program; however, they may do so and enforce stricter 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
land stewardship area, propose a sector plan, are EAR based amendments, or are new plans.” FLORIDA COUNTY 
GOVERNMENT GUIDE, Florida Association of Counties (2012). 

120 See generally Fla. Stat. §§ 373 & 403 (2013). 



 

20 
 

ordinances as long as such a program complies with the state’s “Florida Air and 
Water Pollution Control Act.”121  

 
i. Solid Waste Disposal Facilities 

A key responsibility of counties is to provide for the creation and operation of 
solid waste disposal facilities which can reasonably meet the needs of their 
respective incorporated and unincorporated areas.122 

 
ii. Recycling 

Counties are also mandated to implement a recycling program with goals of 
recycling certain percentages of recyclable materials annually – e.g. 75% by 2020 – 
and ensure that its municipalities participate.123 
 

iii. Beach Renourishment 
Counties have accrued several responsibilities with respect to environmental 

protection pursuant to the Community Planning Act.124  Counties are responsible 
for partial funding of the restoration and nourishment of beach erosion along with 
the state.125 Counties, along with DEP and water management districts, are also 
responsible for the development of stormwater management.126  

 
iv. Water Quality 

 The federal Clean Water Act (CWA) “establishes the basic structure for 
regulating discharges of pollutants into the waters of the United States and 
regulating quality standards for surface waters.”127 The Total Maximum Daily Load 
(TMDL) program was enacted to establish a calculation for the maximum amount of 
a particular pollutant that water bodies can receive in order to maintain the water 
quality standards for that water body’s designated use.128 Counties must comply 
with the requirements from programs like the CWA and TMDL in order to regulate 
water quality, a task that can be quite costly. 
 In practice, many counties impose a stormwater assessment or fee to 
maintain stormwater flow and treatment facilities.  However, a bonda fide farm 

                                                           
121 Fla. Stat. § 403.182 (2013) (“Each county and municipality or any combination thereof may establish and 

administer a local pollution control program if it complies with this act.”). 
122 Fla. Stat. § 403.706(1) (2013) (“The governing body of a county has the responsibility and power to 

provide for the operation of solid waste disposal facilities to meet the needs of all incorporated and 
unincorporated areas of the county.”). 

123 Fla. Stat. § 403.706(2)(a) (2013) (“Each county shall implement a recyclable materials recycling program 
that shall have a goal of recycling recyclable solid waste”). 

124 See supra Part.III.F. 
125 Fla. Stat. § 161.101 (2013) (“The local government in which the beach is located shall be responsible for 

the balance of such [beach management and erosion control] costs.”). 
126 Fla. Stat. § 403.0891 (2013) (“The department, the water management districts, and local governments 

shall have the responsibility for the development of mutually compatible stormwater management programs.”). 
127 Summary of the Clean Water Act, ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (last visited Apr. 17, 2014), 

http://www2.epa.gov/laws-regulations/summary-clean-water-act. 
128 Total Maximum Daily Loads, NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL LIBRARY (last visited Apr. 17, 2014), 

http://wqic.nal.usda.gov/social-and-legal-issues/total-maximum-daily-loads. 



 

21 
 

operation on land classified as agricultural is exempt from such an assessment or 
fee if the farm operation implements best management practices as adopted by the 
Department of Environmental Protection, the Department of Agriculture and 
Consumer Services, or water management district.129  Despite the statutory 
presumption, a farm operation that is implementing best management practices 
and deemed exempt from a stormwater assessment or fee may still be contributing 
to the poor water quality within a county.  This exemption amounts to an unfunded 
mandate by the legislature because a county is required to restore and maintain 
water quality but cannot impose an assessment or fee on major contributors – 
agricultural lands and concentrated animal feeding operations – or, in many cases, 
confirm that a farm is actually utilizing best management practices.        
 

H. Transportation 
 

i. County Roads 
County commissioners assume the control and are fully responsible for the 

establishment and maintenance of all county roads, bridges, tunnels, bicycle paths, 
sidewalks, and other structures.130  
 

ii. Ports 
The governing body must decide that it is in the best interests of their 

respective county to exercise the powers to operate a port facility.131  
 

I. Constitutional Officers 
 

i. Salaries 
Chapter 145 of the Florida Statutes lays out the compensation requirements 

for county officials set by the legislature.132 Each member of the board of county 
commissioners receives a salary “based on the population of his or her county.”133 
Moreover, the legislature has also designed a system based on population to assign 
salaries to the other constitutional officer, which each officer’s respective county is 
required to fund.134  

                                                           
 129 §163.3162(3)(c), F.S. (2014)  

130 Fla. Stat. § 336.02(1)(a) (2013) (“The commissioners are invested with the general superintendence and 
control of the county roads and structures within their respective counties, and they may establish new roads, 
change and discontinue old roads, and keep the roads in good repair in the manner herein provided. They are 
responsible for establishing the width and grade of such roads and structures in their respective counties.”). 

131 Fla. Stat. § 315.04 (2013). 
132 Fla. Stat. § 145.012 (2013) (“This chapter applies to all officials herein designated in all counties of the 

state, except those officials whose salaries are not subject to being set by the Legislature because of the 
provisions of a county home rule charter and except officials . . . of counties which have a chartered consolidated 
form of government”). 

133 Fla. Stat. § 145.031 (2013).  
134 See Fla. Stat. § 145.051 (2013) (laying out the salary requirements for the clerk of court); see also Fla. 

Stat. § 145.071 (2013) (laying out the salary requirements for the sheriff); see also Fla. Stat. § 145.09 (2013) 
(laying out the salary requirements for the supervisor of elections); see also Fla. Stat. § 145.10 (2013) (laying out 



 

22 
 

 
ii. Budgets 

Counties are required to establish a budget that must be “prepared, 
summarized, and approved by the board of county commissioners of each county.”135 
Each constitutional officer is required to submit their respective budget to the board 
of county commissioners by certain dates in order for the board, and also a county 
budget officer, to prepare the tentative budget.136 After completing a summary of 
the adopted budgets, the board of county commissioners is mandated to advertise 
the summary statement and hold public hearings in order to hear requests or 
complaints.137 
 

iii. Clerks 
The division or separation of the clerk’s duties as clerk of court from the 

clerk’s functions as auditor and custodian of all county funds is established in two 
articles of the Florida Constitution.  One provides that “the duties of the clerk of the 
circuit court may be divided by special or general law between two officers, one 
serving as clerk of court and one serving as ex officio clerk of the board of county 
commissioners, auditor, recorder, and custodian of all county funds,” and another, 
which states that, “the clerk of the circuit court shall be … auditor, recorder and 
custodian of all county funds.”138   Based on these two constitutional provisions, 
absent alternative designation under county charter or special law approved by a 
vote of the electors, the clerk of court is the clerk of the board as a result of his or 
her office, and its auditor and the custodian of all county funds. 

There are several implementing statutory provisions that give shape to the 
role of the clerk in this capacity as clerk of the board and to the numerous and 
diverse powers and duties of the clerk concerning fiscal matters of the board.  For 
example, the clerk is required to act as the board’s accountant and keep its 
accounts,139  checks or warrants drawn on county accounts must be “attested by the 
clerk,”140  and all “county accounts of each and every depository… shall at all times 
be subject to the inspection and examination by the county auditor[.]”141   To 
emphasize the significance of the clerk as county auditor, the Legislature imposes 
personal liability for the payments of any claim or bill against county funds in 
excess of the amount permitted by law, or any illegal charge against the county, or 
                                                                                                                                                                                           
the salary requirements for the property appraiser); see also Fla. Stat. § 145.11 (2013) (laying out the salary 
requirements for the tax collector).  

135 Fla. Stat. § 129.01 (2013). 
136 Fla. Stat. § 129.03 (2013) (“On or before June 1 of each year, the sheriff, the clerk of the circuit court and 

county comptroller, the tax collector . . . and the supervisor of elections shall each submit to the board of county 
commissioners a tentative budget for their respective offices for the ensuing fiscal year.”). 

137 Fla. Stat. § 129.03 (2013) (“Upon receipt of the tentative budgets and completion of any revisions, the 
board shall prepare a statement summarizing all of the adopted tentative budgets. . . . The board shall cause 
this summary statement to be advertised one time in a newspaper of general circulation published in the county 
. . . The board shall hold public hearings to adopt tentative and final budgets”). 

138 Art.V, § 16, Fla. Const.; Art. VIII, § 1(d), Fla. Const. 
139 Fla. Stat. §§ 28.12, 125.17 (2014). 
140 Id., § 136.06(1). 
141 Fla. Stat. § 136.08 (2014). 



 

23 
 

any claim not authorized by law and subjects the clerk to criminal penalties if 
improper payment is made willfully and knowingly.142 
 

iv. Sheriffs 
Sheriffs are given a wide variety of powers and duties which they may 

execute within their respective county. Chapter 30 of the Florida Statutes lays out 
the core duties of the sheriff, the most recognizable aspect being his or her duty 
towards law enforcement within their county.143 Other responsibilities include 
assessing legal process documents (writs, warrants, subpoena, etc.),144 providing 
court security,145 and, at the election of the county commission, keeping the county 
jail.146 Sheriffs cooperate with the board of county commissioners by being required 
to submit their proposed budget for all expenditures related to the operation of the 
office.147 

 
v. Tax Collector 

The tax collector has the “authority and obligation to collect all taxes as 
shown on the tax roll by the date of delinquency or to collect delinquent taxes, 
interest, and costs, by sale of tax certificates on real property and by seizure and 
sale of personal property.”148 Recently, county tax collectors have taken over the 
driver’s license duties of the state-funded Department of Motor Vehicles, which 
adds hundreds of thousands in expenses per year.149  

 
vi. Property Appraisers 

Property appraisers are responsible for identifying, locating, and fairly 
valuing all property, both real and personal, within the county for tax purposes. 
Property appraisers must send Truth in Millage (TRIM) notices to all property 
owners within their county. 

 
vii. Supervisor of Elections 

The Supervisor of Elections is compensated by the board of county 
commissioners and is in charge of “update[ing] voter registration information, 
enter[ing] new voter registrations into the statewide voter registration system, and 
act[ing] as the official custodian of documents received by the supervisor related to 
the registration of electors and changes in voter registration status of electors of the 

                                                           
142 Fla. Stat. § 129.09 (2014). 
143 See Fla. Stat. § 30.15(1)(e) (2015) (generally stating that sheriffs are the “conservators of the peace in 

their counties”). 
144 Fla. Stat. § 30.15(1)(a)-(b) (2015). 
145 Fla. Stat. § 30.15(1)(c) (2015). 
146 Fla. Stat. § 951.061 
147 Fla. Stat. § 30.49(2)(a) (2015). 
148 Fla. Stat. § 197.332 (2013). 
149 Pallavi Agarwal, DMV Office Closing Feb. 28, HIGHLANDS TODAY (March 12, 2013), 

http://highlandstoday.com/hi/local-news/dmv-office-closing-feb--620599. 



 

24 
 

supervisor’s county.”150 The Supervisor is also the custodian of the voting system 
and appoints necessary deputies to prepare the voting system.151  

After the 2000 presidential election, the Help America Vote Act (HAVA) 
established several federal mandates in which the states (which therefore had the 
trickle-down effect to the counties) were required to update many aspects of their 
election procedures – e.g. voting machines, registration, and poll worker training.152 
 
IV. EXAMPLE OF COUNTY EXPENDITURES 
 

2012 Leon County Expenditures153 

 General Special 
Revenue 

Capital 
Projects Enterprise Internal 

Service 
Account 

Total 
General Government 
Services (Not Court-

Related) 
$29,973,239 $2,167,997 $2,736,372 $- $5,480,684 $40,358,292 

Legislative $1,279,969 $- $- $- $- $1,279,969 

Executive $1,122,298 $- $- $- $- $1,122,298 
Financial and 

Administrative $16,121,122 $10,872 $17,553 $- $201,205 $16,350,752 

Legal Counsel $1,594,371 $- $- $- $- $1,594,371 

Comprehensive Planning $881,792 $- $- $- $- $881,792 
Non-Court Information 

Systems $4,267,971 $128,022 $- $- $- $4,395,993 

Other General 
Government Services $4,705,716 $2,029,103 $2,718,819 $- $5,279,479 $14,733,117 

Public Safety $58,101,981 $32,431,512 $8,180,156 $- $- $98,713,649 

Law Enforcement $28,415,589 $2,014,069 $- $- $- $30,429,658 

Fire Control $- $8,120,168 $- $- $- $8,120,168 
Detention and/or 

Correction $29,153,996 $3,610,105 $24,957 $- $- $32,789,058 

Protective Inspections $- $1,211,791 $- $- $- $1,211,791 
Emergency and Disaster 

Relief Services $- $1,771,174 $4,093,202 $- $- $5,864,376 

Ambulance and Rescue 
Services $- $15,478,033 $4,061,997 $- $- $19,540,030 

Medical Examiners $532,396 $- $- $- $- $532,396 

Other Public Safety $- $226,172 $- $- $- $226,172 

Physical Environment $2,289,029 $12,521,641 $3,971,665 $11,028,089 $- $29,810,424 
Garbage / Solid Waste 

Control Services $- $- $- $11,028,089 $- $11,028,089 

Sewer / Wastewater 
Services $- $228,535 $4,174 $- $- $232,709 

                                                           
150 Fla. Stat. § 98.015 (2013). 
151 Fla. Stat. § 101.34 (2013). 
152 Fla. Stat. § 98.015(10) (2013) (”Each supervisor shall ensure that all voter registration and list 

maintenance procedures conducted by such supervisor are in compliance with any applicable requirements 
prescribed by rule of the department through the statewide voter registration system or prescribed by the 
Voting Rights Act of 1965, the National Voter Registration Act of 1993, or the Help America Vote Act of 2002.”). 

153 Expenditures and Revenues Reported by Florida's County Governments, Office of Economic & 
Demographic Research (last visited on April 18, 2014), http://edr.state.fl.us/Content/local-
government/data/revenues-expenditures/cntyfiscal.cfm. 



 

25 
 

 General Special 
Revenue 

Capital 
Projects Enterprise Internal 

Service 
Account 

Total 
Conservation and 

Resource Management $481,348 $3,604,514 $- $- $- $4,085,862 

Flood Control / 
Stormwater 

Management 
$- $8,683,208 $3,419,124 $- $- $12,102,332 

Other Physical 
Environment $1,807,681 $5,384 $548,367 $- $- $2,361,432 

Transportation $270,853 $10,132,259 $9,772,328 $- $- $20,175,440 
Road and Street 

Facilities $270,853 $10,132,259 $9,772,328 $- $- $20,175,440 

Economic 
Environment $2,014,864 $4,720,456 $- $- $- $6,735,320 

Employment 
Opportunity and 

Development 
$64,307 $- $- $- $- $64,307 

Industry Development $199,500 $3,502,767 $- $- $- $3,702,267 

Veteran's Services $179,741 $- $- $- $- $179,741 
Housing and Urban 

Development $- $1,217,689 $- $- $- $1,217,689 

Other Economic 
Environment $1,571,316 $- $- $- $- $1,571,316 

Human Services $7,275,023 $1,838,962 $177,255 $- $- $9,291,240 

Health Services $2,100,311 $1,562,090 $177,255 $- $- $3,839,656 

Mental Health Services $638,156 $- $- $- $- $638,156 
Public Assistance 

Services $2,376,316 $- $- $- $- $2,376,316 

Other Human Services $2,160,240 $276,872 $- $- $- $2,437,112 

Culture / Recreation $6,318,922 $4,411,176 $4,094,828 $- $- $14,824,926 

Libraries $6,145,922 $568,570 $3,091,730 $- $- $9,806,222 

Parks and Recreation $500 $3,842,606 $1,003,098 $- $- $4,846,204 

Cultural Services $150,000 $- $- $- $- $150,000 

Special Events $22,500 $- $- $- $- $22,500 
Other Uses and Non-

Operating $23,508,518 $90,831,583 $21,700 $29,632 $5,494,505 $119,885,938 

Inter-Fund Group 
Transfers Out $23,508,518 $90,742,192 $21,700 $29,632 $5,494,505 $119,796,547 

Clerk of Court Excess 
Remittance $- $89,391 $- $- $- $89,391 

Court-Related 
Expenditures $5,637,235 $9,002,552 $245,953 $- $38,387 $14,924,127 

This table hints at what counties are spending millions of dollars on per year 
that may or may not be actually mandated by the state and federal governments for 
each county to fund. 
 
                                                           
i On behalf of Florida Association of Counties, the primary research and writing was conducted by Mr. David 
Heedy, at the time a law clerk for the Florida Association of Counties. 
ii On behalf of Florida Association of County Attorneys, the primary research and writing was conducted by the 
Growth Management & Environmental, the General Governmental, and the Public Safety Committees. 



          Revised 11/15/2016 
  
 

UNFUNDED MANDATES ON COUNTIES IN FLORIDA 
 
County Operations 
 

Public Records and Open Meetings – Chapters 119 and 286 
 
Ordinance Adoption – Section 125.66 
 
Other Notice  

  Certain procurements – Chapter 50 
 

Ethics - Chapter 112 
  Ethics training - Section 112.3142(2)(a) 
 

Annual Budget Development & Adoption Process – Chapter 129 
 
 Determination of Millage – Chapter 200 
 
 Contract Procedures & Bids   
  CCNA – Section 287.055 
  Notice of fees – Section 218.30 
 
 Florida Retirement System – Section 121.051 
 
 Intergovernmental Disputes – Chapter 164 
 
County Buildings 
 
 Generally – Section 125.01(1)(c) 
 
 County Courthouse – Section 138.09 
 
 County Jail – No express statutory section 
 
Public Safety & Courts 
 
 Emergency Medical Services   
  E911 State Plan – Sections 365.171-.173 
 
 Animal Control     
  Fence Laws – Section 588.15 
  Animal Control: Sheriff – Section 767.11(5) 
  Animal Control Minimums – Section 828.27 
  Animal Control Procedure – Sections 767.12-.13; 823.058; 828.05 
  Animal Control Officers Education – Section 828.27 
  Animal Control Reporting – Section 381.0031  



          Revised 11/15/2016 
  
 
Public Safety & Courts, cont. 
 
 Fire Protection – No express statutory section 
 
 Emergency Management – Section 252.38 
  Special Needs Shelters – Section 252.385, 381.0303(2)(b)   
 
 Juvenile Detention Costs – Section 985.686 
  Intake centers – Section 985.135(2) 
 
 State Courts System – ArtV, sec14, Fla.Const; Ch. 29, Fla.Stat.  
 
Health & Human Services 
 
 Medicaid – Section 409.915 
 Indigent Hospital Care – Section 154.306 
 County Health Units – Section 154.01 
 Mental Health Funding – Section 394.76(3) 
 Unclaimed Bodies – Section 406.50(5) 
 Medical Examiners – Section 406.08 
 Child Protective Services – Section 39.304(5) 
 Mosquito Control – No express statutory section 
 
Growth Management 
 
 Local Planning Agencies – Section 163.3174 
 Comp Plans – Section 163.3177 
 Concurrency – Section 163.3180(2)  
 Development Permits – Section 125.022 
 
Environmental Protection1 
 
 Solid Waste Disposal Facilities – Section 403.706(1) 
 Recycling – Section 403.706(2)(a) 
 Beach Renourishment – Section 161.101 
 Stormwater – Section 403.0891 
 
Transportation 
  
 County Roads – Section 336.02(1)(a) 
 
  

                                                           
1  For federal mandates in this area, be sure to check the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251-1387. 



          Revised 11/15/2016 
  
 
Constitutional Officers 
  
 Salaries – Chapter 145 
 Budgets – Section 129.03 
 Clerks – Chapter 28 
 Sheriffs – Chapter 30 
 Tax Collector – Chapter 197 
 Property Appraiser – Chapters 192-200 
 Supervisor of Elections – Section 98.0152 
 
 
 
 
 
  
    
   
   
    
 
 
 

                                                           
2 For federal funding mandates, need to check the Help America Vote Act (HAVA), 42 USC Ch.146. 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PREEMPTION OF COUNTY AUTHORITY IN FLORIDA 
 

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIESi AND 
FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY ATTORNEYSii 

NOVEMBER 2016



 

i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

I. INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. HISTORY OF COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL HOME RULE AUTHORITY ........................ 1 
 
 A. Counties ...................................................................................................... 1    

 B. Municipalities ............................................................................................ 2  

III. PREMPTIVE AREAS OF LAW .................................................................................... 3 
 
 A. Budgeting Process .................................................................................... 3 

 B. Contracting, Purchasing and Sale of County Property ................... 4 

 C. Emergency Medical .................................................................................. 5 

 D. Eminent Domain ....................................................................................... 5 

 E. Environmental Management .................................................................. 5 

 F. Ethics, Meetings, Procedure and Public Records ............................. 7 

 G. Growth Management and Zoning ......................................................... 8 

 H. Health And Human Services ................................................................ 10 

 I. Public Safety, Courts and Animal Control ........................................ 11 

 J. Sanitation and Food ............................................................................... 13 

 K. Taxes and Other Revenue Sources ..................................................... 15 

 L. Transportation ........................................................................................ 16 

  



 

1 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
 The state is able to restrict the home rule powers of counties and 
municipalities through preemption.  State preemption precludes a city or county 
from exercising authority in a particular area.  The Florida courts have recognized 
two types of preemption: express and implied.1  Express preemption “requires that 
the statute contain specific language of preemption directed to the particular 
subject at issue;” while, “[i]mplied preemption occurs if a legislative scheme is so 
pervasive that it occupies the entire field, creating a danger of conflict between local 
and state laws.”2 
 Although preemption is typically associated with an express state legislative 
declaration of preemption—i.e. a statute will prescribe that a local government 
“shall not adopt” an ordinance altering the language of the statute—home rule 
power can also be preempted by the legislature if the local government action is 
found to be (1) conflicting with state law, (2) inconsistent  with a pervasive 
regulatory scheme, or (3) attempting to exercise control over an area in which the 
Legislature has assigned contrary responsibility among governmental units.     
 This whitepaper will focus on express statutory preemption and implied 
preemptions that have been identified by the courts in Florida. 
 
II. HISTORY OF COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL HOME RULE AUTHORITY 
 
 “Home rule” is the ability of a county or municipality to act without 
legislative authorization.  Prior to the 1968 Florida Constitution, the majority of 
counties and municipalities had only those powers granted by the Legislature.  
Home rule authority was first adopted and given equal access to all counties and 
cities as one of the major constitutional revisions ratified in the 1968 Florida 
Constitutional Amendment.3    
 
A. Counties. 
 
 The Florida Constitution of 1885 provided Dade County (Miami-Dade) the 
“power to adopt, revise, and amend from time to time a home rule charter of 
government for Dade County, Florida, under which the Board of County 
Commissioners of Dade County shall be the governing body.”4 
 The 1968 revision created two forms of county government structures: 
charter counties and counties not operating under a charter.  Currently, “non-
charter counties” are provided: 

                                                           
1 Santa Rosa County v. Gulf Power Co., 635 So. 2d 96, 101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).   
2 Id.; see also Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc. v. Tallahassee Medical Center, 
Inc., 681 So. 2d 826, 831 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). 
3 See generally FLA. CONST. art. VIII. 
4 Fla. Const. art. VIII, § 6(e), n. 3 (originally in Section 11 of Article VIII of the 1885 Florida 
Constitution). 



2 
 

 
[The] power of self-government as is provided by general 
or special law. The board of county commissioners of a 
county not operating under a charter may enact, in a 
manner prescribed by general law, county ordinances not 
inconsistent with general or special law, but an ordinance 
in conflict with a municipal ordinance shall not be 
effective within the municipality to the extent of such 
conflict.5  
 

“Charter counties” are provided: 
 

[A]ll powers of local self-government not inconsistent with 
general law, or with special law approved by vote of the 
electors. The governing body of a county operating under 
a charter may enact county ordinances not inconsistent 
with general law. The charter shall provide which shall 
prevail in the event of conflict between county and 
municipal ordinances.6 

 
 A county may adopt a home-rule charter, which is a local constitution and 
can modify the structure of county government and can also deal with specific 
issues.  The county charter prevails in the event of a conflict between a county and a 
municipal ordinance.  In non-charter counties, a municipality may void a county 
ordinance within its boundaries simply by passing its own ordinance that conflicts 
with the county ordinance. 
 The constitutional home rule powers were subsequently statutorily 
recognized for charter counties and implemented for non-charter counties in Section 
125.01 of the Fla. Stat.7 
 
B. Municipalities. 
 
 Currently, Article VIII of the Florida Constitution gives municipalities the 
“governmental, corporate and proprietary powers . . . to conduct municipal 
government.”8  This considerably broad power sharply contrasts the limited powers 

                                                           
5 FLA. CONST. art. VIII, § 1(f). 
6 FLA. CONST. art. VIII, § 1(g). 
7 Fla. Stat. § 125.01 (3)(a)-(b) (2014) (“The enumeration of powers herein may not be deemed 
exclusive or restrictive, but is deemed to incorporate all implied powers necessary or incident to 
carrying out such powers enumerated, including, specifically, authority to employ personnel, expend 
funds, enter into contractual obligations, and purchase or lease and sell or exchange real or personal 
property. . . . The provisions of this section shall be liberally construed in order to effectively carry 
out the purpose of this section and to secure for the counties the broad exercise of home rule powers 
authorized by the State Constitution.”). 
8 Id.  



3 
 

expressed in the 1885 Florida Constitution, which stated that “[t]he Legislature 
shall have the power to establish, . . . municipalities . . . to prescribe their 
jurisdiction and powers, and to alter or amend the same at any time.”9   
 The 1968 revision’s home rule powers were first tested in 1972, when the 
Florida Supreme Court ruled that the City of Miami had no power to enact a rent 
control ordinance, absent a legislative enactment authorizing the exercise of such 
power by a municipality.10  The narrow construct of the Fleetwood Hotel decision led 
the legislature to enact the Municipal Home Rules Powers Act (MHRPA) the next 
year.  With practically the same language found in the Constitution, the MHRPA 
guarantees municipalities the power to conduct government.  The MHRPA 
specifically states that local governments should be able to act unless otherwise 
provided by law.  The Florida courts have interpreted this to mean that local 
government action should only be prohibited if the action is either preempted by 
state law or in conflict with state law. 
 
III. PREEMPTIVE AREAS OF LAW 
 
A. Budgeting Processes. 
 
The Florida Legislature established a budget system for the finances of every 
county’s board of county commissioners, as well as the exclusive method for county 
budget amendments.11  Moreover, chapter 200 of the Florida Statutes prescribes the 
procedures for the adoption of a millage rate for the levy of taxes by the county, 
which each county commission must follow.12  The courts of Florida have 
continuously struck down attempts by the county to impose modifications 
inconsistent with the general laws providing for the establishment of a county 
budget and imposition of ad valorem taxes.13 
 
In Ellis v. Burk, the Fifth District Court of Appeal decided whether a tax cap 
provision by Brevard County was inconsistent with Chapters 129 and 200, Florida 
Statutes.14  The appellate court first opined that “[u]nder our state constitution and 
statutory scheme, the power to limit a county commission's ability to raise revenue 

                                                           
9 FLA. CONST. of 1885, art. VIII, § 8. 
10 See City of Miami Beach v. Fleetwood Hotel, 261 So. 2d 801, 803 (Fla. 1972). 
11 Chapter 129, Florida Statutes; 2001-04, Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (2001) (“[T]he courts of this state have 
previously struck down attempts by a county to impose a tax cap as inconsistent with the general laws 
providing for the establishment of a county budget and imposition of ad valorem taxes contained in Chapters 
129 and 200, Florida Statutes.”). 
12 Chapter 200, Florida Statutes, 2001-04, Fla. Op. Att’y Gen. (2001) 
13 See, e.g., Board of County Comm’rs of Marion County v. McKeever, 436 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), pet. 
for rev. den., 446 So. 2d 99 (Fla. 1984) (concluding “that a county ordinance imposing a millage cap on ad 
valorem taxes for a period of up to ten years unconstitutionally conflicted with the statutory scheme set forth 
in Chapters 129 and 200, Florida Statutes”); Board of County Comm'rs of Dade County v. Wilson, 386 So. 2d 
556 (Fla. 1980) (holding that the Florida Supreme Court has held that Chapters 129 and 200, FLA. STAT., are 
the exclusive manner by which countywide millage rates are to be set).  
14 866 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). 



4 
 

for the county's operating needs by way of ad valorem taxation is effectively and 
exclusively lodged in the legislature.”15  Thus, although Brevard County argued 
that its home rule charter authorized its ad valorem revenue cap, the court held 
that the tax cap conflicted with the statutory schemes of Chapters 129 and 200, 
Florida Statutes, and then noted that requiring a referendum to override the tax 
cap violated the referendum provision of Chapter 125.01(1)(r), Fla. Stat.16  
 
B. Contracting, Purchasing and Sale of County Property. 
 
 The state has established several bidding procedures that counties are 
required to follow, including: voting machines and equipment purchases,17 sale of 
any real property,18 drainage projects,19 community development projects,20 and 
public construction works.21 
 The Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act requires an agency, including 
counties and municipalities, to follow certain procedures and requirements for 
procuring and contracting certain professional services, such as: architects, 
professional engineers, landscape architects, registered land surveyors, and design-
builders.22 
 Although a county may purchase or sell a water, sewer, or wastewater reuse 
utility for service to the public and compensation, it must first hold a public hearing 
considering several different factors and prepare a statement including a summary 
of the purchase.23  
 Licensing and regulation of real estate salesmen and brokers is preempted to 
the state by chapter 475, Fla. Stat.; counties and municipalities, therefore, are 

                                                           
15 Id. at 1237. 
16 Fla. Stat. § 125.01(1)(r) (2014) (“There shall be no referendum required for the levy by a county of 
ad valorem taxes, both for county purposes and for the providing of municipal services within any 
municipal service taxing unit.”). 
17 Fla. Stat. § 101.293(2) (2014) (“The Division of Elections of the Department of State shall establish 
bidding procedures for carrying out the provisions and the intent of ss. 101.292-101.295, and each 
governing body shall follow the procedures so established.”); 
18 Fla. Stat. § 125.35(1)(c) (2014) (“No sale of any real property shall be made unless notice thereof is 
published once a week for at least 2 weeks in some newspaper of general circulation published in the 
county, calling for bids for the purchase of the real estate so advertised to be sold.”). 
19 Fla. Stat. § 157.03 (2014) (“[T]he board of county commissioners shall advertise once a week for 3 
weeks, in a newspaper published in the said county, for bids for the construction of said ditch, drain 
or canal, and the same shall be given to the lowest responsible bidder.”). 
20 Fla. Stat. § 190.033 (2014) (“Any board seeking to construct or improve a public building, 
structure, or other public works shall comply with the bidding procedures of s. 255.20 and other 
applicable general law.”). 
21 Fla. Stat. § 255.20(1) (2014) (“A county, . . .  seeking to construct or improve a public building, 
structure, or other public construction works must competitively award to an appropriately licensed 
contractor each project that is estimated in accordance with generally accepted cost-accounting 
principles to cost more than $300,000.”). 
22 Fla. Stat. § 287.055 (2014); AGO 86-57, June 19, 1986, 
http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/A13B3A5F8862B7888525657500661F5E. 
23 Fla. Stat. § 125.3401 (2014). 



5 
 

precluded by this section from licensing and regulation of the real property 
activities or services of persons already licensed as real estate salesmen and brokers 
by the state.24  
 Chapter 274 governs tangible personal property owned by local governments.  
Surplus property is prescribed a method by which a local government is allowed to 
sell, and the county or city shall accept the highest bid and pay for the transferring 
of property.25 
 Section 723.004(2), Fla. Stat., stipulates that all regulations, control, and 
matters related to the landlord-tenant relationship of mobile home lots are 
expressly preempted to the state. 
 
C. Emergency Medical. 
 
 “A county may not impose a fee or seek reimbursement for any costs or 
expenses that may be incurred for services provided by a first responder, including 
costs or expenses related to personnel, supplies, motor vehicles, or equipment in 
response to a motor vehicle accident, except for costs to contain or clean up 
hazardous materials in quantities reportable to the Florida State Warning Point at 
the Division of Emergency Management and costs for transportation and treatment 
provided by ambulance services licensed pursuant to Sec. 401.23(4) and (5)”26 
 
D. Eminent Domain. 
 
 The counties are delegated the power of eminent domain through Chapter 
127 of the Florida Statutes for any county purpose. This power excludes state and 
federal property, and is limited to within its own County boundaries for parks, 
playgrounds, recreational centers or other recreational purposes.27 
 
E. Environmental Management. 
 
 Chapter 403 of the Florida Statutes prescribes how the Florida Legislature 
plans to ensure the beauty and quality of the state’s environment, including 
environmental management.  Under section 403.7031, Fla. Stat., “[a] county or a 
municipality shall not adopt by ordinance any definition that is inconsistent with 
the definitions in s. 403.703.” Sec. 403.703, Fla. Stat., defines forty-three (43) 
different terms dealing with environmental control.  
 
 Under section 403.510(2), Fla. Stat, “[t]he state hereby preempts the 
regulation and certification of electrical power plant sites and electrical power 
plants as defined in this act.” 

                                                           
24 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen., 081-5 (1981). 
25 Fla. Stat. § 274.05 (2014). 
26 Fla. Stat. § 125.01045(1) (2014) (emphasis added). 
27 Fla. Stat. §127.01(1)(a) and 127.01(2) (2014). 



6 
 

 Under section 405.536(2), Fla. Stat., “[t]he state hereby preempts the 
certification of transmission lines and transmission line corridors.” 
 Under section 403.942(2), Fla. Stat., “[t]he state preempts the certification 
and regulation of natural gas transmission pipelines and natural gas transmission 
pipeline corridors.” 
 The Florida Water Resources Act of 1972 declared that all waters in the state 
are subject to regulation under the provisions of Chapter 373, Fla. Stat., unless 
specifically exempted by general or special law.  “No state or local government 
agency may enforce, except with respect to water quality, any special act, rule, 
regulation, or order affecting the waters in the state controlled under the provisions 
of this act.”28 
 Under the Mangrove Trimming and Preservation Act, the state preempts the 
regulation and licensing of mangrove trimming, unless the local government is 
delegated the department’s authority under the Act.29  
 The Right to Farm Act and the Agricultural Land Use and Practices Act both 
preempt regulation of bona fide farming activities on property classified as 
agricultural under Florida Statute 193.461, where the farming activity is regulated 
through implemented best management practices, interim measures, or regulations 
adopted under Florida Statutes, Chapter 120, by the Department of Environmental 
Protection, the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, or a water 
management district as part of a statewide, or regional program, or if the activity is 
expressly regulated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers, or the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.  
 Nonresidential farm buildings, farm fences, and farm signs are exempt from 
the Florida Building Code, and any county or municipal code or fee, except for 
floodplain management regulations.30  However, a farm sign that is located on a 
public road may not be erected, used, operated, or maintained in a manner that 
violates any of the following standards of Florida Statutes 479.11:  
 

(4) which limits signs within 100 feet of a church, school, cemetery, 
public park, reservation, playground, or a state or national forest;  
(5)(a) which limits signs that display intermittent lights not embodied 
in the sign or any rotating or flashing lights within 100 feet of a 
rightway for certain highways, or which causes glare that impairs the 
vision of or distracts motorists;  
(6) which limits signs using the word stop or danger;  
(7) which limits signs that obstructs the view of approaching vehicles; 
and (8) which limits signs on certain highways.31  
 

                                                           
28 Fla. Stat. § 373.023(1)-(2) (2014). 
29 Fla. Stat. §403.9321-403.9334 (2014). 
30 Fla. Stat. §604.50 (2014). 
31 Fla. Stat. §604.50(1) (2014). 



7 
 

Regulation of waters in the state are controlled under Chapter 373 (except with 
respect to water quality) – § 373.023(2), Fla. Stat. 
 
F. Voting Regulations, Ethics, Public Records, Meetings and Procedure.  
 
 “All matters set forth in chapters 97-105 [covering elections, voting methods, 
candidates] are preempted to the state, except as otherwise specifically authorized 
by state or federal law.”32  There are, however, certain responsibilities and powers 
delegated to local authorities, including choice of voting systems—as local 
governments are in the best position to make such decisions.33 
 The Legislature has provided a code of ethics which covers the official 
conduct of all public officials and employees in Florida.34  While there is no express 
preemption of this area to the state which would preclude legislation by a county 
consistent with the Code of Ethics35, Florida’s Attorney General has stipulated that 
“the county commission of a charter county has the authority to enact a code of 
ethics for county officers and employees, a county ethics code may not conflict with 
the provisions of Chapter 112, Fla. Stat.”36 

                                                           
32 Fla. Stat. § 97.0115 (2014).  See Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 074-263 (1974) (finding campaign financing 
applying to candidates for elective municipal office is preempted by section 106.08, Florida Statutes); 
see also Fla. Op. Atty. Ge. 077-109 (1077) (finding that legislature has preempted the field of voter 
registration).  “However, municipal elections may be altered if there is an applicable special act, 
charter, or ordinance.”  See id. § 100.3605 
33 See Sarasota Alliance for Fair Elections, Inc. v. Browning, 28 So. 3d 880 (2010).  In a proposed 
amendment to Sarasota’s county charter sponsored by political action committee (PAC) setting forth 
detailed election requirements was not expressly preempted by election code, as there was no specific 
language in the code expressly setting forth preemption, however because the amendment conflicted 
with election code—it was found to be unconstitutional. Browning v. Sarasota Alliance for Fair 
Elections, Inc., 968 So.2d 637 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), decision approved in part, quashed in part 28 
So.3d 880. 
34 See Fla. Stat. §112.311(5) (2014) (“[N]o officer or employee of a state agency or of a county, city, or 
other political subdivision of the state . . . shall have any interest, financial or otherwise, direct or 
indirect; engage in any business transaction or professional activity; or incur any obligation of any 
nature which is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of his duties in the public interest. 
To implement this policy and strengthen the faith and confidence of the people of the state in their 
government, there is enacted a code of ethics setting forth standards of conduct required of state, 
county, and city officers and employees . . . in the performance of their official duties. It is the intent 
of the Legislature that this code shall serve not only as a guide for the official conduct of public 
servants in this state, but also as a basis for discipline of those who violate the provisions of this 
part.”). 
35 Fla. Stat. §112.326 states: “Additional requirements by political subdivisions and agencies not 
prohibited. – Nothing in this act shall prohibit the governing body of any political subdivisions, by 
ordinance, or agency, by rule, from imposing upon its own officers and employees additional or more 
stringent standards of conduct and disclosure requirements than those standards of conduct and 
disclosure requirements do not otherwise conflict with the provisions of this part.”  
36 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 91-89 (1991). However, in CEO 75-20, wherein the Florida Commission on 
Ethics recognizes that a municipality may enact a municipal code of ethics more stringent than, or 
with provisions differing from, Part III, Ch. 112, FLA. STAT., as long as it does not conflict with the 
state statute. 



8 
 

 Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, relating to records management, 
constitutes a state preemption of the field of public records and, therefore, such field 
is not a proper or valid subject of attempted local regulation or legislation.37  “The 
requirements of Chapter 119 have been made mandatory by the Legislature at the 
local as well as the state level and hence do not vest in any local agency any 
discretion whatsoever to change, alter or condition the provisions of the chapter.”38  
Moreover, Florida courts have also recognized that Legislature has made the 
Chapter 119 requirements mandatory at the local level.39  
 
G. Growth Management and Zoning.40 
 
 The local government comprehensive plan is a document that is prepared and 
adopted pursuant to Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, which is intended to be a guide 
for making land use decisions for future development and redevelopment within the 
locality.41  In section 163.3194, Fla. Stat., the Legislature mandated that once a 
comprehensive plan has been adopted in conformity with the Community Planning 
Act, there may be no variance from the plan granted to development activities 
adopted afterward.42 
 In the 1985 Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Act, local government plans and plan amendments were 
required to be reviewed and approved by the state—a process that was formerly 
under the local government’s authority.43   
 Zoning of family day care homes is restricted. “The operation of a residence as 
a family day care home, as defined by law, registered or licensed with the 
Department of Children and Families shall constitute a valid residential use for 
purposes of any local zoning regulations, and no such regulation shall require the 
owner or operator of such family day care home to obtain any special exemption or 

                                                           
37 Section 24 of Article 1 of the Florida Constitution grants to the public the right of access to public 
records and to public meetings of collegial bodies, and authorizes the Legislature to enact general 
laws, passed by a 2/3 vote of each house, establishing exemptions to these rights.  Each such law 
must state the public necessity for the exemption and be no broader than necessary to accomplish 
the law’s stated purpose.  The Legislature is also directed to enact laws governing the enforcement of 
these provisions.  
38 1985 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 45 (Fla.A.G.), Fla. AGO 85-19, 1985 
39  Tribune Company v. Cannella, 438 So.2d 516 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983), quashed, 458 So.2d 1075 
(Fla.1984). 
40 See also, preemptions identified in Section III, E, “Environmental Management” 
41 Florida County Government Guide, Page 126 
42 Fla. Stat. § 163.3194(1)(a) (2014) (“After a comprehensive plan, or element or portion thereof, has 
been adopted in conformity with this act, all development undertaken by, and all actions taken in 
regard to development orders by, governmental agencies in regard to land covered by such plan or 
element shall be consistent with such plan or element as adopted.”). 
43 1985 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 158 (Fla.A.G.), Fla. AGO 85-56, 1985 (“[I]t is my opinion that all land 
development regulations and actions including permits for the construction and use of property 
issued by a municipality must be in accordance with the local government's comprehensive plan.”). 



9 
 

use permit or waiver, or to pay any special fee in excess of $50, to operate in an area 
zoned for residential use.”44 
 Zoning of community residential homing is restricted.  “State law on 
community residential homes controls over local ordinances, but nothing in this 
section prohibits a local government from adopting more liberal standards for siting 
such homes.”45 
 “A local law, ordinance, or regulation may not prohibit vacation rentals or 
regulate the duration or frequency of rental of vacation rentals.”46 
  Section 552.30 of the Florida Statutes expressly states that the State Fire 
Marshall has sole and exclusive authority to promulgate standards, rules and 
regulations regarding the use of explosives in conjunction with construction 
material mining activities. 
 
H. Health and Human Services. 
 
 Part III of Chapter 401, Florida Statutes (§§ 401.2101-401.465), the 
“Raymond H. Alexander M.D. Emergency Medical Transportation Services Act,” 
establishes a statewide regulatory scheme for emergency and nonemergency 
medical transportation services.  Counties and municipalities may not enact any 
local ordinance that may prohibit or contradicts any law provided by the state.47 
 
I. Public Safety and Animal Control. 
 
 “No county may adopt any ordinance relating to the possession or sale of 
ammunition.”48 
 “PREEMPTION.—Except as expressly provided by the State Constitution or 
general law, the Legislature hereby declares that it is occupying the whole field of 
regulation of firearms and ammunition, including the purchase, sale, transfer, 
taxation, manufacture, ownership, possession, storage, and transportation thereof, 
to the exclusion of all existing and future county, city, town, or municipal 
ordinances or any administrative regulations or rules adopted by local or state 
government relating thereto. Any such existing ordinances, rules, or regulations are 
hereby declared null and void.”49 

                                                           
44 Fla. Stat. § 166.0445 (2014). 
45 Fla. Stat. § 419.001 (2014). 
46 Fla. Stat. § 509.032(7)(b) (2014). 
47 Rinzler v. Carson, 262 So.2d 661, 668 (Fla. 1972). 
48 Fla. Stat. § 125.0107 (2014). 
49 Fla. Stat. § 790.33(1) (2014).  The statute goes on to stipulate that if a county or municipality is 
found to be “knowing and willful” of its violation of the firearm and ammunition preemption, “the 
court shall assess a civil fine of up to $5,000 against the elected or appointed local government 
official or officials or administrative agency head under whose jurisdiction the violation occurred.”  
Id. § 790.33(3)(c). 



10 
 

 Section 791.001, Fla. Stat. expressly states that Chapter 791, which concerns 
the sale of fireworks, “shall be applied uniformly throughout the state.”50 
 “No local government or political subdivision of the state may enact or 
enforce an ordinance that regulates pest control,” with a few exceptions.51 
 Art. IV, §9, Fla. Const. specifically preempts the regulation of wild animal life 
and fresh water aquatic life to the state. §379.2412, Fla. Stat. (2014), preempts the 
regulation of “the taking or possession of saltwater fish” to the state.     
 The “fence law” contained in Chapter 588, Fla. Stat. (2014), governing the 
impoundment of stray livestock is intended to be uniform throughout the state.  
Regulation of dangerous dogs is set forth in Chapter 767, Florida Statutes.52 
Chapter 767, Fla. Stat. (2014), establishes minimum procedures governing the 
investigation, certification, notice and hearing, confinement, and appellate remedies 
related to dangerous dogs.53  There is a statutory definition of a “dangerous dog.”  
The law requires that a dog that has been “declared dangerous attacks or bites a 
person or a domestic animal without provocation” shall be “destroyed in an 
expeditious and humane manner.”54  In all cases, the law requires that a dog that 
“causes severe injury or death of any human” shall be euthanized.55  No local 
government may adopt dangerous dog regulations “specific to breed.”56 
 In Hoesch v. Broward County, 53 So. 3d 1177 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011), the court 
invalidated a county ordinance that required euthanasia of dogs that kill or cause 
the death of a domestic animal on only one occasion finding it conflicted with 
Chapter 767 that required at least two such incidents.  
 If counties elect to provide local animal control, state law establishes 
minimum criteria and responsibilities.57  There are minimum criteria governing the 
civil citation process for local ordinances “relating to animal control or cruelty.”58  
While the law states “no county or municipal ordinance relating to animal control or 
cruelty shall conflict with the provisions of this chapter or any other state law”, it 
also proclaims that it is still “an additional, supplemental, and alternative means of 
                                                           
50 Counties’ can regulate more stringently. “This does not mean that the county cannot legislate 
concerning fireworks to the extent such does not conflict with the provisions of chapter 791. See, 
Phantom of Brevard, Inc. v. Brevard County, 3 So. 3d 309 (Fla. 2008); see also Florida Statute 
Section 791.012; “Any state, county, or municipal law, rule, or ordinance may provide for more 
stringent regulations for the outdoor display of fireworks, but in no event may any such law, rule, or 
ordinance provide for less stringent regulations for the outdoor display of firework.”  
51 Fla. Stat. § 482.242(1) (2014). 
52 See Fla. Stat. § 767.10-.15 (2014) (“Nothing in this act shall limit any local government from 
placing further restrictions or additional requirements on owners of dangerous dogs or developing 
procedures and criteria for the implementation of this act, provided that no such regulation is 
specific to breed and that the provisions of this act are not lessened by such additional regulations or 
requirements.”). 
53 § 767.12, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
54 § 767.13(1), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
55 § 767.13(2), (3), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
56 §767.14, Fla. Stat. (2014). 
57 In areas not served by an animal control authority, the sheriff shall carry out the duties of the 
animal control authority. § 767.11(5), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
58 § 828.27, Fla. Stat. (2014). 



11 
 

enforcing county or municipal codes or ordinances.”59  Local governments may not 
“mandate revaccination of currently vaccinated animals except in instances 
involving postexposure treatment for rabies.”60 
 Municipalities and counties have no home rule powers in the area of 
examining into or certifying the competency of fire protection systems contractors; 
such regulation is preempted to the state.61 
 Regulation, compensation and operation of the National Guard has been 
preempted to the state, and is primarily a state, and not a municipal, purpose.62 
 State law does not expressly preempt the subject of juvenile detention.  
Chapter 985, Fla. Stat. (2014), establishes procedures to ensure due process 
governing the control, discipline, punishment, and treatment of children alleged to 
have committed a violation of law.  Counties may operate their own secure juvenile 
detention centers or share the costs of state-run facilities.63 
 
J. Sanitation and Food. 
 
 Florida Statutes § 381.00315(6) provides that rules adopted by the state 
department of health pursuant to Fla. Stat. Ch. 381 supersede municipal 
regulations and ordinances and public health rules of other state departments.64 
 The regulation and permitting of food manufacturing, processing, packing, 
transporting and preparing, or selling at retail is preempted to the state.65  
 The provisions of Fla. Stat. Ch. 502 and state rules preempt all municipal 
regulations relating to milk or milk products, or frozen desserts for wholesale.66  
 The regulation, identification, and packaging of meat, poultry, and fish are 
preempted to the state.67 
 
K. Taxes and Other Revenue Sources. 
 
                                                           
59 § 828.27(7)(8), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
60 § 828.30(7), Fla. Stat. (2014). 
61 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 080-46 (1980). 
62 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 078-81 (1978). 
63 § 958.686(10), Fla. Stat. (2014) 
64 Fla. Stat. § 381.00315(6) (2014) (“The rules adopted under this section and actions taken by the 
department pursuant to a declared public health emergency or quarantine shall supersede all rules 
enacted by other state departments, boards or commissions, and ordinances and regulations enacted 
by political subdivisions of the state.”). 
65 Fla. Stat. § 500.12(5) (2014) (“Regulatory and permitting authority over any food establishment is 
preempted to the department.”). 
66 Fla. Stat. § 502.232 (2014) (“All special or local acts, general laws of limited application, county 
ordinances or resolutions, municipal ordinances or resolutions, and municipal charter provisions 
that authorize the regulation of milk or milk products, or frozen desserts for wholesale, are 
superseded by this chapter and the rules adopted pursuant to this chapter.”). 
67 Fla. Stat. § 500.60 (2014) (“Notwithstanding any other law or local ordinance to the contrary and 
to ensure uniform health and safety standards, the regulation, identification, and packaging of meat, 
poultry, and fish is preempted to the state and the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 
Services.”). 



12 
 

 “The authority of a public body to require taxes, fees, charges, or other 
impositions from dealers of communications services for occupying its roads and 
rights-of-way is specifically preempted by the state because of unique circumstances 
applicable to communications services dealers.”68 
 Regulatory fees imposed to regulate competing uses of public rights-of-way 
are characterized as franchise fees.  Utilities have historically bargained for and 
entered into franchise agreements with counties and municipalities.  The holding in 
Santa Rosa County v. Gulf Power Co., that the authority to grant a franchise and 
impose a fee on telephone utilities was preempted was based upon the provisions of 
sections 364.32 through 364.37, Florida Statutes, which granted the Florida Public 
Service Commission the exclusive jurisdiction to grant certificates to telephone 
companies.69 
 Besides the local government’s ability to levy ad valorem taxes, “[a]ll other 
forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general 
law.”70 
 No tax on the manufacture, distribution, exportation, transportation, 
importation, or sale of alcoholic beverages may be imposed by way of license, excise, 
or otherwise by any municipality.71 
 No municipality or county may levy or collect any excise tax on cigarettes.72 
 Cases in which the courts have found express state preemption are rare.  
Taxation is one of the areas in which there has been an explicit finding of express 
preemption.  See City of Tampa v. Birdsong Motors, Inc., 261 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1972). 
 “All matters relating to the operation of the state lottery are preempted to the 
state, and no county, municipality, or other political subdivision of the state shall 
enact any ordinance relating to the operation of the lottery.”73 
 
L. Transportation. 
 
 Chapter 316 covers the State Uniform Traffic Control which is used to make 
uniform traffic laws apply throughout the state.  “[N]o local authority shall enact or 
enforce any ordinance on a matter covered by [Chapter 316] unless expressly 
authorized.”74  For example, city ordinances allowing use of cameras to monitor and 
enforce red light infractions were expressly preempted by state law,75 city 

                                                           
68 Fla. Stat. § 202.24(1) (2014). 
69 635 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), review denied, 645 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1994). 
70 Fla. Const. art. VII, § 1. 
71 Fla. Stat. § 561.342 (2014) (“No tax on the manufacture, distribution, exportation, transportation, 
importation, or sale of such beverages shall be imposed by way of license, excise, or otherwise by any 
municipality, anything in any municipal charter or special or general law to the contrary 
notwithstanding.”). 
72 Fla. Stat. § 210.03 (2014) (“No municipality shall, after July 1, 1972, levy or collect any excise tax 
on cigarettes.”). 
73 Fla. Stat. § 24.122(3) (2014). 
74 Fla. Stat. § 316.007 (2014). 
75 Fla. Stat. § 316.0076 (2014); see also Masone v. City of Aventura, 147 So. 3d 492 (Fla. 2014).   



13 
 

ordinances that allowed city to use automated cameras to catch and fine drivers 
who ran red lights was expressly preempted by the Florida Uniform Traffic Control 
Law,76 city ordinance regulating motor-propelled bicycles are preempted to the 
state,77 regulation of skateboards on streets within the city’s jurisdiction is 
preempted to the state,78 regulation of commercial mobile radio services within a 
motor vehicle is expressly preempted to the state,79 and child or truck bed restraint 
are preempted to the Legislature’s Uniform Traffic Control Law.80 
 Any matter covered by Chapter 316 (Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law) – 
§ 316.007, Fla. Stat. 
 Establishment of State roads and bridges – Department of Transportation v. 
Lopez-Torres, 526 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1988) 
 
                                                           
i On behalf of Florida Association of Counties, the primary research and writing was conducted by Mr. David 
Heedy, at the time a law clerk for the Florida Association of Counties. 
ii On behalf of Florida Association of County Attorneys, the primary research and writing was conducted by the 
Growth Management & Environmental, the General Governmental, and the Public Safety Committees. 

                                                           
76 City of Orlando v. Udowychenko, 98 So. 3d 589 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012). 
77 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 077-84 (1997). 
78 Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 98-15 (1998); but see Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 94-5 (1994) (finding a city is not 
preempted from regulating safety equipment for bicycles, specifically the requirement to wear a 
helmet).   
79 Fla. Stat. § 316.0075 (2014). 
80 See Fla. Stat. § 316.613 (2014); see also Fla. Op. Atty. Gen. 2008-11 (2008). 



1 
 

        Revised 10/10/16 
 

STATE PREEMPTION OF 
COUNTY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

 
 

Areas over which the Legislature has preempted counties from acting.  Note, in 
some cases preemption is complete.  In other cases, it is partial.  The particular 
statute should be evaluated. 
 

1. Regulation of smoking – Section 386.209 
 

2. Testing of cigarettes for flammability – Section 633.142(11) 
 

3. Cultivation and processing of medical cannabis by dispensing organizations – 
Section 381.986(8) 
 

4. Mobile home park landlord-tenant issues – Section 723.004(2) 
 

5. Sanitary standards in mobile home parks and R.V. parks – Section 513.051 
 
6. Environmental control definitions – Section 403.7031 

 
7. Regulation and certification of electrical power plants – Section 403.510(2) 

 
8. Certification of electrical transmission lines – Section 403.536(2) 

 
9. Maintenance of vegetation within electrical transmission and distribution rights-of-

way – Section 163.3209 
 

10. Certification and regulation of natural gas transmission pipelines – Section 
403.942(2) 
 

11. Biomedical waste generators – Section 381.0098(8) 
 

12. Underground petroleum storage tanks – Section 376.317 
 

13. Regulation of waters in the state controlled under Chapter 373 (except with 
respect to water quality) – Section 373.023(2) 
 

14. Regulation of the consumptive use of water – Section 373.217(4) 
 

15. Mangrove trimming – Section 403.9324 
 

16. Use of explosives in construction materials mining activities – Section 552.30 
 



2 
 

17. All matters set forth in Chapters 97-105 (relating to elections) – Section 97.0115 
 

18. Movers of household goods and moving brokers – Section 507.13 
 

19. Vacation rentals – Section 509.032(7)(b) 
 

20. Zoning of family day care homes – Section 125.0109 
 

21. Retail refunds – Section 501.142(1) 
 

22. Secondary metals recyclers – Section 538.21(4) 
 

23. Regulated metals property – Section 538.28 
 

24. Pawnbroking – Section 539.001(20) 
 

25. Evidentiary standards and defenses regarding price gouging during a declared 
state of emergency – Section 501.160(6) 

 
26. Possession or sale of ammunition – Section 125.0107 

 
27. Firearms and ammunition – Section 790.33(1) 

 
28. Firearms and ammunition use at shooting ranges – Section 790.333(8) 

 
29. Impairment in public places – Section 397.701 (but some regulation allowed 

under Section 397.702) 
 

30. Pest control – Section 482.242(1) 
 

31. Pesticides – Section 487.051(2) 
 

32. Wild animal life, fresh water aquatic life and marine life – Article IV, Section 9 
 

33. Taking or possession of saltwater fish – Section 125.01(4) 
 

34. Livestock at large – Chapter 588 
 

35. Animal control and cruelty – Section 828.27(7) 
 
36. Public health emergencies and quarantines – Section 381.00315(6) 

 
37. Public lodging establishments and public food service establishments (except for 

compliance with Fla. Building Code and Fla. Fire Prevention Code) – Section 
509.032(7)(a) 
 



3 
 

38. Ranking of food service establishments – Section 509.039 
 
39. Manufacturing, processing, packing, holding or preparing food or selling food at 

wholesale or retail – Section 500.12(5) 
 

40. Bottled water plants, water vending machines and packaged ice plants – Section 
500.511(3) 
 

41. Milk or milk products, or frozen desserts for wholesale – Section 502.232 
 

42. Meat, poultry and fish – Section 500.60 
 

43. Standards and fines in the following subject areas – Section 570.07(16): 
a. Fruit and vegetable inspection and grading 
b. Pesticide spray, residue inspection, and removal 
c. Commercial stock feeds and commercial fertilizers 
d. Poultry and eggs 
e. Registration, inspection and analysis of gasoline and oils 
f. Registration, labeling, inspection and analysis of pesticides 
g. Seeds 
h. Weights, measures and standards 
i. Foods as set forth in the Food Safety Act 
j. Honey 
k. Sale of liquid fuels 
l. Licensing of dealers in agricultural products 
m. Administration and enforcement of all regulatory legislation applying to milk and 

milk products, ice cream and frozen desserts 
n. Marks and brands of livestock 

 
44. Fertilizer – Section 576.181(5) 

 
45. Commercial feed and feedstuff – Section 580.0365 

 
46. Beekeeping – Sections 586.10(1) & 586.055 

 
47. Farm operations – Sections 823.14(6) & 163.3162(3) 

 
48. Nonresidential farm buildings, farm fences and farm signs – Section 604.50 

 
49. Hoisting equipment used in construction – Section 489.113(11) 

 
50. Taxes or fees on dealers of communications services for occupying rights-of-way 

– Section 202.24(1) 
 

51. Telecommunications companies – Section 364.01(2) 
 



4 
 

52. Rates and service of public electric and gas utilities – Section 366.04(1) 
 

53. The authority, service and rates of water and wastewater utilities – Section 
367.011 

 
54. Other than ad valorem taxes, all other forms of taxation – Article VII, Section 1 

 
55. Operation of the State lottery – Section 24.122(3) 

 
56. Motor vehicle warranties – Section 681.116 

 
57. Any matter covered by Chapter 316 (Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law) – 

Section 316.007 
 

58. Use of cameras for enforcing Ch. 316 – Section 316.0076 
 

59. Motor vehicle noise – Section 403.415 
 

60. Commercial mobile radio services within a motor vehicle – Section 316.0075 
 

61. Additional fees and fines on civil traffic penalties assessed under Ch. 318 – 
Section 318.121 

 
62. Real estate brokers and salesmen – AGO 81-50 

 
63. Insurers and agents – Section 624.401(3) 

 
64. Taxes and fees on insurers – Section 624.520 

 
65. Workers’ compensation – Barragan v. City of Miami, 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989) 

 
66. Sellers of travel – Section 559.939 

 
67. Standards for security cameras in businesses – Section 163.31802 

 
68. Security standards for convenience stores – Section 812.1725 

 
69. Customer safety standards at ATMs – Section 655.965 

 
70. Handicapped accessibility standards – Section 553.513 

 
71. Establishment of State roads and bridges – Department of Transportation v. 

Lopez-Torres, 526 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1988) 
 



5 
 

72. Access to or use of public facilities for collection of blood from volunteer donors 
based on whether the blood establishment is for-profit or not-for-profit – Section 
381.06014(5) 
 

73. Obscene movies and shows – Sections 847.09 & 847.013(5) 
 
 
Areas over which the Legislature has dictated to counties how they are to operate 
on certain subjects 
 

1. Eminent domain – Chapter 127 
 

2. County budgets – Chapter 129 
 

3. Adoption of millage – Chapter 200 
 

4. Public records – Chapter 119 
 

5. Public meetings – Section 286.011 
 

6. Adoption of ordinances – Section 125.66 
 

7. Purchase of voting equipment – Section 101.293 
 

8. Public construction projects – Section 255.20 
 

9. Procurement of certain professional services – Section 287.055 
 

10. Contracting with companies on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel 
List, Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, Scrutinized Companies 
with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged in business 
operations in Cuba or Syria – Section 287.135(7) 

 
11. Purchase or sale of a water, sewer or wastewater reuse utility – Section 

125.3401 
 

12. Charges for first responder services – Section 125.01045(1) 
 

13. Compliance with comprehensive plan – Section 163.3194(1)(a) 
 

14. Zoning of community residential homes – Section 419.001 
 

15. Sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage and potable water concurrency – Section 
163.3180(1) 
 



6 
 

16. Processing of comprehensive plan amendment applications for agricultural 
enclaves – Section 163.3162(4) 
 

17. Dangerous dogs – Section 767.14 
 

18. Payment of bonuses and severance pay to employees – Section 215.425 



Located in the center of Florida’s west coast, Hillsborough County, Fla., is a fast 
growing county with an educated labor force.  One of the large counties central 
to the Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater metropolitan area, Hillsborough 
County added almost 300,000 residents since 2000, at a faster pace than 

both Florida and the nation.  The county workforce  is well-educated, with 
 nearly 30 percent of Hillsborough County residents age 25 and older 

 possessing a Bachelor’s degree or higher, more than the Florida  
 average. As of April 2014, Hillsborough County enjoyed an  
 unemployment rate (5.6 percent) lower than the overall Florida rate.   

         The county government focuses on economic diversification,  
  building upon the substantial existing resources of the community to 
  develop and deliver new opportunities for employment and  
  business growth.  This case study offers some of the latest  
  examples in county leadership in economic development, including 
          the Economic Development Innovation Initiative (EDI2),   
 Manufacturing Academy and Apprenticeship and Internship Program, 
  the Economic Development Innovation Initiative (EDI2) and the  
  Competitive Sites efforts. While the Hillsborough County Economic  
  Development Department leads these initiatives, the county also leverages the 
expertise and resources of other county agencies, departments and other organizations.   

Hillsborough County’s economic development strategy hinges on strong local, 
regional and statewide relationships.  At the county level, seven elected County 
Commissioners and an appointed County Administrator govern the county 
government, with the Administrator acting as the chief executive officer.  The 
County Administrator implements the policies adopted by the Board of County 
Commissioners and is responsible for a multitude of services, ranging from 
preparing the county’s annual operating budget to overseeing the 4,000 county 
employees.  The County Economic Development Department leads the effort on 
specific initiatives, as determined by the Board of County Commissioners.  With 28 
employees and an operating budget of $2.9 million, the department covers a wide 

Hillsborough County, Florida 
Creating New Opportunities through Innovative, Effective Leadership

 1
Questions? Contact Dr. Emilia Istrate, NACo Research Director | research@naco.org  

Media contact: Brian Namey, NACo Director of Media Relations | bnamey@naco.org | 202.942.4220 

www.naco.org | Twitter: @NACoTweets | Facebook: /NACoDC | YouTube: /NACoVideo  
25 Massachusetts Ave NW | Suite 500 | Washington, DC | 20001 | Tel 202.393.6226 | Fax 202.393.2630

• Population, 2013: 1.3 million 

• County Board size: 7 

• County Administrator 

Strong Economies,  
Resilient Counties  
The Role of Counties in Economic Development

NACo WHY COUNTIES MATTER PAPER SERIES • ISSUE 1 • July 2014 • www.naco.org



range of economic activities from corporate business development, minority business enterprise, small business 
development, tourism development, agribusiness development to technology and innovation initiatives, business 
intelligence, compliance and competitive sites.  

When efficient and appropriate, the county collaborates with specialized public-private partners.  Based on their 
primary economic development activities, the county partners range from the Tampa-Hillsborough Economic 
Development Corporation for business recruitment and retention, Tampa Bay WaVE and USF CONNECT for 
entrepreneurship support, CareerSource Tampa Bay for workforce development and the Tampa Bay Partnership for 
regional marketing/ branding to Visit Tampa Bay for tourism development and Tampa Bay Trade and Protocol 
Council for international economic development. 

In the past two years, county leaders empowered staff to develop and implement programs that deviate 
substantially from historic “business as usual” methods.   

!
Manufacturing Academy and Apprenticeship/Internship Program 
(MAAIP) 
In response to research examining a perceived regional manufacturing workforce skills gap, Hillsborough County is 
leading an effort to promote manufacturing as a career not only for students, but also the current workforce in the 
county, especially veterans, women, minorities and underserved communities.  The MAAIP provides more relevant 
curriculum at early ages through a Manufacturing Academy, connects students with meaningful work-learn 
experiences and actively engages the private sector partners, students and their families in these training programs.  
The Manufacturing Academy will provide training for middle and high school students and military veterans. Students 
who complete the program will be credentialed through the Manufacturing Skills Standard Council's Certified 
Production Technician (CPT) certification.  Through the Apprenticeship/Internship program, the county plans to 
create an ongoing commitment from the manufacturing community to engage Manufacturing Academy students in 
meaningful on-the-job-training opportunities in the form of apprenticeships and internships.  The county collaborates 
with the CareerSource Tampa Bay for finding and enrolling manufacturers to participate in the program.  Funded by 
a $1-million allocation from Hillsborough County, the two-year program will be administered by the County Economic 
Development Department for the Hillsborough County Board of County Commissioners.   

!
Competitive Sites  
In a fast-paced business world, the Hillsborough County’s Competitive Sites program aims to provide immediate 
information on development opportunities, regulatory assistance and strategic public sector investments.  In this 

Strong Economies,  
Resilient Counties  
The Role of Counties in Economic Development

NACo WHY COUNTIES MATTER PAPER SERIES • ISSUE 1 • July 2014 • www.naco.org

 2
Questions? Contact Dr. Emilia Istrate, NACo Research Director | research@naco.org  

Media contact: Brian Namey, NACo Director of Media Relations | bnamey@naco.org | 202.942.4220 

www.naco.org | Twitter: @NACoTweets | Facebook: /NACoDC | YouTube: /NACoVideo  
25 Massachusetts Ave NW | Suite 500 | Washington, DC | 20001 | Tel 202.393.6226 | Fax 202.393.2630



way, the county is prepared for large-scale business expansions and relocations.  The Competitive Sites program, 
led by the County Economic Development Department, identified, inventoried and analyzed the sites throughout the 
county with the capacity to support targeted industry development.  As of June 2014, the initiative is in the process 
of crafting policies and programs to guide public sector engagement and investment.   

Hillsborough County secures its economic future through planning, leadership and – where appropriate – 
partnerships.  The county government plays multiple roles in economic development in the county, as a thought 
leader, convener and funder.  While the county entrusts partner organizations throughout the county, region and 
state with the implementation of certain initiatives, it maintains fiscal oversight and assumes ultimate responsibility for 
the outcomes.  Thoughtful decisions on partnerships increase the likelihood of a prosperous outcome for 
Hillsborough County’s residents and businesses.  

Strong Economies,  
Resilient Counties  
The Role of Counties in Economic Development

NACo WHY COUNTIES MATTER PAPER SERIES • ISSUE 1 • July 2014 • www.naco.org

 3
Questions? Contact Dr. Emilia Istrate, NACo Research Director | research@naco.org  

Media contact: Brian Namey, NACo Director of Media Relations | bnamey@naco.org | 202.942.4220 

www.naco.org | Twitter: @NACoTweets | Facebook: /NACoDC | YouTube: /NACoVideo  
25 Massachusetts Ave NW | Suite 500 | Washington, DC | 20001 | Tel 202.393.6226 | Fax 202.393.2630

Local technology businesses nurtured at FirstWaVE accelerator, 
funded in part by Hillsborough County’s Economic Development 
Innovation Initiative (EDI2).



The Economic Development Innovation Initiative (EDI2) 
The Economic Development Innovation Initiative (EDI2) is a comprehensive program to help the growth of 
technology and innovative start-ups and small businesses within the county.  The goals of the initiative include the 
increased recognition of the existing assets for the growth of technology companies, the enhancement of the local 
system of assistance for technology businesses (resources, mentors and accelerators and incubators) and acting as 
a clearinghouse for organizations and resources that could assist these entrepreneurs.  The county plans to sponsor 
events that would increase awareness of this segment of the local economy and attract talent and businesses to this 
sector, to align its current resources to be supportive of this industry and to assist non-profits that help the 
innovation ecosystem.  The County Economic Development Department administers the two-year program for the 
Hillsborough County Board of County Commissioners and received a $2-million allocation from Hillsborough County.  
As of June 2014, 56 ecosystem-building projects received nearly $600,000 of this amount and leveraged a similar 
amount of private funds.

NACo WHY COUNTIES MATTER PAPER SERIES • ISSUE 1 • July 

Strong Economies,  
Resilient Counties  
The Role of Counties in Economic Development

 4
Questions? Contact Dr. Emilia Istrate, NACo Research Director | research@naco.org  

Media contact: Brian Namey, NACo Director of Media Relations | bnamey@naco.org | 202.942.4220 

www.naco.org | Twitter: @NACoTweets | Facebook: /NACoDC | YouTube: /NACoVideo  
25 Massachusetts Ave NW | Suite 500 | Washington, DC | 20001 | Tel 202.393.6226 | Fax 202.393.2630

Citizens participate in the Hillsborough County Hackathon, using 
open data to improve communitires and governments. 



������������	
�������������������������������������� � �!"���" ##�$%�������������&'(��

)�*$+	,!�- 	 
��./�0+�1��,$��23 ��1�2��4���/��	�5$� "�0$4��	��	,�����6�����(�7&����������������8����



������������	
�������������������������������������� �!"���" ##�$%�������������&'(��

)*++,-*.,/012�34.*55�6*718,.095�:9.095� ;<=>?�@$A	B!�C 	 
��DE�FA�G��B$�HI ��G�H��J���E��	�K$� "�F$J��	��	B





�

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
������������������� �!�"��#��!�$%&'(�)*�+),-(,-./0123014�5555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555567829:;<=2�>:??@1A�555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555BC0:D;A�E0=21D?2D;F�G�>;1@;2H<9�I:J�K01�>L@124�>21=<92M�555555555555555555555555NOPQR�QST�UPQSTV�UTSWXYT�ZS[\TYR]̂�55555555555555555555555555555555555555NOP_�̀[abRXT]�QST�̀[b]XVTSXbc�UPQSTV�UTSWXYT�dTeXWTS_�555555555555555555555555fOPQR�UPQSTV�UTSWXYT]�gST�h[R�5555555555555555555555555555555555555555ijkL2�l1290D4<;<0DM�K01�>:992MMK:m�>L@124�>21=<92M�55555555555555555555555555555i6nTQVTS]PXo�555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555i6pSa]Rq�rTYXoS[YXR_q�QbV�pSQb]oQSTbY_�555555555555555555555555555555555555isèTQS�t[Qe]�QbV�uTQ]aSQveT�rT]aeR]�555555555555555555555555555555555555iw>2mm<DH�@D4�x:A<DH�C0:D;A�>21=<92M�;L10:HL�C0D;1@9;M�@D4�C00y21@;<=2�GH122?2D;M�5555ifz290??2D4@;<0DM�K01�lm@DD<DH�@D4�{?ym2?2D;<DH�>L@124�>21=<92�z2m@;<0DML<yM��<D�C0:D;A�E0=21D?2D;�555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555|6ZeQbbXbc�Q�UPQSTV�UTSWXYT��555555555555555555555555555555555555555555|6}~oeT~TbRXbc�Q�UPQSTV�UTSWXYT�555555555555555555555555555555555555555|fC0D9m:M<0D�555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555�|Gyy2D4<8�{F�>:1=2A�0K�C0:D;A�E0=21D?2D;��KK<9<@mM�5555555555555555555555555555��Gyy2D4<8�{{F��<M;�0K�{D;21=<23M�5555555555555555555555555555555555555555555�6z2K212D92M�555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555�sGJ0:;�;L2�G:;L01M�555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555�w�2A�C0D;@9;�{DK01?@;<0D��5555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555�N



�

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
�����
������������������������������ ���!���"#$%&#$'()�*+,-./�0/�1,+�234�5+)1+6�/06�7,+�389:)+99�0/�;0<+6)=+)1>�?+�-6+�@.+-9+A�10�@6+9+)1�1,:9�6+@061>�B�CDEFGH�IJFJKLMNO�PEQRL�GD�STJMLR�SLMUQVLO�QF�WDVJX�PDULMFYLFGZ�*[�\6:]�+̂+=+6:)_>�̀):<+69:1[�0/�4-6[.-)A>�3-.1:=06+�508)1[a�-)A�b-6[.�b+.-**:0>�c+)1�508)1[>�4:],:_-)d�7,+�6+@061�*6:)_9�10_+1,+6�1,+�e)0?.+A_+�-)A�+f@+6:+)]+�0/�g60/+9906�̂++=+6:)_>�-)�-]-A+=:]>�-)A�b-6[.�b+.-**:0>�-��@6-]1:1:0)+6d�70_+1,+6>�1,+[�@6+9+)1�/:)A:)_9h*-9+A�0)�*01,�6+9+-6],�-)A�+f@+6:+)]+h0)�,0?�.0]-.�_0<+6)=+)19>�9@+]:/:i]-..[�]08)1[�_0<+6)=+)19>�-6+�10A-[�:=@.+=+)1:)_�-�<-6:+1[�0/�9,-6+A�9+6<:]+9d�7,+�-81,069�A:9]899�1,+�_60?:)_�:)1+6+91�:)�9,-6+A�9+6<:]+9>�?,:],�:9�A6:<+)�@-61.[�*[�+]0)0=:]�]0)]+6)9�j:d+d>�*8A_+1�9-<:)_9�-)A�)+?�6+<+)8+�916+-=9k>�-9�?+..�-9�)0)i+]0)0=:]�]0)]+6)9�98],�-9�1,+�)++A�10�:=@60<+�1,+�l8-.:1[�0/�.0]-.�9+6<:]+9�-)A�:=@60<+�?06e:)_�6+.-1:0)9,:@9�?:1,�)+:_,*06i:)_�m86:9A:]1:0)9d�+̂+=+6:)_�-)A�b+.-**:0�@6+9+)1�-�A:9]899:0)�0/�1,+�1,6++�@6+i]0)A:1:0)9�/06�98]]+99/8.�9,-6+A�9+6<:]+�:=@.+=+)1-1:0)9d�7,+9+�:)].8A+�.+-A+69,:@a�16891>�6+]:@60]:1[>�-)A�16-)9@-6+)][a�-)A�].+-6�_0-.9�-)A�=+-986-*.+�6+98.19d�n/1+6�A+9]6:*:)_�,0?�]08)1[�_0<+6)=+)19�)0?�89+�9,-6+A�9+6<:]+9>�:)].8A:)_�1,6++�9,061�]-9+�918A:+9>�1,+�-81,069�9+1�/061,�/:<+�6+]0==+)A-1:0)9�0)�@.-)):)_�-)A�:=@.+=+)1:)_�-�9,-6+A�9+6<:]+d�o06�+f-=@.+>�6+_-6A:)_�1,+�)++A�/06�/.+f:*:.:1[>�̂++=+6:)_�-)A�b+.-**:0�?6:1+>�pq,+)�?06e:)_�?:1,�01,+6�_0<+6)=+)19>�]08)1:+9�=891�*+�@6+i@-6+A�10�6+<:9:1�1,+�A+9:_)�0/�+f:91:)_�]00@+6-1:<+�6+.-1:0)9,:@9�10�=++1�],-)_:)_�)++A9�-)A�*8A_+1-6[�]0)916-:)19dr
b-):+.�sd�5,+)0e
\A�t-A?06)[





�

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
�����
������������������������������ ���!���
"#$%&'�(')&((�*+�',&�-./&�01�',&�)&2&+'�)&2&((*0+�,.(�3&&+�.+�*+2&+'*4&�10)�5.+6�7898�:02.:�011*2*.:(�'0�&;<:0)&�+&-�200<&).'*4&�)&:.'*0+(,*<(�-*',�+&*%,30)*+%�=#)*($*2'*0+(8�>0#+'6�%04&)+?5&+'(�.)&�*+�.�(').'&%*2�<0(*'*0+�'0�$&4&:0<�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�<)0=&2'(�.+$�*+'&):02.:�.%)&&5&+'(�10)�(&)4*2&�$&:*4&)68�@+'&):02.:�.%)&&5&+'(�.)&�.%)&&5&+'(�0)�20+').2'(�3&'-&&+�'-0�0)�50)&�:02.:�#+*'(�01�%04&)+?5&+'(�'0�<)04*$&�(&)4*2&(�'0�',&*)�2*'*A&+(8�@+'&):02.:�.%)&&5&+'(�3&'-&&+�:02.:�%04&)+5&+'�#+*'(�.)&�%)0-*+%�*+�<0<#:.)*'6B�.+$�04&)�,.:1�',&�7898�20#+'6�011*2*.:(�(#)4&6&$�10)�',*(�)&<0)'�<0*+'�'0�*+2)&.(&$�$*(2#((*0+(�.30#'�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�*+�',&�:.('�6&.)8�>0#+'*&(�&;<:0)&�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�$&:*4&)6�'0CD�9'*5#:.'&�*++04.'*0+�*+�',&*)�:02.:�2055#+*'*&(D�@5<)04&�%04&)+5&+'�$&2*(*0+?5./*+%D�@+2)&.(&�:&4&:(�0)�E#.:*'6�01�(&)4*2&D�@5<)04&�-0)/*+%�)&:.'*0+(,*<(�-*',�0',&)�:02.:�%04&)+5&+'(F,*(�)&<0)'�<)04*$&(�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�$&:*4&)6�&;.5<:&(�1)05�20#+'6�%04&)+5&+'(�',)0#%,0#'�',&�7+*'&$�9'.'&(B�.+$�<)&(&+'(�)&2055&+$.'*0+(�1)05�&;<&)*&+2&$�20#+'6�011*2*.:(�.30#'�,0-�20#+'6�%04&)+5&+'(�2.+�5./&�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�<)0=&2'(�(#22&((1#:8�".(&$�0+�',*(�)&(&.)2,B�',)&&�/&6�<)&20+$*'*0+(�-&)&�10#+$�'0�5.)/�',&�(#22&((�01�.�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�$&:*4&)6�4&+'#)&CG�HIJKILMNOPQ�9#<<0)'�1)05�'0<�.$5*+*(').'0)(�.+$�&:&2'&$�01R2*.:(�*(�+&2&((.)6�'0�.$4.+2&�$*.:0%#&�.+$�&+(#)&�',&�(#22&((�01�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&(�.+$�*+'&):02.:�.%)&&5&+'(8�F&.5(�0)�'.(/�10)2&(�01�<.)'*2*<.+'(�1)05�5#:'*<:&�%04&)+5&+'(�5.6�*$&+'*16�0<<0)'#+*'*&(�10)�200<&).'*0+�.+$�5.*+'.*+�505&+'#58G�SLTMU�JVK�LIWOPLXWOUYQ�>0#+'*&(�',.'�$&4&:0<�.�').2/�)&20)$�01�200<&).'*0+�-*',�',&*)�+&*%,30)(�$&4&:0<�')#('B�.+�.((&'�10)�3#*:$*+%�+&-�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�&110)'(8G�Z[IJL�\XJ[M�JVK�]IJMTLĴ[I�LIMT[UMQ�9<&2*R2�%0.:(�10)�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�<)0=&2'(�2.+�&+(#)&�(#22&((�-,*:&�20+R)5*+%�',.'�',&�&110)'�*(�-0)',-,*:&8�_1R2*.:(�(,0#:$�)&%#:.):6�.((&((�',&�(&)4*2&(�$&:*4&)&$�',)0#%,�200<&).'*0+B�.(�-&::�.(�',&�E#.:*'6�01�',&�-0)/*+%�)&:.'*0+(,*<8".(&$�0+�)&(&.)2,�.+$�*+'&)4*&-(�-*',�<).2'*'*0+&)(�*+�',&�1*&:$B�',*(�)&<0)'�%*4&(�1*4&�)&205?5&+$.'*0+(�'0�,&:<�20#+'6�:&.$&)(�10)5�.+$�5.*+'.*+�(#22&((1#:�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&�)&:.'*0+(,*<(8àbccdce�b�fgbhij�fihkdlimIWX]]IVKJUOXV�nVIQ�ZLIJUI�J�MNJLIK�MILoOWIM�JMMIMM]IVU�UIJ]p�")*+%�',&�)*%,'�<.)'*2*?<.+'(�'0%&',&)�'0�$*(2#((�(,.)&$�(&)4*2&(�*+�.�').+(<.)&+'�5.++&)8�q.*+'.*+�2055#+*2.'*0+�-*',�<.)'+&)(�04&)�'*5&B�)&(*('*+%�',&�#)%&�'0�(&'�)&:.'*0+(,*<(�0+�.#'0<*:0'8

rsiltudki�ftvvbhw



�

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
������������������� �!�"��#��!�$%&'((%)*+,-')�./'0�1*%),-23�4,5%)6,74�-)�8+5,-&-8+,-)6�6'9%5)(%),4:�;<=>?@AB�BC<=DE�FGHAIJ=DDK�@EA>?@JK�?CA@H�GHAGB�<J�B?HA>L?C�@>�EA?AHM@>@>L�NCAHA�?CAK�F<=DE�OH<P@EA�BAHP@FA�?<�<?CAHBQ�NC@DA�GDB<�GBBABB@>L�<?CAH�L<PAH>MA>?BR�GHAGB�<J�B?HA>L?CS�TA�<OA>�?<�@>><PG?@PA�BAHP@FA�EAD@PIAHK�M<EADBQ�@>FD=E@>L�BAHP@FA�BNGOO@>L�<H�AUFCG>LAS$%&'((%)*+,-')�.75%%0�V')4-*%5�8-W',�85'X%&,4:�YMGDD�B=FFABBAB�?CH<=LC�O@D<?�OH<ZAF?B�FG>�[=@DE�HADG?@<>BC@OBQ�?H=B?Q�G>E�G�?HGF\�HAF<HE�?<�AUOG>E�F<<OAHG?@<>�@>�?CA�J=?=HAS]̂_̀â abcdbe�f�ghfiaj�gaikdla$%&'((%)*+,-')�m'n50�o-4&n44�+)*�*'&n(%),�5%48')4-p-W-,-%4�/-,7�8+5,)%54:�qDM<B?�GDD�<J�?CA�F<=>?K�<JJ@F@GDB�@>?AHP@ANAE�J<H�?C@B�HAO<H?�B?HABB�?CA�@MO<H?G>FA�<J�L=@E@>L�F<<OAHG?@<>�N@?C�FDAGHQ�E<F=MA>?AE�?AHMB�NH@??A>�@>�G�NGK�?CG?�F=HHA>?�G>E�J=?=HA�F<=>?K�DAGEAHB�N@DD�=>EAHB?G>ES�rG>GLAHB�G>E�O<D@FKIMG\AHB�BC<=DE�HAL=DGHDK�HAP@AN�G>E�E@BF=BB�BCGHAE�BAHP@FA�GLHAAMA>?BS$%&'((%)*+,-')�m-9%0�s+t%�+885'85-+,%�&7+)6%4�+4�)%%*%*:�u=[D@F�>AAEB�G>E�[=ELA?B�FCG>LA�<PAH�?@MAS�vADG?@<>BC@OB�?CG?�GHA�[A>AJ@F@GD�><N�MGK�><?�[A�@>�?CA�J=?=HAS�wCAHAJ<HAQ�F<<OAHG?@PA�OH<ZAF?B�M=B?�[A�FHGJ?AE�N@?C�JDAU@[@D@?KSxUGMODAB�G>E�[H@AJ�FGBA�B?=E@AB�JH<M�F<=>?K�L<PAH>MA>?B�@DD=B?HG?A�C<N�BCGHAE�BAHP@FA�@>@?@GI?@PAB�FG>�CADO�F<=>?@AB�@MOH<PA�N<H\@>L�HADG?@<>BC@OB�N@?C�<?CAH�L<PAH>MA>?B�NC@DA�@MOH<P@>L�O=[D@F�BAHP@FA�EAD@PAHKS�Y=FFABBJ=D�BCGHAE�BAHP@FA�OH<ZAF?B�HAy=@HA�OG?@A>FA�G>E�FGHAJ=D�MG@>?AI>G>FA�<PAH�?@MAQ�[=?�?CH<=LC�F<<OAHG?@<>Q�MG>K�F<=>?K�L<PAH>MA>?B�GHA�J@>E@>L�@>><PG?@PA�NGKB�?<�MG\A�y=GD@?K�BAHP@FAB�GPG@DG[DA�?<�?CA�O=[D@FS



�

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
�����
������������������������������ ���!���
"#$�%$&$'(�%$&$))*+'�,+%&$-�.+&/.�0+1$%'2$'(�2/'/0$%)�(+�%$(#*'3�(#$�)&/.$�/'-�+%0/'*4/(*+'�+,�567.*&�)$%1*&$)8�9+../7+%/(*1$�%$./(*+')#*5)�&/'�7$�5/%(�+,�(#$�)+.6(*+'�(+�&+'(*'6$�2$$(*'0�567.*&�$:5$&(/(*+')8�9+../7+%/(*1$�5/%('$%)#*5);�)#/%$-�)$%1*&$�5%+<$&();�/'-�*'($%.+&/.�/0%$$=2$'()�2/>�&%$/($�&+)(�)/1*'0)�(#%+60#�%$/.*4*'0�$&+'+2*$)�+,�)&/.$�+%�7>�$25.+>*'0�2+%$�$,,*=&*$'(�)(/,,*'0�2+-$.)8�?+%$�+,($';�*'($%.+&/.�/0%$$2$'()�#$.5�0+1$%'2$'()�2/*'(/*'�@6/.*(>�+%�/1+*-�%$-6&(*+')�*'�(#$�.$1$.�+,�)$%1*&$�-$.*1$%$-�A9#$'�/'-�"#6%2/*$%�BCCDE8�F'($%.+&/.�/0%$$=2$'(�/%$�/0%$$2$'()�+%�&+'(%/&()�7$(G$$'�(G+�+%�2+%$�.+&/.�6'*()�+,�0+1$%'2$'()�(+�5%+1*-$�)$%1*&$)�(+�(#$*%�&*(*4$')8H#$(#$%�(#$�<6)(*,*&/(*+'�*)�&+)(�)/1*'0);�$,,*&*$'&>;�+%�@6/.*(>;�&++5$%/(*1$�/%%/'0$2$'()�%$@6*%$�0++-�2/'/0$2$'(�/'-�(#+60#(,6.�*25.$2$'(/(*+'�(+�7$�)6&&$)),6.8�9+6'(>�2/'/0$%)�/'-�$.$&($-�+,,*&*/.)�26)(�3'+G�(#/(�)#/%$-�)$%1*&$�*'*(*/(*1$)�%$@6*%$�&/%$,6.�/(($'(*+'�,%+2�*'*(*/.�-*)&6))*+'�(#%+60#�5%+<$&(�$1/.6/(*+'8�"#*)�%$5+%(�7%*'0)�(+0$(#$%�1*$G)�+'�)#/%$-�)$%1*&$)�,%+2�&+6'(>�0+1$%'2$'(�+,,*&*/.)�/&%+))�(#$�I'*($-�J(/($)8�K+1$%'2$'(�2/'/0$%)�)$$3*'0�(+�*25%+1$�(#$*%�G+%3*'0�%$./(*+')#*5)�G*(#�+(#$%�0+1$%'2$'(�/0$'&*$)�+%�'+'0+1$%'2$'(/.�5/%('$%)�-+�'+(�./&3�,+%�/-1*&$8�L++3)�.*3$�M6))$..�N*'-$'O)�PQRSTUV�WXRQYY�ZQ[U\]RT̂Y_�̀]STUV�aQbb]cQR]dTQU�PQRS�TU�eQf̂RUĝ Ud�]U\�hQUiRQjTd�kRV]UTl]dTQUY�ABCCBE�+%�J($5#$'�K+.-)2*(#�/'-�H*..*/2�m8�n00$%)O�eQf̂RUTUV�co�ĥdpQRS_�qr̂�ĥp�sr]î�Qj�dr̂�t[cbTX�ŝXdQR�ABCCuE�#/1$�7$&+2$�2/*')(/>)�+'�0+1$%'=2$'(�+,,*&$�7++3)#$.1$)8�M$5+%()�+'�&+../7+%/(*+'�,%+2�(#$�FL?�9$'($%�,+%�"#$�L6)*'$))�+,�K+1$%'2$'(�#/1$�/-1/'&$-�-*)&6))*+')�/7+6(�567.*&�)$&(+%�&+../7+%/(*+';�5%+1*-*'0�&.$/%�/'-�)5$&*,*&�/-1*&$�(+�0+1$%'2$'(�5%+,$))*+'/.)�G+%3*'0�+'�5%+7.$2)�%/'0*'0�,%+2�)$%1*&$�*'($0%/=(*+'�AM+>�/'-�N/'0,+%-�BCCvE�(+�)5$&*,*&�,*$.-)�.*3$�567.*&�)/,$(>�Aw$-+%+G*&4�/'-�J/G>$%�BCxBE;�)+&*/.�)$%1*&$�-$.*1$%>�A"#+$''$)�/'-�y$/%)+'�BCCvE;�/'-�G/($%)#$-�2/'/0$2$'(�AF25$%*/.�BCCuE8�F'�.*0#(�+,�(#$�#$*0#($'$-�*'($%$)(�*'�.+&/.�0+1$%'2$'(�)#/%$-�)$%1*&$�-$.*1=$%>;�(#*)�%$5+%(�+,,$%)�%$&+22$'-/(*+')�,+%�+,,*&*/.)�*'�&+6'(>�0+1$%'2$'()8�9+6'(>�0+1$%'=2$'()�#/1$�6'*@6$�)(%$'0(#)�/)�)#/%$-�)$%1*&$�5/%('$%);�/'-�2+%$�&+6'(>�0+1$%'2$'(�+,,*&*/.)�/%$�-$1$.+5*'0�*''+1/(*1$�%$./(*+')#*5)�G*(#�(#$*%�'$*0#7+%*'0�.+&/.�0+1$%'2$'()8z{|}�|~���{|~�����~������~����}��9+6'(>�0+1$%'2$'()�&/'�&+'(%/&(�G*(#�+(#$%�.+&/.�0+1$%'2$'()�(+�76>�+%�)$..�)$%1*&$)8�9+6'(*$)�&/'�/.)+�2/3$�)$%1*&$)�/1/*./7.$�(+�+(#$%�0+1$%'2$'()�+'�/�,$$=,+%=)$%1*&$�7/)*);�+%�5%+1*-$�+(#$%�0+1$%'2$'()�G*(#�/&&$))�(+�/�)$%1*&$�/(�'+�&+)(8�9+6'(*$)�2/>�/.)+�-$1$.+5�/0%$$2$'()�(+�<+*'(.>�5%+-6&$�+%�&+')+.*-/($�/�)$%1*&$�G*(#�/�'$*0#7+%*'0�0+1$%'2$'(8�J#/%$-�)$%1*&$)�2/>�7$�,+%2/.*4$-�*'�&+'(%/&()�+%�*'($%.+&/.�/0%$$2$'();�+%�(#$>�2/>�)*25.>�*'1+.1$�/'�*',+%2/.�6'-$%)(/'-*'0�/7+6(�+'0+*'0�&++5$%/(*+'8�M$&$'(�)(6-*$)�)600$)(�&+6'(>�0+1$%'2$'(�+,,*&*/.)�/%$�)655+%(*1$�+,�)#/%$-�)$%1*&$�5%+<$&()�A�7$%'/(#>�BCxB���$$2$%*'0�BCCDE8�F'�/�)6%1$>�&+'-6&($-�,+%�(#*)�%$5+%(;��x�5$%&$'(�+,�

����}������~����}�����}~|}�����������~��{|~�����~�����



�

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
������������������� �!�"��#��!�

$%&'()�%**+$+,-.�/01%/(�(2,(�.2,/+'3�%/�$%'(/,$(+'3�.0/4+$0.�+.�40/)�$%55%'�*%/�(20+/�$%&'()6�,'7�%40/�89�10/$0'(�+'7+$,(0�(2,(�:+(2+'�(20�-,.(�)0,/6�-%$,-�3%40/'50'(.�+'�(20+/�,/0,�2,40�;00'�7+.$&..+'3�.2,/07�.0/4+$0.�5%/0�(2,'�(20)�2,40�+'�(20�1,.(<�=77+(+%',-�*+'7+'3.�*/%5�(2+.�.&/>40)�$,'�;0�*%&'7�+'�=110'7+?�@<�A%50�$%&'(+0.�,/0�,-/0,7)�0?051-,/.�%*�.2,/07�.0/4+$0�70-+40/)6�,'7�5,')�%(20/.�,/0�7040-%1>+'3�0?10/+0'$0�:+(2�(20.0�1/%B0$(.<�C,',30/.�+'�(20.0�$%&'(+0.�$,'�1/%4+70�(20+/�100/.�:+(2�.(/,(03+0.�(%�.&$$0..*&--)�.0--�%/�;&)�.0/4+$0.�,'7�5,+'(,+'�1/%7&$(+40�.0/4+$0�70-+40/)�/0-,(+%'>.2+1.�:+(2�'0+32;%/+'3�-%$,-�3%40/'50'(.<�DEF�GHIJKLMN�OPM�GHJNLQMPLJR�SEOPMQ�SMPTLUM�VMWLTMPFX%&'(+0.�,'7�%(20/�&'+(.�%*�-%$,-�3%40/'50'(�5,)�;0�3+4+'3�5%/0�(2%&32(�(%�.2,/07�.0/4+$0�1/%1%.,-.�7&0�(%�;&730(�$%'.(/,+'(.�,..%$+,(07�:+(2�(20�/0$0'(�/0$0..+%'<�YZ[\[]̂Z�_̀ab[\b�c[_�de_bê\f�bga_̀h�b̀_îZ̀bj�A%50�$%&'(+0.�*+'7�(2,(�:%/k+'3�:+(2�'0+32>;%/.�$,'�20-1�.,40�5%'0)�%/�,77�'0:�/040'&0<l�mehf̀n�baî\fbo�p&730(�.,4+'3.�5,)�$%50�,;%&(�:20'�1,/('0/+'3�:+(2�%(20/�3%40/'50'(.�$/0,(0.�0$%'%5+0.�%*�.$,-06�%/�:20'�;&)+'3�,�.0/4+$0�*/%5�,'%(20/�3%40/'50'(�+.�-0..�0?10'.+40�(2,'�1/%7&$+'3�(20�.0/4+$0�,-%'0<�A%50�$%&'(+0.�q'7�(2,(�.2,/+'3�.0/4+$0�/07&$0.�,75+'+.(/,(+40�%40/20,7<�l�r̀s�_̀ì\è�bn_̀a]bj�X%&'(+0.�:+(2�0?(/,�.0/4+$0�$,1,$+()�q'7�(2,(�.0--+'3�,�.0/4+$0�(%�,'%(20/�3%40/'50'(�/0.&-(.�+'�,�/040'&0�.(/0,5�(%�20-1�%**.0(�(20�$%.(�%*�,�.0/4+$0�%/�1/040'(�1%..+;-0�/07&$(+%'.�+'�(2,(�.0/4+$0�,/0,<�thĥn̂[\au�_̀ab[\b�c[_�de_bê\f�bga_̀h�b̀_îZ̀bj�C,')�-%$,-�3%40/'50'(.�:+--�:0,(20/�(20�$&//0'(�0$%'%5+$�.(/0..�:+(2�-+5+(07�%/�'%�$2,'30�(%�.0/4+$0�70-+40/)�v=55%'.6�A5+(26�,'7�A(0';0/3�w9xwy<�z2+-0�;&730(.�5,)�;0�,�1/+50�/0,.%'�*%/�$%&'(+0.�(%�$%'.+70/�.2,/07�.0/>4+$0.6�$%&'()�-0,70/.�.2%&-7�$%'.+70/�.+?�%(20/�/,(+%',-0.�(2,(�5,k0�,((/,$(+40�(20�1%..+;+-+()�%*�:%/k+'3�:+(2�%(20/�-%$,-�3%40/'50'(.<l�{n̂]euan̂\f�̂\\[ian̂[\j�X%'40/.,(+%'.�,5%'3�$%&'()�3%40/'50'(.�,;%&(�.0/4+$0�70-+40/)�5,)�2+32-+32(�%11%/(&'+(+0.�*%/�+''%4,(+%'<�|+.$&..+'3�.2,/07�.0/4+$0�70-+40/)�/0}&+/0.�$%&'(+0.�(%�5,k0�0?1-+$+(�2%:�.0/4+$0.�,/0�$&//0'(-)�70-+40/07<�p)�$%51,/+'3�.0/4+$0�

~�������������������������~����������������=**%/7,;-0��%&.+'3=3/+$&-(&/0�A&11%/(�A0/4+$0.='+5,-�X%'(/%-=11/,+.,-�,'7��}&,-+�,(+%'p&+-7+'3�@'.10$(+%'.X%&/(�A0/4+$0.�$%'%5+$�|040-%150'(�50/30'$)�X%55&'+$,(+%'.�,'7�|+.1,($2�,$+-+()�A2,/+'3�=3/0050'(.�-00(�C,+'(0','$0�0%3/,12+$�@'*%/5,(+%'�A).(05.�v�@Ay�/,'(�z/+(+'3�&5,'��0.%&/$0.@'*%/5,(+%'����0$2'%-%3)�A0/4+$0.@'*/,.(/&$(&/0�C,+'(0','$0�,+-.�,'7*+--.
�,:'�,'7��/%&'7.�C,+'(0','$0C07+$,-��?,5+'0/�,/k.�,'7��0$/0,(+%'�A0/4+$0.�-,''+'3�,'7��%'+'3�=75+'+.(/,(+%'�%-+$0�A0/4+$0.�&/$2,.+'3�0$)$-+'3�0.(,&/,'(�@'.10$(+%'.A0'+%/�A0/4+$0.A%$+,-�A0/4+$0.A%-+7�z,.(0�C,',3050'(�,?�p+--+'3�,'7�X%--0$(+%'�/,'.1%/(,(+%'z,.(0:,(0/��/0,(50'(z,(0/��/0,(50'(�,'7�|0-+40/)z0;.+(0�|0.+3'�,'7�C,+'(0','$0�%&(2�A0/4+$0.



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%&'$()�*++(,*-.$/�0&1.�,1.$(�2,'$(34$31/5�/.*($#�/$('&-$�#&/-6//&,3/�7,(-$�-,631)�%$*#$(/�1,�-,3/&#$(�&3$78-&$3-&$/�&3�-6(($31�#$%&'$()�4$1.,#/9�:,-6/&32�,3�1.$�+6;%&-�/$('&-$�1,�;$�#$%&'$($#5�(*1.$(�1.*3�1.$�$<&/1&32�/)/1$4�7,(�#$%&'$(&32�1.$�/$('&-$5�4*)�%$*#�1,�1.$�&#$31&8-*1&,3�,7�4,($�$78-&$31�4$1.,#/�7,(�+(,'&#&32�1.$�/$('&-$9=�>?@ABCDE�EDFGHGBIJ?KLGIM9�N.*($#�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()�($O6&($/�+*(1&-&+*1&32�2,'$(34$31/�1,�($*-.�*�-*($76%�-,3/$3/6/�,3�.,0�/$('&-$�0&%%�;$�#$%&'$($#�*3#�,3�/1*3#*(#/�,(�+$(7,(P4*3-$�$<+$-1*1&,3/�7,(�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()9�Q,631)�,78-&*%/�0.,�.*'$�-(*71$#�1.$/$�*((*32$P4$31/�($+,(1�1&4$P&31$3/&'$�3$2,1&*1&,3/�1,�($*-.�*2($$4$319�R3'$/1&32�&3�1.$�+(,-$//�,7�-*($76%�*3*%)/&/�*3#�3$2,1&*1&,3�4*)�($/6%1�&3�;$11$(�#$-&/&,3/�*;,61�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()9�S$-&/&,3/�($*-.$#�1.(,62.�3$2,1&*1&,3�*4,32�2,'$(34$31/�4*)�*%/,�($/6%1�&3�#6(*;%$�4,#$%/�7,(�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()�;$-*6/$�4*3*2$(/�.*'$�-*($76%%)�-,3/&#$($#�1.$�#$1*&%/�,7�0,(T&32�1,2$1.$(�1,�4*T$�/6--$//76%�/$('&-$�-.*32$/9=�UVGWEGIM�BI�FB?@WD?DIXKAY�HXADIMXZH9�Q,631&$/�4*)�;$3$81�7(,4�*//$//&32�-,4+%$4$3P1*()�/1($321./�0&1.�,1.$(�%,-*%�2,'$(34$31/�&3�1.$&(�($2&,39�N.*(&32�/1*77�$<+$(1&/$�,(�/+$-&*%&[$#�$O6&+4$31�4*)�($/6%1�&3�;$11$(�/$('&-$/�7,(�1.,/$�+*(1&-&+*1&32�&3�*�/.*($#�/$('&-$�*((*32$4$319�N,�1,,5�-,631&$/�4*)�-,3/&#$(�/0*++&32�,(�$<-.*32&32�/$('&-$�;)�+(,'&#&32�*�/$('&-$�&3�0.&-.�1.$�-,631)�.*/�/1($321.�,(�$<-$//�-*+*-&1)�&3�$<-.*32$�7,(�*�#&77$($31�/$('&-$�&3�0.&-.�1.$�-,631)�.*/�0$*T3$//$/�,(�3$$#/9=�\AKIH]DAAGIM�LIB̂WDEMD�KIE�HLGWWH9�N.*(&32�/$('&-$/�0&1.�*3,1.$(�%,-*%�2,'$(34$31�4*)�*%%,0�-,631&$/�1,�/.*($�/1*77�0&1.�/+$-&*%&[$#�T3,0%$#2$�,(�/T&%%/5�;,,/1&32�1.$�-*+*-&1)�,7�,1.$(�%,-*%�2,'$(34$31/�1,�/$('$�1.$�+6;%&-9�Q,631)�4*3*2$(/�$<+%*&3�1.*1�-(,//P2,'$(3P4$31*%�0,(T�2(,6+/�*4,32�#$+*(14$31�,(�/$('&-$P%$'$%�/1*77�,71$3�($/6%1�&3�*�.$%+76%�$<-.*32$�,7�&#$*/�*;,61�.,0�0,(T�-*3�;$�*++(,*-.$#�&3�3$0�0*)/9�Q,631&$/�4*)�*%/,�-,31(*-1�7,(�1.$�/+$-&*%&[$#�$<+$(1&/$�,7�/1*77�7(,4�,1.$(�%,-*%�2,'$(34$31/�0&1.,61�.&(&32�3$0�$4+%,)$$/�,7�1.$&(�,039=�>IFADKHDE�WDCDWH�BA�_VKWGXY�B]�HDACGFD̀�a6(-.*/&32�/$('&-$�7(,4�*3,1.$(�2,'$(34$315�,(�+(,#6-&32�*�/$('&-$�1,2$1.$(�0&1.�*3,1.$(�2,'$(34$315�4*)�($/6%1�&3�*�.&2.$(�%$'$%�,(�O6*%&1)�,7�/$('&-$�1.*3�*�-,631)�4&2.1�;$�*;%$�1,�+(,'&#$�*%,3$9�Q,631&$/�/$$T&32�&4+(,'$#�/$('&-$/�(*($%)�($+,(1�/*'&32�4,3$)�,3�/.*($#�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()5�;61�1.$)�($+,(1�/*1&/7*-1&,3�0&1.�+*(13$(/.&+/�1.*1�+(,'&#$�($/&#$31/�0&1.�;$11$(�/$('&-$/9�=�>?@ABCDE�̂BALGIM�ADWKXGBIHZG@H̀�N.*($#�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()�.$%+/�-,631&$/�7,(4�($26%*(�+*11$(3/�,7�#&*%,26$�0&1.�,1.$(�%,-*%�2,'$(34$31/�&3�1.$&(�($2&,39�b.&%$�*�-,631)c/�$%$-1$#�%$*#$(/�*3#�1,+�*#4&3&/1(*1,(/�4*)�-,4463&-*1$�*-(,//�2,'$(34$31�;,(#$(/�,3�*�($26%*(�;*/&/5�%,0$(�%$'$%�4*3*2$(/�*3#�/1*77�4*)�3,1�.*'$�0,(T&32�($%*1&,3/.&+/�0&1.�1.$&(�-,631$(+*(1/�&3�,1.$(�,(2*3&[*1&,3/9�S$'$%,+&32�*3#�&4+(,'&32�0,(T&32�($%*1&,3/.&+/�*-(,//�2,'$(34$31�;,(#$(/�-*3�%$*#�1,�&4+(,'$#�&37,(4*%�-,,(#&3*1&,3�*3#�3$0�&#$*/�*;,61�/.*($#�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()9d.$�($-$31�($-$//&,3�4*)�.*'$�/+6(($#�4,($�-,631&$/�1,�;$2&3�#&/-6//&,3/�*;,61�/.*($#�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()5�;61�-,631&$/�*%/,�-,3/&#$(�0,(T&32�0&1.�,1.$(�2,'$(34$31/�7,(�*�0&#$�(*32$�,7�3,3P;6#2$1*()�($*/,3/9�e/�/622$/1$#�&3�1.$�3$<1�/$-1&,35�-,631)�2,'$(34$31/�46/1�$31$(�#&/-6//&,3/�*;,61�/.*($#�/$('&-$/�0&1.�*�-%$*(�/$3/$�,7�2,*%/�*3#�0&1.�+*1&$3-$�7,(�#&*%,26$�*3#�($%*1&,3P/.&+P;6&%#&329�N.*($#�/$('&-$�#$%&'$()�&/�3,1�1.$�(&2.1�*3/0$(�7,(�$'$()�-,631)�/$('&-$5�;61�-,631)�4*3*2$(/�*(,63#�1.$�-,631()�-*3�;$3$7&1�7(,4�1.,62.176%�#&/-6//&,3/�0&1.�1.$&(�3$&2.;,(&32�%,-*%�2,'$(34$31/�*;,61�1.$�*($*/�&3�0.&-.�+*(13$(/.&+/�4&2.1�;$�4616*%%)�;$3$7&-&*%9fghi�jghklm�jlknoplq�rkl�stid.&/�($+,(1�&/�3,1�*;,61�-,3/,%&#*1&32�63&1/�,7�2,'$(34$319�b.&%$�1.$�-,3/,%&#*1&,3�,7�-&1)�*3#�-,631)�2,'$(34$31/�&/�,--*/&,3*%%)�#$;*1$#�&3�+6;%&-5�2,'$(34$31�-,3/,%&#*1&,3/�*($�(*($�&3�



��

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
������������������� �!�"��#��!�$%&'()'*+�&,-�),�.&,/�),0(&,'*0�(1*�23('2.*0�24�'2,025)-&()2,�-2�,2(�.&('1�(1*�$%2.)0*0�.&-*�6/�$%2$2,*,(0�78&%%�&,-�9*)2':�;<<=>�?*5&,-�&,-�@13%.&)*%�;<<=+�;<A<BC�D'125&%0�1&E*�12(5/�-*6&(*-�(1*�$365)'F0�$%*4*%*,'*0�42%�0*%E)'*0�-*5)E*%*-�6/�0.&55*%�E*%030�5&%G*%�3,)(0�24�G2E*%,.*,(�7*CGC+�H0(%2.+�@)*623(+�&,-�I&%%*,�AJKA>�?/2,0+�?2L*%/+�&,-�M*N22G�AJJ;B+�63(�(1*�'2,025)-&()2,�-*6&(*�)0�0*(�&0)-*�1*%*C�I1)5*�'2,025)-&()2,0�&%*�%&%*+�'2,(%&'(),G�&.2,G�52'&5�G2E*%,.*,(0�)0�6*'2.),G�.3'1�.2%*�'2..2,�7I&%,*%�&,-�N*4*(O�;<<JBC�8255&62%&()2,�&,-�01&%*-�0*%E)'*0�&%*�%*G35&%5/�-)0'300*-�&(�$%24*00)2,&5�.**(),G0�&,-�'2,4*%*,'*0�42%�')(/�&,-�'23,(/�G2E*%,.*,(�.&,&G*%0C�?2'&5�'2..3,)()*0�&%23,-�(1*�'23,(%/�&%*�L2%:),G�23(�$%&'()'&5�&%%&,G*.*,(0�(2�01&%*�&,-�'2,(%&'(�52'&5�0*%E)'*0�),�2%-*%�(2�'%*&(*�*44)')*,')*0+�'20(�0&E),G0+�2%�6*((*%�0*%E)'*0�42%�(1*�$365)'C�P365)'�.&,&G*%0�&,-�*5*'(*-�244)')&50�3,-*%0(&,-�(1&(�(1*)%�G2E*%,.*,(0�'&,�)-*,()4/�2$$2%(3Q,)()*0�(2�L2%:�L)(1�,*)G162%),G�R3%)0-)'()2,0�(2�).$%2E*�52'&5�0*%E)'*�-*5)E*%/C�@1)0�%*$2%(�*.$1&0)O*0�(1*�5*002,0�(1&(�'2.*�4%2.�(1*�$%&'()'&5�$%265*.Q025E),G�&002')&(*-�L)(1�'23,(/�G2E*%,.*,(�01&%*-�0*%E)'*0�&,-�'2,(%&'(),GC�@1*0*�5*002,0�'&,�6*,*4)(�'23,(/�G2E*%,.*,(0�(1%23G123(�(1*�S,)(*-�D(&(*0C@1*�&-E)'*�G)E*,�1*%*�)0�6&0*-�2,�%*'2..*,-&()2,0�4%2.�'23,(/�G2E*%,.*,(�244)')&50C�TU&.$5*0�24�03''*00435�&,-�3,03''*00435�01&%*-�0*%E)'*�*442%(0�L*%*�'255*'(*-�),�(*5*$12,*�),(*%E)*L0>�(1*�,&.*0�&,-�'23,()*0�24�(1*�%*0$2,-*,(0�L12�$%2E)-*-�*U&.$5*0�42%�(1)0�%*0*&%'1�&%*�5)0(*-�),�V$$*,-)U�WWC�@1*�42552L),G�0*'()2,0�$%*0*,(�%*&02,0�42%�'23,(/�G2E*%,.*,(0�(2�'2,0)-*%�01&%*-�0*%E)'*�-*5)EQ*%/C�@1*�%*'*,(�%*'*00)2,�.)G1(�1&E*�$%2.$(*-�&--)()2,&5�),(*%*0(�),�L2%:),G�L)(1�,*)G162%),G�G2E*%,.*,(0�2,�0*%E)'*�-*5)E*%/+�63(�'23,(/�244)')&50�01235-�'2,0)-*%�2(1*%�,2,Q63-G*(&%/�%&()2,&5*0�42%�01&%*-�0*%E)'*0C�@1*�,*U(�0*'()2,�$%*0*,(0�$%*'2,-)()2,0�42%�03''*00435�01&%*-�0*%E)'*�%*5&()2,01)$0C�@1&(�0*'()2,�-*0'%)6*0�0$*')4)'�01&%*-�0*%E)'*�),)()&()E*0�(1&(�'23,(/�G2EQ*%,.*,(0�1&E*�3,-*%(&:*,�&0�63/*%0�2%�0*55*%0�24�0*%E)'*0C�@1%23G123(�(1*�%*$2%(+�012%(�'&0*�0(3-/�*U&.$5*0�&%*�30*-�(2�)5530(%&(*�12L�'23,(/�G2E*%,.*,(�244)')&50�1&E*�*0(&65)01*-�&,-�.&),(&),*-�03''*00435�%*5&()2,01)$0�L)(1�(1*)%�$&%(,*%0C�9)E*�%*'2..*,-&()2,0�42%�$%2-3'()E*�01&%*-�0*%E)'*�-*5)E*%/�*.*%G*�4%2.�23%�),(*%E)*L0�L)(1�'23,(/�244)')&50�&%23,-�(1*�'23,(%/C�X&0*-�2,�23%�),(*%E)*L0�L)(1�*U$*%)*,'*-�'23,(/�244)')&50+�L*�6*5)*E*�.2%*�'23,()*0�L)55�4),-�(1&(�01&%*-�0*%E)'*�-*5)E*%/�$%2E)-*0�2$$2%(3,)()*0�42%�),,2QE&()2,�),�(1*)%�'2..3,)()*0C



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%&�'(&)��#*+(,-�./&0122%�$%�#*(,0$3,�.&0413&�5$($6&0%789:;<�=>?@ABB=�C@?�CD8:E�;>?�D8=;�CF;AG?�F89:;<�8BBAFACH=�I>8�J?G?H8K�C:J�DC:CE?�=>C@?J�C:J�F8:;@CF;�=?@GAF?�@?HC;A8:=>AK=L�M;�;>?�;AD?�8B�A:F8@K8@C;A8:N�=8D?�FA;A?=�=??O�F8:;@CF;�=?@GAF?=�@C;>?@�;>C:�?=;CPHA=>A:E�:?I�K8HAF?�J?KC@;D?:;=L�Q;>?@�FA;<�E8G?@:D?:;=�C@?�BCFRA:E�BA=FCH�=;@?==�C:J�F8:=AJ?@�F8:;@CF;A:E�89;�K8HAF?�=?@GAF?=�;8�C�F89:;<�=>?@ABBS=�J?KC@;D?:;L�T>?@ABB=�I>8�:?E8;AC;?�:?I�F8:;@CF;�@?HC;A8:=>AK=�K@8GAJ?�J?;CAH?J�A:B8@DC;A8:�CP89;�;>?�F8=;�8B�=?@GAF?=N�8B;?:�K@?=?:;A:E�FA;A?=�IA;>�C�D?:9�8B�C:FAHHC@<�=?@GAF?=�P?<8:J�C�=;C:JC@J�=?@RGAF?�H?G?HL�U8HAF?�F8:;@CF;�@?HC;A8:=>AK=�FC:�>?HK�FA;A?=�CFF?==�=?@GAF?=�;>C;�;>?<�DAE>;�:8;�8;>?@IA=?�P?�CPH?�;8�K@8GAJ?�8:�;>?A@�8I:N�=9F>�C=�=K?FACHAV?J�A:G?=;AEC;A8:N�TWMX�=?@GAF?=N�>?HAF8K;?@=N�8@�=F>88H�C:J�F8DD9:A;<�HACA=8:�8BBAF?@=L�T>?@ABB=�CH=8�P?:?BA;�B@8D�F8:;@CF;�@?HCR;A8:=>AK=�P?FC9=?�;>?�F8:;@CF;�P@A:E=�>AE>?@�H?G?H=�8B�@?G?:9?�B8@�J?KC@;D?:;�8K?@C;A8:=N�D8@?�JAG?@=?�C==AE:D?:;�8K;A8:=�C:J�K@8D8;A8:�@89;?=�B8@�8BBAF?@=N�C:J�D8@?�A:;?E@C;?J�HCI�?:B8@F?RD?:;�CF@8==�;>?�F89:;<L�Y8@�=8D?�=>?@ABBS=�J?KC@;D?:;=N�F8:;@CF;�@?HC;A8:=>AK=�C@?�F@A;AFCH�;8�=9@GAGCHN�C=�;>?�?ZKC:=A8:�8B�A:F8@K8@C;?J�FA;A?=�@?J9F?=�;?@@A;8@ACH�@?=K8:=APAHA;A?=�B8@�@8CJ�KC;@8H�=?@GAF?=L[:�7CHAB8@:ACN�F89:;<�=>?@ABBS=�J?KC@;D?:;=�>CG?�P??:�DC\8@�F8:;@CF;�K@8GAJ?@=�=A:F?�;>?�]̂ _̀�A:F8@K8@C;A8:�8B�;>?�FA;<�8B�aCO?I88J�A:�a8=�M:E?H?=�789:;<L�T??OA:E�;8�?=FCK?�;>?�>AE>?@�K@8K?@;<�;CZ?=�;>C;�F8D?�IA;>�C::?ZC;A8:�;8�C:�?ZA=;A:E�FA;<N�aCO?I88J�@?=AJ?:;=�J?FAJ?J�;8�@?F?AG?�DC:<�D9:AFAKCH�=?@GAF?=N�A:FH9JA:E�K8HAF?�=?@GAF?N�;>@89E>�F8:;@CF;A:E�IA;>�;>?�F89:;<�E8G?@:D?:;�bcAHH?@�]̂d]eL�Y8HH8IA:E�aCO?I88JS=�H?CJN�:?IH<�A:F8@K8@C;?J�\9@A=JAF;A8:=�B8HRH8I?J�;>?�faCO?I88J�UHC:g�;8�F8:;@CF;�B8@�H8FCH�K8HAFA:EN�@C;>?@�;>C:�?=;CPHA=>A:E�:?I�C:J�A:J?K?:J?:;�K8HAF?�J?KC@;D?:;=L�cC:<�8;>?@�FA;A?=�C@89:J�;>?�F89:;@<�>CG?�@?F8:=AJ?@?J�;>?A@�=?@GAF?�J?HAG?@<�D8J?HN�?:JA:E�;>?A@�8I:�H8FCH�CJDA:A=;@C;A8:�8B�K8HAF?�=?@GAF?=�C:J�F8:;@CF;RA:E�IA;>�=>?@ABBS=�J?KC@;D?:;=�A:�8@J?@�;8�=CG?�D8:?<�8@�?ZKC:J�;>?�=F8K?�8B�K8HAFA:E�=?@GAF?=�CGCAHCPH?�;8�;>?A@�@?=AJ?:;=L�W>AH?�FA;A?=�DC<�AJ?:;AB<�F8=;�=CGA:E=�C=�;>?�DCA:�\9=;ABAFC;A8:�B8@�F8:;@CF;A:E�IA;>�C�F89:;<�=>?@ABBN�P?:?BA;=�B8@�F8:;@CF;�FA;A?=�CH=8�A:FH9J?�@?J9F?J�@?=K8:=?�;AD?�C:J�:8;�>CGA:E�;8�C==9D?�@?=K8:=APAHA;<�B8@�K?@=8::?H�C:J�HACPAHA;<�DC:CE?D?:;L[:�hi]hN�;>?�a8=�M:E?H?=�789:;<�T>?@ABBS=�j?KC@;D?:;�K@8GAJ?J�F8:;@CF;�=?@GAF?=�;8�̀h�FA;A?=L�X>?�78:;@CF;�aCI�k:B8@F?D?:;�l9@?C9�A=�C:�8BBAF?�IA;>A:�;>?�=>?@ABBS=�J?KC@;D?:;�@?=K8:=APH?�B8@�DC:CEA:E�F8:;@CF;�@?HC;A8:=>AK=L�a;L�mAFO�c89I?:�?ZKHCA:=N�fW?�F8:=AJ?@�89@=?HG?=�C�=9KRK8@;�9:A;�P?FC9=?�I?�C@?�:8;�;>?�CF;9CH�=?@GAF?�K@8GAJ?@L�W?S@?�K@8GAJA:E�=9KK8@;�;8�CHH�8B�89@�=>?@ABBS=�=;C;A8:=�C:J�8;>?@�P9@?C9=�;>C;�C@?�K@8GAJA:E�;>?�=?@GAF?�;8�89@�F8:;@CF;�FHA?:;?H?L�X>?@?S=�C�H8;�8B�F8=;�J?G?H8KD?:;N�J?G?H8KD?:;�8B�;>?�@C;?=N�D8JABAFC;A8:=�C:J�J?G?H8KD?:;=�8B�F8:;@CF;=N�C:J�;>A:E=�;>C;�E8�8:�P?>A:J�;>?�=F?:?=�;>C;�I?S@?�@?=K8:=APH?�B8@�;8�?:=9@?�;>C;�;>?�F8:;@CF;=�C@?�@9::A:E�=D88;>H<Lg�W>AH?�D8=;�F89:;A?=�IAHH�:8;�DC:CE?�F8:;@CF;�@?HC;A8:=>AK=�8:�;>?�=FCH?�8B�;>?�a8=�M:E?H?=�789:;<�T>?@ABBS=�j?KC@;D?:;N�CHH�F89:;A?=�;>C;�F8:;@CF;�89;�=?@GAF?=�=>89HJ�;>A:O�CP89;�>8I�;8�B8=;?@�C:J�DCA:;CA:�@?HC;A8:=>AK=�IA;>�;>?A@�F8:;@CF;�F9=;8D?@=L�Y8@�K8HAFA:EN�a;L�c89I?:�?ZKHCA:=N�f[;�>C=�;8�P?�P?:?BAFACH�B8@�P8;>�KC@;A?=�;8�?:;?@�A:;8�;>?�CE@??D?:;L�X>C;�A:G8HG?=�F8=;R?BB?F;AG?�=?@GAF?�n�A:�I>AF>�P8;>�KC@;A?=�B??H�;>C;�;>?<�C@?�A:�F8:;@8H�8B�;>?�@?HC;A8:=>AKLg�MD8:E�;>?�K@CF;AF?=�9=?J�P<�;>?�78:;@CF;�aCI�k:B8@F?D?:;�l9@?C9�A=�C:�C::9CH�F8:B?@?:F?�IA;>�;>?�FA;<�DC:CE?@=�8B�F8:;@CF;�FA;A?=N�A:�I>AF>�;>?�F8:;@CF;�F9=;8D?@=�=?;�C:�CE?:JC�B8@�;>?�JA=F9==A8:�8B�F8DD8:�F8:F?@:=L�a;L�c89I?:�?ZKHCA:=N�fW?�C@?�J?G?H8KA:E�;@9=;�A:�?CF>�8;>?@�=8�;>C;�;>?�@?HC;A8:=>AK�B??H=�=;CPH?Lg�T;CPH?�@?HC;A8:=>AK=�@?o9A@?�F8DD9:AFC;A8:�C:J�C;;?:;A8:�;8�;>?�@89;A:?�J?;CAH=�8B�=?@GAF?�J?HAG?@<L�f78:;@CF;=�>CG?�;8�P?�:9@;9@?J�?G?@<�JC<L�p89�>CG?�;8�CJJ@?==�CHH�;>?�=DCHH�A==9?=�n�;>?�J?K9;<�K?@=8::?H�C@?�J?CHA:E�IA;>�A:�C�FA;<L�q8;>A:E�A=�;88�=DCHH�;8�P?F8D?�C�K@8PH?D�J8I:�;>?�@8CJLg�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %&'()�*+)�),-./�011234�5&'6�789'*/4�:,3+&'6*8'�+,3�,.38�;))'�,�<,=8-�>-8?&@)-�8A�>8.&()�3)-?&()3�*+-896+�(8'*-,(*B�%9)�C,+-�3)-?)@�,3�5&'6�789'*/�3+)-&AA4�D&*+�-)3>8'3&;&.&*/�A8-�<,'E,6&'6�-).,*&8'3+&>3�D&*+�(8'*-,(*�(&*&)3B�F,-.&)-�&'�+)-�(,-))-4�3+)�3)-?)@�,3�>8.&()�(+&)A�*8�,�(8'*-,(*�(&*/4�D&*+�-)>8-*&'6�-)3>8'3&;&.&*/�*8�;8*+�*+)�3+)-&AA�,'@�(&*/�<,',6)-B�C,+-�)<>+,E3&G)3�*D8�(8'@&*&8'3�A8-�39(()33A9.�(8'*-,(*�-).,*&8'3+&>3B�HI&-3*�,'@�A8-)<83*4�/89J?)�68*�*8�+,?)�,�*-93*�-).,*&8'3+&>B�K*�*+)�)'@�8A�*+)�@,/4�&A�*+)�(&*/�*+&'L3�*+,*�*+)�(89'*/�&3�*-/&'6�*8�*,L)�,@?,'*,6)�8A�*+)<�A&','(&,../4�8-�&3�*-/&'6�*8�939->�*+)&-�>8D)-�,'@�,9*+8-&*/4�*+)�-).,*&8'E3+&>�A,..3�,>,-*B�%84�A-8<�*+)�;)6&''&'6�8A�(8'*-,(*�')68*&,*&8'34�/89�(,'�')?)-�.83)�3&6+*�8A�*+)�*-93*�8A�*+,*�-).,*&8'3+&>BM�N+)�5&'6�789'*/�3+)-&AAJ3�8AA&()�D8-L)@�D&*+�(&*/�A&','()�@&-)(E*8-3�&'�8-@)-�*8�;)�*-,'3>,-)'*�&'�*+)�>-8()33�8A�@)?).8>&'6�(83*3�A8-�3)-?&()34�,'@�*+)�3+)-&AA�>-8?&@)3�(&*&)3�D&*+�@)*,&.)@�-)69.,-�-)>8-*3�8'�3)-?&()�(83*3B�%)(8'@4�C,+-�)<>+,3&G)3�.8(,.�(8'*-8.�,'@�&@)'*&*/B�5&'6�789'*/4�.&L)�<,'/�39(()33A9.�(8'E*-,(*�(89'*&)34�,..8D3�(8'*-,(*�(&*&)3�*8�-)*,&'�&@)'*&*/�;/�(8'*-8..&'6�>,&'*�3(+)<)3�8'�>8.&()�(,-3�,'@�*+)�@)3&6'�8A�9'&A8-<3B�H:)�,6-))@�*+,*�*+)�(&*&)3�6)*�*8�(,..�*+)�3+8*3�8'�D+,*�3)-?&()3�*+)/�D,'*4�+8D�*+)/�D,'*�*+)�3)-?&()3�>-&8-&*&G)@4�,'@�;,3&(,../�D+,*�*+)&-�(8>3�.88L�.&L)4�;)(,93)�*+)�<83*�?&3&;.)�)?&@)'()�8A�,�.8(,.�68?)-'<)'*�&3�*+)&-�>8.&()�A8-()BM�C,+-�,-69)3�*+,*�(&*&)3�<93*�;)�6)'9&')�>,-*&(&>,'*3�&'�@)(&3&8'E<,L&'6�8?)-�*+)�@).&?)-/�8A�>8.&()�3)-?&()3B�HO&?)�,3�<9(+�(8'*-8.�,3�>833&;.)�*8�*+)�(&*&)3�;)(,93)�,*�*+)�)'@�8A�*+)�@,/4�*+)/�D&..�,3L�/89�A8-�/89-�,@?&()�,'@�/89�(,'�&'A.9)'()�*+)&-�@)(&3&8'34�;9*4�/89�+,?)�*8�.)*�*+)�(&*E&)3�<,L)�*+83)�(-&*&(,.�@)(&3&8'3BMP8.&()�3)-?&()�(8'*-,(*&'6�>-8?&@)3�&<>8-*,'*�6)')-,.�.)338'3�A8-�(89'*/�68?)-'<)'*3�&'*)-E)3*)@�&'�<,&'*,&'&'6�+),.*+/�(8'*-,(*�-).,*&8'3+&>3�&'(.9@&'6QR�78'*-,(*�3)-?&()�-)(&>&)'*3�<93*�;).&)?)�*+)/�+,?)�(8'*-8.�8?)-�*+)�3)-?&()�*+)/�-)()&?)4�,'@�*+,*�*+)�3)-?&()�>-8?&@)-�9'@)-3*,'@3�*+)�9'&S9)�,'@�3>)(&A&(�'))@3�8A�),(+�(93*8<)-�(8<<9'&*/B�R�78'*-,(*3�-)S9&-)�,(*&?)�<,',6)<)'*�&'�D+&(+�@)*,&.3�,;89*�(83*�,'@�3)-?&()�@).&?)-/�,-)�@&3(933)@�-)69.,-./B�R�C)69.,-�(8<<9'&(,*&8'�,'@�,((8<<8@,*&8'�D&..�+).>�;8*+�(8'*-,(*�3)-?&()�>-8?&@)-3�,'@�-)(&>&)'*3�@)?).8>�*-93*4�*+)�A89'@,*&8'�A8-�39(()33A9.�3+,-)@�3)-?&()�-).,*&8'3+&>3B
TUVWXYZ[�\]̂_Z�Ù�\�âbUVZ�VYXÙZY�cŶd�WeZ�f\g�h\WẐ�îXgWjk�il�feZYUccm̀�nccUVZo�f\g�h\WẐ�îXgWj�YZVZgWbj�V̂gWY\VWZ[�Ŵ�aŶ_U[Z�âbUVZ�̀ZY_UVZ�Ŵ�WeZ�VUWj�̂c�f\g�i\Yb̂̀o�p̂We�WeZ�VUWjm̀�g\dZ�\g[�We\W�̂c�WeZ�V̂XgWj�̀eZYUccm̀�̂ccUVZ�\YZ�YZaYZ̀ZgWZ[�̂g�WeZ�_ZeUVbZm̀�a\UgW�V̀eZdZk�\�V̂dd̂ g�\YY\gqZdZgW�ĉY�VUWUZ̀�̂]W\UgUgq�âbUVZ�̀ZY_UVZ�WeŶXqe�V̂gWY\VWo



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���
#$%&'(�)$*+,&-+&'.�./$%01�+&'+,�2&'$�./3,+1�.+,*24+�3),++-+&'.�$&0(�35'+,�43,+5%0�'/$%)/'6�3&30(.2.6�3&1�1+027+,3'2$&8�93./$+�#$%&'(6�:+*313�;3&3)+,�<3'(�=2-$&�.%))+.'.�4$%&'2+.�43,+5%00(�+>?0$,+�'/+�7%.2&+..�43.+�5$,�./3,2&)�.+,*24+.�3&1�1+*+0$?�@./3,+1�)%212&)�?,2&42?0+.8A�B>?0$,2&)�3�./3,+1�.+,*24+�?,$C+4'�,+D%2,+.�4$%&'(�)$*+,&-+&'.�'$�%&1+,.'3&1EF�G$H�3�.+,*24+�2.�I&3&4+1F�G$H�2'�2.�1+02*+,+1�3&1�-3&3)+1�$&�3�13(J'$K13(�73.2.F�G$H�.+,*24+�1+02*+,(�H$%01�4/3&)+�7(�4$&',34'2&)6�-+,)2&)6�$,�,+1+.2)&2&)�'/+�.+,*24+L00�?3,'242?3&'.�&++1�'$�%&1+,.'3&1�'/+2,�,$0+.�2&�'/+�&+H�.+,*24+�1+02*+,(�-$1+08�M3,'242?3&'.�-%.'�30.$�3),++�'$�.'3&13,1.�$5�)$$1�.+,*24+�1+02*+,(�5$,�'/+2,�4$--%&2'2+.8�N/+.+�4$&*+,.3K'2$&.�43&�7+�125524%0'6�7%'�'/+�4$%&'(�$5524230.�H+�2&'+,*2+H+1�5$,�'/2.�?,$C+4'�.%))+.'�'/+�123K0$)%+�43&�7+�-31+�+3.2+,�25�'/+�?3,'242?3'2&)�)$*+,&-+&'.�/3*+�1+*+0$?+1�3�5$%&13'2$&�5$,�4$$?+,3'2$&8�G$H�43&�3�4$%&'(�1+*+0$?�3�.',$&)�5$%&13'2$&�5$,�4$$?+,3'2$&O�N/,++�534'$,.�1+.+,*+�.?+4230�+-?/3.2.P0+31+,./2?Q�',%.'6�,+42?,$42'(6�3&1�',3&.?3,+&4(Q�3&1�40+3,�)$30.�3&1�-+3.%,370+�,+.%0'.8RSTUSVWXYZ=/3,+1�.+,*24+�1+02*+,(�,+D%2,+.�0+31+,./2?�5,$-�'/+�'$?�+0+4'+1�3&1�31-2&2.',3'2*+�$5524230.�2&�3�4$%&'(6�3&1�5,$-�2-?0+-+&'3'2$&�'+3-.�H$,[2&)�$&�+34/�2&12*21%30�./3,+1�.+,*24+�?,$C+4'8�\$,�+*+,(�.%44+..5%0�+>3-?0+�$5�./3,+1�.+,*24+�1+02*+,(6�'/+,+�2.�3&$'/+,�?,$C+4'�'/3'�/3.�7++&�4$&.21+,+16�7%'�/3.�&$'�(+'�7++&�'/+�5$4%.�$5�.+,2$%.�34'2$&8�=/3,+1�.+,*24+�?,$C+4'.�,+D%2,+�'2-+�3&1�3''+&'2$&�'$�-$*+�5,$-�4$&4+?'�'$�2-?0+-+&'3'2$&8�]%.(�?%7024�-3&3)+,.�3&1�+0+4'+1�7$3,1.�/3*+�4$-?+'2&)�?,2$,2'2+.8�̂&�-3&(�4$--%&2'2+.6�./3,+1�.+,*24+�?,$?$.30.�3,+�.++&�3.�?$'+&'2300(�31*3&'3)+$%.6�7%'�&$'�3.�2--+123'+�?,2$,2'2+.8�9/20+�'/+�,+4+..2$&�/3.�43%.+1�.$-+�)$*+,&-+&'.�'$�)2*+�./3,+1�.+,*24+.�-$,+�3''+&'2$&6�4%'734[.�/3*+�30.$�,+1%4+1�.'355�'2-+�3*320370+�'$�+>?0$,+�&+H�2&2'23'2*+.8�N$�-$*+�./3,+1�.+,*24+�?,$?$.30.�5$,H3,16�4$%&'(�)$*+,&-+&'.�-%.'�21+&'25(�'/$.+�H/$�43&�?,$*21+�'/+�0+31+,./2?�'$�3..+..�'/+�?$'+&K'230�31*3&'3)+.�$5�./3,+1�.+,*24+.�3&1�-$*+�.+0+4'�?,$C+4'.�5,$-�4$&4+?'�'$�.%44+..8�_̀ab̀cdefg�hcij�kè�kigl�kè�m̀ b̀�hic�neajgfimdo�N$?�0+31+,.�-%.'�4$--%&243'+�'$�$'/+,.�2&�4$%&'(�)$*+,&-+&'�'/+�2&'+&'�'$�+>?0$,+�./3,+1�.+,*24+�$??$,'%&2'2+.�3&1�'$�-3[+�'/+-�H$,[�H/+&�5+3.270+8�p%..+00�q2&1+&�%.+.�'/+�037+0�4/3-?2$&�'$�1+.4,27+�'/$.+�H/$�?,$*21+�0+31+,K./2?�5$,�4$0037$,3'2*+�?,$C+4'.8�@=$-+$&+�H2'/�,+30�?3..2$&�5$,�'/+�2..%+�-%.'�3,'24%03'+�'/+�)$30�3&1�1+-$&.',3'+�2'.�2-?$,'3&4+6A�H,2'+.�q2&1+&�rstttu8�̂&�q2&1+&v.�1+.4,2?'2$&6�'/+�4/3-K?2$&�1$+.�&$'�&++1�'$�7+�3�)$*+,&-+&'�+-?0$(++6�$,�+*+&�.$-+$&+�12,+4'0(�2&*$0*+1�H2'/�'/+�13(K'$K13(�H$,[2&).�$5�'/+�4$0037$,3'2*+�?,$C+4'8�N/+�4/3-?2$&�2.�.$-+$&+�H/$�H200�,32.+�'/+�.302+&4+�3&1�2-?$,'3&4+�$5�34/2+*2&)�4$$?+,3'2$&�$&�3�.?+42524�)$308�

wXS�xVSyz{UY|Yz{W�}zV�~�yySWW}���~XTVSU�~SV�YySW



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %&�'()�*+,-.�+/�0+1&'2�342+,�5+6),.�7&-),.+&�/,+8�9:;;:48.+&�0+1&'2<�=)&&)..))<�>?+1@A)�6+'�'+�(4A)�B12C:&D�?+1@A)�6+'�'+�B)�'()�E+4E(�4&-�'()�4'(;)':E�-:,)E'+,�'+�E+&A:&E)<�4&-�.(+*<�4&-�-)8+&.',4')�'(4'�'(),)�:.�.+8)'(:&6�B)''),DF�=()�E+1&'2@.�);)E')-�+//:E:4;.�E4&�;)4-�B2�:-)&':/2:&6�G,+H)E'.�4&-�B2�G,)G4,:&6�'()�G1B;:E�/+,�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�-:.E1..:+&.D�%&�E+881&:E4C':+&.�*:'(�E+&.':'1)&'.<�);)E')-�+//:E:4;.�E4&�-:.G);�82'(.�4B+1'�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+G+.4;.�4&-�)IG;4:&�'()�6+4;.�+/�*+,J:&6�*:'(�+'(),�6+A),&8)&'.D�K1,�,)A:)*�+/�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+H)E'.�:&�E+1&'2�6+A),&8)&'�.166).'.�'(4'�8+.'�+/')&�'()�;)4-),�+/�4�E++G),4':A)�G,+H)E'�:.�'()�E+1&'2�)I)E1':A)<�E+1&'2�84&46),�+,�4-8:&:.',4'+,<�+,�4&�);)E')-�E+1&'2�E+88:..:+&),D�L4A:&6�4�G,+/)..:+&4;�4GG+:&')-�84&46),�+,�E(:)/�4-8:&:.',4':A)�+//:E),�*(+�:.�,).G+&.:B;)�/+,�'()�-42C'+C-42�+G),4':+&.�+/�4�E+1&'2�6+A),&8)&'�842�B)�4&�4..)'�*()&�E+&.:-),:&6�4�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+H)E'D�5).)4,E(�.166).'.�G,+/)..:+&4;�84&46),.�842�B)�8+,)�;:J);2�'+�4-A4&E)�E++G),4':A)�G,+H)E'.�*:'(�&):6(B+,:&6�6+A),&8)&'.<�G),(4G.�B)E41.)�'()2�84:&'4:&�,)61;4,�E+881&:E4':+&�*:'(�'():,�E+1&'),G4,'.�:&�+'(),�;+E4;�6+A),&C8)&'.�MN)5+1I<�O,4&-)&B1,6),<�4&-�P4&-)2�QRSRTD�=().)�;)4-),.�+,�E(48G:+&.�842�-);)64')�,).G+&.:B:;:'2�'+�J)2�.'4//�:&�+,-),�'+�8+A)�4�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�:&:':4':A)�/+,*4,-<�B1'�+/')&�'()�8+.'�A:.:B;)�4-8:&:.',4':A)�4&-�G+;:':E4;�;)4-),.�81.'�;)&-�'():,�)&-+,.)8)&'�'+�8+A)�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+H)E'.�/+,*4,-DUVWXVYZ[\]�̂Y_̀ �\̀]aV̀ VbcWc\_b�cVẀ Zd�9(:;)�4�G,+/)..:+&4;�84&46),�842�B)�4&�4..)'<�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+G+.4;.�,)e1:,)�;)4-),.(:G�+&�81;':G;)�;)A);.D�0+1&'2�.'4//<�/,+8�-)G4,'8)&'�()4-.�'+�.',))'C;)A);�)8G;+2)).<�4,)�:&.',18)&'4;�/+,�.1EE)../1;�.(4,)-�.),A:E)D�9()&�.G)E:/:E�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�:-)4.�4,)�:-)&':/:)-<�B1-6)'�4&-�;)64;�.'4//�)&.1,)�'()�E+1&'2�:.�E,4/':&6�4�E++GC),4':A)�46,))8)&'�B)&)/:E:4;�'+�'()�E+1&'2@.�:&'),).'.D�f8G;+2)).�*+,J:&6�:&�'()�/:);-�J&+*�(+*�.G)E:/:E�.),A:E).�4,)�-);:A),)-<�4&-�*:;;�B)�:&.',18)&'4;�:&�-)A);+G:&6�.',4')6:).�4&-�*+,J�,1;).�'+�)&646)�*:'(�+'(),�6+A),&8)&'.D�g+8)':8).<�)8G;+2)).�4,)�E+&E),&)-�4B+1'�H+B�;+..�+,�,).',1E'1,:&6�4.�4�,).1;'�+/�.(4,)-�.),A:E).D�%/�)8G;+2)).�4&-�;4B+,�6,+1G.�4,)�)&646)-�)4,;2�4&-�1&-),.'4&-�'()�6+4;.�+/�4�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+H)E'<�'()2�E4&�B)E+8)�.',+&6�4;;:).�4&-�4-A+E4').�:&�8+A:&6�G,+H)E'.�'(,+16(�:8G;)8)&'4':+&D�0+1&'2�;)4-),.�B)&)/:'�/,+8�B,:&6:&6�'+6)'(),�/+E1.)-�')48.�'+�8+A)�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�:&:':4':A).�/+,*4,-D�7�')48�842�:&E;1-)�.'4//�+,�);)E')-�;)4-),.�/,+8�4;;�+/�'()�G4,':E:G4':&6�1&:'.�+/�6+AC),&8)&'D�h+,�)I48G;)<�i),.(4*�0+1&'2<�g+1'(�04,+;:&4<�).'4B;:.()-�4�>.2&),62�E+88:''))F�*:'(�.'4//�/,+8�'()�E+1&'2�6+A),&8)&'<�'()�048-)&�E:'2�6+A),&8)&'<�'()�.E(++;�-:.',:E'<�4&-�'()�;+E4;�(+.G:'4;�'+�:-)&':/2�4,)4.�:&�*(:E(�*+,J:&6�'+6)'(),�8:6('�B)�;+6:E4;D�=()�E+88:''))@.�*+,J�(4.�4;,)4-2�;)-�'+�H+:&'�G1,E(4.:&6�+/�+//:E)�G4G),<�4&-�'()�E+88:''))�:.�&+*�E+&.:-),:&6�+'(),�G,+H)E'.�:&E;1-:&6�/;))'�84:&')&4&E)D�j+:&'�G1,E(4.:&6�E4&�B)�-)/:&)-�4.�'*+�+,�8+,)�;+E4;�1&:'.�+/�6+A),&8)&'�E+;;4B+,4':&6�+,�*+,J:&6�'+6)'(),�'+�G1,E(4.)�6++-.�4&-�.),A:E).Dk+'�4;;�1&:'.�+/�;+E4;�6+A),&8)&'�*:'(:&�4�,)6:+&�8:6('�B)�:&'),).')-�:&�E+;;4B+,4':+&<�B1'�'()�-)A);+G8)&'�+/�4�81;':C6+A),&8)&'�')48�G1'.�G+.:':A)�G,)..1,)�+&�'()�G4,':E:G4&'.�'+�'(:&J�E,)4':A);2�4B+1'�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�-);:A),2D�9()'(),�'()�;)4-),.(:G�/+,�.(4,)-�.),A:E).�E+8).�/,+8�4�81;':C6+A),&8)&'�')48<�4�E(4,:.84':E�G+;:':E:4&<�.',))'C;)A);�.'4//<�4�E(:)/�4-8:&:.',4'+,<�+,�4�8:I�+/�'()�4B+A)<�;)4-),.(:G�81.'�B)�'4J)&�.),:+1.;2�/+,�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�G,+H)E'.�'+�B)�.1EE)../1;Dlmnopq�rstuvmwtupxq�yz{�lmyzovymsztx34&2�E+1&'2�+//:E:4;.�-).E,:B)�',1.'�4.�4&�:8G+,'4&'�G,)E+&-:':+&�/+,�.1EE)../1;�.(4,)-�.),A:E)�-);:A),2D�0+1&'2�34&46),�i4'2�g:8+&�+/�94.(+)�0+1&'2<�k)A4-4<�)IG;4:&.<�>5);4':+&.(:G.�4,)�'()�E1,,)&E2�+/�(+*�*)�6)'�)A),2'(:&6�-+&)�:&�6+A),&8)&'D�?+1�(4A)�'+�B1:;-�'(+.)�,);4':+&C.(:G.�4&-�(4A)�',1.'�,);4':+&.(:G.�:&�G;4E)D�%/�G)+G;)�-+&@'�',1.'�)4E(�+'(),<�.(4,)-�.),A:E).�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%�&'(�)'*&)�('�+'$,-.�/$01(�*1�2%3%4'5%2�(6$'0)6�7'880&*7#(*'&�#&2�'&)'*&)�7''5%$#(*'&-�9#(#+:#�9'0&(;<�='$(6�9#$'4*&#<�6#1�+'$,%2�+*(6�80&*7*5#4�)'3%$&8%&(1�*&�(6%�5#1(<�#&2�6#1�$%7%&(4;�01%2�(6#(�>'0&2#(*'&�'>�7''5%$#(*'&�('�2%3%4'5�&%+�%>>'$(1�*&�%7'&'8*7�2%3%4'58%&(�>'$�(#$)%(%2�:01*&%11�5#$,�2%3%4'58%&(-�/6%;�6#3%�2%1*)&%2�#�7'1(�#&2�$%3%&0%�16#$*&)�54#&�1'�(6#(�?0$*12*7(*'&1�7#&�80(0#44;�:%&%>*(�>$'8�&%+�*&201($;�$%7$0*(8%&(-�@/6%$%A1�)'(�('�:%�#�4%3%4�'>�($01(�#&2�5$%((;�1($'&)�+'$,*&)�$%4#(*'&16*51<.�%B54#*&1�9'0&(;�C#&#)%$�/'8�D0&2;-�/$01(�#&2�7'880&*7#(*'&�#$%�7$*(*7#4�>'$�7''5%$#(*'&�*&�(6%�(;5*7#44;�7'85%(*(*3%�>*%42�'>�%7'E&'8*7�2%3%4'58%&(-�F&�7'0&(*%1�+*(6'0(�#�6*1('$;�'>�16#$%2�1%$3*7%1<�8#&#)%$1�#&2�%4%7(%2�'>>*7*#41�801(�*2%&(*>;�#$%#1�'>�7'88'&�)$'0&2�#&2�6%45�5#$(*7*5#&(1�0&2%$1(#&2�6'+�16#$%2�76#44%&)%1�#&2�%B5%$*%&7%1�5$'3*2%�#�>'0&2#(*'&�>'$�&%+�7''5%$#(*3%�%>>'$(1-�G#&�C*)0%4�9'0&(;<�=%+�C%B*7'<�>'$�%B#854%<�6#1�:%%&�+'$,*&)�+*(6�'(6%$�)'3%$&8%&(1�*&�(6%�$%)*'&�'&�54#&&*&)�>'$�%7'&'8*7�2%3%4'58%&(�#&2�101(#*&#:*4*(;-�H%7%&(�7''5%$#(*3%�%>>'$(1�:0*42�'&�(6%�5#$(*7*5#(*&)�)'3%$&8%&(1A�%B5%$*%&7%�+'$,*&)�(')%(6%$�(6$'0)6�(6%�$%)*'&A1�8%($'5'4*(#&�54#&E&*&)�'$)#&*I#(*'&-�JB*1(*&)�>'$081�4*,%�8%($'5'4*(#&�54#&&*&)�'$)#&*I#(*'&1�#&2�7'0&7*41�'>�)'3%$&8%&(1�7#&�:%�01%2�#1�>'$081�('�1(#$(�2*#4')0%�#:'0(�*&(%$4'7#4�#)$%%8%&(1�#&2�16#$%2�1%$3*7%�2%4*3%$;-�9'880&*7#(*'&�%1(#:4*16%2�*&�(6%1%�'$)#&*I#(*'&1<�#&2�($01(�2%3%4'5%2�(6$'0)6�7''5%$#(*'&�'&�%B*1(*&)�5$'?%7(1<�5$'3*2%�#�6%45>04�>'0&2#(*'&�>'$�&%+�*&*(*#(*3%1-�K1�)'3%$&8%&(1�8'3%�>'$+#$2�'&�7''5%$#(*3%�5$'?%7(1<�9'0&(;�C#&#)%$�D%1�C'&(';#�%&7'0$#)%1�($#&15#$%&7;-�@/6%$%�6#1�('�:%�'5%&�2*17011*'&<�#&2�%3%$;(6*&)�&%%21�('�:%�54#7%2�'&�(6%�(#:4%<.�C'&(';#�%B54#*&1-�9'0&(*%1�7#&�2%3%4'5�5$'207(*3%�#&2�($#&15#$%&(�+'$,*&)�$%4#(*'&E16*51�+*(6�(6%*$�&%*)6:'$1�*>�(6%;�:0*42�'&�(6%�>'0&2#(*'&�'>�7''5%$#(*'&�#&2�*&(%$#7(*'&�(6#(�#4$%#2;�%B*1(1�+*(6*&�(6%�7'880&*(;-K(�(6%�1#8%�(*8%<�(6%�#:1%&7%�'>�($01(�#&2�)''2�+'$,*&)�$%4#(*'&16*51�16'042�&'(�:%�01%2�#1�#&�%B701%�>'$�#�4#7,�'>�#7(*'&-�9''5%$#(*'&�7#&�'770$�+*(6'0(�($01(<�:0(�*(�*1�8'$%�2*>>*704(�L9'',<�M#$2*&<�#&2�D%3*�NOOPQ-�R'3%$&8%&(1�+*(6�#�>'0&2#(*'&�'>�($01(�8#;�:%�8'$%�4*,%4;�('�1%(�)%&%$#4�>$#8%+'$,1�>'$�7''5%$#(*'&�#&2�+'$,�'0(�5$':4%81�#&2�2%(#*41�+6%&�(6%�&%%2�#$*1%1-�S0(�)'3%$&8%&(1�+'$,*&)�+*(6'0(�#&�%B*1(*&)�>'0&2#(*'&�'>�($01(�8#;�&%%2�('�15%&2�8'$%�(*8%�2%3%4'5*&)�>'$8#4*I%2�7'&($#7(1�#&2�#)$%%8%&(1�('�%&10$%�(6#(�#44�7'&7%$&1�#&2�7'&(*&)%&7*%1�#$%�#22$%11%2�*&�+$*(*&)-�9'0&(;�)'3%$&8%&(�'>>*7*#41�+6'�2'�&'(�6#3%�$%)04#$�2*#4')0%�#&2�%B*1(*&)�+'$,*&)�$%4#(*'&16*51�+*(6�&%*)6:'$*&)�4'7#4�)'3%$&8%&(1�16'042�)*3%�7#$%>04�#((%&(*'&�('�%1(#:4*16*&)�#&�#11%118%&(�(%#8�#&2�%3#40#(*&)�(6%�1($%&)(61�'>�4'7#4�)'3%$&8%&(1-�S%)*&&*&)�:%((%$�2*#4')0%�#&2�2%3%4'5*&)�18#44�7''5%$#(*3%�%>>'$(1�7#&�%1(#:4*16�#�:#1%�>'$�8'$%�%B(%&1*3%�16#$%2�1%$3*7%1�*&�(6%�>0(0$%-K44�7'0&(;�)'3%$&8%&(�'>>*7*#41�16'042�,%%5�$%7*5$'7*(;�*&�8*&2-�T%'54%�4*,%�('�:%�($%#(%2�>#*$4;-�U6%&�+'$,*&)�(')%(6%$<�5%'54%�#41'�4*,%�('�,&'+�(6#(�%3%$;'&%�*1�>#*$4;�:%&%>*(*&)�>$'8�7'44%7(*3%�%>>'$(1�LU#)&%$�#&2�C044%$�NOOVQ-�9'0&(;�)'3%$&8%&(�'>>*7*#41�801(�,%%5�(6*1�*&�8*&2�+6%&�7$#>(*&)�7''5%$#(*3%�#)$%%8%&(1-�G6#$%2�1%$3*7%�5#$(&%$16*51�#&2�*&(%$4'7#4�#)$%%8%&(1�+*44�%$'2%�*>�'&%�'>�(6%�5#$(*%1�>%%41�(6#(�(6%�7'1(1�#&2�:%&%>*(1�'>�+'$,*&)�(')%(6%$�2'�&'(�#4*)&-�F&�7'&($#7(�$%4#(*'&16*51<�1%$3*7%�5$'3*2%$1�801(�8#,%�(6%�7'1(1�'>�1%$3*7%�($#&15#$%&(�1'�(6#(�1%$3*7%�50$76#1%$1�,&'+�(6%�5$*7%�*1�>#*$-�F&�16#$%2�1%$3*7%�#$$#&)%8%&(1<�)'3%$&8%&(1�16'042�#)$%%�'&�$%15'&1*:*4*(*%1<�7'&($*:0(*'&1<�#&2�*&(%&2%2�'0(7'8%1-�F>�)'3%$&8%&(1�>%%4�7'8>'$(#:4%�+*(6�(6%�5$'7%11�'>�+'$,*&)�+*(6�(6%*$�5#$(&%$1<�(6%&�7''5%$#(*3%�$%4#(*'&16*51�+*44�:%�1($%&)(6E%&%2-�F&�(6*1�+#;<�($01(�#&2�$%7*5$'7*(;�+'$,�*&�7'&7%$(�LW1($'8�#&2�U#4,%$�NOOXQ-�9'0&(;�'>>*7*#41�+6'�+#&(�('�2%3%4'5�#�1($'&)�>'0&2#(*'&�>'$�16#$%2�1%$3*7%1�+*44�)*3%�?01(�#1�8076�#((%&(*'&�('�8#*&(#*&*&)�$%4#(*'&16*51�#1�(6%;�2'�('�(6%�(%76&*7#4�2%(#*41�'>�1%$3*7%�2%4*3%$;-



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %&'()�*+(&,�(-.�/'(,0)(1&'�2',0&3,45678�96:7;<=8�6>�6?@;AB:CBD�>;�:A8�A8>=7B>E�FB�B58�8C9�;G�B58�9:HD�B58�@=I76J�8K@8JB>�B;�>88�A8>=7B>�GA;?�<;L8AC?8CB�;GG6J6:7>M�8GG;AB>�B;�J;;@8A:B8E�N8G;A8�8C<:<6C<�6C�C8O�>5:A89�>8AL6J8�6C6B6:B6L8>D�J;=CBH�;GG6J6:7>�>5;=79�B:P8�B58�B6?8�B;�B877�B58�@=I76J�:I;=B�B58�I8C8G6B>�;G�8K6>B6C<�J;;@8A:B6;CE�Q;?8�J;=CBH�<;L8AC?8CB>�P88@�:C�6CL8CB;AH�76>B�;G�>8AL6J8>�@A;L6989�B5A;=<5�J;;@8A:B6;C�;A�J;CBA:JB�O6B5�;B58A�=C6B>�;G�<;L8AC?8CBE�R:C:<8A>�>5;=79�J;C>698A�6CJ;A@;A:BS6C<�@8AG;A?:CJ8�6CG;A?:B6;C�6CB;�B58>8�76>B>D�6CJ7=96C<�8>B6?:B8>�;G�G6C:CJ6:7�>:L6C<>�;A�>8AL6J8�T=:76BH�6?@A;L8?8CB>E�FC�6CL8CB;AH�:C9�@8AG;A?:CJ8�8>B6?:B8�G;A�8K6>B6C<�6CB8A<;L8AC?8CB:7�@A;<A:?>�J:C�587@�B58�@=I76J�=C98A>B:C9�B58�L:7=8�;G�6CL8>B6C<�B6?8�:C9�8GG;AB�6C�C8O�?8B5S;9>�;G�>8AL6J8�9876L8AHE�Q=J5�:�9;J=?8CB�J;=79�@A;L698�@;76JHS?:P8A>�O6B5�J78:A�U=>B6G6J:B6;C�G;A�8K@7;A6C<�C8O�>5:A89�>8AL6J8�;@@;AB=C6B68>E�V58>8�76>B>�J:C�:7>;�587@�<;L8AC?8CB�78:98A>�I8BB8A�=C98A>B:C9�6CB8A98@8C98CJ8�O6B5�;B58A�<;L8AC?8CB>D�:C9�?:H�I8�B58�>;=AJ8�;G�698:>�G;A�:996B6;C:7�J;;@8A:B6;CEF>�C8O�J;;@8A:B6L8�A87:B6;C>56@>�:A8�8K@7;A89D�J;=CBH�;GG6J6:7>�>5;=79�;=B76C8�<;:7>�:C9�L:7=8>�B;�<=698�B58�9876L8AH�;G�>@8J6G6J�>8AL6J8>�:C9�B58�C8<;B6:B6;C�@A;J8>>�O6B5�@;B8CB6:7�@:ABC8A>E�W;=CB68>�?=>B�?:P8�8K@76J6B�B58�L:7=8>�;C�O56J5�B58H�O677�C;B�J;?@A;?6>8�9=A6C<�>5:A89�>8ASL6J8�96>J=>>6;C>E�X;A�8K:?@78D�:�J;=CBH�?6<5B�I8�=CO6776C<�B;�>:JA6G6J8�<8;<A:@56J�8T=6BH�6C�>8AL6J8�:JJ8>>�B;�<:6C�8GG6J68CJH�;A�>:L8�?;C8HE�FC;B58A�J;=CBH�?6<5B�5;79�:>�:�L:7=8�B58�@A;SB8JB6;C�;G�U;I>�G;A�@=I76J�8?@7;H88>E�W;=CB68>�BA:C>@:A8CB�:I;=B�B58�L:7=8>�B5:B�O677�<=698�B586A�98J6>6;CS?:P6C<�O677�G6C9�B586A�96>J=>>6;C>�:I;=B�>5:A89�>8AL6J8�B;�I8�?;A8�>:B6>GH6C<E�R:P6C<�8K@76J6B�B58�L:7=8>�B5:B�<=698�98J6>6;C>�J:C�:7>;�587@�;GG6J6:7>�:L;69�78C<B5H�96>J=>S>6;C>�:I;=B�>5:A89�>8AL6J8>�6C�:A8:>�B5:B�:A8�J78:A7H�C;B�J;?@:B6I78EW;=CBH�<;L8AC?8CB>�>5;=79�>8B�J78:A�:C9�:BB:6C:I78�<;:7>�G;A�>5:A89�>8AL6J8�9876L8AH�8GG;AB>�:C9�6CB8A7;J:7�:<A88?8CB>E�458B58A�B58�<;:7>�A87:B8�B;�J;>B�>:L6C<>�;A�>8AL6J8�T=:76BH�6?@A;L8S?8CB>D�B58�@:AB6J6@:B6C<�<;L8AC?8CB>�>5;=79�@=B�:�>H>B8?�6C�@7:J8�6C�:9L:CJ8�B;�J;778JB�B58�6CG;A?:B6;C�C8J8>>:AH�B;�98B8A?6C8�6G�B58�@A;U8JB�5:>�I88C�:�>=JJ8>>E�V;;�;GB8CD�<;L8AC?8CB>�A87H�;C�:C8J9;B:7�8L698CJ8�B;�>=@@;AB�B58�>=JJ8>>�;G�:�>5:A89�>8AL6J8�@A;U8JBE�YG�7;J:7�<;L8ACS?8CB>�9;�C;B�:7A8:9H�J;778JB�>8AL6J8�@8AG;A?:CJ8�9:B:D�B58C�@8AG;A?:CJ8�9:B:�:C9�I8CJ5S?:AP>�>5;=79�I8�J;C>698A89�:B�B58�>B:AB�;G�:�>5:A89�>8AL6J8�@A;U8JBE�Z:AB6J6@:CB>�>5;=79�:7>;�:<A88�;C�:�B6?8GA:?8�G;A�G;A?:77H�A8L68O6C<�B58�@8AG;A?:CJ8�;G�B58�@A;U8JBE�[K@76J6B�96>J=>>6;C�:I;=B�8K@8JB:B6;C>�O677�587@�<;L8AC?8CB>�<6L8�B58�@=I76J�:�J78:A�=C98AS>B:C96C<�:I;=B�O5H�>8AL6J8�9876L8AH�?;987>�:A8�I86C<�J5:C<89E�Z:>T=;B:CP�W;=CBH�:C9�[76\:I8B5�W6BHD�];AB5�W:A;76C:D�5:L8�:�BA:JP�A8J;A9�;G�J;;@8A:B6;C�;C�@:AP>�:C9�A8JA8:B6;C�>8ASL6J8>E�̂6>B;A6J:77HD�B58�J;=CBH�?:98�@:H?8CB>�B;�B58�J6BH�>;�B5:B�J;=CBH�A8>698CB>�J;=79�@:AB6JS6@:B8�6C�B58�J6BHM>�A8JA8:B6;C�@A;<A:?>E�V58�<;L8AC?8CB>�5:L8�U;6CB7H�:@@7689�G;A�<A:CB>�B;�G=C9�>;JJ8AD�I:>8I:77D�:C9�>;GBI:77�J;?@78K8>E�_8J8CB7HD�Z:>T=;B:CP�W;=CBH�?8A<89�6B>�>?:778A�@:AP>�:C9�A8JA8:B6;C�98@:AB?8CB�6CB;�B58�[76\:I8B5�W6BH�A8JA8:B6;C�98@:AB?8CB�6C�;A98A�B;�:J568L8�;@8A:B6;C:7�8GG6J68CJ68>E�̀V58�J6BH�?:C:<8A�:C9�Y�I;B5�98B8A?6C89�B5:B�O8�A8:77H�O;=79CMB�>:L8�?;C8H�a�I=B�O8�G87B�6B�O;=79�I8�:�?;A8�8GG6J68CB�;@8A:B6;C�IH�5:L6C<�8L8AHB56C<�=C98A�;C8�:9?6C6>BA:B6;C�A:B58A�B5:C�5:L6C<�BO;�>8@:A:B8�98@:AB?8CB>Db�8K@7:6C89�Z:>T=;B:CP�W;=CBH�R:C:<8A�_:C9H�c8:B;CE�̀R:P8�>=A8�B5:B�H;=�9;CMB�;L8A>877�B58�I8C8G6B>�;G�B58�?8A<8ADb�:9L6>8>�RAE�c8:B;CE�ZA;U8JB�>=JJ8>>�6CL;7L8>�J;?6C<�B;�:<A88?8CB�;C�J78:A�<;:7>�G;A�>5:A89�>8AL6J8>�:C9�6CB8A7;J:7�:<A88?8CB>�:C9�?:P6C<�B58>8�<;:7>�@=I76JE



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%&�'()*�+,&-./01/-2�34&5$./)-$6�700/8/&-8/&%�/-�9)($5,�#):-.1;�<$516$-,�=:>6/8�?8@))6%�ABCDEFGH�IDJ�HKLBBM�JFHENFKEH�ING�HGOINIEG�IDJ�FDJGOGDJGDE�FD�PINQMIDJR�IH�ELGQ�ING�FD�SIDQ�HEIEGHR�TCE�HKINKG�NGHBCNKGH�LIUG�SIJG�KBBOGNIEFBD�IOOGIMFDVW�XOBD�LFH�GMGKEFBD�EB�BYYFKG�FD�Z[[\R�]B̂INJ�ABCDEQ�_̀GKCEFUG�aGD�XMSID�SIJG�FE�I�ONFBNFEQ�EB�̂BNb�̂FEL�ELG�]B̂INJ�ABCDEQ�cCTMFK�dKLBBMH�EB�FJGDEFYQ�INGIH�FD�̂LFKL�ELG�KBCDEQ�IDJ�HKLBBMH�KBCMJ�IKLFGUG�BOGNIeEFBDIM�IDJ�YFDIDKFIM�GYYFKFGDKFGH�ELNBCVL�KBBOGNIEFBD�IDJ�HLINGJ�HGNUFKG�JGMFUGNQW�PNW�XMSID�IDJ�dCOGNFDEGDJGDE�BY�dKLBBMH�fNW�dQJDGQ�ABCHFD�IHHGSTMGJ�I�LFVLeMGUGM�EIHb�YBNKG�FDKMCJeFDV�EBO�SIDIVGSGDE�IDJ�TCJVGE�OGNHBDDGM�YNBS�ELG�KBCDEQ�IDJ�ELG�OCTMFK�HKLBBMHW�gLG�VBUGNDSGDEH�LIJ�̂BNbGJ�EBVGELGN�FD�HSIMM�̂IQH�FD�ELG�OIHER�TCE�ELG�EIHb�YBNKG�NGONGHGDEGJ�I�YBKCHGJ�GYYBNE�EB�NGELFDb�HGNUFKG�BUGNMIOH�IDJ�GYYFKFGDKQW�fGOCEQ�ALFGY�BY�dEIYY�hID�aGDDGJQ�G̀OMIFDH�ELIE�ELGNG�̂GNG�ONGUFBCHMQ�YĜ�JFNGKE�MFDGH�BY�KBSSCDFKIEFBD�TGÊGGD�KBCDEQ�HEIYY�IDJ�ELGFN�KBCDEGNOINEH�FD�HFSFMIN�JGOINESGDEH�̂FELFD�ELG�OCTMFK�HKLBBMHW�ijQ�HEINEFDV�̂FEL�ELFH�kEIHb�YBNKGl�BY�LFVLeMGUGM�OGNHBDDGMR�IH�ELGQ�JNFMM�JB̂D�̂FELFD�ELGFN�NGHOGKEFUG�IVGDKFGH�m�nCHE�LIUFDV�ELIE�KBDUGNHIEFBD�IDJ�bGGOFDV�ELG�MFDGH�BY�KBSSCDFKIEFBD�BOGD�LIH�LGMOGJ�ELGS�m�TNIFDHEBNS�FJGIHWohD�HBSG�INGIHR�KBBOGNIEFBD�LIH�NGHCMEGJ�FD�TCJVGE�HIUFDVHW�gLG�BNVIDFpIEFBDH�TGVID�EB�nBFDEMQ�TFJ�LGIMELR�JGDEIMR�IDJ�BELGN�GSOMBQGG�TGDGYFE�OMIDHR�̂LFKL�NGHCMEGJ�FD�ID�GHEFSIEGJ�qrWs�SFMMFBD�FD�QGINMQ�HIUFDVHW�gLG�KBCDEQ�IJJGJ�ELG�HKLBBM�EB�FEH�TCMb�KBDENIKE�YBN�ELG�OCNKLIHG�BY�VIH�IDJ�JFGHGMR�QFGMJFDV�qs[R[[[�FD�IDDCIM�HIUFDVHR�IDJ�nBFDGJ�ELG�KBCDEQtH�ENIHL�IDJ�NGKQeKMFDV�KBDENIKE�YBN�IDBELGN�qu[R[[[�FD�HIUFDVHW�vMHB�FSONGHHFUG�FH�ELG�VBUGNDSGDEHt�GYYBNEH�EB�KBBOGNIEG�BD�KIOFEIM�FSONBUGSGDEHW�gLNBCVL�JFHKCHHFBDH�ITBCE�YCECNG�YIKFMFEQ�DGGJHR�ELG�KBCDEQ�IKwCFNGJ�I�UIKIDE�ICEB�JGIMGNHLFO�IDJ�NGOCNOBHGJ�ELG�YIKFMFEQ�YBN�FEH�YMGGE�SIFDEGDIDKGW�gLG�HKLBBM�JFHENFKER�YIKFDV�HFSFMIN�YIKFMeFEQ�DGGJHR�KBeMBKIEGJ�FEH�YMGGE�SIFDEGDIDKG�BOGNIEFBDH�IE�ELG�DĜ�KBCDEQ�YIKFMFEQW�gLFH�SBUG�HIUGJ�ELG�GHEFSIEGJ�q\�SFMMFBD�ELIE�I�HGOINIEG�YIKFMFEQ�̂BCMJ�LIUG�KBHEW�gLG�VBUGNDSGDEH�LIUG�CDJGNEIbGD�HFSFMIN�GYYBNEH�EB�HLING�OCTMFK�TNBIJKIHEFDV�YIKFMFEFGH�IDJ�I�JIEI�KGDEGNW�hD�BELGN�INGIHR�KBBOGNIEFBD�QFGMJH�FSONBUGSGDE�EB�G̀FHEFDV�HGNUFKGHW�xBN�G̀ISOMGR�ELG�HKLBBMH�IDJ�KBCDEQ�KBBNJFDIEG�GYYBNEH�IE�HDB̂�NGSBUIMR�CHFDV�HKLBBM�JCSO�ENCKbH�EB�LGMO�ELG�KBCDEQ�NGSBUG�HDB̂�TGYBNG�HKLBBM�OINbFDV�MBEH�ING�KMGINGJWdBSG�FJGIH�YBN�HLINGJ�HGNUFKGH�IDJ�KBBOGNIEFBD�JB�EIbG�EFSG�EB�FSOMGSGDEW�gLG�SIFDEGDIDKG�BY�NGIM�VNIHH�ECNY�IE�HKLBBM�HOBNEH�YFGMJH�MFSFEH�ELGFN�CHG�JCNFDV�ELG�QGINW�xBMMB̂FDV�ELG�G̀ISOMG�BY�vDDG�vNCDJGM�ABCDEQR�]B̂INJ�ABCDEQ�ONBOBHGJ�NGOMIKFDV�VNIHH�HOBNEH�YFGMJH�̂FEL�HQDELGEFK�ECNY�IE�ELG�KBCDEQtH�G̀OGDHGR�BOGDFDV�ELG�YFGMJH�EB�̂FJGN�CHGR�FDKMCJFDV�YBN�KBCDEQ�NGKNGIEFBD�ONBVNISHW�gLG�ONBOBHIM�ONBSOEGJ�HBSG�KBDKGNDR�TCE�ELNBCVL�KBDUGNHIEFBDH�IDJ�JGMFTGNIeEFBD�ITBCE�ELG�TGDGYFEH�BY�ELG�ONBOBHIMR�ELG�ONBVNIS�̂IH�FSOMGSGDEGJW�yUGNIMMR�ELG�GYYBNEH�BY�]B̂INJ�ABCDEQ�IDJ�ELG�]B̂INJ�ABCDEQ�cCTMFK�dKLBBMH�HLB̂�ELG�UIMCG�BY�YBKCHGJ�JFHKCHHFBDH�ITBCE�OBEGDEFIM�INGIH�BY�KBBOGNIEFBD�YBN�GYYFKFGDKQ�IDJ�HGNUFKG�FSONBUGSGDEW�zGIJGNHLFO�YNBS�ELG�EBO�IDJ�I�EIHb�YBNKG�JGHFVDGJ�EB�G̀OMBNG�HLINGJ�HGNUFKGH�KID�LGMO�VBUGNDSGDEH�FJGDEFYQ�CDFwCG�BOOBNECDFEFGH�YBN�KBBOGNIEFBDW



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" 
%&'()*�+&,-.(/-()0�1.-�2(�1�0).&(+�3&02)2&(�)&�4&().14)�0-.,24-0�&')�)&�&)5-.�6&416�+&,-.(/-()0�2()-.(16�)&�)5-�4&'()*7�&.�-,-(�)&�(-2+58&.2(+�4&'()2-09�%&'()2-0�/1*�160&�4&().14)�:2)5�&)5-.�+&,-.(/-()0�)&�.-4-2,-�0-.,24-09�;-.,24-�4&().14)0�:2)5�/'(242316�+&,-.(/-()0�1.-�4&//&(�:5-(�(-:�42)2-0�2(4&.3&.1)-9�<'.2(+�)5-�=>?@0�1(A�=>B@07�/1(*�/'(2423162)2-0�2(�0&')5-.(�%162C&.(21�2(4&.3&.1)-A�1(A�4&().14)-A�:2)5�4&'()*�1+-(42-0�C&.�0-.,24-0�.1)5-.�)51(�-0)186205D2(+�)5-2.�&:(�42)*�A-31.)/-()09�E.&/�)2/-�)&�)2/-7�42)2-0�:2)5�-F)-(02,-�4&().14)�.-61)2&(05230�A&�)-./2(1)-�4&().14)0�1(A�-0)186205�0-.,24-0�2(D5&'0-9�;)2667�)5-�-,2A-(4-�C.&/�0&')5-.(�%162C&.(21�0'++-0)0�)51)�2()-.+&,-.(/-()16�4&().14)�.-61)2&(05230�1.-�C12.6*�0)186-�&,-.�)2/-�GH&1001.)DI1.4-662�1(A�I'00&�J@@?K9�L*�A-,-6&32(+�0-.,24-�.-61)2&(05230�:2)5�(-:�'(2)0�&C�+&,-.(/-()7�4&'()2-0�51,-�)5-�3&)-()216�)&�C&0)-.�6&(+D)-./�4'0)&/-.�.-61)2&(05230�C&.�4&'()*�+&,-.(/-()�0-.,24-09�%&'()*�4&().14)2(+�)&�(-:�/'(2423162)2-0�20�(&)�62/2)-A�)&�%162C&.(219�E&.�-F1/36-7�<1,2A0&(�%&'()*7�M&.)5�%1.&62(17�4'..-()6*�3.&,2A-0�361((2(+7�N&(2(+7�1(A�8'26A2(+�2(03-4)2&(�0-.,24-0�C&.�(-:6*�2(4&.D3&.1)-A�/'(2423162)2-0�:2)52(�)5-�4&'()*9�O8)12(2(+�0-.,24-�)5.&'+5�)5-�4&'()*�166&:-A�)5-�(-:�/'(2423162)2-07�614P2(+�0)1CC�1(A�1A/2(20).1)2,-�413142)*7�)&�8-+2(�&3-.1)2&(0�1(A�4&(4-().1)-�&(�)5-�-0)186205/-()�&C�&)5-.�0-.,24-09�Q5-�1..1(+-/-()0�8-(-C2)-A�)5-�4&'()*7�:5245�51A�-F).1�413142)*�1(A�0)1CC�2(�)5&0-�0-.,24-�1.-109�%&'()*�I1(1+-.�R&8-.)�S*1))�-/35102N-0�)5-�2/3&.D)1(4-�&C�0).'4)'.2(+�C6-F286-�1..1(+-/-()07�.-4&+(2N2(+�)51)�10�(-:�/'(2423162)2-0�+.&:7�)5-*�/1*�3.-C-.�)&�451(+-�)5-�0-.,24-�.-61)2&(05239L'A+-)�4&(0).12()0�1.-�41'02(+�/&.-�4&'()2-0�)&�2A-()2C*�&33&.)'(2)2-0�)&�3.&,2A-�0-.,24-0�)5.&'+5�4&().14)09�T018-661�%&'()*7�I2452+1(7�8-+1(�1�4&().14)�.-61)2&(0523�)&�3.&,2A-�8'26A2(+�2(03-4)2&(�0-.,24-0�)&�1�(-2+58&.2(+�4&'()*�1(A�1�C-:�&)5-.�6&416�'(2)0�&C�+&,-.(/-()9�Q5-�2(U'2.*�C&.�0-.,24-�41/-�1)�1�)2/-�:5-(�T018-661�%&'()*�51A�-F).1�413142)*�A'-�)&�)5-�-4&D(&/24�A&:()'.(9�%&'()*�VA/2(20).1)&.�Q2/�<&6-51()*�-F3612(0�)51)�T018-661�%&'()*W0�8'26A2(+�2(03-4)&.0�51,-�1�.-3')1)2&(�C&.�+&&A�0-.,24-�A-62,-.*7�/1P2(+�)5-�4&'()*�1(�1)).14)2,-�4&().14D)&.9�XT�)52(P�)5-�8-0)�)52(+�:-�A2A�:10�.'(�1�+&&A7�0'44-00C'6�3.&+.1/9�Q51)7�2(�1(A�&C�2)0-6C7�A&-0�1�6&)�)&�+2,-�4&(C2A-(4-�)&�)5-�&)5-.0�)51)�:-�4&().14)�:2)5�)&�-F3-4)�)51)�:-�P(&:�:51)�:-W.-�A&2(+7�1(A�:-�P(&:�5&:�)&�A&�2)�)5-�/&0)�-CC242-()�:1*�3&00286-9Y�;&/-�0-.,24-0�6-(A�)5-/0-6,-0�/&.-�-1026*�)&�4&().14)�.-61)2&(052309�I-4&0)1�1(A�&)5-.�I2452+1(�4&'()2-0�3.&,2A-�3.&3-.)*�)1F�82662(+�1(A�&)5-.�)1FD.-61)-A�0-.,24-0�C&.�6&416�+&,-.(D/-()09�Q5-0-�1.-�2A-16�)&�3.&,2A-�)5.&'+5�4&().14)�.-61)2&(05230�8-41'0-�4&'()2-0�41(�451.+-�&(�1�3-.D31.4-6�81020�&.�C&.�1�A2.-4)�C--DC&.D0-.,24-�)&�.-02A-()09�%&'()2-0�)51)�:1()�)&�0-66�0-.D,24-0�)5.&'+5�4&().14)0�41(�2A-()2C*�1.-10�2(�:5245�)5-�4&'()*�510�-F4-00�413142)*�&.�1(�-F20)D2(+�0).&(+�.-3')1)2&(�2(�0-.,24-�A-62,-.*9�TA-()2C*2(+�)5-0-�0-.,24-0�1(A�4&(02A-.2(+�5&:�)5-*�4&'6A�8-�3.24-A�C&.�1(�-F)-.(16�8'*-.�41(�5-63�4&'()2-0�8-�3.-31.-A�:5-(�4&().14)�&33&.)'(2D)2-0�1.20-9�Z12(0�C.&/�-CC242-(4*�/1*�160&�&44'.�:5-(�+&,-.(/-()0�&8)12(�0-.,24-0�)5.&'+5�4&().14)0�:2)5�&)5-.�+&,-.(/-()09�E&.�-F1/36-7�[1(410)-.�%&'()*7�;&')5�%1.&62(1W0�0&62A�:10)-�).1(0C-.�

\]̂̂_̀a�b̀c�def_̀a�ghèif�\]jk_l]m�injhean�gh̀ijblim�b̀c�ghho]jbi_k]�paj]]q]̀im



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%$&'(�)%*+,�%�(++,�$'�-%.+�-%/'0�+12&3-+($�&(4+#$-+($#5�6(#$+%,7�$8+�*'2($9�:'0.+,�'2$�%(�&($+0;'4+0(-+($%<�%;0++-+($�:&$8�$8+�*&$9�')�=%(*%#$+05�>8+�*&$9�+?3%(,+,�&$#�$0%(#)+0�#$%@$&'(�%(,�%,,+,�4+8&*<+#7�%(,�$8+�$:'�;'4+0(-+($#�(':�'3+0%$+�:&$8�'(+�#'<&,�:%#$+�$0%(#)+0�#&$+5�A+)'0+�-%.&(;�(+:�&(4+#$-+($#�&(�*%3&$%<�%##+$#�'0�#3+*&%<&B+,�3+0#'((+<7�*'2($&+#�#8'2<,�*'(#&,+0�:8+$8+0�$8+�#%-+�+?3+0$&#+�'0�+12&3-+($�*'2<,�C+�'C$%&(+,�$80'2;8�*''3+0%@$&'(�:&$8�%�(+&;8C'05D'2($&+#�%<#'�*'($0%*$�:&$8�'$8+0�;'4+0(-+($#�$'�'C$%&(�%�8&;8+0�#+04&*+�<+4+<�$8%(�$8+9�*%(�30'4&,+�'(�$8+&0�':(5�E&<3&(�D'2($97�D'<'0%,'�F3'32<%$&'(�G7HHIJ7�*'($0%*$#�)'0�32C<&*�8+%<$8�#+04&*+#�:&$8�K+))+0#'(�D'2($97�&$#�-2*8�<%0;+0�(+&;8C'0�F3'32<%$&'(�GLH7GHLJ5�K+))+0#'(�D'2($9�30'4&,+#�%�32C<&*�8+%<$8�*''0,&(%$'0�&(�E&<3&(�D'2($9�$'�-%(%;+�32C<&*�8+%<$8�#+04&*+#�%(,�)%*&<&$%$+�%**+##�$'�'$8+0�0+#'20*+#�&(�K+))+0#'(�D'2($95�M8%0+,�#$%))&(;�-',+<#�<&.+�$8&#�0+12&0+�30')+##&'(%<&#-�)0'-�$8+�#+04&*+@30'4&,&(;�-%(%;+0�%(,�'3+((+##�)0'-�$8+�*'($0%*$&(;�%;+(*95�>8+�-%(%;+0�)0'-�$8+�30'4&,&(;�%;+(*9�-2#$�C+*'-+�)%-&<&%0�:&$8�$8+�3+0#'((+<7�3'<&*&+#7�%(,�30'*+,20+#�')�%�,&))+0+($�;'4+0(-+($5�>8+�#+04&*+�30'4&,+0�-2#$�%<#'�C+�#+(#&$&4+�$'�0+3'0$&(;�<&(+#�$8%$�*'((+*$�$8+-�$'�$8+&0�8'-+�%;+(*9�%(,�$'�$8+�*'($0%*$�;'4+0(-+($5�E'4+0(-+($#�0+*+&4&(;�#+04&*+�-2#$�*0+%$+�%(�'3+(�%(,�)0&+(,<9�:'0.�+(4&0'(-+($7�$0+%$&(;�$8+�-%(%;+0�)0'-�$8+�'2$#&,+�%;+(*9�<&.+�%�-+-C+0�')�$8+�*'--2(&$9�%(,�&(*'03'0%$&(;�$8+-�&($'�$8+�'0;%(&B%$&'(5�D'2($9�N%(%;+0�O';+0�A%.+0�+?3<%&(#�:89�$8+�-',+<�8%#�C++(�#2**+##@)2<�&(�E&<3&(�D'2($95�PQ+�0+*';(&B+�$8%$�3+08%3#�:+R0+�('$�;'&(;�$'�;+$�$8+�<+4+<�')�&--+,&%$+�0+#3'(#+�$8%$�:+�-&;8$�<&.+�$'�;+$S�C2$�'(�$8+�'$8+0�8%(,7�:+�;+$�%�-2*8�;0+%$+0�<+4+<�')�+?3+0$&#+7�')�30')+##&'(%<�.(':<+,;+�%(,�#.&<<#�%(,�$+#$&(;�)%*&<&$&+#7�$8%(�:+�:'2<,�T'$8+0@:&#+U�8%4+5V�M'-+�;'4+0(-+($�'))&*&%<#�-&;8$�#89�%:%9�)0'-�:'0.&(;�:&$8�%�-2*8�<%0;+0�(+&;8C'07�C2$�E&<3&(�D'2($9�30'4&,+#�%(�+?*+<<+($�+?%-3<+�')�$8+�C+(+)&$#�$8%$�*%(�*'-+�)0'-�%(�&($+0<'*%<�%;0++-+($5='*%<�;'4+0(-+($#�-%9�%<#'�-+0;+�'0�*'(#'<&,%$+�)2(*$&'(#�'0�,+4+<'3�(+:�-',+<#�$'�30',2*+�%�#+04&*+�$';+$8+05�A+00&+(�D'2($97�N&*8&;%(7�<&.+�-%(9�'$8+0�W5M5�*'2($&+#7�8%#�-'4+,�$':%0,�%�*+($0%<&B+,�+-+0;+(*9�,&#3%$*8�#9#$+-5�6(�XYYG7�D'2($9�Z,-&(&#$0%$'0�A&<<�Q'<)�30'@3'#+,�-'4&(;�)0'-�#+4+0%<�#+3%0%$+�32C<&*�#%)+$9�%(#:+0&(;�3'&($#�F[MZ[#J�2(,+0�$8+�#8+0&))R#�,+3%0$-+($�$'�%�*'2($9@*+($0%<&B+,�+-+0;+(*9�,&#3%$*85�Q&$8�#233'0$�)0'-�$8+�*'2($9�C'%0,�')�*'--&##&'(+0#7�$8+�*'2($9�-'4+,�,&#3%$*8�#+04&*+#�%(,�&(4+#$+,�&(�%�(+:�\II�*%<<�*+($+0�:&$8�#2))&*&+($�*%3%*&$9�$'�%C#'0C�$80++�-2(&*&3%<&$&+#R�,&#3%$*8�0+#3'(#&C&<&$95�>8+�*'2($9�,&,�('$�2(,+0$%.+�%�-+0;+0�')�+?&#$&(;�,+3%0$-+($#7�C2$�$''.�'4+0�,&#3%$*8�0+#3'(#&C&<&$9�)0'-�-2(&*&3%<<9�'3+0%$+,�[MZ[#5�D'2($9�Z,-&(&#$0%$'0�Q'<)+�*0+,&$#�$8+�C'%0,�')�*'--&##&'(+0#�:&$8�C+&(;�%$$+($&4+�$'�)2$20+�+-+0;+(*9�,&#3%$*8�(++,#�&(�$8+�*'2($97�%(,�+(;%;&(;�&(�%�;0%,2%<�30'*+##�$'�&(4+#$�&(�)%*&<&$&+#�%(,�$+*8('<';9�$8%$�:'2<,�C+�%33+%<&(;�$'�<'*%<�-2(&*&@3%<&$&+#5�]+�+?3<%&(#7�PQ+�.(+:�$8%$�$8&#�:%#�$8+�0&;8$�$8&(;�$'�,'�)'0�32C<&*�#%)+$9�&(�A+00&+(�D'2($95�Q+�.(+:�$8+�)&(%(*&%<�*02(*8�:'2<,�*'-+�̂ �6$�:%#�%�PC2&<,�&$�%(,�$8+9�:&<<�*'-+V�*'(*+3$7�%(,�#20+�+('2;87�$8%$�&#�:8%$�8%33+(+,5V�N05�Q'<)+�+-38%#&B+#�$8%$�$8+�*'2($9�:%#�*%0+)2<�('$�$'�*0%)$�%�*'2($9�$%.+'4+07�%(,�&(#$+%,�:%&$+,�)'0�$8+�-2(&*&3%<&$&+#�$'�%330'%*8�$8+�*'2($9�:&$8�&(12&0&+#�%C'2$�30'4&,&(;�,&#3%$*8�#+04&*+5D'2($&+#�+($+0&(;�*'($0%*$�0+<%$&'(#8&3#�:&$8�'$8+0�;'4+0(-+($#7�:8+$8+0�%#�C29+0#�'0�#+<<+0#7�#8'2<,�.++3�$:'�*'(#&,+0%$&'(#�&(�-&(,5�_� àbcde�fgahi�jklmdaic�nop�cihh�cibqajic�dgbklrg�amdibhkjoh�orbiinimdc�kb�jkmdbojdce�nkcd�rkqibmnimdc�sk�mkd�lmsibdoti�orrbiccaqi�nobtidamr�jonuoarmc�dk�cihh�cibqajicv�N%(%;@+0#�%(,�+<+*$+,�')w*&%<#�-%9�-%.+�$8+&0�(+&;8C'0&(;�/20&#,&*$&'(#�%:%0+�')�+?*+##�*%3%*&$97�'0�$8+�3'##&C&<&$9�')�:'0.&(;�$';+$8+07�C2$�:+�.(':�')�4+09�)+:�&(#$%(*+#�&(�:8&*8�%;;0+#@#&4+�%$$+-3$#�%$�3+0#2%#&'(�:+0+�+-3<'9+,5�Z<<�3%0$&*&3%$&(;�;'4+0(-+($#�-2#$�)++<�*'-)'0$%C<+�:&$8�$8+�#+04&*+�*8%(;+5�>8&#�0+12&0+#�,&%<';2+�%(,�$8+�+?*8%(;+�')�&()'0-%@$&'(7�C2$�('$�:8%$�#'-+�*%<<�%�8%0,�#+<<5�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %�&'()*+,�()-*./'0�1-0.�-*+'20.3*+�.43.�0'55/*6�0'27/('0�2'8-/2'0�3�('2.3/*�5'7'5�)9�:';/</5=/.>�3*+�(-0.)1'2�0'27/('?�@ABCDEFG�HIGJ�KLMFNOK�EPQ�RDAAKOKPJ�MOKAKOKPCKG�JSK�MEOJDCDMEJDPT�TNUKOPHKPJG�SEUK�DP�SNV�GKOUDCK�DG�RKFDUKOKRW�NO�VSEJ�CNPGJDJIJKG�TNNR�GKOUDCKX�YA�TNUKOPZHKPJG�EOK�IPVDFFDPT�NO�IPE[FK�JN�ER\IGJ�GKOUDCKG�JSK�HKKJ�JSK�PKKRG�NA�JSKDO�CNPJOECJDPT�MEOJPKOGW�MKOSEMG�EP�DPJKOFNCEF�ETOKKHKPJ�DG�PNJ�JSK�ODTSJ�HNRK�NA�GKOUDCK�RKFDUKOQX



��

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
�����
������������������������������ ���!���"#$%�&'(%%)��*%+,-$.(#./-0�1234/5�6#42%�/-�7%8%($%�925./,-�:%(8/5%$�/-�;%-.�",2-.<=�>/5'/0#-?@ABCD�ECBFGHCE�HAI�JGFC�KLMNGOMC�JPFCBIKCINE�N@C�POOPBNLIGNQ�NP�OABNGHGOANC�GI�ICR�AID�GIIPSFANGFC�OBPTCHNEU�V�OLBH@AEGIJ�GIGNGANGFC�GI�WCIN�XPLINQY�ZGH@GJAIY�GE�AI�C[AKOMC�P\�A�E@ABCD�ECBFGHC�ABBAIJCKCIN�GIFPMFGIJ�AI�GIIPFANGPI�]Q�PIC�JPFCBIKCIN�N@AN�GE�KADC�AFAGMA]MC�NP�PN@CB�JPFCBIKCINE�PI�A�\MC[G]MC�]AEGEU�XPPOCBANGFC�OLBH@AEGIJ�AHNGFGNGCE�@AFC�AMRAQE�]CCI�FGCRCD�AE�A�RAQ�NP�BCDLHC�HPENÊ N@C�KPBC�P\�A�HPKKPDGNQ�OLBH@AECDY�N@C�MPRCB�N@C�OCBSLIGN�OBGHCU�_@GE�GE�GMMLENBANCD�]Q�RABC@PLEC�BCNAGMCB�POCBANGPIE�̀CUJUY�?AKaE�XML]�AID�XPENHPbU�cI�N@C�OL]MGH�ECHNPBY�ENANC�OBPHLBCKCIN�OBPJBAKE�@AFC�C[GENCD�\PB�DCHADCEU�VDKGIGENBANGFCMQY�@PRCFCBY�HPPOCBANGFC�OLBH@AEGIJ�@AE�]CCI�A�]LBDCI�\PB�MPHAM�LIGNE�P\�JPFCBIKCINY�CEOCHGAMMQ�EKAMMCB�PICE�N@AN�DP�IPN�@AFC�N@C�OCBEPIICM�PB�NCH@IPMPJQ�NP�KAdC�N@CEC�GIGNGANGFCE�RPBdU�_@C�HPIHCON�P\�TPGIN�OLBH@AEGIJ�C[GENCD�RCMM�]C\PBC�NCH@IPMPJQ�KADC�GN�A�KPBC�HPENSC\\CHNGFC�OBPOPEGNGPIU�_@C�OLBH@AEGIJ�DGFGEGPI�GI�WCIN�XPLINQY�ZGH@GJAIY�DCFCMPOCD�AI�PIMGIC�BCFCBEC�ALHNGPI�\PB�N@C�OLBH@AEC�P\�HPKKPDGNGCE�AID�ECBFGHCE�BCeLGBCD�]Q�N@C�HPLINQU�_@BPLJ@�A�BCAMSNGKC�]GDDGIJ�OBPHCEEY�A�MGEN�P\�OBCeLAMG\GCD�FCIDPBE�]GD�NP�ELOOMQ�A�JPPD�PB�ECBFGHCU�f_@GId�P\�GN�AE�CgAQYh�ENANCE�XPLINQ�VDKGIGENBANPBiXPINBPMMCB�jABQM�jCMA]]GPU�fgLN�GIENCAD�P\�]LQGIJ�EPKCN@GIJ�AN�A�HPINBAHN�OBGHCY�RC�ABC�]LQGIJ�GN�AN�N@C�MPRCEN�OPEEG]MC�OBGHC�AN�N@AN�OABNGHLMAB�NGKCUh�_@C�AOOMGSHANGPI�RAE�DCFCMPOCD�GIS@PLEC�]Q�HPLINQ�ENA\\�AID�GE�OABN�P\�N@C�HPLINQaE�ENAIDABD�POCBANGIJ�OLBH@AEGIJ�OBPHCDLBCEU�kPGIJ�PIC�ENCO�\LBN@CBY�N@C�BCFCBEC�ALHNGPI�@AE�]CCI�KADC�AFAGMA]MC�NP�AMM�HGNGCEY�FGMMAJCEY�AID�NPRIE@GOE�RGN@GI�N@C�HPLINQ�AID�NRP�OGMPN�OBPTCHNE�@AFC�]CCI�DCFCMSPOCD�RGN@�ICGJ@]PBGIJ�HPLINGCEU�VOOBP[GKANCMQ�lm�MPHAM�LIGNE�P\�JPFCBIKCIN�HLBBCINMQ�OABNGHGSOANC�GI�N@C�OBPJBAKU�gQ�KAdGIJ�N@C�BCFCBEC�ALHNGPI�ECBFGHC�AFAGMA]MC�NP�PN@CB�JPFCBIKCINEY�N@C�HPLINQ�@AE�C[OAIDCD�N@C�OPPM�P\�OLBH@AECBE�AID�N@C�AKPLIN�P\�JPPDE�OLBH@AECDY�R@GH@�@CMOE�MPRCB�HPKKPDGNQ�HPENE�AN�N@C�NGKC�P\�AI�ALHNGPIUf_@C�OBPHCEE�GE�HPKOMCNCMQ�CMCHNBPIGHY�\BPK�N@C�BCeLGEGNGPI�\PB�AI�GNCK�NP�GEELGIJ�N@C�OLBH@AEC�PBDCB�NP�OAQGIJ�N@C�]GMMYh�jCMA]]GP�EAQEU�n@CI�GNCKE�ABC�ICCDCDY�N@C�HPLINQ�CENA]MGE@CE�N@C�KA[GKLK�OBGHC�GN�RGMM�OAQY�LEGIJ�GNE�@GENPBGHAM�DANA]AEC�\BPK�OBCFGPLE�OLBH@AECEU�oAH@�HPLINQ�DCOABNKCINY�AMPIJ�RGN@�CFCBQ�OABNGHGOANGIJ�HGNQY�FGMMAJCY�AID�NPRIE@GOY�BCHCGFCE�AI�CSKAGM�IPNGS\GHANGPI�NP�DCNCBKGIC�GNE�GINCBCEN�GI�OABNGHGOANGIJ�GI�N@C�OLBH@AEC�P\�N@AN�OABNGHLMAB�HPKKPDSGNQU�pCeLCENE�ABC�AJJBCJANCD�NP�N@C�ILK]CB�BCeLGBCDY�AID�FCIDPBE�ABC�IPNG\GCD�P\�N@C�]GD�DANC�L̀ELAMMQ�A�PICS@PLB�NGKC�OCBGPD�RGN@�AN�MCAEN�PIC�RCCd�IPNG\GHANGPIbY�N@C�eLAINGNQ�P\�CAH@�GNCK�ICCDCDY�N@C�KA[GKLK�OBGHC�MGKGN�̀R@GH@�ECNE�N@C�]AB�\PB�N@C�]GDDCBE�NP�]GD�AJAGIENbY�AID�GNE�DCMGFCBQ�OPGINU�?GKGMABMQY�G\�A�HGNQY�FGMMAJCY�PB�NPRIE@GO�@AE�ICCD�\PB�A�HPKKPDGNQY�GN�HPINAHNE�N@C�HPLINQaE�OLBH@AEGIJ�DGFGEGPI�NP�ECC�G\�GN�GE�EPKCN@GIJ�N@AN�HAI�eLAMG\Q�LEGIJ�N@C�BCFCBEC�ALHNGPI�OBPHCEEU�c\�EPY�IPNG\GHANGPI�GE�ECIN�NP�AMM�OABNGHGOAINE�NP�DCNCBKGIC�G\�N@CQ�RAIN�NP�ADD�NP�N@C�BCeLGEGNGPIU�_@C�FCIDPB�ARABDE�N@C�HPINBAHN�]GMME�NP�CAH@�MPHAM�JPFCBIKCIN�DGBCHNMQY�AID�N@C�HPKKPDGNQ�GE�DCMGFCBCD�DGBCHNMQ�NP�N@AN�JPFCBIKCINAM�LIGNUXPINGILGIJ�OABNGHGOANGPI�GE�JCICBANCD�]Q�N@C�HGNGCEY�FGMMAJCEY�AID�NPRIE@GOE�P]NAGIGIJ�A�MPRCB�HPEN�\PB�CAH@�HPKKPDGNQ�AHeLGBCD�N@BPLJ@�N@C�EQENCKU�oIN@LEGAEK�AID�GIHBCAECD�OABNGHGOASNGPI�ABC�]LGMN�]CHALEC�OABNGCE�eLAING\Q�RGISRGI�PLNHPKCEU�jLBGIJ�GNE�\GBEN�\LMM�QCAB�P\�GKOMCSKCINANGPIY�WCIN�XPLINQ�BCAMGqCD�EAFGIJE�P\�rs�OCBHCIN�PI�PFCB�tr�KGMMGPI�GI�HPKKPDGNGCE�OLBH@AECDU�n@GMC�EAFGIJE�ABC�IP�MPIJCB�GI�N@C�DPL]MC�DGJGNE�]CHALEC�N@C�KA[GKLK�OBGHC�HPISNGILCE�NP�MPRCB�CAH@�QCABY�N@CBC�HPINGILC�NP�]C�HPIEGDCBA]MC�EAFGIJE�JCICBANCD�\PB�CAH@�MPHAM�LIGN�OABNGHGOANGIJ�GI�N@C�OBPHCEEU�XPPOCBANGFC�OLBH@AEGIJ�GIHBCAECE�N@C�eLAINGNQ�P\�A�HPKKPDSGNQ�]CGIJ�OLBH@AECDY�MCFCBAJGIJ�A�KPBC�HPKOCNGNGFC�OBGHCY�R@GH@�]CIC\GNE�CAH@�OABNGHGOAINU�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %&'()*+�,-+)�,..&/0�01&�*&2&*+&�,3.04)'�,+�,�/)0&'04,-�5,6�0)�4'.*&,+&�+,-&+�7&.,3+&�)8�01&�4'.*&,+&(�)//)*03'406�0)�+&--�0)�93-04/-&�3'40+�)8�:)2&*'9&'0;�<'�,((404)'=�2&'()*+�,//*&.4>,0&�01&�0*,'+/,*&'.6�)8�01&�/*).&++;�?14-&�01&6�()'@0�A')5�51)�01&6�,*&�.)9/&04':�,:,4'+0=�01&6�+&&�01&�74(+�4'�*&,-�049&�,'(�1,2&�,'�)//)*03'406�0)�*&(3.&�01&4*�74(+;�B30�3'-4A&�&B,6=�48�,�74(�.)9&+�4'�,0�01&�-,+0�94'30&=�01&�)'-4'&�74((4':�4+�&C0&'(&(�8)*�DE�,((404)',-�94'30&+;�?1&'�')�,.042406�)..3*+�8)*�DE�94'30&+�,80&*�01&�-,+0�74(�1,+�7&&'�+379400&(=�01&'�01&�74(>(4':�&'(+;F..)*(4':�0)�G&-,774)=�+)9&�-).,-�3'40+�5&*&�4'404,--6�+A&/04.,-�,7)30�01&�/*).&++;�H)�9404:,0&�014+=�/*&+&'0,04)'+�5&*&�9,(&�0)�-).,-�3'40+�I&401&*�4'�,�:*)3/�)*�4'(424(3,--6J;�F�)'&>/,:&�'&5+-&00&*�4+�(4+0*4730&(�0)�,--�/,*04.4/,'0+�+&2&*,-�049&+�(3*4':�01&�.)3*+&�)8�01&�6&,*=�,'(�01&�.)3'06�.)'2&'&+�,'�,''3,-�9&&04':�5401�,--�-).,-�3'40+�54014'�01&�.)3'06�I*&:,*(-&++�)8�51&01&*�01&6�/,*04.4/,0&�4'�01&�/*):*,9J�0)�3/(,0&�&2&*6)'&�)'�01&�+0,03+�)8�01&�*&2&*+&�,3.>04)'=�:,01&*�4'/30=�,'+5&*�K3&+04)'+=�,'(�05&,A�01&�/*).&++;

LMNOPQRS�TUVWR�MX�OYR�LQVNPQRZR[O�\V]]TUVQTOMV[�̂RU_T̀R�aVQ�OYR�QRWRQXR�TPNOMV[�XbXORZ�NQRTORS�Ub�cR[O�\VP[Obd�eMNYM̀T[f�gSSMOMV[T]�M[aVQZTOMV[�NT[�UR�aVP[S�V[]M[R�TO�YOO_Xhiî^̂ fQRWRQXRTPNOMV[UMSfVQ̀f�jVQ�ZVQR�M[aVQZTOMV[�V[�QRWRQXR�TPNOMV[Xd�XRR�kTWMS�lb]SmX�QR_VQO�TO�YOO_hiî^̂ fUPXM[RXXVàVWRQ[ZR[OfVQ̀iQR_VQOiQRWRQXRnTPNOMV[M[̀nXTWM[̀nZV[RbnT[SnM[NQRTXM[̀nOQT[X_TQR[Nbf



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���
#$%&�'$()*+�,()-&.�/(012-31-&�(445,5%*'�+(�&(�1'&%6*5'$�'&2(-/�'$%21+�'1205,1�21*%&5(-'$57'�%-+�'),,1''4)*�5-&12*(,%*�%/21131-&'8�9$1�21,(331-+%&5(-'�61*(:�'.-&$1'5;1�%+05,1�42(3�72%,&5&5(-12'�5-�&$1�451*+�%-+�:121�421<)1-&*.�2%5'1+�5-�()2�5-&12051:'�%-+�5-�&$1�')201.�21'7(-'1'�(4�,()-&.�(445,5%*'=>?@AABAC�@�DE@FGH�DGFIBJG�KLMNOOLPQRSTNP�UPLV�WXLRSL�R�YZRXLQ�YLX[TMLY�RYYLYYOLPS�SLRO\�]$%21+�'1205,1�72(̂1,&'�%-+�5-&12*(,%*�%/21131-&'�:5**�-(&�(,,)2�)-*1''�&$1.�%21�%,&501*.�7)2_')1+�6.�*(,%*�/(012-31-&'=�̀-1�%772(%,$�&(�'&%2&5-/�'$%21+�'1205,1�+5',)''5(-'�5'�&$1�1'&%6_*5'$31-&�(4�%�&1%3�(4�'&%44�%-+�,()-&.�/(012-31-&�*1%+12'�,$%2/1+�:5&$�5+1-&54.5-/�%21%'�4(2�,((712%&5(-=�a4&12�%�7125(+�(4�&1-'5(-�21*%&1+�&(�%--1b%_&5(-c�a)/)'&%�d()-&.c�e52/5-5%c�61/%-��+5',)''5(-'�%6()&�'$%21+�'1205,1'�%-+��,(**%6(2%&5(-�:5&$�*(,%*�3)-5,57%*5&51'=�a�/(012-%-,1�&1%3�:%'�4(231+c�,(-'5'&5-/�(4�7%2&5,57%-&'�42(3�&$1�,()-&.�%-+�,5&51'=�f13612'�(4�&$1�,(33)-5&.�:121�%*'(�5-0(*01+�5-�&$1�+5',)''5(-�&$2()/$�%�'71_,5%*�,(335&&11=�#5&$�&$1�$1*7�(4�1b&12-%*�4%,5*5&%&(2'�%-+�,(-')*&%-&'c�&$1�&1%3�5+1-_&5451+�%-�%,&5(-�7*%-�4(2�gh�+544121-&�'12_05,1'c�:$5,$�5-,*)+1+�,%214)*�214*1,&5(-�(-�1%,$�̂)25'+5,&5(-i'�'&21-/&$'�%-+�:1%j_-1''1'=�9$1�,(�(712%&501�'7525&�4('&121+�6.�&$1�:(2j�(4�&$1�/(012-%-,1�,(335&&11�21')*&1+�5-�(-/(5-/�+5%*(/)1�%3(-/�&$1�)̂25'+5,&5(-'=�#$1-�-11+'�%25'1�5-�&$1�,(33)-5&.c�&$1�1'&%6*5'$1+�7%&&12-'�(4�,(33)-5,%&5(-�%**(:�(445,5%*'�&(�,(-'5+12�,((712%&501�'(*)&5(-'�&(�72(6*13'=�d()-&.�a+35-5'&2%&(2�k%&25,j�d(4451*+�-(&1'�hl�+54_4121-&�%,,(37*5'$31-&'�21*%&1+�&(�&$5'�72(_,1''c�&$1�3('&�21,1-&�615-/�&$1�(71-5-/�(4�%�21/5(-%*�%-53%*�'$1*&12=�9$1�,()-&.�$%'�%*'(�3(01+�&(:%2+�)'5-/�%�21/5(-%*�%)&$(25&.�&(�3%-%/1�%�̂%5*=�mn%05-/�&$1�/(012-%-,1�&1%3�3%+1�5&�7(''56*1�4(2�%**�

oGJpqqGAH@rBpAs�tpF�>?@AABAC�@AH�uqv?GqGArBAC�DE@FGH�DGFIBJG�oG?@rBpAsEBvs�BA�wpxAry�zpIGFAqGAr
{U�|}~K���UK}��~�U�{���~K}���}K��W}���MMLYY��RMSNXY��NX��O��LOLPSTP���ZRXLQ��LX[TMLY�TP��N[LXPOLPS������������������������ �������¡��¢£����

9$1�217(2&�,%-�61�(6&%5-1+¤¥�¦§�̈©ª«�¬®̄°±²³́�«°̄µ²³�²³�³¶·�̧·§³·̄�¹·±º»³·¼�:::=6)'5-1''(4/(012-31-&=(2/½217(2&½'),,1''_4%,&(2'_537*131-&5-/_'$%21+_'1205,1'_/(012-31-&¥�¾¿�·Àµ²»Á»§Â�³¶·�̧·§³·̄�²³��6)'5-1''(4/(012-31-&Ã)'=563=,(3¥�¾¿�®²ÁÁ»§Â�³¶·�̧·§³·̄�²³�¬ÄÅÄ́�ÆÆÇÀÈÉÊÄ�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %&�'(�)%�*%+,�)%�)-,�)./0,�12)-%')�&,.3�%&�4%02)2*.0�1-240.(-5�6-,�7%8,39.9*,�:),.+;�.00%1,<�)-%(,�*%98,3(.)2%9(�)%�%**'35=�>?�29*0'<297�3,43,(,9).)28,(�%&�.00�4%),9)2.0�4.3)2*24.)297�7%8,39@+,9)(�.9<�,8,9�3,43,(,9).)28,(�%&�)-,�4'/02*A�.9<�/?�*%9<'*)297�4'/02*�<,02/,3.)2%9(A�)3.9(@4.3,9*?�*.9�+2)27.),�&,.3(�.((%*2.),<�12)-�*-.97297�0%*.0�(,382*,�<,028,3?5B2.0%7',�.9<�*%++'92*.)2%9�+'()�/,�('().29,<�.&),3�(-.3,<�(,382*,�43%C,*)(�.9<�29),30%*.0�.73,,+,9)(�.3,�292)2.),<5�6%%�%&),9A�0%*.0�7%8,39+,9)(�<,*0.3,�('**,((�.9<�(,)�*%%4,3.)28,�43%C,*)(�%9�.')%420%)5�D(�4,3(%99,0�*-.97,�%8,3�)2+,�.9<�<%*'+,9)(�.9<�3,*%3<(�.3,�()%3,<�%3�0%()A�)-,�29&%3+.0�-2()%3?�.9<�29),9)�.((%*2.),<�12)-�.�*%%4,3.)28,�,&&%3)�&.<,5�E%3,�)-.9�%9,�*%'9)?�%&&2*2.0�29),382,1,<�&%3�)-2(�3,4%3)�<,(*32/,(�.�43%*,((�%&�3,*%9()3'*)297�)-,�-2()%3?�%&�.�0%97@().9<297�(-.3,<�(,382*,�43%C,*)�)-.)�3,F'23,<�'4<.)297�.9<�3,82(2%95�G')'3,�+.9.7,3(�.9<�4%02*?@+.H,3(�*.9�/,�(.8,<�<2&&2*'0)?�2&�7%8,39+,9)(�*3,.),�)-,�-./2)�%&�3,7'0.3�<2.0%7',�%8,3�,.*-�(-.3,<�(,382*,�3,0.)2%9(-245�I%'9)2,(�)-.)�.73,,�)%�(4,*2&2*�7%.0(�&%3�(-.3,<�(,382*,(�.9<�*3,.),�+,.('3,(�)%�.((,((�4,3&%3+.9*,�*.9�(,)�3,7'0.3�29),38.0(�)%�).0H�./%')�)-,�4,3&%3+.9*,�%&�)-,�4.3)9,3(-245�J.*H297�<.).A�7%8,39+,9)�+.9.7,3(�.9<�,0,*),<�%&&2*2.0(�(-%'0<�()200�).0H�12)-�4.3)9,3(�./%')�)-,�(,382*,�.9<�./%')�)-,�F'.02)?�%&�29),3.*)2%9�.+%97�)-,�4.3)2*24.)297�7%8,39+,9)(5�K,7'0.3�*%++'92*.)2%9�1200�H,,4�4.3)9,3(-24(�%9�)3.*HA�+2)27.),�('3432(,(A�.9<�*%9)32/'),�)%�+%3,�<'3./0,�*%%4,3.)28,�,&&%3)(5I%'9)?�%&&2*2.0(�().3)297�.�(-.3,<�(,382*,�292)2.)28,�(-%'0<�).H,�)-,�&%00%1297�(),4(�.)�)-,�/,7299297LM�N&�)-,�4.3)2*24.)297�7%8,39+,9)(�.3,�(H,4)2*.0�./%')�(-.3,<�(,382*,(A�2<,9)2&?�.�9,')3.0�&.*202).)%3�)%�-,04�().3)�)-,�<2(*'((2%95M�N<,9)2&?�7%.0(�3,0.),<�)%�(,382*,�<,028,3?�)-.)�4%),9)2.0�4.3)9,3(�+27-)�(-.3,A�.9<�'(,�)-2(�.(�*%++%9�73%'9<�)%�).0H�./%')�+%<,0(�&%3�(-.3,<�(,382*,�<,028,3?5M�>'20<�),.+(�)%�<2(*'((�(-.3,<�(,382*,�%44%3)'92)2,(�)-.)�298%08,�*%'9)?�0,.<,3(�.9<�(,382*,@0,8,0�().&&�&3%+�.00�4%),9)2.0�4.3)9,3297�7%8,39+,9)(5M�O0.9�)%�*%9)29',�<2(*'((2%9(�./%')�)-,�3,0.)2%9(-24A�,8,9�.&),3�.�(-.3,<�(,382*,�43%C,*)�2(�2+40,+,9),<5M�K,+,+/,3A�*%9*0'<297�)-.)�.�(-.3,<�(,382*,�2<,.�1200�9%)�1%3H�2(�.**,4)./0,A�/')�&.20'3,�)%�3,.*-�.73,,+,9)�29�%9,�.3,.�(-%'0<�9%)�29-2/2)�<2(*'((2%9(�./%')�(-.3297�%)-,3�(,382*,(5PQRSTTQUVWXYSU�Z[S\�]QQ̂�X_Q�̀XaQUbX_̀�YU�QWR_�cWaXYRYcWXYUb�bSdQaUTQUXe�f-.3297�.9<�*%9)3.*)297�(,382*,(�12)-�%)-,3�0%*.0�7%8,39+,9)(�3,F'23,(�*%'9)2,(�)%�+.H,�-%9@,()�.((,((+,9)(�%&�)-,23�()3,97)-(�.9<�1,.H9,((,(5�g%)�.00�*%'9)?�(,382*,(�.3,�1,00�('2),<�&%3�(,00297�)%�%)-,3�7%8,39+,9)(�)-3%'7-�*%9)3.*)5�I%'9)2,(�+'()�*.3,&'00?�2<,9)2&?�1-2*-�(,382*,(�)-,?�*.9�43%82<,�)-3%'7-�*%9)3.*)�3,0.)2%9(-24(5�E,*%().�I%'9)?A�E2*-27.9A�I%9)3%00,3hD<+292()3.)%3�O.'0�>'00%*H�.<82(,(A�iJ%%H�&%3�*%++%9.02)2,(5�J%%H�&%3�)-297(�)-.)�+%3,�)-.9�%9,�0%*.0�'92)�+27-)�/,�<%297�)-.)�?%'�-.8,�(%+,�,j4,3)2(,�29�k�J%%H�.)�1-.)�?%'�<%�1,00�.9<�(,,�1-,3,�)-.)�1%'0<�+,(-�12)-�(%+,)-297�)-.)�)-,�*%+4%9,9)�'92)(�.3,�<%2975=�E35�>'00%*H�.0(%�.<82(,(�,j40%3297�)-,�(.+,�*%++%9.02)2,(�.9<�()3,97)-(�12)-�9,27-/%3297�*%'9@)2,(5�l2(�*%'9)?�-.(�1%3H,<�12)-�)-,�I2)?�%&�>27�K.42<(�%9�29&%3+.)2%9�),*-9%0%7?�43%C,*)(�.9<�12)-�.�9,27-/%3297�*%'9)?�%9�,+,37,9*?�<2(4.)*-�(,382*,(5m-,9�)-,�4%((2/202)?�%&�*%%4,3.)2%9�,+,37,(A�*%'9)2,(�(-%'0<�.0(%�*%9(2<,3�)-,�4%((2/202)?�)-.)�.9%)-,3�7%8,39+,9)�+.?�/,�29�.�/,)),3�4%(2)2%9�)%�43%82<,�)-,�(,382*,5�i6-,�/277,()�%/().*0,�)-.)�(,,+(�)%�.&&,*)�,8,3?)-297�)-.)�*%+,(�'4�2(�)'3&�.9<�)-,�&,.3�%&�728297�'4�*%9)3%0�.9<�)3'()297�)-.)�(%+,%9,�,0(,�*.9�<%�C'()�.(�7%%<�%&�.�C%/A�%3�.�/,)),3�C%/A�)-.9�?%'�1,3,�<%297A=�,j40.29(�n,3(-.1�I%'9)?�D<+292()3.)%3�o2*)%3�I.34,9),35�6%�+%8,�4.()�)-,�)'3&A�.37',(�I.34,9),3A�7%8,39+,9)(�+'()�.73,,�)%�%4,90?�*%9(2<,3�.00�%&�)-,�%4)2%9(�&%3�(,382*,�<,028,3?5�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%&$'()*�+,-)./,�#,$-01�#0-&(20345.'�6*%7�89�:).�;0'�',0�;)&0-*$*20�<(/,'�=>�?@�ABCDEF�GBHFIC�JKCLM�=NCFO�BFP�QIBDLFR�SNTTIOO�KBTDLCO�ULC�VMWXIMIFDEFH�SYBCIP�SICZETIO�EF�?LZICFMIFD[\]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efb�]̂_ga_hb�ĝ�a_]ibecb�d̂i�̀ ĉg�jhca_bcc�kî]bccbcl�mb]ehcb�̂d�gnb�obcaib�d̂i�b]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efbp�qneg�qec�kibrâhcfs�ô_b�a_gbi_effs�qagna_�e_�̂kbiega_t�h_ag�jb]̂ b̀c�e�cbira]b�ĝ�jb�kîraobo�bagnbi�js�ĉ b̀̂_b�bfcb�a_�gnb�feitbi�̂ite_auegâ_�̂i�js�e�]̂_gie]ĝil�v_�e�obcaib�ĝ�e]nabrb�b]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efbp�qneg�qec�h_obi�e_�̂ite�_auegâ_wc�oaib]g�]̂_gîf�jb]̂ b̀c�e�cbira]b�dî̀ �ĉ b̀̂_b�q̂ixa_t�d̂i�ĉ b̀̂_b�bfcbl�ynhcp�gnb�̀e_etb̀ b_g�kîjfb̀ �d̂�̂hi�gàb�ac�n̂q�ĝ�]ekghib�gnb�jb_bdagc�̂d�gnbcb�b]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efb�a_�e�qes�gneg�b_chibc�t̂ ô�]hcĝ̀ bi�cbira]bl�ynac�ac�_̂g�ec�càkfb�ec�ag�̀atng�f̂̂ xl�\eifabi�qerbc�̂d�]̂_ĉfaoegâ_�]ekghibo�cera_tcp�jhg�ĉ b̀gàbc�eg�gnb�kia]b�̂d�h_nekks�]hcĝ̀ bicl�ynbs�̀atng�da_o�ag�neiobi�ĝ�ô�gnbai�ẑjp�de]b�a_]ibecbo�]̂cgc�a_�̂gnbi�eibecp�̂i�_bbo�ĝ�]ibegb�{]hdd|�e]]̂h_gc�d̂i�dbeghibc�_̂g�ereafejfb�dî̀ �gnb�]b_gief�cscgb̀ l�}b]ne_ac̀ c�d̂i�eooibcca_t�]hcĝ̀ bi�cegacde]gâ_�qbib�̂dgb_�eo�n̂]p�e_o�]̂ k̀fea_gc�ĉ b̀gàbc�t̂g�cn̂ig�cniadg�dî̀ �gnb�̀ _̂̂k̂fs�kîraobil�vg�gexbc�chcgea_bo�b~b]hgarb�fbeobicnak�e_o�e_�eggb_gâ_�ĝ�]ne_tb�̀e_etb̀ b_g�ĝ�]̂_rbig�ĝ�e�cneibo�cbira]bc�ekkîe]nl��neibo�cbira]bc�ac�gnb�ekkîe]n�oac]hccbo�a_�gnac�ibk̂ig�ĝ�e]nabrb�obcaibo�b]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efbl�ynb�nacĝis�̂d�]̂_ĉfaoegâ_�̀exbc�cneibo�cbira]bc�e�neiobi�cbff�gne_�ag�̀atng�̂gnbiqacb�jbp�jhg�ag�efĉ�b~kfea_c�qns�cneibo�cbira]bc�ac�e_�àkîrb�b̀_g�̂rbi�beifabi�îh_oc�eàbo�eg�e]]̂ k̀facna_t�b]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efbl��neibo�cbira]bc�nec�gnb�k̂gb_gaef�ĝ�ĉfrb�gnb�kîjfb̀ �̂d�tbgga_t�e_�bdda]ab_g�b]̂_̂ à]�ĉfh�gâ_�e_o�efĉ�àkîr�a_t�]hcĝ̀ bi�cegacde]gâ_l�ynb�xbs�ĝ�e]nabra_t�ĵgn�b]̂_̂ àbc�̂d�c]efb�e_o�]hcĝ̀ bi�cegacde]gâ_�ac�ĝ�tbg�gnb�t̂rbi_e_]b�iatngl�ynb�iatng�t̂rbi_e_]b�cgiegbts�fa_xc�e_�bdda]ab_g�kîraobi�ĝ�e�ibck̂_cajfb�hcbil��_�ekkîkiaegb�t̂rbi_e_]b�cgiegbts�khgc�a_�kfe]b�e�diè bq̂ix�qagn�̀bgia]c�e_o�jb_]ǹ eixc�a_�qna]n�gnb�kîraobi�e_o�hcbi�be]n�nec�e]]̂h_g�ejafags�e_o�gnbib�ac�e�̀be_c�ĝ�ibĉfrb�kîjfb̀ cl��l����������������������������������������������������ynb�cbira]b�kîraobi�̀hcg�jb�e]]̂h_g�ejfb�d̂i�obfarbia_t�e�ob�_bo��hefags�̂d�cbira]b�d̂i�e�ckb]a�]�]̂cgl�ynbib�̀hcg�jb�e�fa_x�jbgqbb_�gneg�]̂cg�e_o�hcbi�cegacde]gâ_l�ynac�]e_�jb�ô_b�gnîhtn�dbb�d̂i�cbira]b�eiie_tb�b̀_gc�gneg�b̀ hfegb�gnb�dibb�̀eixbg�̂i�ĉ b̀�̂gnbi�̀b]ne_ac̀ p�jhg�gnb�̂ite_auegâ_�̀hcg�jb�ejfb�ĝ�gieob�̂dd�refhb�d̂i�]̂cgl��l���������������������������ynac�fa_x�̀hcg�jb�ib�b]gbo�a_�etibb̀ b_gc�jbgqbb_�kîraobic�e_o�hcbicl�ynbcb�etibb�̀b_gc�̀hcg�àk̂cb�ib�haib̀ b_gc�̂_�hcbic�ec�qbff�ec�chkkfabicl�ynb�cbira]b�kîraobi�_bboc�ĝ�jb�e]]̂h_gejfbp�jhg�ĉ�ôbc�gnb�hcbil�ynb�kîraobi�̀es�jb�e]]̂h_gejfb�d̂i�e�kia]b�e_o�cbira]b��hefagsp�jhg�gnb�hcbi�_bboc�ĝ�jb�e]]̂h_gejfb�d̂i�hca_t�gnb�cbira]b�ekkîkiaegbfs��d̂i�b~è kfbp�]̂_rbsa_t�e�ib�haib̀ b_g�gneg�ac�ob�_bo�qbff�b_̂htn�ĝ�jb�̀bg�l��l����������vg�ac�àk̂ige_g�ĝ�jb�ejfb�ĝ��he_gads�eg�fbecg�ĉ b̀�̂d�qneg�gnb�̂ite_auegâ_�ac�tbgga_t�gnîhtn�e�cneibo�cbira]bl��ĝisgbffa_t�ac�_̂g�chd�]ab_gl��he_ga�]egâ_�cn̂hfo�a_r̂frb�`̂ ib�gne_�zhcg�gnb�oaib]g�]̂cgc�̂d�e�cbira]bp�gn̂htn�gnac�̀es�jb�gnb�becabcg�ĝ�̀bechibl��hefags�̀eggbicp�ĝ̂ l��a_]b�_̂g�brbisgna_t�]e_�jb��he_ga�bop�gnbib�̀es�jb�e�_bbo�d̂i��hefagegarb�̀bechibc�ec�qbffl�}e_etbic�efĉ�_bbo�ĝ�jb�kibkeibo�ĝ�hkoegb�̀bgia]c�ec�gnbs�tea_�b~kbiab_]b�qagn�gnb�cbira]bl�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %&�'()*+,-.�/*,012-+345�6789:7;�<89�87=�>8?@AB=C�D8�EF=CD�:7�>GACCH�C8GID:87C�:C�:?@8BDA7D�A7J�9:GG�@8:7D�D8�9<=B=�KIBD<=B�:?@B8L=?=7DC�>A7�F=�?AJ=&�M=7><?ABN:7;�A;A:7CD�EF=CD�:7�>GACCH�@B8L:J=BC�:C�F=DD=B�D<A7�J=@=7J:7;�87�@B8L:J=BC�D8�=O@GA:7�<89�;88J�D<=P�AB=&�QD�:C�AGC8�:?@8BDA7D�D8�I7J=BCDA7J�D<=�B=AC87C�K8B�J:KK=B=7>=C&�R&�S44T*�+*4U.T)VU,�W+-2*XU+35�Y<=B=�7==JC�D8�F=�A�DBICD=J�?=><A7:C?�K8B�BA:C:7;�A7J�B=C8GL:7;�D<=�:7=L:DAFG=�:CCI=C�D<AD�9:GG�AB:C=&�QJ=AGGPZ�A7�AID<8B:DP�AF8L=�F8D<�D<=�@B8L:J=B�8K�D<=�C=BL:>=�A7J�D<=�IC=BC�9:GG�8L=BC==�D<:C�@B8>=CC&�[&�\,�U])V2V̂*_�41-+*_�/T4V,*44�]+U0*445�̀=C@:D=�D<=�?A7P�CI>>=CCKIG�=OA?@G=C�:7�D<=�@B:LAD=�C=>D8BZ�78D�=L=BP�FIC:7=CC�@B8>=CC�G=7JC�:DC=GK�D8�A�C<AB=J�C=BL:>=&�a7�=KK=>D:L=�@B8>=CC�9:GG�<AL=�=>878?:=C�8K�C>AG=�D<AD�AB=�GAB;=B�D<A7�>A7�F=�>A@DIB=J�FP�D<=�8B;A7:bAcD:87C�IC:7;�D<=�C=BL:>=&�QD�9:GG�IC=�A�C=D�8K�FIC:7=CC�BIG=C�D<AD�98BN�9=GG�K8B�D<=C=�8B;A7:bAcD:87C�J=C@:D=�AB;I?=7DC�C8?=�?AP�?AN=�K8B�<AL:7;�I7:dI=�7==JC&�QD�9:GG�@B8FAFGP�FG=7J�:7K8B?AD:87�D=><78G8;P�A7J�C@=>:AG:CDC�:7�CDA7JABJ:b=J�e8FC�K8GG89:7;�A�CDA7JABJ�@B8>=CC�K8B�?8CD�DBA7CA>D:87C&�fg�hijklm�niompj�9AC�@B=L:8ICGP�q=7:8B�r=GG89Z�QMs�t=7D=B�K8B�Y<=�MIC:7=CC�8K�u8L=B7?=7DZ�A7J�aCC8>:AD=�vABD7=BZ�QMs�uG8FAG�MIC:7=CC�q=BL:>=C&�Y<:C�?AP�B=dI:B=�>8I7DP�;8L=B7?=7DC�D8�;:L=�I@�>87DB8G�8K�A�C=BL:>=�D8�8D<=B�;8L=B7?=7DC&�QK�A78D<=B�I7:D�8K�;8L=B7?=7D�:C�G=AJ:7;�A�C<AB=J�C=BL:>=�:7:D:AD:L=Z�D<=�>8I7DP�;8L=B7?=7D�?AP�7==J�D8�CIFB8;AD=�:DC�B8G=Z�><=>N:7;�=;8�A7J�A�J=C:B=�K8B�>87DB8G�K8B�D<=�;88J�8K�D<=�9<8G=�D8�CI>>==J&w@@8BDI7:D:=C�K8B�C<AB=J�C=BL:>=C�?AP�>8?=�AF8ID�JIB:7;�D:?=C�8K�@=BC877=G�><A7;=�CI><�AC�B=D:B=?=7DC�8B�J=@ABDIB=C&�r8B�=OA?@G=Z�aB><IG=DA�t8I7DPZ�t8G8BAJ8Z�F=;A7�@B8L:J:7;�FI:GJ:7;�:7C@=>D:87�C=BL:>=C�K8B�A7�:7D=B:?�@=B:8J�D8�D<=�D897�8K�vA;8CA�q@B:7;C�9<=7�D<AD�D897xC�FI:GJ:7;�:7C@=>D8B�J=@ABD=J&�t8I7DP�aJ?:7:CDBAD8B�uB=;�q><IGD=�=O@GA:7CZ�EQ7�A7�=BA�8K�=L=BcJ9:7JG:7;�B=C8IB>=CZ�P8I�<AL=�D8�G88N�K8B�=KK:>:=7>:=C&�r8B�D<=�AL=BA;=�>:D:b=7Z�D<=P�J8�78D�>AB=�:K�:D�:C�A�FI:GJ:7;�:7C@=>D8B�KB8?�D<=�D897�8B�KB8?�D<=�>8I7DP&�Y<=P�eICD�9A7D�D<=�FI:GJ:7;�:7C@=>D8B�D8�>8?=�8IDZ�J8�D<=�:7C@=>D:87Z�A7J�;:L=�D<=?�D<=:B�@=B?:DC&H�vIFG:>�?A7A;=BC�C<8IGJ�F=�ADD=7D:L=�D8�@=BC877=G�><A7;=�78D�87GP�:7�D<=:B�897�;8L=B7?=7DZ�FID�AGC8�:7�7=:;<cF8B:7;�eIB:CJ:>D:87C&�qDAKK�DBA7C:D:87C�?AP�<:;<G:;<D�7=9�8@@8BDI7:D:=C�D8�C<AB=�C=BL:>=CZ�IC=�=O:CD:7;�@=BC877=G�?8B=�=KK:>:=7DGPZ�A7J�@B=L=7D�D<=�7==J�K8B�<:B:7;�A7J�DBA:7:7;�7=9�CDAKK&y<=7�;8L=B7?=7DC�<AL=�>8?@G=?=7DABP�CDB=7;D<C�A7J�7==JCZ�8@@8BDI7:D:=C�K8B�C9A@@:7;�C=BcL:>=C�C<8IGJ�F=�>87C:J=B=J&�zA>:7=�t8I7DPZ�y:C>87C:7Z�@B8L:J=J�>=BDA:7�>8I7DP�C=BL:>=C�AD�A�CAD=GG:D=�8KK:>=�8IDC:J=�D<=�>8I7DP�C=AD&�y:D<�B=JI>D:87C�:7�CDAD=�A:JZ�@B8L:J:7;�C=BL:>=�AD�D<AD�G8>AD:87�9AC�78�G87;=B�K=AC:FG=&�Y<B8I;<�J:C>ICC:87C�9:D<�D<=�>:DP�8K�MIBG:7;D87Z�D<=�>8I7DP�J=L=G8@=J�A7�ABBA7;=?=7D�D8�@B8L:J=�D<=�>:DP�9:D<�=:;<D�<8IBC�8K�<I?A7�B=C8IB>=�AJ?:7:CDBAcD:L=�C=BL:>=C�=A><�9==N&�Q7�DIB7Z�MIBG:7;D87�>:DP�CDAKK�AB=�IC=J�D8�@B8L:J=�A>>=CC�D8�>8I7DP�C=BcL:>=C�:7>GIJ:7;�?ABB:A;=Z�F:BD<�A7J�J=AD<�>=BD:K:>AD=CZ�A7J�DAO�>8GG=>D:87&�Y<:C�AGG89C�D<=�>8I7DP�D8�>87D:7I=�?AN:7;�D<=C=�C=BL:>=C�A>>=CC:FG=�D8�B=C:J=7DC�AD�A�G8>AD:87�8IDC:J=�D<=�>8I7DP�C=AD�9<:G=�AGC8�=G:?:7AD:7;�D<=�>8CD�8K�8@=BAD:7;�D<=�CAD=GG:D=�8KK:>=&�EQDxC�B=AGGP�J:KK:>IGD�D8�?AN=�D<=�AB;I?=7D�A;A:7CD�:D�F=>AIC=�:D�?AN=C�C=7C=ZH�=O@GA:7C�t8I7DP�{O=>ID:L=�|A?=C�}AJ9:;&�sB&�}AJ9:;�AJL:C=C�D<AD�>8I7DP�G=AJ=BC�C<8IGJ�78D�F=�AKBA:J�D8�;:L=�I@�C8?=�>87DB8G&�EQ�B=AGGPZ�DBIGP�F=G:=L=�D<AD�8IB�>87CD:DI=7DC�J8�78D�>AB=�9<=D<=B�:D�:C�A�>8I7DP�=?@G8P==�;:L:7;�D<=?�D<=:B�F:BD<�>=BD:K:>AD=�8B�A�t:DP�8K�MIBG:7;D87�=?@G8P==&�Y<=P�eICD�9A7D�D<AD�C=BL:>=Z�A7J�



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%&�'()#�*#�(#�(�+,*-%�#$%&�-()�(../,012�3)�4567�-/5)#*%4�4$/580�9%�$/)%4#�(9/5#�#$%*,�4#,%):#$4�()0�'%(;)%44%4�*)�4%,<*-%�0%8*<%,&7�()0�9%�(##%)#*<%�#/�/++/,#5)*#*%4�./,�*))/<(#*/)�()0�)%'�6/0%84�./,�4%,<*-%�0%8*<%,&1=/�*0%)#*.&�4#,%):#$4�()0�+/#%)#*(8�4%,<*-%4�#/�#(,:%#�./,�4$(,%0�4%,<*-%�+,/>%-#47�-/5)#&�8%(0%,4�4$/580?�@�30%)#*.&�(,%(4�*)�'$*-$�#$%�-/5)#&�$(4�%A#,(�4%,<*-%�-(+(-*#&�/,�4#(..�#*6%1�B4*):�%A#,(�-(+(-*#&�#/�4%88�4%,<*-%�#/�/#$%,�:/<%,)6%)#4�6(&�$%8+�(�-/5)#&�:%)%,(#%�,%<%)5%7�%),*-$�%6+8/&%%�'/,;7�()0�+,%<%)#�8(&/..4�/,�4#(..�,%(88/-(#*/)41@�C%./,%�$*,*):�)%'�%6+8/&%%4�#/�D88�)*-$%�)%%047�/,�*)<%4#*):�*)�4+%-*(8*E%0�%F5*+6%)#�#$(#�'*88�,%-%*<%�8*6*#%0�54%7�0%#%,6*)%�*.�/#$%,�8/-(8�:/<%,)6%)#4�*)�#$%�,%:*/)�$(<%�%A-%44�-(+(-*#&�#$(#�#$%&�-/580�4%88�/,�4$(,%1@�B4%�+%,4/))%8�#5,)/<%,�(4�()�/++/,#5)*#&�#/�,%#$*);�$/'�4%,<*-%4�(,%�6()(:%0�*)�#$%�-/5)#&1�G/)4*0%,�4%88*):�/,�4$(,*):�#$%�(06*)*4#,(#*<%�/<%,4*:$#�/.�4%,<*-%4�'$%)�4#(..�-$():%4�/--5,1@�3.�8/-(8�:/<%,)6%)#4�$(<%�4#,%):#$4�*)�0*..%,%)#�(,%(47�-/5)#*%4�6*:$#�4'(+�/,�%A-$():%�4%,<*-%47�,(#$%,�#$()�0%<%8/+*):�(�.%%�./,�4%,<*-%�-/)#,(-#1HIJKLLIMNOPQKM�RSTIIU�VKMWQNIT�XQYKP�XTKZIJPW[�\(#,*-;�G/..*%807�-/5)#&�(06*)*4#,(#/,�*)�]5:54#(�G/5)#&7�̂*,:*)*(7�(0<*4%47�_̀//;�(#�#$%�8/'a$():*):�.,5*#1�̀//;�(#�#$%�#$*):4�#$(#�(,%�+/44*98%�()0�.%(4*98%7�)/�6(##%,�$/'�46(88�#$%&�(,%7�()0�95*80�5+�#$%�#,54#7�#$%�-/).*0%)-%7�()0�#$%�'/,;�,%8(#*/)4$*+4�9%#'%%)�+%/+8%12�=$*4�(0<*-%�*4�%-$/%0�9&�/#$%,�-/5)#&�/..*-*(847�()0�45++/,#%0�9&�/5,�,%4%(,-$1�b6(88�45--%44%4�*)�-//+%,(#*/)�+,/<*0%�(�./5)0(#*/)�./,�/):/*):�,%8(#*/)4$*+41�G/5)#*%4�4$/580�9%�'*88*):�#/�%):(:%�*)�-//+%,(#*<%�+*8/#�+,/>%-#47�%<%)�*.�8/):a#%,6�-/88(9/,(#*/)�*4�)/#�:5(,()#%%01�G//+%,(#*<%�,%8(#*/)4$*+4�4/6%#*6%4�9%:*)�9%-(54%�(�:/<%,)6%)#�$(4�(�4500%)�)%%0�./,�(06*)*4#,(#*<%�-(+(-*#&7�%*#$%,�05%�#/�#$%�0%+(,#5,%�/.�+%,4/))%8�/,�#$%�)%%0�./,�4+%-*(8*E%0�%F5*+6%)#1�b$/,#a#%,6�4$(,%0�4%,<*-%�()0�+*8/#�+,/>%-#4�+,/<*0%�:/<%,)6%)#4�'*#$�()�/++/,#5a)*#&�#/�#%4#�#$%�'(#%,4�()0�(44%44�'$(#�(�'/,;*):�,%8(#*/)4$*+�'*#$�(�)%*:$9/,�6*:$#�+,/<*0%1�3.�#$%4%�+,/>%-#4�(,%�45--%44.587�#$%�:(*)4�.,/6�-//+%,(#*/)�6(&�9%�,%+/,#%0�#/�+/8*-&a6(;%,4�()0�#$%�+598*-�#/�:(*)�8%%'(&�./,�()�%A+()4*/)�/.�#$%�+,/>%-#�/,�6/,%�%A#%)4*<%�4$(,%0�4%,<*-%�0%8*<%,&1�3.�()&�+(,#*-58(,�+,/>%-#�,%458#4�*)�.(*85,%7�(:,%%6%)#4�-()�9%�4#,5-#5,%0�4/�#$(#�#$%�-/4#4�/.�.(*85,%�(,%�8/'1�]#�#$%�<%,&�8%(4#7�/..*-*(84�.,/6�0*..%,%)#�>5,*40*-#*/)4�:(*)�%A+%,*%)-%�'/,;*):�#/:%#$%,7�*6+,/<*):�#$%�:%)%,(8�#/)%�./,�-//+%,(#*/)�*)�#$%�-/5)#&1b%<%,(8�/.�#$%�%A(6+8%4�54%0�$%,%7�*)-850*):�+(,;4�()0�,%-,%(#*/)�4%,<*-%4�*)�\(4F5(#();�G/5)#&�()0�%-/)/6*-�0%<%8/+6%)#�+8())*):�*)�b()�c*:5%8�G/5)#&7�'%,%�%</85#*/)4�/.�%(,8*%,�-//+%,(#*<%�%../,#41�G/5)#&�:/<%,)6%)#4�#$(#�6(*)#(*)�()�*)<%)#/,&�/.�-//+%,(#*<%�4%,<*-%47�()0�-/5)#*%4�#$(#�6(*)#(*)�,%:58(,�0*(8/:5%�'*#$�#$%*,�+(,#)%,47�(,%�*)�(�4#,/):�+/4*#*/)�#/�%A+()0�%A*4#*):�+,/>%-#47�/,�/9#(*)�,%4/5,-%4�/,�4%,<*-%�*6+,/<%6%)#4�#$(#�6*:$#�)/#�9%�(--%4a4*98%�*.�#$%&�(-#%0�(8/)%1�G/5)#&�8%(0%,4�4$/580�6(*)#(*)�()�/+%)�6*)0�(9/5#�%A+()0*):�%A*4#a*):�4$(,%0�4%,<*-%4�()0�-//+%,(#*<%�,%8(#*/)4$*+41d$%)�-/)4*0%,*):�+*8/#�+,/>%-#47�-/5)#&�6()(:%,4�4$/580?�@�G/)05-#�()�*)<%)#/,&�/.�%A*4#*):�-//+%,(#*/)�'*#$�/#$%,�8/-(8�:/<%,)6%)#4�#/�*0%)#*.&�(,%(4�*)�'$*-$�#$%�-/5)#&�-()�95*80�)%'�4$(,%0�4%,<*-%�%../,#4@�\,/<*0%�4%,<*-%�#/�/#$%,�:/<%,)6%)#4�/)�(�#%6+/,(,&�9(4*47�'$*-$�'/580�(88/'�9/#$�:/<%,)6%)#4�#/�#%4#�#$%�'(#%,4�()0�0%#%,6*)%�*.�(�8/):a#%,6�4$(,%0�4%,<*-%�6/0%8�*4�0%4*,(98%



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %�&'()�*�+,-./�+0.1)(/�,2�3'4)05*67�0)83-*0�(.993',(*/,.'�*:.3/�/;)�2)0<,()�,/2)-=�*'4�*:.3/�/;)�(..+)0*/,<)�0)-*/,.'2;,+�(*'�;)-+�:3,-4�.++.0/3',/,)2�/.�)>+*'4�(..+)0*/,.'?@ABC@CDEFDG�H�IJHKCL�ICKMFNCOPQRSSPTUVWXRT�YRZ[\�]X̂QẐ �̂VTU�URQZSPTW�[P̂_RT̂X̀XaXWXP̂�bXWc�Vaa�_V[WTP[̂d�e�(.'/0*(/�.0�(..+)0*/,<)�*80))9)'/�(*'�')<)0�*440)22�*--�+./)'/,*-�,223)2�/;*/�9,8;/�)9)08)f�g)()'/-67�0)-*/,.'*-�(.'/0*(/,'87�,'�5;,(;�2)0<,()�0)(,+,)'/2�*'4�<)'4.02�,'/)'/,.'*--6�.+)0*/)�3'4)0�8)')0*-�=0*9)5.0h2�*'4�=,--�.3/�4)/*,-2�/;0.38;�/;),0�,'=.09*-�,'/)0*(/,.'�.<)0�/,9)7�;*2�8*,')4�+.+3-*0,/6�ij*'k-6h)�lmmnof�p*(;�8.<)0'9)'/�932/�0)*(;�,/2�.5'�(.'(-32,.'2�*:.3/�/;)�4)2,8'�*'4�(.'/)'/�.=�(.'/0*(/�0)-*/,.'2;,+2�iq0.5'7�r./.2h,7�*'4�j*'k-6h)�lmmsof�t.5)<)07�.30�0)2)*0(;�,'4,(*/)2�/;*/�(.3'/6�8.<)0'9)'/2�,'<.-<)4�,'�2;*0)4�2)0<,()�*'4�(.'u/0*(/,'8�+0)=)0�/.�(*0)=3--6�4.(39)'/�/;)�0)2+.'2,:,-,/,)2�.=�)*(;�+*0/,(,+*'/f�v.(39)'/,'8�/;)�9.2/�,9+.0/*'/�(.'()0'2�=.0�)*(;�+*0/,(,+*/,'8�+*0/6�+0.<,4)2�*2230*'()�/;*/�/;)�(..+)0*/,<)�0)-*/,.'2;,+�5,--�+)0=.09�*2�)>+)(/)47�*'4�=.09*-�*80))9)'/2�(*'�+0.<,4)�*<)'3)2�=.0�0)(.302)�,=�)>+)(/*/,.'2�*0)�'./�9)/f�w'<.-<,'8�/;)�(.3'/6x2�-)8*-�(.3'2)-�,'�2;*0)4�2)0<,()�4,2(322,.'2�(*'�*-2.�)'230)�/;*/�(..+)0*/,<)�*80))9)'/2�(.9+-6�5,/;�2/*/)�-*5f�p<)'�,=�8.<)0'9)'/2�;*<)�(.'2/03(/,<)�5.0h,'8�0)-*/,.'2;,+2�*/�.')�+.,'/�,'�/,9)7�,'(.9+-)/)�(.'/0*(/2�(*'�(0)*/)�+0.:u-)92�=.0�=3/30)�+3:-,(�.==,(,*-2fy.3'/,)2�/;*/�4.�'./�(0*=/�(-)*0�*80))9)'/2�*/�/;)�2/*0/�.=�2;*0)4�2)0<,()�4)-,<)06�9*6�'))4�/.�0)<,2,/�/;)�/)092�.=�(..+)0*/,.'�,'�/;)�=3/30)f�w'�9*'6�+*0/2�.=�/;)�(.3'/067�-,:0*06�2)0<,()2�*0)�+0.<,4)4�/;0.38;�(..+)0*/,<)�*80))9)'/2�*9.'8�(.3'/,)27�(,/,)27�*'4�./;)0�3',/2�.=�-.(*-�8.<u)0'9)'/f�w'�y.'/0*�y.2/*�y.3'/67�y*-,=.0',*7�/;)�(.3'/6�;*2�:))'�/;)�9*,'�+0.<,4)0�.=�-,:0*06�2)0<,()2�=.0�*:.3/�/;)�-*2/�()'/3067�5,/;�(,/6�8.<)0'9)'/2�.5','8�*'4�9*,'/*,','8�-,:0*06�:3,-4,'82�*'4�=*(,-,/,)2f�g)/,0)4�y.'/0*�y.2/*�y.3'/6�z,:0*06�v,0)(/.0�e'')�y*,'�)>+-*,'2�/;*/�9*'6�.=�/;)�*80))9)'/2�:)/5))'�(,/6�8.<)0'9)'/2�*'4�/;)�(.3'/6�-,:0*06�;*4�'./�:))'�0)<,)5)4�,'�4)(*4)2f�k.9)�.=�/;)�*80))9)'/2�5)0)�2,-)'/�.'�,9+.0/*'/�.+)0*/,.'*-�{3)2/,.'2f�&')�*80))9)'/�.0,8,'*/,'8�,'�/;)�|n}m2�;*4�')<)0�)<)'�:))'�2,8')4f�~;)�:3,-4,'8�.=�2)<)0*-�')5�-,:0*0,)2�430,'8�/;)�|nnm2�+0.9+/)4��2f�y*,'�*'4�-.(*-�8.<)0'9)'/�-)*4)02�/.�3'4)0/*h)�*�+0.()22�.=�4)<)-.+,'8�*�3',=.09�2)0<,()�*80))9)'/�:)/5))'�/;)�(.3'/6�*'4�(,/,)2f��2f�y*,'�5.0h)4�5,/;�*�23:(.99,//))�.=�/;)�(.3'/65,4)�*22.(,*/,.'�.=�-.(*-�8.<)0'9)'/�9*'*8)02�/.�,4)'/,=6�2/0)'8/;2�.=�/;)�(.3'/6�*'4�/;)�(,/,)2�,'�/;)�+0.<,2,.'�.=�-,:0*06�2)0<,()2f�k;)�)>+-*,'27���)�4,4'x/�5*'/�/.�8)/�,'/.�*�2,/3*/,.'�5;)0)�5)�;*4�4,==)0)'/�-*'83*8)�,'�/;)�*80))9)'/2�=.0�/;)�2*9)�/;,'87�.0�/;*/�5)�(3/�4,==)0)'/�4)*-2�5,/;�/;)�(,/,)2f��)�0)*--6�5*'/)4�/.�2))�,=�5)�(.3-4�5.0h�.3/�*'�*80))9)'/�/;*/�*--�.=�/;)�(,/,)2���*2�5)--�*2�/;)�(.3'/6�(.3-4�*80))�.'f���2f�y*,'�)9+;*2,�)2�/;)�,9+.0/*'()�.=�,'(-34,'8�:./;�/;)�(,/6�9*'*8)02�*'4�(,/6�*//.0')62�,'�/;)�4,2(322,.'7�2.�/;*/�*--�+*0/,)2�(.3-4�:)�(.9=.0/*:-)�5,/;�/;)�4)/*,-2�.=�/;)�')5�*80))9)'/f�y.3'/,)2�/;*/�'))4�/.�=.09*-,�)�)>,2/,'8�,'/)08.<)0'9)'/*-�*80))9)'/2�(*'�-)*0'�=0.9�/;)�)>+)0,)'()�.=�/;)�y.'/0*�y.2/*�y.3'/6�z,:0*06f�~;0.38;�4)-,:)0*/,.'7�/;)�+*0/,(,+*'/2�2/03(h�*�')5�*80))9)'/�/;*/�:*-*'()4�*'�*++0.+0,*/)�-)<)-�.=�4)/*,-�5,/;�/;)�=-)>,:,-,/6�'))4)4�/.�.+)0*/)�3',{3)�=*(,-,/,)2�*(0.22�/;)�(.3'/6f�;)'�*80)),'8�/.�2+)(,=,(�4)/*,-2�=.0�2;*0)4�2)0<,()�+0.1)(/27�(.3'/6�9*'*8)02�2;.3-4��%�w'(-34)�2+)(,�(�)>+)(/*/,.'2�*:.3/�;.5�2)0<,()2�5,--�:)�4)-,<)0)4�*'4�;.5�+)0=.09*'()�5,--�:)�9)*230)4�,'�/;)�(.'/0*(/7�9)9.0*'439�.=�3'4)02/*'4,'87�.0�,'/)0-.(*-�*80))9)'/2f%�v)<)-.+�*�+-*'�/.�4,2(322�/;)�2;*0)4�2)0<,()�0)-*/,.'2;,+�.'�*�0)83-*0�:*2,2f�~;,2�9*6�,'<.-<)�5))h-6�.0�4*,-6�(.993',(*/,.'�:6�2)0<,()u-)<)-�2/*==�*'4�9.'/;-6�.0�6)*0-6�(;)(hu,'2�:6�/.+�*49,',2/0*/.02�*'4�+.-,(6u9*h)02f



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#�$%&'()*+�,)(-�)'.%/012�+-1/*3�+*/4)5*�16/**0*'(+�+-%&23�5%'+)3*/�3*4*2%7)'6�1�+*(�%.��6&)3)'6�7/)'5)72*+�1'3�+*/4)5*�*87*5(1()%'+�.%/�(-*�+-1/*3�+*/4)5*�/*21()%'+-)7�+%�(-1(�9%(-�71/()*+�51'�-14*�7/*3)5(192*�*87*5(1()%'+�.%/�(-*�/*21()%'+-)7:;<=>??<@ABCD>@�EDF<G�HBI<�BJJK>JKDBC<�=LB@M<N�BN�@<<A<AO�P-*'�,%/Q)'6�,)(-�%(-*/�6%4*/'0*'(+R�5%&'()*+�0&+(�9*�7/*71/*3�(%�/*4)+)(�(-*�3*+)6'�%.�*8)+(S)'6�5%%7*/1()4*�/*21()%'+-)7+�(%�0**(�5-1'6)'6�+*/4)5*�'**3+�1'3�9&36*(1/T�5%'+(/1)'(+:�$/1,.%/3�$%&'(TR�U)5-)61'R�-1+�,%/Q*3�,)(-�V/1T2)'6�W%,'+-)7�%'�5%&'(T�1'3�(%,'+-)7�/*5TS52)'6�+*/4)5*+:�W-*�5%&'(T�6%4*/'0*'(�)'4*+(*3�)'�517)(12�1++*(+�.%/�5%22*5()'6�/*5T52)'6�1(�(/1'+.*/�+)(*+�1/%&'3�(-*�5%&'(T:�W-*�5%&'(T�(/1'+7%/(+�/*5T52192*+�(%�(-*�(%,'+-)7X+�/*5T52)'6�5*'(*/:�P)(-�5-1'6*+�(%�(-*�01/Q*(�.%/�/*5T52192*+�1'3�(-*�/*5*++)%'R�(-*�5%+(+�%.�7/%4)3)'6�(-*�+*/4)5*�0*1'(�(-*�/*21()%'+-)7�510*�&'3*/�+(/1)':�W-*�6%4*/'0*'(+�-14*�*872%/*3�.&'3)'6�(-*�7/%6/10�(-/%&6-�41/)%&+�'*,�177/%15-*+R�9&(�(-)+�01T�12+%�'*5*++)(1(*�5-1'6*+�(%�(-*�'1(&/*�%.�(-*�71/('*/+-)7�10%'6�(-*�6%4*/'0*'(+:�Y7�(%�(-)+�7%)'(R�(-*�/*5T52)'6�/*21()%'+-)7�-1+�'%(�9**'�+(/&5(&/*3�9T�1�.%/012�16/**0*'(R�9&(�.%/012)Z)'6�(-*�/*21()%'+-)7�,)(-�1�2%'6S(*/0�721'�.%/�(-*�+*/4)5*�01T�9*�'*5*++1/T�.%/�(-*�71/()5)71()'6�6%4*/'0*'(+:�$%&'(T�$%'(/%22*/�[1&2�$%07%�*07-1+)Z*+�(-*�)07%/(1'5*�%.�'*6%()1()%'�(%�,%/Q�(-/%&6-�(-*�)071++*:�\W-*�(*07(1S()%'�)+�(%�(&/'�1/%&'3�1'3�,12Q�1,1TR�1'3�]�(-)'Q�(-1(�)+�,-1(�T%&�-14*�(%�.)6-(�161)'+(:̂]''%41()%'�(-/%&6-�5%%7*/1()%'�51'�12+%�5/*1(*�'*,�5-122*'6*+:�]'�'%/(-*1+(�$%2%/13%R�+*4*/12�/&/12�5%&'()*+�.%/0*3�(-*�$%&'(T�_87/*++�+T+(*0�(%�7/%4)3*�9&+�1'3�(/1'+7%/(1()%'�+*/4)5*+�(%�(-*�7&92)5:�W-*�$%&'(T�_87/*++�+T+(*0�)+�6%4*/'*3�9T�)(+�%,'�9%1/3R�,)(-�/*7/*+*'(1()4*+�./%0�(-*�71/()5)71()'6�5)()*+�1'3�5%&'()*+:�̀&01�$%&'(T�$%00)++)%'*/�W/*'(�a&+-'*/�*07-1S+)Z*+�(-1(�(-*�+T+(*0�7/%4)3*+�1'�)07%/(1'(�+*/4)5*�.%/�(-*�5%00&')(TR�1'3�(-*�71/()5)71()'6�6%4*/'0*'(+�01)'(1)'�+(/%'6�5%%7*/1()%'�(-/%&6-�(-*�%/61')Z1()%'X+�6%4*/')'6�9%1/3:�b%,*4*/R�a&+-'*/�*8721)'+�(-1(�+%0*�/*+)3*'(+�&+*�(-*�9&+�+T+(*0�(%�(/1'+7%/(�5-)23/*'�(%�3)..*/*'(�+5-%%2�3)+(/)5(+�(-1'�(-*T�,%&23�'%/0122T�1((*'3:�b*�*87/*++*+�5%'5*/'�(-1(�(-*�+&9S+)3)Z*3�5%+(�%.�(/1'+7%/(1()%'�01Q*+�+,)(5-)'6�+5-%%2+�0%/*�1..%/3192*R�/*+&2()'6�)'�7/%92*0+�.%/�1/*1�+5-%%2�3)+(/)5(+:�a&+-'*/�+&66*+(+�/1)+)'6�(-*�.**+�(%�3*12�,)(-�(-*�7/%92*0R�9&(�9&)23S)'6�1�7&92)5�5%'+*'+&+�%'�(-)+�)++&*�-1+�9**'�3)..)5&2(:�W-)+�*81072*�-)6-2)6-(+�(-*�)07%/S(1'5*�%.�5%'+)3*/)'6�(-*�+)3*�*..*5(+�(-1(�5%%7*/1()%'�0)6-(�-14*�.%/�%(-*/�6%4*/'0*'(+�1'3�%(-*/�7&92)5�+*/4)5*+:$%&'(T�%..)5)12+�+-%&23�12+%�9*�7/*71/*3�.%/�(-*�7%++)9)2)(T�(-1(�+-1/*3�+*/4)5*�/*21()%'+-)7+�01T�'%�2%'6*/�+*/4*�(-*)/�)'(*/*+(+:�P1+-%*�$%&'(TR�c*4131R�-13�1�5%'(/15(�/*21()%'+-)7�.%/�.)/*�+*/S4)5*�,)(-�(-*�$)(T�%.�d*'%�.%/�ee�T*1/+R�9&(�(-*�16/**0*'(�,1+�(*/0)'1(*3�,-*'�(-*�71/()*+�3)+16/**3�19%&(�+(1..)'6�2*4*2+�1'3�(-*�5%+(�%.�+*/4)5*:�$%&'(T�U1'16*/�f1(T�g)0%'�134)+*+�(-1(�6%4*/'0*'(+�+-1/)'6�+*/4)5*+�3*4)+*�52*1/�7*/.%/01'5*�0*(/)5+�1'3�+&55*++�0*1+&/*+�)'�1341'5*R�)'52&3)'6�*87*5(1()%'+�.%/�.)'1'5)12�7*/.%/01'5*:�P-*'�5%%7*/1()4*�/*21()%'+-)7+�'**3�(%�9*�(*/0)'1(*3R�)(�)+�5/)()512�(%�9*�(/1'+71/*'(�19%&(�(-*�3*5)+)%'�1'3�/1()%'12*R�1'3�'%(�+&/7/)+*�(-*�5%'(/15(�71/('*/:�a%(-�71/()*+�0)6-(�'%(�16/**�(-1(�1�+*71/1()%'�)+�(-*�/)6-(�3*5)+)%'R�9&(�(/1'+71/*'5T�0)6-(�-*27�7/*+*/4*�5%%7*/1()4*�/*21()%'+-)7+�)'�%(-*/�1/*1+:�h(-*/�01'16*/+�134)+*�)'52&3)'6�+7*5).)5�3*(1)2+�)'�5%%7*/1()4*�16/**0*'(+�19%&(�-%,�(*/0)'1()%'+�,)22�(1Q*�7215*R�)'52&3)'6�-%,�1++*(+�,)22�9*�/*(&/'*3�(%�(-*�71/()5)71()'6�71/()*+:$%&'(T�01'16*/+�51'�721'�.%/�.2*8)9)2)(T�)'�(-*)/�+-1/*3�+*/4)5*�/*21()%'+-)7+�9Ti�#�d*5%6')Z)'6�(-1(�9&36*(�5%'3)()%'+R�7&92)5�*87*5(1()%'+R�1'3�%(-*/�5%'3)()%'+�5-1'6*�%4*/�()0*�1'3�3)+5&++)'6�(-*+*�5-1'6*+�,)(-�71/('*/+�/*6&21/2T�(%�0)')0)Z*�(-*�*8(*'(�(%�,-)5-�(-*T�(-/*1(*'�1�5%%7*/1()4*�/*21()%'+-)7:#�d*4)+)()'6�(-*�+*/4)5*�6%12+�1'3�7*/.%/01'5*�*87*5(1()%'+�(-1(�7/%4)3*3�(-*�.%&'31()%'�.%/�1�+-1/*3�+*/4)5*�7/%j*5(k�).�(-*+*�6%12+�%/�*87*5(1()%'+�5-1'6*R�3)+5&++�5%'5*/'+�%7*'2T�1'3�-%'*+(2T�,)(-�71/('*/+�(%�1++*++�,-*(-*/�5%00%'�6/%&'3�+()22�*8)+(+



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" %�&'()*+,�-*./�0./12�(03'(�,0412+51+.6�./'.�'21�+0.�*+40(417�-*./�./1�6/'217�6124*31�820913.�.0�71.125*+1�*:�./1�820913.�*58'3.6�./15�*+7*213.(;%�<'=,*+,�./1�*+.1216.�0:�0./12�(03'(�,0412+51+.6�*+�90*+*+,�'�6/'217�6124*31�820913.�./'.�'(21'7;�1>*6.6�?*:�8'2.*3*8'.*+,�,0412+51+.6�',211@%�A+3(=7*+,�*+�./1�',21151+.�71.'*(6�'B0=.�/0-�'�.125*+'.*0+�0:�./1�6/'217�6124*31�-0=(7�B1�*58(151+.17C�*+3(=7*+,�./1�7*681+6'.*0+�0:�'661.6



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���
#$%�&%%'�()�*+&'�+&&),-(+,%�.-/0�()�12),+'%�(3%�0%2,+4%�-(�-�5).%2�4)0(67�0-/0�859%2�:);&(/6�<+43+9-&6�:)==+00+)&%2�>%22/�?);4%((%@�859%2�:);&(/�3-0�')&%�(3+0�A/�1-2(&%2+&9�.+(3�+(0�&%+93A)2+&9�4);&(+%0�)&�4)==;&+(/�4)22%4(+)&0�-&'�)(3%2�0%2,+4%0@�<2@�?);4%((%�-29;%0�(3-(�4);&(+%0�+&�<+43+9-&B0�2;2-5�C11%2�D%&+&0;5-�3-,%�4;5(+,-(%'�-�4))1%2-(+,%�01+2+(6�.)2E+&9�()�12),+'%�1;A5+4�0%2,+4%0�(32);93�4)55-A)2-(+)&@�F(3%2�4);&(/�)**+4+-50�+&(%2,+%.%'�*)2�(3+0�12)G%4(�'%042+A%�-�0+=+5-2�4;5(;2%�)*�4))1%2-(+)&�+&�(3%+2�2%9+)&0@�H,%&�15-4%0�.+(3);(�-�0(2)&9�(2-'+I(+)&�)*�+&(%25)4-5�1-2(&%203+10�3-,%�A%%&�*)24%'�A/�(3%�2%4%&(�2%4%00+)&�-&'�A;'9%(-2/�4)&I0(2-+&(0�()�2%(3+&E�0%2,+4%�'%5+,%2/@�#J�(3+&E�-�E%/�+0�*)2�1%)15%�()�'+02%9-2'�4);&(/�5+&%0�-&'�5))E�-(�(3%�2%9+)&�-0�-�.3)5%�+&�(2/+&9�()�12),+'%�0%2,+4%06�2-(3%2�(3-&�A%+&9�0)�*)4;0%'�)&�/);2�+&'+,+';-5�4);&(/@�K)=%(+=%0�/);�3-,%�()�5))E�A%/)&'�(3%�A)2'%20�-&'�0%%�.3-(�+0�(3%�A%0(�A%&%*+(�*)2�=/�4);&(/�2%9-2'5%00�)*�.3%(3%2�.%�-2%�)1%2-(+&9�+(�)2�&)(67�%L15-+&0�D-0M;)(-&E�:);&(/6�N)2(3�:-2)5+&-�:);&(/�<-&-9%2�O-&'/�P%-()&@:);&(+%0�0(-2(+&9�').&�(3%�1-(3�)*�03-2%'�0%2,+4%�'%5+,%2/�03);5'�12%1-2%�*)2�-�5)&9�-&'�)*(%&�43-55%&9+&9�G);2&%/@�F11)2(;&+(+%0�*)2�03-2+&96�=%29+&96�)2�4)&(2-4(+&9�0%2,+4%0�=-/�A%�)A,+I);0@�#J(B0�2%-55/�-�5)(�-A);(�4)==)&�0%&0%@�J*�/);B2%�.+55+&9�()�5))E�-(�.3-(�=-E%0�0%&0%�+&0(%-'�)*�.3)B0�+&�43-29%�-&'�.3)B0�+&�4)&(2)56�J�2%-55/�(3+&E�(3-(�.%�4-&�9%(�0)=%�9))'�(3+&90�-44)=15+03%'67�0(-(%0�O-4+&%�:);&(/6�$+04)&0+&�HL%4;(+,%�>-=%0�Q-'.+9@�H,%&�.3%&�)11)2(;&+(+%0�-2%�)A,+);06�4);&(/�)**+4+-50�03);5'�12%1-2%�*)2�4-2%*;5�'%5+A%2-(+)&�()�=-E%�0;2%�-55�1-2(+4+1-(+&9�1-2(+%0�-2%�3-11/�.+(3�(3%�12)1)0%'�.)2E+&9�2%5-(+)&03+1@�#J�(3+&E�/);�3-,%�()�A%�1-(+%&(�-(�(3%�*2)&(�%&'�+*�/);�.-&(�()�')�+(�+&�-�4)0(I%**%4(+,%�.-/�-&'�+&�-�.%55R(3);93(I);(�.-/67�0;99%0(0�S%22+%&�:);&(/�8'=+&+0(2-()2�S+55�$)5*@K3-2%'�0%2,+4%0�-&'�+&(%25)4-5�-92%%=%&(0�-2%�&)(�-�1-&-4%-6�-&'�(3%/�-2%�&)(�-112)12+-(%�0(2-(%9+%0�*)2�-55�4);&(/�9),%2&=%&(�0%2,+4%0@�F&5/�(32);93�4-2%*;5�'+-5)9;%�.+(3�1)(%&(+-5�1-2(&%20�4-&�4);&(+%0�+'%&(+*/�.3%&�4)55-A)2-(+,%�0%2,+4%�'%5+,%2/�+0�2+93(�*)2�(3%=@�:);&(/�9),%2&=%&(0�+&(%2%0(%'�+&�03-2%'�0%2,+4%0�-&'�+&(%25)4-5�-92%%=%&(0�03);5'�9+,%�4-2%*;5�-((%&I(+)&�()�(3%�12%4)&'+(+)&0�*)2�0;44%006�+&45;'+&9�0(2)&9�5%-'%203+16�(2;0(�-&'�2%4+12)4+(/6�-&'�45%-2�9)-50�.+(3�=%-0;2-A5%�2%0;5(0@�F&4%�(3%�1-2(+4+1-(+&9�9),%2&=%&(0�2%-43�-92%%=%&(�)&�3).�4))1%2-(+)&�.+55�;&*)5'6�4);&(/�)**+4+-50�03);5'�+&,%0(�+&�=-+&(-+&+&9�(3%+2�2%5-(+)&03+10�),%2�(+=%@�$+(3�(3%�2%4)==%&'-(+)&0�-&'�%L-=15%0�+&�(3+0�2%1)2(6�.%�A%5+%,%�4);&(+%0�.+55�A%�+&�-�0(2)&9�1)0+(+)&�()�A%9+&�)2�%L1-&'�(3%+2�03-2%'�0%2,+4%�+&+(+-(+,%06�42%-(+&9�A%((%2�-&'�=)2%�%**+4+%&(�0%2,+4%0�*)2�(3%�1;A5+4@

TUVWXYZ[UV



��

�������	�
���������������������������������������������
������������������� �!�"��#��!�
$%�&'((')�*+,')-(.+,�(/'�0*))'+(�123%)(.+0'�%4�-/.)',�-')510'�1+1(1.(15'-�.+,�1+(')6%0.6�.7)''82'+(-�1+�0%*+(9�7%5')+2'+(:�;'�0%+,*0(',�.�-*)5'9�%4�0%*+(9�2.+.7')-�%)�'6'0(',�&%.),<0%221--1%+�0/.1)-�.0)%--�(/'�=+1(',�>(.('-?�$/'�-*)5'9�;.-�-'+(�(%�.�).+,%2�-.236'�%4�0%*+(9�7%5')+2'+(�2.+.7')-�%)�&%.),�0/.1)-:�.+,�.,,1(1%+.6�-*)5'9-�;')'�-'+(�(%�.66�0%*+(9�2.+.7')-�%)�&%.),�0/.1)-�1+�415'�-(.('-@A%6%).,%:�B.)96.+,:�B10/17.+:�C%)(/�A.)%61+.:�.+,�C'5.,.?�D�(%(.6�%4�EF�-*)5'9-�;')'�)'(*)+',�4)%2�(/'�).+,%2�-.236'�G.�HI?E�3')0'+(�)'-3%+-'�).('J:�;1(/�.�(%(.6�%4�KIK�-*)5'9-�G.�LL?I�3')0'+(�)'-3%+-'�).('J�4)%2�&%(/�7)%*3-�0%2&1+',?�M/16'�(/1-�1-�.�-2.66�+.(1%+.6�).+,%2�-.236':�(/'�,.(.�715'�*-�-()%+7�1+-17/(�1+(%�-/.)',�-')510'�3)%N'0(-�1+�(/'�-'6'0(',�-(.('-:�;1(/�)'-3%+-'�).('-�%4�%5')�OP�3')0'+(�4%)�B.)96.+,�.+,�B10/17.+?�$/'�-*)5'9�.66%;',�*-�(%�1,'+(149�.�).+7'�%4�-')510'-�%+�;/10/�0%*+(9�7%5')+2'+(-�.)'�;%)Q1+7�;1(/�%(/')�6%0.6�7%5')+2'+(-?$/'�).+,%2�-.236'�)'-*6(-�3)%51,'�.�*-'4*6�-+.3-/%(�%4�/%;�0%*+(9�7%5')+2'+(�%44101.6-�51';�-/.)',�-')510'-?�R4�(/'�0%*+(9�%44101.6-�)'-3%+,1+7�;1(/1+�(/'�).+,%2�-.236':�EL�3')0'+(�)'3%)(�(.6Q1+7�;1(/�%44101.6-�4)%2�%(/')�6%0.6�7%5')+2'+(-�.(�6'.-(�%+0'�3')�;''Q:�.+,�EE�3')80'+(�)'3%)(�.(('+,1+7�2''(1+7-�;1(/�%44101.6-�4)%2�%(/')�7%5')+2'+(-�.(�6'.-(�.�4';�(12'-�'.0/�2%+(/?�A%*+(9�%44101.6-�)'-3%+,1+7�(%�(/'�-*)5'9�;')'�.-Q',�.&%*(�(/'1)�)%6'-�1+�-')510'8-/.)1+7�'44%)(-�;1(/�%(/')�7%5')+2'+(-?�$/'�,.(.�-*77'-(�(/.(�0%*+(9�2.+.7')-�.+,�&%.),�0/.1)-�4%0*-�(/'1)�.(('+(1%+�%+�2.1+(.1+1+7�0%22*+10.(1%+�;1(/�+'17/&%)1+7�7%5')+2'+(-�.+,�4%-(')1+7�.�0%%38').(15'�.(2%-3/')'�1+�;/10/�,1-0*--1%+-�.&%*(�-/.)',�-')510'�,'615')9�0.+�(.Q'�36.0'?�R5')�IL�3')0'+(�%4�(/'�)'-3%+,'+(-�.7)''�;1(/�(/'�-(.('2'+(:�ST�2.1+(.1+�0%22*+10.(1%+�;1(/�%441801.6-�1+�%(/')�6%0.6�7%5')+2'+(-�1+�%),')�(%�1,'+(149�%33%)(*+1(1'-�4%)�-/.)1+7�%)�0%%3').(1+7�%+�6%0.6�7%5')+2'+(�-')510'-?U�V17/(98(;%�3')0'+(�1+,10.('�(/.(�(/'9�.)'�S123)%51+7�;%)Q1+7�)'6.8(1%+-/13-�.+,�1+4%)2.6�0%%3').(1%+�;1(/�%(/')�6%0.6�7%5')+2'+(-�1+�(/'�0%*+(9?U�R5')�EP�3')80'+(�%4�(/'�)'-3%+,'+(-�.6-%�.7)''�(/.(�(/'9�/.5'�(.Q'+�-('3-�(%�S'W36.1+�(%�(/'�3*&610�/%;�-/.)1+7�6%0.6�7%5')+2'+(�-')510'-�217/(�&'�.,5.+(.7'%*-�(%�%*)�0%22*+1(9?U�$/1-�'51,'+0'�-*77'-(-�(/.(�-/.)',�-')510'�,'615')9�0*))'+(69�1-�.�3%3*6.)�(%310�4%)�0%*+(9�7%58')+2'+(-?�$/'�-*)5'9�.6-%�/'63-�*-�*+,')-(.+,�0%22%+�0%+0')+-�(/.(�0%*+(9�%44101.6-�/%6,�;/'+�(/1+Q1+7�.&%*(�-/.)1+7�%)�0%+().0(1+7�-')510'-�;1(/�%(/')�7%5')+2'+(-?�$/'�2%-(�-.61'+(�0%+0')+-�0'+(')�%+�(/'�6.0Q�%4�0%+()%6�(/.(�0%*+(9�%44101.6-�217/(�/.5'�%5')�(/'�4.1)�,1-()1&*(1%+�%4�0%-(-:�.+,�0%+()%6�%5')�'236%92'+(�3%6101'-?

XYYZ[\]̂�_̀�abcdZe�fg�hfb[ie�jfdZc[kZ[i�lgg]m]nop



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���
#$%�&'($)*+�%,(%-.�($&-/+�()�($%�0)11)23-4�4)5%*-6%-(�)00373&1+�2$)�())/�(36%�0*)6�($%3*�8'+9�+7$%.'1%+�()�.3+7'++�%,:%*3%-7%+�23($�+$&*%.�+%*537%�3-3(3&(35%+�&-.�3-(%*1)7&1�&4*%%6%-(+�3-�($%3*�7)66'-3(3%+;<$&*1%+�=8%*-&($9>�?7@)2%11�<)'-(9>�A)*($�<&*)13-&B)4%*+�=-.%*+)->�C3113&6+)-�<)'-(9>�#%--%++%%B)4%*�D&/%*>�E31:3-�<)'-(9>�<)1)*&.)F&'1�D'11)7/>�?%7)+(&�<)'-(9>�?37$34&-#*%-(�D'+$-%*>�G'6&�<)'-(9>�<)1)*&.)=--�<&3-�H*%(3*%.I>�<)-(*&�<)+(&�<)'-(9>�<&130)*-3&J37()*�<&*:%-(%*>�K%*+$&2�<)'-(9>�L)'($�<&*)13-&F&(*37/�<)003%1.>�='4'+(&�<)'-(9>�J3*43-3&F&'1�<)6:)>�<*&20)*.�<)'-(9>�?37$34&-#36)($9�@)1%$&-(9>�M+&8%11&�<)'-(9>�?37$34&-N%**9�@)'7%((%>�=14%*�<)'-(9>�?37$34&-B)8%*(�O9&((>�@&53.+)-�<)'-(9>�A)*($�<&*)13-&B&-.9�K%&()->�F&+P')(&-/�<)'-(9>�A)*($�<&*)13-&M&-�K%--%.9>�O)2&*.�<)'-(9>�?&*91&-.N&6%+�Q&.234>�B&73-%�<)'-(9>�C3+7)-+3-#)6�Q'-.9>�<&(&28&�<)'-(9>�A)*($�<&*)13-&@*;�F&(*373&�?3(7$%11>�=+$%�<)'-(9>�A)*($�<&*)13-&Q%+�?)-()9&>�L&-�?34'%1�<)'-(9>�A%2�?%,37)Q(;�B37/�?)'2%->�Q)+�=-4%1%+�<)'-(9>�<&130)*-3&D%13-.&�F%(%*+>�Q353-4+()-�<)'-(9>�?37$34&-L'%�B&$*>�K3-4�<)'-(9>�C&+$3-4()-DR)*-�L%13-.%*>�<$'*7$311�<)'-(9>�A%5&.&E*%4�L7$'1(%>�=*7$'1%(&�<)'-(9>�<)1)*&.)K&(9�L36)->�C&+$)%�<)'-(9>�A%5&.&L(%5%�C3113+>�Q&-7&+(%*�<)'-(9>�L)'($�<&*)13-&D311�C)10>�D%**3%-�<)'-(9>�?37$34&-

STTUVWXY�ZZ[�\X]̂�_̀�ZV̂UabXUc]



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" 
%&'()*+,-.�/,*(0'1�23�45643�7,'�89)190:;*+:9)�9<�098*0�=9>'()?')+�1'(>:8'1@�7,'�:)8:;')8'�*);�A(*8+:8'�9<�1'(>:8'�;'0:>'(-�89)190:;*+:9)�:)�B9(+,�/*(90:)*3�CDEFGH�IJKGLGMNOPNGQL�RDPONSOFT�UV�W6X@Y4Z[U3%??9)1.�\*>:;�B3.�]*(0�̂3�_?:+,.�*);�/*(0�̂3�_+')&'(=3�45643�7,'�<̀+̀('�9<�098*0�=9>'()a?')+@�̂:00�8̀((')+�1+('11'1�&(:)=�?*b9(.�A'(?*)')+�8,*)='1c�dNPNS�PLJ�eQHPF�fQgSOLKSLN�hSgGSi�YY�W6_X@VY_Zjk_3l(9m).�7('>9(�n3.�o*++,'m�p9+91q:.�*);�\*>:;�o3�r*)_0-q'3�455V3�o*)*=:)=�À&0:8�1'(>:8'�89)+(*8+1@�%0:=):)=�>*0̀'1.�:)1+:+̀+:9)1.�*);�?*(q'+13�CDEFGH�IJKGLGMNOPNGQL�hSgGSi�VV�WUX@U4UZUU63/*((.�s'(';�l3.�*);�2:8,*(;�/3�t':98q.�';13�455Y3�uGNTvHQDLNT�HQLMQFGJPNGQL�PLJ�GNM�PFNSOLPvNGgSMw�hSMxPyGLz�NxS�FQHPF�zQgSOLKSLN�FPLJMHPyS3�%(?9)q.�B'm�{9(q@�o3|3�_,*(A'3/,').�{̀a/,'.�*);�]̀(+�7,̀(?*:'(3�455}3�~)+'(098*0�*=(''?')+1�*1�8900*&9(*+:9)1@�%)�'?A:(:a8*0�:)>'1+:=*+:9)�9<�:?A'+̀1'1.�)9(?1.�*);�1̀88'113�IKSOGHPL�hSgGSi�Q��CDEFGH�IJKGLGMNOPNGQL�U}�WkX@kUVZkk43/99q.�]*(')�_3.�2̀11'00��*(;:).�*);�o*(=*('+�n'>:3�455k3�uQQySOPNGQL�iGNxQDN�NODMN��B'm�{9(q.�B{@�2̀11'00�_*='�t9̀);*+:9)3t';9(9m:8�.�s*)'.�*);�_+'>'�_*m-'(3�45643��SMGzLGLz�HQFFPEQOPNGgS�LSNiQO�Mw�eSMMQLM�FSPOLSJ��OQK�yDEFGH�MP�SNT3�̂*1,:)=+9).�\/@�~lo�/')+'(�<9(�7,'�l̀1:)'11�9<��9>'()?')+3�90;1?:+,.�_+'A,').�*);�̂:00:*?�\3�|=='(13�455Y3�fQgSOLGLz�ET�LSNiQO�w�NxS�LSi�MxPyS�Q��NxS�yDEFGH�MSHNQO3�̂*1,:)=+9).�\/@�l(99q:)=1�~)1+:+̀+:9)�p('113~?A'(:*0.�o*(q�73�455Y3�uQFFPEQOPNGQL�PLJ�ySO�QOKPLHS�KPLPzSKSLN�GL�LSNiQO��MSNNGLzMw�eSMMQLM��OQK�NxOSS�iPNSOMxSJ�zQgSOLPLHS�S��QONM��̂*1,:)=+9).�\/@�~lo�/')+'(�<9(�7,'�l̀1:)'11�9<��9>'()?')+3s9*11*(+ao*(8'00:.�p*18*0'.�*);�s̀0:'+�ò 1193�455k3�ò ):8:A*0�1'(>:8'�A(9>:1:9)�8,9:8'1�m:+,:)�*�?'+(9A90:+*)�*('*3��OEPL�I��PGOM�hSgGSi�Y5�WYX@Y}4Zk6}3n'0*);.�_̀�*))'�o3.�*);�]̀(+�o3�7,̀(?*:'(3�455Y3�uPMS�MNDJGSM�Q��HGNTvHQDLNT�HQLMQFGJPvNGQLw�hSMxPyGLz�NxS�FQHPF�zQgSOLKSLN�FPLJMHPyS3�%(?9)q.�B{@�o3|3�_,*(A'3n'0*);.�_̀�*))'�o3.�*);�]̀(+�o3�7,̀(?*:'(3�45653�uGNTvHQDLNT�HQLMQFGJPNGQLw�COQKGMSM�KPJS��yOQKGMSM��SyN��̂*1,:)=+9)�\/@��'9(='+9m)��):>'(1:+-�p('113

����������



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���#$%&'()�*$++,)�-.'+�/0�12.34$35'26$2)�.34�7.38.,�*0�-.34$,0�9:;:0�<3=$2+&>.+�?$2@A>$�>&&B$2C.=A&3�A3�D070�>A=A$?E�F�?&>A.+�3$=G&2H�$(B+.3.=A&30�IJKLMN�OPQMRMSTUVTMWR�XYZMY[�\:�]9̂E9_̀a9\̀0#A34$3)�%'??$++�b0�9::90�cWUdMRe�VNUWSS�KWJRPVUMYSf�gVdMRe�NWLLVKWUVTMWR�[WUd�MR�eWZYURhQYRT�VRP�RWRiUWjMT�WUeVRMkVTMWRS0�7.3�l2.3>A?>&)�mFE�n&??$,C1.??0#,&3?)�/0�o0)�p.@A4�#&G$2,)�.34�%'=q�r&&6+.34�p$r&&60�;ss90�tuY�iWLMTMNS�Wj�PMSSVTMSjVNhTMWRf�vMTMkYRSw�SYUZMNYSw�VRP�JUKVR�MRSTMTJTMWRS0�F2x&3>H)�yzE�b0�o0�7q.2B$0b$3{$+)�p&3.+4�m0)�$40�;ss_0�tuY�OQYUMNVR�NWJRT|f�}UWRTMYUS�Wj�dRW[LYPeY0�~'?>.+&&?.E�D3A@$2?A=,�&��F+.5.x.�-2$??0bA++$2)��.2,�n0�;s̀;0�vMTMYS�K|�NWRTUVNTf�TuY�iWLMTMNS�Wj�QJRMNMiVL�MRNWUiWUVTMWR0�m.x52A46$)�bFE�b<~�-2$??0�?=2&x)�o+A3&2)�.34�n.x$?�/.+H$20�9::�0�tUJST�VRP�UYNMiUWNMT|f�MRTYUPMSNMiLMRVU|�LYSSWRS�jUWQ�Y�iYUMQYRTVL�UYSYVUNu0�y$G�z&2HE�%'??$++�7.6$�l&'34.=A&30�?=2&x)��A3>$3=)�mq.2+$?�b0�~A$5&'=)�.34�%&5$2=�/.22$30�;s_;0�~q$�&26.3A{.=A&3�&��6&@$23Cx$3=�A3�x$=2&B&+A=.3�.2$.?E�F�=q$&2$=A>.+�A3�'A2,0�OQYUMNVR�IWLMTMNVL��NMYRNY�XYZMY[����]�̂È�;à�90%&,)�n$��2$,)�.34�n&q3�#.36�&240�9::̀0��RTYeUVTMRe�SYUZMNY�PYLMZYU|�VNUWSS�LYZYLS�Wj�eWZYURhQYRTf�vVSY�STJPMYS�Wj�vVRVPV�VRP�WTuYU�NWJRTUMYS��/.?qA36=&3)�pmE�<1b�m$3=$2��&2�~q$�1'?A3$??�&���&@$23x$3=0~q&$33$?)�y.3>,)�.34�n$??A>.�-$.2?&30�9::̀0��RTYUhVeYRN|�NWLLVKWUVTMWR�VQWRe�SWNMVL�SYUhZMNY�VeYRNMYS�MR��WS�OReYLYS�vWJRT|0�/.?qA36=&3)�pmE�<1b�m$3=$2��&2�~q$�1'?A3$??�&���&@$23x$3=0�.37+,H$)�p.@A4�b0�9::s0�m&++.5&2.=A&3�.34�2$+.=A&3.+�>&3=2.>=A360�<3�tuY�NWLLVKWUVTMZY�iJKhLMN�QVRVeYUf��Y[�MPYVS�jWU�TuY�T[YRT|hjMUST�NYRTJU|)�$4A=$4�5,�%0���#$.2,�.34�#0�1A36q.x0�/.?qA36=&3)�pmE��$&26$=&G3�D3A@$2?A=,�-2$??0/.63$2)�%&44)�.34��.+$�b'++$20�9::s0�IW[YU�Wj��f��W[�TW�QVdY�TuY�QWST�Wj�|WJU�iVUTRYUhSuMiS�VT�[WUd�VRP�MR�LMjY0�y$G�z&2H)�yzE��.++'B�-2$??0/.23$2)�bA+42$4�o0)�.34�FxA2�r$�$={0�9::s0�m&&B$2.=A@$�>&xB$=A=A&3E�F+=$23.=A@$�?$2@A>$�4$+A@C$2,)�9::9a9::\0�<3�gJRMNMiVL��YVU��WWd�����0�/.?qA36=&3)�pmE�<3=$23.=A&3.+�mA=,�m&'3=,�b.3.6$x$3=�F??&>A.=A&30�$$x$2A36)�o2A>�70�9::s0�m.+A�&23A.�>&'3=,�.4xA3A?=2.=&2?�.?�?$++$2?�.34�52&H$2?�&��A3=$2+&>.+�>&&B$2.=A&30��TVTY�VRP��WNVL��WZYURQYRT�XYZMY[��;�]�̂E;__a;̀;0



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	�������������� �!�"�#��$��" 
%&'(�)**+*&',-�./�01�2//./3013�45678//65�67�49:;.<�46;.<=�03�3>8�?1.@85/.3=�67�A05=;01BC�D0;3.E658�F6913=�G?ADFHI�J./�58/805<>�01B�380<>.1K�.13858/3/�76<9/�61�L9:;.<�E010K8E813C�.1385K6@M851E8130;�58;03.61/C�01B�95:01�L6;.<=I�J8�>0/�<61B9<38B�58/805<>�61�3>8�0B6L3.61C�6@85/.K>3C�01B�385E.103.61�67�E91.<.ML0;�/>058B�/85@.<8�0K588E813/C�L9:;./>.1K�58/805<>�.1�N69510;/�.1<;9B.1K�OPQ�RSQTUVWX�YQZUQ[�\]�̂_̀aUV�RbSUXUcdTWdU\Xe�_̂̀aUV�RbSUXUcdTWdU\X�YQZUQ[e�01B�fdWdQ�WXb�g\VWa�h\ZQTXSQXd�YQZUQ[i�J8�0;/6�/39B.8/�3>8�.EL;8E81303.61�67�/9/30.10:.;.3=�L;01/�.1�<.3=�K6@851E813I�j5I�k88E85.1Kl/�.13858/3�.1�;6<0;�K6@M851E813�;8B�36�>./�8;8<38B�/85@.<8�61�3>8�<.3=�<691<.;�.1�m6<n765BC�A.<>.K01�GopppqrssoHC�01B�0LL6.138B�/85@.<8�61�3>8�t813�F6913=�J69/.1K�F6EE.//.61�GrssuqrssvHC�01B�3>8�j0;=�F.3=�405n/�01B�m8<5803.61�F6EE.//.61�GrsspqrsooHI�J8�58<8.@8B�>./�4>j�.1�L6;.3.<0;�/<.81<8�756E�w1B.010�?1.@85/.3=�.1�rssx�01B�>./�D2�.1�L6;.3.<0;�/<.81<8�756E�2y9.10/�F6;;8K8�.1�rssoIz{&|}�z*}{~~'��>0/�:881�F6913=�2BE.1./350365�F61356;;85�67�t813�F6913=C�A.<>.K01�/.1<8��8L38E:85�opp�I�J8�<0E8�36�t813�F6913=�.1�opp��0/�2//./3013�F6913=�2BE.1./350365I�45.65�/85@.<8�.1<;9B8/�F.3=�A010K85�67�m6<n765BC�A.<>.K01C�765�oo�=805/�Gop��qopp�HC�01B�0BE.1./3503.@8�L6/.3.61/��.3>�3�6�63>85�A.<>.K01�<6EE91.3.8/�756E�opxx�36�op��I�J8�>6;B/�0�D2�.1�L6;.3.<0;�/<.81<8�01B�0�A0/385�67�A010K8E813�756E�2y9.10/�F6;;8K8C�0�A0/385�67�49:;.<�2BE.1./3503.61�756E��0=18��3038�?1.@85/.3=C�01B�0�4>j�756E��8/3851�A.<>.K01�?1.@85/.3=I�j8;0::.6�./�0<3.@8�.1�19E8569/�L5678//.610;�01B�<.@.<�65K01.�0M3.61/C�.1<;9B.1K�3>8�A.<>.K01��6<0;��6@851E813�A010K8E813�2//6<.03.61C�w1385103.610;�F.3=�F6913=�A010K8E813�2//6<.03.61C�01B�A.<>.K01�2//6<.03.61�67�F6913=�2BE.1./3503.@8��77.<85/��01B�/85@8/�61�3>8�8B.365.0;�:605B�67�fdWdQ�WXb�g\VWa�h\ZQTXSQXd�YQZUQ[i�J8�./�0;/6�0�j./3.1K9./>8B�2BN91<3��0<9;3=�E8E:85�.1�E010K8E813�03�j0@81L653�?1.@85/.3=I

�����������������



��

������	
���������������	�������������������������������	���������������	������ ����������!���"���
#$�%$&'()'�'*+�,-'*$./0.1)�2++3+.1&45�6*7879::;:<=><�?@ABC::A@DCE=@<FC><�AB�?GHI;J�?AI;JKL>;MC@:;<K�AB�N=@KI=>OP�Q=I<;FA@C�RAG><KSTTT�U;II<AE�R;@JICQ=I<;FA@CP�ND�VSVWTXYSTZ�YWW[VS\YC[F=;I]�̂CCF_GFHJ̀COGaCH]�b<<E]ccG:C@E=dC:̀GFHJ̀COGcê CCF8(.fg�h7�8+g(ii1$5�6*787RAG><K�9OF;>;:<@=<A@cRA><@AIIC@RAG><K�AB�jC><kTT�NA>@AC�9MCP�lmn@=>O�o=E;O:P�Np�YqWTkXrSrZ�rkV[sWsTC[F=;I]�O=@KÌOCI=HH;A_tC><JAG><KF;̀dAMaCH]�aaà=JJC::tC><̀JAF

uvw�xyz{|}{�~z�y��|{�yz�



��������	��
��������������������������������������������� ������!�������"��#����������$$$%&'()*+((,-.,/+0*1+*2%,0.%�345467�849:87;�<=<>?<@?4�:6�7A4�B4@;>74�>65?CD4EF����������!��G��� �H�F��345:=48I�J57�K8<6;9<8465IE�L4<86>6M�N8:O�P7<74;Q�RS948>4654��H�����������T�G�U��V4I�J57>:6;�KA<7�W:678>@C74�7:�PC554;;NC?�X8:M8<O�YO9?4O467<7>:6E�L4;;:6;�N8:O�7A4�345:=48I�J57��H�G��!�Z������!����[��Z��\T�F�!����Z��]�H�FT�[��������Z�̂T�����������#�Z_<6<M>6M�345:=48IE�J6�Y6;>D48Q;�̀>4B��H�aT�bZ#�Z�c�[� �>̀8M>6><Q;�YO9?4O467<7>:6�:N�7A4�JO48>5<6�345:=48I�<6D�34>6=4;7O467�J57E�d:8M>6M�<�e4B�Y6748M:=486O467<?�X<87648;A>9��H�F����]!�Z�f������Z�[�����!���������������F���������Z����W:??<@:8<7>:6�J58:;;�g:C6D<8>4;E�Y6;>MA7;�<6D�K>9;�N8:O�d4D48<?�P46>:8�RS45C7>=4;��H�G���f�H�\"h��H���Z����!�����a��Zi4;>M6>6M�j946�X8:k457;E�L4;;:6;�d8:O�Y6748647�X>:6448;��H�c� �Z�l��m������� ����b���H���Z��!��b� ���f����g4;7�X8<57>54;�N:8�L4<D>6M�PC;7<>6<@>?>7I�RNN:87;��H�n����!����T�b�������������o��������H���Z�c�f����H�J;;4;;>6M�XC@?>5�X<87>5>9<7>:6�>6�<6�j946�p:=486O467�R8<E�J�34=>4B�:N�d4D48<?�JM465I�X?<6;��H�����H��nT�h�q���f�H���n���a��Zf������Z�c� �Z�[���r;>6M�p4:M8<9A>5�Y6N:8O<7>:6�PI;74O;�7:�Y6584<;4�W>7>s46�R6M<M4O467��H�[�q�f��a���������f�� ����t���f�����KA4�W:;7;�:N�gCDM47�r65487<>67IE�J6<?Is>6M�7A4�YO9<57�:N�L<74�J998:98><7>:6;��H�t!�����aT�n�H��d>=4�_47A:D;�N:8�_4<;C8>6M�r6:@;48=4D�R=467;E�J�W<;4�P7CDI�:N�d4D48<?�L<B�R6N:854O467��H�n�!��l!����Hd:8M>6M�p:=486O467<?�WA<6M4E�L4;;:6;�N8:O�K8<6;N:8O<7>:6;�L4D�@I�3:@487�p<74;�:N�iji�<6D�d8<65>;�W:??>6;�:N�eYu��H�lT�̂��H�h�f���!�[�����!�������H��������HJ�g4;7�X8<57>54;�pC>D4�N:8�_>7>M<7>6M�3>;v�>6�7A4�r;4�:N�P:5><?�_4D><��H�F����\w��HJ�g4;7�X8<57>54;�pC>D4�7:�Y6N:8O<7>:6�P45C8>7I��H����H�t���H��o�f�hT�G���������Z�n�f����T�������Ho�����f�����!��l�q�����R6M<M>6M�<�_C?7>xp4648<7>:6<?�y:8vN:854E�X8<57>5<?�JD=>54�N:8�p:=486O467�_<6<M48;��H�[�����̂����f���Z�������z�Z�YO9?4O467>6M�K4?4B:8vE�L4;;:6;�L4<864D�N8:O�d:C8�d4D48<?�JM465>4;��H�[�����tT�\ �fH�{�����o��!�����H�_>7>M<7>6M�3>;v;�>6�7A4�J99?>5<7>:6�:N�W?:CD�W:O9C7>6M�>6�L<B�R6N:854O467��H�t����l�f���WA<??46M4|M:=E�r;>6M�W:O947>7>:6;�<6D�JB<8D;�7:�P9C8�Y66:=<7>:6��H�]� ����T�c����m�y:8v>6M�7A4�e47B:8vE�J�_<6<M48Q;�pC>D4�N:8�r;>6M�KB>7748�>6�p:=486O467��H�����������



����������	
����������������
������������������������������������ !"�#$���#$��%�# �&� ���'()�*�# ���+�������(��!#�����+�,�%��#-�# �� !-�.� �������������#$�+��!.! � ���$!�����!�#��+�#�/��""�������� ��!-"��%!#�� ����++�� !%�#�����+���%��#-�# �� � ���+�$���.&�� � �&�.���.&��#$�!# ��#� !�#�.�.�%�.�0������	
���1��21�
�������3����4��5! ����#��. �# ���#$�"��+���!�#�.�� �++�!#�-���� ��#�678����# �!����.�9�..:&�'()�,.�9�.�(��!#����;��%!����!�� ���/��.$<��.����� ���#��. !#�����%!��������#!=� !�#0�'()�,.�9�.�(��!#����;��%!����"��%!$����.!�# ��/! ��9��!#����"��>������#$�!#$�� �:��?"�� !��&���$��"��#$��� �#$!#���+� ���#�.��:���.� !�#�� �� ��$$������"��!@��!#$�� �:�!�����&��#$� ����9!.! :� ��$��!�#&�9�!.$&��#$���#� �������.� !�#��!#���/�:� �� �$�.!%����9�  �->.!#��%�.��0����.���#�-����%!�! A�!9-0��-B�������������2���CD2��1�EF�����GH?��� !%��I!��� ��'()�*�# ���+�������(��!#�����+�,�%��#-�# 788�6J ��; ��� �K5;���#$�L.���5���!#� �#&�I*�M888NM8M>NN6>OPJM/�9�! �A�///09��!#����+��%��#-�# 0����>-�!.A�9��!#����+��%��#-�# Q��0!9-0��-
3�2R�4��4��S�T���������	
���������C
��&���#$����:����#�-���#$��>-�!.� ������!%������#�/�.�  ���0�



The Florida Association of Counties surveyed county managers asking the following questions and the 
feedback we received.   

1. Are there reports that you submit to the state and uncertain if they lead to actionable items or 
changes? 

2. If so, please list the top 3 reports required by the state that you feel fall in this category. 
   

• Section 760.80, Florida Statutes requires reporting of minority representation on boards, 
commissions, councils, and committee annually to the Secretary of State. 

• The Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) Land and Water Survey 
• The Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) County Reporting Form – this one is 

disseminated to an independent taxpayer review committee and the County is assigned a 
“grade” on various aspects of local government.  

• Florida Statutes 125.66 (2) (b) Certified copies of ordinances or amendments thereto enacted 
under this regular enactment procedure shall be filed with the Department of State by the clerk 
of the board of county commissioners within 10 days after enactment by said board and shall 
take effect upon filing with the Department of State. However, any ordinance may prescribe a 
later effective date. In lieu of delivery of the certified copies of the enacted ordinances or 
amendments by first-class mail, the clerk of the board of county commissioners shall transmit 
the enacted ordinances or amendments to the department by e-mail. The department shall 
confirm by e-mail the receipt and effective date of the ordinances or amendments with the clerk 
of the board of county commissioners. 

• Florida Administrative Code - 1B-24.003 Records Retention Scheduling and Disposition 

(11) Each agency shall submit to the Division, once a year, a signed statement attesting to the 
agency’s compliance with records management laws, rules, and procedures. 

(12) The Division shall compile an annual summary of agency records scheduling and disposition 
activities to inform the Governor and the Legislature regarding statewide records management 
practices and program compliance. 

• Independent Accountants’ Report Required by Section 29.0085, Florida Statutes  
• Assessment of Additional Court Costs Report Required by Section 939.185, Florida Statutes  
• Local Government Report that was established in legislature two or three years ago that is 

submitted to Economic and Demographic Research (EDR).  Had to fill out the adopted and 
amended budget information and permanent FTEs information, then employees in other areas 
had to provide debt figures, affordable housing expenditures, and seasonal/temporary FTE 
information.  This took several hours of staff time from multiple Divisions. 

• Local Government Economic Development Incentives Survey.  Reporting on dollar amounts we 
paid under the QTI and PCBI programs, payments to Central Florida Development Council 
(CFDC), the amount of revenue we did not receive as a result of the AVTE program, and 
information provided by CFDC, detailing how they spent the money we gave them over the past 
fiscal year.  

• The quarterly and annual State Article V reports that take a lot of time for one of our Budget 
Analysts to prepare each year.  These reports detail revenue and expenditures in relation to 
court related functions that County is involved in. 
 



 



 

 

Local Government Financial Reporting Comments 

Section 166.241(4), Florida Statutes, requires each county and municipality to electronically submit 
specified information regarding the final budget and the economic status of the local government to the 
Office of Economic and Demographic Research (EDR), by October 15 of each year.  

Comment: Sections 129.06(2) and 166.241(5), F.S., allow a governing body, within the first 60 
days of a fiscal year, to amend the budget for the prior fiscal year. This means that the figures 
that are reported may be different the next year. Also, budgeted expenses are not audited and 
are not the same as actuals. Other state reporting requirements, the Annual Financial Report 
and the Annual Financial Audit Report, are based on audited actuals. This means the reported 
data may be inconsistent across these requirements. 

Specific Information Required for Submission to EDR:  

1. Government spending per resident, including the rate for the five preceding fiscal years 
 
Comment: EDR interprets this requirement to mean total government spending from all funds, 
not just the general operating fund. This means that municipalities whose spending reflects a 
higher level of services, such as utilities or police and fire, are compared to municipalities with 
lower overall expenditures, which may reflect a lower level of services or fewer services.  
 
The type of data required by EDR for this item has varied from year-to-year, which makes 
comparison even within the same city difficult.  For example, municipal budget officers were 
asked to only report Total Government Spending by Category for FY 2020-21 based on the final 
adopted budget, but to report data for FY 2019-20 based on the most recent amended or final 
budget. For FY 2018-19 and prior fiscal years, EDR will use information from each 
government’s Annual Financial Reports that were submitted to the Department of Financial 
Services pursuant to s. 218.32, F.S.  

 
2. Government debt per resident, including the rate for the five preceding fiscal years  

 
Comment: EDR interprets this to require total government debt from all funds, not just the 
general operating fund. Total debt from all funds would include municipalities that have utility 
debt, lines of credit to deal with disasters, or other loans not funded out of the general fund. EDR 
also excludes Covenant to Budget and Appropriate (CBA) which is a common financing tool for 
local governments. These differences mean that “government debt per resident” is not a useful 
comparison metric among cities.  
 
Also, the 2020 reporting form (which is different than 2019) asks for the “cost to pay off current 
debt obligations,” only including principal which does not account for cities that have saved 



taxpayer dollars by taking advantage of lower interest rates by issuing new debt or refinancing 
outstanding debt. 
 
The data point puts a value judgment on debt – that debt is something to be avoided.  This value 
judgment is incorrect.  For example, a lower debt burden could simply mean a government has 
not made appropriate investment in keeping up with critical infrastructure needs.  
 

3. Median income within the county or municipality 
 
Comment: EDR supplies this from U.S. Census Bureau, 2014-2018 American Community Survey 5- 
year estimates. The timeline of this data does not line up with the reporting year.  
 

4. Average county or municipal employee salary 
 
Comment: This data point does not account for variations among cities, which limits the data’s 
utility as a comparative tool. A few examples of these variations: 

• Cities that outsource their services (police, solid waste, landscaping, etc.) may have 
lower average employee salaries but the overall expenditures for resulting service may 
be the same  

• Cities that have police/fire versus those that do not 
• Cities in areas with a higher or lower cost-of-living  

 
5. Percent of the entity’s budget spent on salaries and benefits for the entity’s employees 

 
Comment: This data point does not account for variations among cities (see above).  In addition, 
local governments’ classification of employee benefits differ significantly, which would not be 
apparent in the reported data. 
 

6. Number of special taxing districts that are located wholly or partially within the county or 
municipality. 
 
Comment: As of the 2020 reporting cycle, this information is supplied by EDR. 

Affordable Housing reporting requirements were added during the 2020 legislative session. Chapter 
2020-27, Laws of Florida, requires each county and municipal budget officer to report the jurisdiction’s 
budgeted expenditures for affordable housing and indicate the appropriate funding sources for each 
type of affordable housing expenditure. 

Comment: This requirement is duplicative.  Local SHIP administrators are already required to 
submit an Annual Report with specific information on affordable housing to the Florida Housing 
Finance Corporation. 

  



 

 

Overall Recommendations: 

Local Government Reporting and Web Posting Requirements  
• Recommend repeal of section 166.241(4) (annual reporting to EDR).  In the alternative, 

recommend this requirement undergo periodic sunset review to assess relative costs vs 
benefits of the requirement and to provide an opportunity to make improvements and 
updates.  

 
• Recommend periodic sunset review of all reporting and web posting requirements to 

assess costs vs benefits and to provide an opportunity to make improvements and 
updates. 

 
Legal Notice Requirements 

• Recommend updating Chapter 50, F.S., to authorize electronic publication in lieu of 
newspaper publication. 

  
Municipal Ordinance Adoption 

• Recommend aligning municipal process for ordinance adoption in Chapter 166, F.S., 
with county process for ordinance adoption in Chapter 125, F.S. 

 
Physical Quorum for Local Meetings 

• Recommend amending chapters 125 and 166 to authorize municipalities and counties to 
adopt written procedures for waiving physical quorum requirements in emergency 
circumstances where a physical meeting would endanger public health or safety or 
would endanger the health or safety of members of the governing body. 

 



Local Government Efficiency 
Task Force

Rebecca O’Hara, Deputy General Counsel
Florida League of Cities, Inc.



Top Efficiency Issues Identified by 
City Managers, Finance Officers, City Clerks & City Attorneys

• Municipal Ordinance Adoption

• Waiver of Physical Quorum in Emergencies 

• Legal Notice Requirements

• Statutory Reporting Requirements



Municipal Ordinance Adoption

• Municipalities – a proposed ordinance may be read by title, or in full, on at least two separate days and shall, at 
least 10 days prior to adoption, be noticed once in a newspaper of general circulation within the municipality.  
Section 166.041(3)(a), F.S.

• Counties – may enact or amend any ordinance…if notice of intent to consider such ordinance is given at least 10 
days prior to said meeting by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county.  Section 125.66(2)(a), 
F.S.

• It is unclear why municipal ordinances are subject to the “two separate day” requirement.

• The requirement for two ordinance readings on two separate days is a built-in inefficiency for the conduct of 
public business.



Waiver of Physical Quorum in Emergencies

• Section 286.011, F.S. (Sunshine Law) – meetings “at which official acts are to be taken are declared to be public 
meetings open to public at all times” (silent on quorum requirement)

• Section 166.041(4), F.S. – “A majority of the members of the governing body shall constitute a quorum.  An 
affirmative vote of the majority of the quorum present is necessary to enact any ordinance or adopt any 
resolution”

• AGO 2020-03 (March 19, 2020)
“Unless and until legislatively or judicially determined otherwise, if a quorum is required to conduct official 
business, local government bodies may only conduct meetings by teleconferencing or other technological 
means if either a statute permits a quorum to be present by means other than in-person, or the in-person 
requirement for constituting a quorum is lawfully suspended during the state of emergency.”

• AGO’s recognize the AG’s interpretation that 166.041 requires a physical quorum is a “conservative” construction 
and that is it not a requirement of the Sunshine Law.

• Executive Order 20-69 suspended any statute that requires a quorum be present in-person and permitted local 
government bodies to use technology for such meetings.  This order was extended on several occasions, typically 
with short notice.

• Local governments faced dilemma about how to properly notice meetings scheduled to occur after the expiration 
of the Executive Order and how to safely and efficiently conduct public business.



Legal Notice Requirements – Chapter 50, F.S.

• Government legal notices must be in a newspaper meeting the following qualifications:
o Published at least once/week
o At least 25% of words in English
o Considered a periodical by the U.S. Post Office
o For sale to the general public
o Contains information of interest to general public in affected area

• If the newspaper has a website, the notice must be published online the same day, published at no additional 
charge

• Fees set by statute – 70 cents per square inch for first and 40 cents per square inch for subsequent insertion



Legal Notice Requirements – Chapter 50, F.S., Cont’d

• CS/CS/HB 7 (Fine) & SB 1340 (Gruters) filed in 2020 legislative session

• Allowed gov’ts the option to publish legal notices on a publicly accessible website
o In non-fiscally constrained counties, gov’t agencies could publish online if would result in cost savings
o In fiscally constrained counties (currently 29), agency must make determination at public meeting that 

online notice would be less expensive than newspaper, and that it would not unreasonably restrict access 
to notices given conditions in the area

o Residents or property owners could opt to receive notices via first class mail or email upon registration with 
agency

• HB 35 (Fine) has been filed for 2021 legislative session



Statutory Reporting Requirements 

Financial Reporting Requirements Example:

• Local governments required to file an annual financial report with DFS after end of fiscal year.  Section 218.32, F.S.
• Local governments required to conduct annual financial audit after end of fiscal year.  Section 218.39, F.S.
• Local governments required to file annually specified financial information with EDR by Oct. 15. Section 

166.241(4), F.S. (effective 2019)
o Spending per resident
o Debt per resident
o Average employee salary
o Number of special taxing districts
o Percent of budget spent on salaries and benefits
o Annual expenditures for affordable housing

• The EDR report data is not as reliable because the report is due prior to close out and reconciliation of annual 
financial information.

• The value of the EDR data for comparing local governments is questionable
• Only two reporting cycles have occurred since passage of EDR requirement



Statutory Reporting Requirements – Cont’d

• No overwhelming consensus on other reporting requirements (likely due to survey size and response time)
• Common examples included:

o Appointments of disabled or minority Persons. Section 760.80, F.S. (1994)
• Annual report to Sec’y of State, Governor, and legislature of appointments; info describing each person’s 

race, ethnicity, gender, disability must be available for public inspection. 

o Defined benefit pension plan reporting requirements  
• Section 112.664, F.S. – report annual financial statements to DMS
• 112.665(1)(e), F.S. – provide fact sheet summarizing plan actuarial status; posted on DMS website
• This information is already required by section 112.63; requires expenditures for additional actuarial 

services; purpose for fact sheet unclear.

o Impact fee studies and reporting.  Section 163.31801(11), F.S.
• New 2020 requirement for info in addition to what is provided in annual financial reports

o CRA audits and reporting. Section 163.387(8), F.S.
• Same data included in reports to DFS. New requirement in 2019.



Suggestions

• Reporting and Web Posting Requirements 
o Recommend statutory reporting and web posting requirements be subject to periodic sunset review 
o Periodic review would help assess relative costs vs benefits and provide opportunity for update

• Legal Notice – recommend updating Chp. 50 to authorize electronic publication in lieu of newspaper publication

• Municipal Ordinance Adoption – recommend aligning municipal process in Chp. 166 with county process in Chp. 
125

• Physical Quorum – recommend clarifying Chps. 125 and 166 to authorize municipalities and counties to adopt 
procedures for waiving physical quorum requirements in extraordinary circumstances



Thank You



Special Districts in Florida
Local Government Efficiency Task Force

February 22, 2021



“The government closest to the people serves the 
people best.”

Thomas Jefferson



Special District Definition

• Unit of local government created for a special purpose, as opposed 
to a general purpose, that has jurisdiction to operate within a 
limited geographic boundary and is created by:

• General Law;

• Special Act;

• Local Ordinance; or

• Rule of the Governor and Cabinet



History

• Benjamin Franklin created the first special district in 1736

•Union Fire Company of Philadelphia

•Residents in a certain neighborhood paid a fee to receive fire 
protection service

•Those who did not pay the fee, did not receive service



Florida History

• The first special districts in Florida were created almost 200 years 
ago

•Only two cities at the time:  Pensacola and St. Augustine

• Entire territory consisted of two large counties (Escambia and St. Johns) 
divided by the Suwanee River

•No roads at the time, so territorial legislators had to make the long sea 
voyage between the co-capitols (Pensacola and St. Augustine)

• In 1822, legislators voted to establish a more convenient location for the 
capitol:  Tallahassee

• That same year, legislators authorized creation of the first special districts by 
enacting the Road, Highway, and Ferry Act of 1822

• Special purpose was to establish and maintain public roads

•No tax authority

• Labor needs solved by conscription – men failing to report to work were 
fined $1/day



Florida History

• In 1845, the Legislature created the first special district by special 
act

•The special purpose was to drain the “Alachua Savannah”

•Governed by five commissioners

•Project financed by assessments on landowners based on the number 
of acres owned and benefit derived



Florida History

• In 1907, Governor Broward pushed the Legislature to create the 
Everglades Drainage District, with the special purpose of draining 
and reclaiming flooded lands

• Landowners who received a benefit were assessed at 5 cents/acre 
of land

• In 1949, the Legislature replaced the EDD by creating the Central 
and Southern Flood Control District

• In 1972, the Legislature created the 5 water management districts 
(SFWMD encompassed the lands within the old CSFCD)

• In 1976, voters approved a constitutional amendment giving the 
districts ad valorem tax authority.



Florida History

• The popularity of special districts to fund public works continued 
through the end of the 19th century as more settlers came to 
Florida

• By the 1920s, the population had increased substantially in 
response to the Florida land boom

• Many districts were created to finance large engineering projects

• Many, like the Florida Inland Navigation District, are still in 
existence today

• By the 1930s, a surge of new residents created a need for the first 
mosquito eradication district



What Are Special Districts?

• Focused, local government units that address specific, 
community needs

• Most have single authorized purpose, to provide some service 
or infrastructure

• Most are governed by elected boards

• 1,782 active special districts in  Florida. Compare to:

• Illinois: 3,227
• California: 2,861
• Texas: 2,600
• Colorado: 2,392
• Missouri: 1,854
• Pennsylvania: 1,756
• Kansas: 1,523

*Source – U.S. Census Bureau, 2012 Census of Governments



Special Districts Functions

• Special districts provide literally every governmental service or 
infrastructure imaginable

• The Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District 
Accountability Program recognizes 79 different special purposes 
served by special districts  

• The only municipal service a special district cannot provide is police 
service



Special Districts Functions

• Top 10 (out of 79) Purposes as of July 1, 2020:
• Community Development 726

• Community Redevelopment 224

• Housing Authorities 91

• Drainage and Water Control 83

• Fire Control and Rescue 64

• Soil and Water Conservation 57

• Neighborhood Enhancement 47

• Neighborhood Improvement 27

• Hospital (various types) 27

• Health Facilities 26



Special Districts Facts

• Every parcel in Florida is covered by at least one special district

• Districts are more numerous in Florida as one moves from north to 
south

 Some North Florida counties have no more that 3 or 4 special districts

 Hillsborough County has the most at 166 districts

• Some special districts are large and operate in multiple counties (e.g. 
Five water management districts and Florida Inland Navigation 
District)

• Other special districts serve small neighborhoods using all volunteer 
staff

• Many special districts operate with very little funding (less than 
$3,000 per year) or no funding at all

• Most special districts do not have taxing authority (only 206)



• Independent Special Districts 
have an independent governing 
board (elected or appointed), 
which establishes its own budget 
and collects taxes, assessments 
or fees, and spends them 
without oversight of city or 
county. 

• There are 1,153 independent
special districts in Florida.

Special Districts Facts

• Dependent Special Districts 
functionally operate as an arm 
of either a city, county or state 
agency.

• There are 629 dependent 
special districts in Florida. 

Special Districts are either Independent or Dependent.



• Like counties and cities, special districts:

• Provide necessary infrastructure and services to a community.

• May have the authority to levy ad valorem taxes, non-ad valorem 
assessments, impact fees and other user fees and charges, depending 
on authorizing act.

• Are subject to the Sunshine law, public records laws, ethics laws, 
financial reporting laws, etc.

Special Districts Facts



• Unlike counties and cities, special districts:

• Do not have “local home rule” power and may only do those 
things explicitly authorized by the Constitution, general law or 
special act.

• Can not tax or charge someone that does not receive a benefit.

• Can only spend money for the purpose(s) provided in enabling act, 
but cannot spend on general public health, safety, and welfare.

• Governing board members generally receive little or no 
compensation.

• Generally derive all revenue from local sources (no revenue from 
state fuel tax, sales tax, communications services tax, etc.)

Special Districts Facts



Special Districts Benefits

• Provide necessary infrastructure and/or services when a county or city is 
unwilling or unable – or when need overlaps jurisdictional boundaries.

• Provide the infrastructure and/or services without burdening taxpayers that 
do not benefit

• Save tax-payer money through:

• tax exempt bonds for infrastructure;

• purchasing tax-free essential goods and services; and

• sovereign immunity.

• Ability to focus on a specific community need for service or infrastructure. 

• Accountability of public resources – special districts are held to the same 
high standards as cities and counties (Sunshine, Ethics, Financial, etc.) 



Accountability

• Since 1980, FASD has worked cooperatively with the 
Legislature to create laws improving special district 
accountability.  Examples include:
• Section 197.3632 – first class mail notice and public 

hearings before imposition of non-ad valorem 
assessments (1988)

• Chapter 189 – Uniform Special District Accountability Act 
(1989)

• Chapter 191 – Independent Special Fire Control District 
Act (1997)

• (2014) – Reorganization of Ch. 189



Accountability to Local Government

• Accountable to and must cooperate and coordinate 
with county or city within which the district is 
located

• Special districts must inform the appropriate 
county/city by filing:
• Budget, tax levy or financial information

• Public facilities reports 

• Registered agent and registered office 

• Regular public meeting schedule



Accountability to State Government

• Each special district must file:
• Registered agent/office information, creation documents, 

boundary maps and official website address (DEO)

• Annual Financial Audit (DFS)

• Financial Audit Report (Auditor General)

• Bond financing information, if applicable (Division of 
Bond Finance, State Board of Administration)

• Retirement plan reports, if applicable (DMS, Division of 
Retirement)



Oversight and Enforcement

• Similar to oversight and enforcement for cities and 
counties
• Governing board responsible for complying with law and 

charter
• Public meeting and records law provides oversight by 

citizens and media
• Citizens can contact state attorneys for public 

meeting/records violations and others
• Florida Commission on Ethics investigates and punishes 

ethics violations
• Independent CPAs conducting required financial audits 

must report suspected illegal activity to governing body 
or FDLE



Oversight and Enforcement

• Florida Auditor General’s Office
• Performs desk audits on Financial Audit reports

• Tracks findings repeated for more than 2 years and reports to 
JLAC for possible state action

• Joint Legislative Auditing Committee:
• Investigates audit matters, use subpoena power and order state 

audit by Florida Auditor General

• Request DEO to file a petition for enforcement in circuit court or 
declare a district inactive for dissolution when the district fails to 
comply with financial reporting requirements

• Florida Governor:
• Monitors special districts and provides assistance when a district 

meets one or more financial emergency conditions

• Suspend or remove governing board members



Oversight and Enforcement

• County/City (dependent districts)
• Remove governing board members

• Deny approval of budget

• Veto budget

• Amend district’s charter

• Merge

• Dissolve



2012 Review of Special Districts

In his first year of office (2012), Governor Rick Scott issued Executive Order 12-10 for 
the Governor’s Office of Policy and Budget to:

• (C)onduct a deliberate and thorough examination of special districts in the 
State of Florida, and to make recommendations on the role of special districts 
in the State, with a special focus on increasing efficiency, fiscal accountability, 
and the transparency and operations to the public.

• Review began with the 18 mosquito control districts (MCDs)

• Final report noted:

 Though Ch. 388 gives MCDs up to 10.0 mills of ad valorem tax authority, 
the highest levy was 1.0 mill with all other MCD levies between 0.02 and 
0.5 mills.

 During economic downturn, most MCDs reduced tax revenues and 
adopted either rolled-back rate or lower.

 Prior to downturn, many MCDs accumulated reserves which were utilized 
during downturn to reduce tax burden to residents.

 From FY 2006-07 to FY 2011-12, MCD taxes dropped by 14% total, and 
when accounted for inflation, 22%



2012 Review of Special Districts

Report found advantages and disadvantages:
• Advantages:

Main benefit from the independent special district model for mosquito control is 
the ability to concentrate only on mosquito control. With a county providing 
mosquito control, mosquito control is a secondary objective and may not receive 
the focus needed.

 Revenue remains more constant and service provided on more consistent basis.

 Due to independent nature of operations, there tends to be a high level of 
innovation and utilization of existing resources.

 Elected officials of independent district are more readily accessible to taxpayers.

• Disadvantages:

 Possible duplication of services in administrative functions (e.g. human resources, 
IT). If part of a county, some positions might not be necessary.

 Possible cost savings in benefits from larger employee pool at a county.

No other reports were published.



Chapter 2014-22, Laws of Florida 
(SB 1632)

• In 2014, Rep. Larry Metz (R-Lake County) intensely 
scrutinized special districts and added several new 
transparency and accountability measures, including:
• Increased DEO and JLAC enforcement of reporting 

requirements

• Requiring districts to maintain websites with specified 
information (not required of counties/cities)

• Ensured applicability of Code of Ethics to special districts

• Prohibiting inactive districts from collecting taxes, fees and 
assessments

• Enhanced the Governor’s power to remove district board 
members



Merger/Dissolution

• Current law already provides procedures for merger 
or dissolution of special districts (Ch. 189 – Part VII)
• Dependent districts (Merger/Dissolution)

• By ordinance of the county/city where district is located
• County cannot dissolve a district dependent to a city and vice 

versa
• Only the Legislature can merge/dissolve a district created by 

special act.
• Assets and liabilities accrue to the local general purpose 

government

• Independent districts (Dissolution)
• Legislature passes special act dissolving district and residents 

approve by vote
• Assets and liabilities accrue to the local general purpose 

government.



Merger/Dissolution

• Independent districts (Merger)
• Special act – the Legislature can merge districts created by special 

act
• Voluntary – Two contiguous districts with similar functions and 

elected governing boards can merge into a single district:
• Joint Resolution

• Both governing boards agree
• Joint merger plan (costs, benefits, etc.)
• Public notice and hearings
• Must be approved by referendum of residents in both districts
• Special act of Legislature

• Citizen Petition Initiative
• Submit petitions from residents of both districts
• Supervisor of Elections verifies petitions
• Governing boards must approve a merger plan
• Public notice and hearings
• Must be approved by referendum of residents of districts
• Special Act of Legislature



Merger/Dissolution

• Involuntary Merger
• Legislature can merge districts created by special act

• Merger must be approved at referendum by residents of both 
districts

• County/city can merge independent districts created by the 
county/city.  If the district has ad valorem authority, the same 
procedure required to grant tax power is required to merge (i.e. 
referendum).



Merger/Dissolution Considerations

• Residents are the ones with the most to gain or lose

• Residents should be the driving force behind 
decision to merge or dissolve. 



Dissolution Considerations

• Dissolution
• Is service/infrastructure no longer needed or desired?  

There are mechanisms in law to dissolve.  USE THEM!

• If the service/infrastructure is still needed, some entity 
(state/county/city) will have to provide the service. 



Merger/ Consolidation Considerations

• Creates taxpayer winners and losers
• Unless millage rates are equal prior to merger, some residents 

will pay higher taxes while others will be lower

• Some residents will subsidize service for others

• Financial cost or savings?
• Proponents claim savings will be achieved through merger. 

• Claimed savings/efficiencies should be carefully studied.

• Bigger government is generally not better or cheaper.

• Large-scale merger of fire districts historically increases costs
• Charlotte County: 1986 - $1.6 m vs 1998 - $9.5 m 

• Orange County: 1981 - $12.7 m vs. 1985 - $22.6 m 

• Palm Beach County: 1985 - $61.1 m vs 1997 $100.8 m

• Sarasota County: 1996 - $25.8 m vs. 1997 $32.9 m



Merger/ Consolidation Considerations

• Accountability/Responsiveness to Residents
• Special district governing boards must be residents

• Due to smaller geographic footprint, board members are 
truly neighbors, unlike city or county

• Merger/consolidation takes decision making out of the 
community 

• Fire districts have millage caps 
• General law (3.75 mills) or special law (usually less)

• Merger/consolidation with a county (10 mills) or city (10 mills) 
creates possibility of higher taxes



Inefficiencies

• Legal Notice – Update Ch. 50 to allow electronic 
publication in lieu of newspaper publication.
• Very expensive

• Less effective 

• Removal of public meeting physical quorum 
requirement in extraordinary or emergency 
circumstances
• Unnecessarily exposes board and staff to COVID

• Last-minute EO extensions caused uncertainty, 
administrative burden and duplication (e.g. re-notice 
meetings)



Inefficiencies

• Special District Fuel Tax Exemption
• Cities, counties and school districts get refund of taxes 

paid on gas (15.1 cents/gallon) and diesel (14.1 
cents/gallon) used for official purposes.

• Special districts must use taxpayer dollars to pay the fuel 
tax - one government paying another.

• Remove unnecessary permit/mitigation 
requirements
• Districts that maintain rights-of-way often required to 

obtain city/county permits and pay mitigation (e.g. plant 
new trees)

• Inefficient use of special district time and taxpayer 
dollars.



Inefficiencies

• Repeal/Modify Certificate of Public Convenience and 
Necessity (COPCN)
• Cities and fire districts are required to obtain a county 

permit to provide basic life support, advanced life support 
or transport.

• County is not required to adopt standards for permit 
issuance/denial nor is there an appeal right if denied.

• This bureaucracy increases costs, decreases efficiency and 
jeopardizes public safety. 



Other Organizations

• Florida Redevelopment Association

• Association of Florida Community Developers

• Florida Ports Council 

• Florida Airports Council 

• Florida Safety Net Hospital Alliance 

• Florida Children’s Services Council

• Florida Mosquito Control Association

• Florida Stormwater Association

• Florida Rural Water Association 

• Florida Beach and Shore Preservation Association

• Florida Library Association 

• Florida Recreation and Parks Association



Thank you!

M. Christopher Lyon, Esq.
Lewis, Longman & Walker, P.A.

315 S. Calhoun Street, Suite 830
Tallahassee, FL 32301

(850) 222-5702
clyon@llw-law.com



Task Force Members’ Interests for Future Initiatives 

Local Government Administration and Operations 

1. Elections 
• Changing elections to same date statewide, cost savings 
• Election Cycles: Off-cycle elections are expensive and usually have significantly less turnout therefore 

they are inherently inefficient. I am not referring to special elections that may occur due to vacancy. 
However, being a supporter of many elements of home rule; perhaps if a local government wishes to 
engage in the practice of off cycle elections then maybe it should affect their access to state funds.  As 
much as possible of FSS Chapters 97-107 should be uniform throughout the state.     

• Early Voting Sites: Due to the impacts on infrastructure from Hurricane Michael, counties in the 
panhandle region have been granted greater elasticity, by executive order, to select locations for early 
voting. Perhaps these standards should be statutorily expanded statewide, as early voting has proven 
to be both popular and efficient.  

2. Public Meetings 
• Legal notices, one public hearing in city government 
• Virtual meetings and let cities/counties implement in extraordinary circumstances, i.e. state of 

emergency or local emergency 
• Waiver of physical quorum in meetings, regular , land-use etc. 
• Interlocal agreements honored to eliminate duplicative services between local governments and 

possibly county, ie. Merge transit with incentives for both to do as a money loser. 
• Printed Public Notification Requirements FSS Chapters 50, 166 etc.: Change statutory requirements to 

permit full migration to digital platforms to increase outreach and reduce costs. This should also 
provide greater transparency.    

• Second Reading for Municipal Ordinances: Eliminate the requirement. Treat all local governments the 
same.  

3. Reporting 
• Financial Reporting: Local Governments should not be compelled, by the state, to produce specific 

reports for research or reference. If needed components can be included in Annual Reports or CAFR’s 
to fulfill specific requirements, that seems reasonable.  

• Repetitive reporting and possible sunsetting so these rules get examined maybe every 10 years. 
Statute reporting requirements and is it necessary, costs - vs- benefits 

4. Pension Plans (FSS Chapters 175 & 185): What specific barriers exist that impede migration into FRS?  

5. Unfunded mandates, state must provide funding if required 

Business Requirements 

6. Local Business Tax  (LBT) Occupancy License     
• LBT  Redundancy: Without getting into the home rule aspects of this, at a minimum, I would just 

address this: Should a business located within a municipality also be required obtain a county LBT 
certificate?  

• LBT required for Home Based Businesses: This seems odd. Why is this necessary? 

7. Mandate Electronic Permitting Capability (Submissions, Adjustments and Payments). Welcome to the 21st 
Century.   



Facilities and Utilities 

8. Local Government Facilities: How can state government compel or perhaps incentivize, the collaboration 
of multiple government entities in the same community, when they are building new or expanding existing 
facilities?  (Counties, County Constitutional Officer’s Operations, Special Districts, School Districts, 
Municipalities) The fewer fully exempted parcels on a tax roll the better.  

9. WMD’s and Local Government (Water Management & Stormwater) Should review be required by both 
local authority and WMD district?  

Special Purpose Local Governments 

10. Special Districts 
• Look at all special districts. Duplicative reporting, justifying continuing with that special district and is it 

still meeting the original guidelines when put in place 
• Special Districts: How can they be more efficient operationally, both in the normal course of business 

and within an emergency management framework?   

Miscellaneous 

11. COVID -19 Related Local Government Efficiencies: Right now, I would just say we should leave some space 
for this one as events continue to unfold. 

12. Occupational licenses – not interested in removing in chartered governments for public safety purposes 
only. It does have a public safety component due to, way to know what services/businesses your govt. has 
available in case of an emergency. 

13. Minority reporting - not interested in removing until we see if there has been a cost savings versus benefits 
to the governments. 



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Community Redevelopment 
Agencies (CRAs)

House Local, Federal & Veterans Affairs 
Subcommittee

Laila Racevskis, PhD, Senior Legislative Analyst

February 15, 2017



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Legislative Scope

 OPPAGA CRA review addressed
 Primary activities  

 Governance structure 

 Funding mechanisms

 Program/project overlap  

 Achievement of established goals 

 Options for improvement 

2



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

BACKGROUND

3



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

CRAs Created to Revitalize Slum and Blighted 
Areas 

4

 Community Redevelopment Act provided funding 
for local redevelopment efforts
 1969 act stated that local governments can establish 

CRAs in areas containing slum or blight where there is a 
shortage of affordable housing and where 
redevelopment is in the interest of public welfare

 2002 act amendment stipulated that lack of affordable 
housing no longer an independent reason for creating a 
CRA



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

219 Active CRAs; Number per County Varies 
Widely

5



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

6



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

What Are the Primary Activities of CRAs? 

 OPPAGA survey shows most frequently reported 
CRA activities include
 Enhancing appearance of residential or commercial 

areas (64%)

 Rehabilitating commercial properties (42%)

 Improving transportation infrastructure (28%)

 Improving utilities (28%)

7



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

How Are CRAs Governed? 

 76% governed by a board that mirrors or is very 
similar to the local government that oversees the 
CRA

 72% of OPPAGA survey respondents reported that 
their board membership consists solely of elected 
officials

 27% of OPPAGA survey respondents reported that 
private citizens serve on their board

8



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

How Are CRAs Funded? 

 Tax increment financing is primary source of 
funding

 For Fiscal Year 2014-15, CRAs reported 
 $594.4 million in revenues
 $605.2 million in expenditures
 $714.5 million in debt 

 During a 10-year period, CRAs issued $1.35 billion 
in bonds  

9



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Do CRA Programs and Projects Overlap With 
Those of Other Entities? 

 47% of survey respondents do not think there is 
overlap between their CRA’s activities and those 
of other organizations

 39% of survey respondents reported that there is 
overlap
 Of these respondents, 97% reported that other similar 

projects may be funded by local government entities 
such as cities or counties

10



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Are CRAs Achieving Established Goals? 

 Studies of CRAs in other states show mixed results

 Recent Florida reports raised concerns about 
effectiveness

 CRAs use a variety of performance measures, but 
no standard gathering and reporting of 
performance data across CRAs

11



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

OPTIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT

12



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Improve Governance 

 Provide county taxing authorities more control 
over expenditures of CRAs created by 
municipalities

 Expand board composition to include non-elected 
citizen members

13



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Ensure Appropriate Use of Funds

 Specify types of expenditures that qualify for undertakings 
of a CRA

 Require all municipally-created CRAs to submit annual 
budget requests with sufficient time to allow the county 
commission to review

 Promote compliance with the audit requirement in 
s.163.387(8), F.S.

 Require audits to determine compliance with laws 
pertaining to expenditure and disposition of unused CRA 
trust fund moneys

14



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Enhance Accountability

 Require CRAs to submit digital map files depicting 
geographical boundaries and total acreage

 Require CRAs to annually report on a set of standard 
performance measures that include job creation, business 
establishment growth, unemployment, and other metrics 

 Require CRAs to annually submit a project list that 
includes project description, anticipated project costs, 
project expenditures, and other data

15



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

Enhance Accountability

 In order to be reauthorized, CRAs must demonstrate 
progress in areas such as business, employment, and wage 
growth as well as poverty, unemployment, and crime 
reduction 

 Create a dissolution process for CRAs that do not 
demonstrate progress during the first 20 years of 
existence or during the first 20 years since the last 
reauthorization

16



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE’S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILI TY

QUESTIONS

17



T H E  F L O R I D A  L E G I S L A T U R E ’ S  
OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY

OPPAGA supports the Florida Legislature by providing data, evaluative research, and objective analyses that assist legislative budget and policy deliberations.

Contact 
Information

Laila Racevskis, PhD
Senior Legislative Analyst

(850) 717-0524 
racevskis.laila@oppaga.fl.gov

Kara Collins-Gomez
Staff Director

(850) 717-0503 
collins-gomez.kara@oppaga.fl.gov

mailto:email@oppaga.fl.gov
mailto:collins-gomez.kara@oppaga.fl.gov


 

1 
 

December 2020  

Santa Rosa County Fire and Emergency Services 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Fifteen fire districts and departments provide fire 

services and Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 

across Santa Rosa County, along with a contracted 

ambulance service that delivers emergency and 

non-emergency ambulance-based response and 

transport services. OPPAGA’s research focuses 

primarily on a subset of the 15 entities that are 

organized as independent special fire control 

districts: Avalon, Holley-Navarre, Midway, and 

Pace. 

The fire control districts generally provide similar 

services to other fire departments but differ in life 

support services offered. The districts utilize paid, 

volunteer, and combinations of paid and volunteer 

firefighters providing services such as fire 

extinguishment, special rescue, and limited 

hazardous materials response. While all fire departments provide basic life support, some have 

capabilities for advanced life support services. 

Most requests for service are routed through a central county dispatch center and can involve 

activation of interdepartment mutual aid agreements. The majority of calls to which the fire control 

districts responded from 2017 to 2019 were rescue and medical calls, comprising over 65% of all 

incidents; fire extinguishment calls comprised less than 3%. Deploying both fire departments and 

ambulance service to EMS calls is a practice perceived by some experts as an efficient method to meet 

service demands and is a routine practice that is consistent with national patterns. 

 

SCOPE 

The Legislature directed OPPAGA to determine 
the scope of services and funding for Santa Rosa 
County’s fire districts. The review includes 

 explaining service delivery systems, 

funding mechanisms, and service costs; 

 describing current issues, including service 

and fiscal trends; 

 discussing statewide and national trends in 

fire/EMS service delivery; and 

 presenting options for improving the 

efficiency and effectiveness of county fire/ 

EMS delivery. 



 

2 
 

Over the past five years, some fire control district revenues have grown and exceeded expenditures. 

During the same period, expenditures for all four fire control districts increased, primarily due to 

personnel costs. Districts increased their budgets for the current fiscal year, and reported that if 

housing growth continues, their current budgets are sufficient to meet future needs. 

There are no mandated national or state fire service performance measurements, though the four fire 

control districts track response times as a primary performance measure. The fire control districts are 

generally meeting goals for response times, but could consider adopting additional performance 

measures to help assess operational efficiency and effectiveness. Incident data reported by fire control 

districts to the Florida Fire Incident Reporting System present additional data that districts could use 

to improve planning and self-assessment. 

INTRODUCTION 

Fire and Emergency Medical Providers in Santa Rosa County 

Santa Rosa County is a growing county in Northwest Florida. Of the state’s 67 counties, Santa Rosa is 

the 16th largest by land area (1,012 square miles) and 29th largest by population (179,054).1 

Averaging 177 residents per square mile, it is the 35th most densely populated county in the state. The 

county’s overall population has increased by 18% since 2010 and 119% since 1990.2 The 2000 Census 

reported 49,119 housing units in the county, which had grown by almost 49% to an estimated 73,067 

housing units by 2018. The estimated 2018 median value of owner-occupied housing units was 

$184,400 and the median household income was $66,242. 

Fifteen geographically and administratively separate fire districts and departments and one 

ambulance service provide fire and emergency medical services within the county. Santa Rosa 

County’s 15 fire service providers are categorized into three groups: 4 independent special fire control 

districts, 9 Municipal Service Benefit Units, and 2 municipal departments. (See Exhibit 1 for the 

location of all 15 fire districts and departments in Santa Rosa County.) 

Fire control districts are governed by Florida statutes and are “unit[s] of local government created for 

a special purpose, as opposed to a general purpose, which [have] jurisdiction to operate within a 

limited geographic boundary and [are] created by general law, special act, local ordinance, or by rule 

of the Governor and Cabinet.” 3 Santa Rosa County’s four special fire control districts are 

 Avalon Fire Rescue District; 

 Holley-Navarre Fire District; 

 Midway Fire District; and 

 Pace Fire Rescue District. 

While the Avalon, Holley-Navarre and Midway districts were recreated by special acts of legislation 

from 2003 to 2005, Pace did not begin operating as an independent special district until 2019. These 

four districts are the focus of OPPAGA’s review.  

Florida statutes allow county governments to establish Municipal Service Benefit Units (MSBUs) for 

fire protection. Santa Rosa County established the Fire District MSBU in 1990 to provide operational 

                                                           
1 Estimate as of April, 2019.  
2 Percentage changes were calculated by comparing a baseline year to 2019. The 2019 figures are based on estimates, and thus the resulting 

percentage changes are estimates. 
3 Section 189.012, F.S., and Chapter 191, F.S. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.012.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0191/0191ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2019&Title=%2D%3E2019%2D%3EChapter%20191


 

3 
 

funding for the county’s non-special fire district departments. These fire departments are non-profit 

corporations, each governed by a board of directors. Santa Rosa County’s nine MSBUs are 

 Allentown Volunteer Fire Department; 

 Bagdad Fire Department; 

 Berrydale Volunteer Fire Department; 

 East Milton Volunteer Fire Department; 

 Harold Volunteer Fire Department; 

 Jay Volunteer Fire Department; 

 Munson Volunteer Fire Department; 

 Navarre Beach Fire Department; and 

 Skyline Fire and Rescue District. 

In addition to the fire control districts and MSBUs, Santa Rosa County has two municipal fire 

departments: City of Gulf Breeze Fire Department and City of Milton Fire Department. (See Appendix 

A for more information on the county’s nine MSBUs and two municipal departments.) 



 

4 
 

Exhibit 1 

Santa Rosa County Fire District and Department Areas of Responsibility4 

 

 Source: Santa Rosa County government website. 

                                                           
4 Although Naval Air Station Whiting Field is located within Santa Rosa County, it was not individually considered in this study as it is a federal 

military installation and its fire services are funded through the Department of Defense. The Town of Jay fire services are provided by the Jay 
Volunteer Fire Department, not a town-specific department. 



 

5 
 

Santa Rosa County contracts for ambulance-based medical transport service. The county’s 

emergency and non-emergency medical services/ambulance service provider, Lifeguard Ambulance 

Services of Florida, LLC, is a key partner to the districts’ emergency response. The county does not pay 

for Lifeguard Emergency Medical Services (EMS). The contractor is paid via a patient user fee or by the 

patient’s insurance company. As of March 2020, Lifeguard provided services with 83 full-time and 43 

part-time crewmembers, responding in two-person teams comprised of an Emergency Medical 

Technician (EMT) and paramedic from up to 10 post locations. The number and location of manned 

posts may differ each day based on Lifeguard’s System Status Management plan, which in turn is driven 

by regular deployment analyses.  

Lifeguard EMS services are supplemented by Basic Life Support (BLS) and/or Advanced Life Support 

(ALS) services provided by the 15 fire service districts and departments. EMS services provided by fire 

districts and departments are performed by responding firefighters who have completed training as 

either EMTs or paramedics using medical equipment and supplies kept on the responding fire 

apparatus or other fire service vehicles. (See Appendix B for additional information on Lifeguard.) 

State law provides specific direction related to the operations and governance of independent 

special fire control districts; performance standards are outlined by national entities. 

Chapter 191, Florida Statutes, presents a range of standards, financing authority, and procedures for 

special fire control districts. 

Governance. Florida statutes authorize a five-member Board of Commissioners elected to four-year 

terms by the district’s electors to govern fire district operations and funding. All four fire control 

districts reported that their boards provide oversight on the special district’s budget and finance as 

well as the addition of new staff, station, apparatus or equipment, or any other large projects. 

Special powers. Florida statutes dictate that independent special fire control districts provide for fire 

suppression and prevention; establish and maintain emergency medical and rescue response services; 

employ, train, and equip personnel; conduct public education to prevent fires and reduce the loss of 

life and property; adopt and enforce fire safety standards and codes and enforce State Fire Marshal 

rules; conduct arson investigations; adopt hazardous material safety plans and emergency response 

plans in coordination with the county; and contract with general purpose local government for 

emergency management planning and services.5 

Funding. Fire control districts are authorized by state law to levy and assess ad valorem taxes; levy 

non-ad valorem assessments; charge user fees for special emergency services such as firefighting for 

marine vessels, aircraft, or rail cars; and impose impact fees for construction within their jurisdiction. 

State law does not prescribe performance standards for fire districts. Rather, national organizations 

provide criteria by which fire departments may set goals. These entities include the National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) and the Insurance Services Office (ISO). 

NFPA Codes. The NFPA serves as the nationally recognized source for fire service standards, and NFPA 

codes serve as the basis of the Florida Fire Prevention Code. One NFPA code fire departments 

commonly use is NFPA 1710. 6 Along with NFPA 1720, these two codes specify requirements for 

                                                           
5 The Florida Division of the State Fire Marshal is comprised of two bureaus. The Bureau of Fire Prevention conducts fire/life safety inspections 

and construction plans review on all state-owned buildings, regulates the fireworks and the fire sprinkler industries, inspects and licenses boilers, 
and certifies fire suppression industry workers. The Bureau of Firefighter Standards and Training approves firefighter training curricula, offers 
fire service training at the Florida State Fire College, and certifies that fire service members meet industry-based standards. 

6 NFPA 1710 (Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, Emergency Medical Operations, and Special 
Operations to the Public by Career Fire Departments). 



 

6 
 

effective and efficient organization and deployment of fire suppression operations, emergency medical 

operations, and special operations to the public by career, volunteer, and combination fire 

departments to protect citizens and the occupational safety and health of fire department employees.7 

NFPA codes include several recommended standards including staffing levels, training, and response 

time objectives based on department type and population density, and call type (emergency or fire). 

ISO Ratings. The ISO establishes ratings based on its “evaluation of municipal fire-protection efforts 

in communities throughout the United States.” The ISO rating serves as a reference for insurance 

companies in setting property insurance rates. The ratings are based on a 1 to 10 scale where 1 is best 

and 10 is worst.8 Typically, a better classification resulting from enhanced fire protection leads to 

lower insurance premiums; service improvements may include construction of more fire stations and 

modernization of communication and dispatch systems.  

FINDINGS 

Fire control districts provide comparable services and primarily 

respond to medical incidents 

Santa Rosa County’s fire control districts generally provide similar services to other fire departments. 

Most requests for service are routed through a central county dispatch center and can involve 

activation of interdepartment mutual aid agreements. The majority of calls to which the fire control 

districts responded from 2017 to 2019 were rescue and medical calls, comprising over 65% of all 

incidents; fire extinguishment calls comprised less than 3%. Deploying both fire departments and 

ambulance service to EMS calls is a routine practice and perceived by some experts as an efficient 

method to meet service demands and is a routine practice that is consistent with national patterns. 

Fire control districts generally provide similar services to other fire departments, but differ in 

life support services offered 

All four fire control districts provide some common services. These are fire protection services and fire 

safety education, as well as some level of preliminary/operational hazardous material (HazMat) 

response, special rescue, inspection and code enforcement, fire and arson investigation, and other 

public benefit services. (See Exhibit 2.) All 15 districts/departments in the county rely on the nearby 

Escambia Fire Rescue Regional HazMat Team for advanced HazMat response. Additionally, similar to 

the county’s other fire service providers, the fire control districts rely on the State Fire Marshal for 

advanced fire and arson investigations, particularly if a fire is deemed “suspicious.”  

                                                           
7 NFPA 1720 (Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, Emergency Medical Operations, and Special 

Operations to the Public by Volunteer Fire Departments). 

8 ISO rating updates are triggered by responses to questionnaires sent to communities approximately every two years, ISO assessed changes in 
capabilities or circumstances through its own research, or when a community request for update meets ISO thresholds to trigger an update. 



 

7 
 

Exhibit 2 

Fire Control Districts Provide Similar Services 

Service Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace 

Fire Service X X X X 

EMS Advanced Life Support    X X 

EMS Basic Life Support X X X X 

Hazardous Materials Response X
1
  X X

2
 

Special Rescue X  X X 

Inspection and Code Enforcement  X X X 

Fire and Arson Investigation  X
3
 X X

4
 

Fire Safety Education X X X X 

Other X
5
  X

6
 X

7
 

1 Awareness level only.  
2 Operations level only. 
3 Basic only.  
4 Limited.  
5 Boating emergencies; search and rescue. 
6 Emergency management. 
7 Car seat safety. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of data provided by Santa Rosa County special fire control districts. 

While the types of services that the fire control districts provide generally align with state and national 

trends, the type of life support services provided varies across districts. According to National Fire 

Protection Association survey data, 46% of fire departments in the U.S. that serve a population similar 

to Holley-Navarre, Midway, and Pace provided advanced life support (ALS) service between 2016 and 

2018.9 However, only Midway and Pace have ALS; Holley-Navarre anticipates providing ALS service in 

the future. Avalon provides basic life support, which is consistent with fire departments in the U.S. that 

serve a similar population.  

All fire districts and departments in the county cooperate to provide services to each other 

through automatic or mutual aid agreements. In 2017, the fire control districts established the 

Santa Rosa County Firefighter's Association Mutual Aid Agreement to cooperate at the scene of any fire 

or emergency wherein lives and/or property are threatened.10 The agreement outlines procedures for 

incident command, apparatus and personnel staging, insurance coverage, and designating which 

district pays associated costs for a given incident. 

Generally, there are two forms of local mutual aid agreements: automatic mutual aid and mutual aid. 

Automatic aid agreements permit the automatic dispatch and response of requested resources without 

incident-specific approvals or consideration of entity boundaries.  

Alternatively, local mutual aid agreements between neighboring jurisdictions or organizations involve 

a formal request for assistance and generally cover a larger geographic area than do local automatic 

mutual aid agreements. 11 In Santa Rosa County, mutual aid requests are made by an officer or incident 

                                                           
9   According to NFPA survey data, between 2016 and 2018, almost half of U.S. fire departments serving a population of 25,000 to 49,999 provided 

ALS service (46%). A similar percentage of U.S. fire departments serving a population of 5,000 to 9,999 provided basic life support (43%). 
10 Although Naval Air Station Whiting Field is located within Santa Rosa County and is a signatory to county fire service mutual aid agreements, it 

was not individually considered in this study as it is a federal military installation and its fire services are funded through the Department of 
Defense. 

11 Section 252.40, F.S., authorizes each local government of the state to develop and enter into mutual aid agreements within the state. 
Complementing the agreement amongst the county’s fire districts and departments, Santa Rosa County is also a signatory to a statewide mutual 
aid agreement for reciprocal emergency aid and assistance within the state in case of emergencies too extensive to be dealt with unassisted and 
related cost reimbursement for local governments that render assistance. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0200-0299/0252/Sections/0252.40.html


 

8 
 

commander and are routed through the county’s Emergency Communications Center. The fire control 

districts reported providing mutual aid 1,018 times from 2017 through 2019. During this period, the 

Avalon fire control district gave the most mutual aid at 384 responses, followed by Holley-Navarre at 

331, Pace at 221, and Midway at 82. 

From 2017 to 2019, fire control districts responded primarily to rescue and emergency 

medical calls, which is consistent with national patterns 

Overall, the four fire control districts responded to 53.9% of 50,948 total incidents in Santa Rosa 

County from calendar year 2017 through 2019. The number of incidents increased for three fire 

control districts during this period, with the highest increase in Midway at 14.2%. Conversely, the 

number of incidents in Holley-Navarre decreased by 28.3%, in part because in 2019 the district 

handled fewer rescue and emergency response incidents. During the same period, Lifeguard 

responded to over 52,000 emergency medical calls across the county. 

Most incident calls for the fire control districts from calendar year 2017 to 2019 were for rescue and 

emergency medical services rather than fire control. (See Exhibit 3.) For example, 60.4% of Midway’s 

incidents were for EMS incidents compared to 2.2% for fire incidents. The districts’ low percentage of 

calls for fire incidents is consistent with national trends. Nationwide, fire incidents made up just 4% of 

fire departments’ total calls in 2018. 

Exhibit 3 

From 2017 through 2019, Most Calls for Fire Control Districts Were for Rescue and Emergency Medical Services 

Description 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace Total 

Calls Percentage Calls Percentage Calls Percentage Calls Percentage Calls Percentage 

Rescue and Emergency 

Medical Service Incidents 

1,704 79.2% 6,192 67.8% 4,446 60.4% 5,625 63.8% 17,967 65.4% 

Good Intent Call 47 2.2% 1,421 15.6% 1,283 17.4% 1,469 16.7% 4,220 15.4% 

Service Call 109 5.1% 662 7.2% 822 11.2% 615 7.0% 2,208 8.0% 

False Alarm and False Call 94 4.4% 547 6.0% 405 5.5% 491 5.6% 1,537 5.6% 

Fire 132 6.1% 173 1.9% 164 2.2% 291 3.3% 760 2.8% 

Hazardous Condition  

(No Fire) 

49 2.3% 118 1.3% 205 2.8% 247 2.8% 619 2.3% 

Special Incident Type 13 0.6% 5 0.1% 8 0.1% 44 0.5% 70 0.3% 

Severe Weather and 

Natural Disaster 

3 0.1% 10 0.1% 11 0.1% 28 0.3% 52 0.2% 

Overpressure Rupture, 

Explosion, Overheat  

(No Fire) 

0 0.0% 6 0.1% 13 0.2% 6 0.1% 25 0.1% 

Total 2,151 100.0% 9,132 100.0% 7,357 100.0% 8,816 100.0% 27,458 100.0% 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of data provided by the Florida Department of Financial Services, Division of State Fire Marshal. 

The county’s dispatch center prioritizes medical calls on a scale from Alpha to Echo based on severity; 

for example, Echo priority calls require immediate aid for persons who are in an imminent death 

situation. The number of EMS calls to which fire districts responded may be lower in calendar year 

2020 relative to the past two years due to changes in dispatch protocols for Coronavirus (COVID-19). 

Due to the pandemic, fire control districts are now responding only to higher priority EMS calls (i.e., 

Delta and Echo priorities). From 2017 through 2019, only 35.2% of EMS calls to which fire control 

districts responded had a Delta and Echo priority. 



 

9 
 

Deployment of fire departments and county ambulance service to EMS calls is a routine 

practice perceived by some experts as an efficient method to meet service demands 

Typically, Santa Rosa County dispatches both medically trained firefighters and fire apparatus and 

vehicles, some carrying medical equipment, in addition to a Lifeguard ambulance and crew to medical 

calls. Dispatch requests for countywide fire and EMS services for all departments and districts are 

routed through the central county Emergency Communication Center Computer-Aided Dispatch 

system, with the exception of the City of Gulf Breeze.12 Additionally, the Santa Rosa County Emergency 

Communication Center dispatches non-emergency EMS ambulance calls to neighboring Escambia 

County under an agreement with Escambia County and Lifeguard.13 

Interviews with fire district leaders suggested dual dispatch for EMS calls is helpful for several reasons. 

Fire services have multiple stations and may be closer than ambulance services to many incidents, thus 

ensuring a more rapid response time. The county’s size and roadway infrastructure, including multiple 

bridges that can serve as traffic chokepoints, could make response times longer if only one party was 

responding. Further, although fire services often have physical proximity to a scene, they cannot 

transport patients to a hospital. In addition, fire district leaders reported that the incidents to which 

the districts respond most, rescue and medical, may include assisting EMS with lifting patients, which 

would require their manpower regardless of the severity of the case. Alternately, dual dispatch is 

valuable in circumstances in which Lifeguard lacks relevant equipment, e.g., for extrications. 

Emergency response association leaders we interviewed noted that Santa Rosa County’s dual dispatch 

model is consistent with national practices. Moreover, research suggests that dual dispatch of fire and 

EMS allows for faster response times, and consequently, in more serious cases, to better patient health 

outcomes.14  

Fire control district revenues generally covered expenditures over 

the past five years; districts reported that if growth in housing 

values continues, current budgets will meet future needs 

Over the last five years, some fire control district revenues have grown and exceeded expenditures. 

During this period, expenditures for fire control districts increased, primarily due to personnel costs. 

Fire control districts reported that if housing growth continues, their current budgets are sufficient to 

meet future needs. 

Fire control district revenues have increased largely due to housing market growth and 

changes to revenue sources and property tax rates 

Avalon, Midway, and Pace fire control districts currently obtain revenue through ad valorem 

assessments. While the highest allowable millage rate under state law for most special fire control 

districts is 3.75 mills, the three districts levied lower rates from Fiscal Years 2014-15 through 2019-20: 

                                                           
12 The Gulf Breeze police department administers fire and non-ambulance EMS dispatch and provides dispatch services to the police and fire 

departments, as well as the Gulf Islands National Seashore (U.S. National Park Service). 
13 Lifeguard pays Santa Rosa County for two dispatchers to provide non-emergency services to Escambia County; the payment was approximately 

$73,333 in Fiscal Year 2018-19. 
14 For example, see Raun, Loren, et. al., “Effectiveness of the Dual Dispatch to Cardiac Arrest Policy in Houston, Texas,” Journal of Public Health 
Management and Practice, September/October 2019, Volume 25, Issue 5, E13-E21. 



 

10 
 

Midway (2.2 mills), Avalon (2.0 mills), and Pace (1.48 mills).15 In contrast to the other fire control 

districts, Holley-Navarre revenues are derived from non-ad valorem property tax assessments based 

on property square footage. 

Fire control district revenues increased over the last five local fiscal years; this growth is partly 

attributable to increases in housing units and property values.16 The percentage change in total 

revenues between Fiscal Years 2014-15 and 2018-19 was highest in Avalon (315%), followed by 

Holley-Navarre (70%), Midway (45%), and Pace (27%).17 (See Exhibit 4.) 

Exhibit 4 

Districts’ Total Revenues Increased From Fiscal Years 2014-15 Through 2018-19 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of financial data provided by each district. 

Fire district revenue growth is partly attributable to increases in housing units within the districts. 

According to U.S. Census Bureau data for areas consistent with fire control district boundaries, the 

number and percentage of housing units increased between 2010 and 2018 for all fire control districts 

except Avalon.18 Holley-Navarre had the highest change in housing at 2,440 units or a 19.3% increase, 

followed by Pace and Midway. (See Exhibit 5.) As the number of housing units increases, a district’s 

property tax revenue will increase due to a greater number of units contributing to the tax base, 

regardless of district use of ad valorem or non-ad valorem assessments.  

                                                           
15 In Avalon, the millage rate increased from 1.0 mills to 2.0 mills in August 2012. 
16 The fiscal year for local governments is October 1 to September 30. This timeframe is the reporting period for all financial information. Financial 

data were derived from reported changes in fund balances and statements. 
17 Financials for Fiscal Year 2014-15 were based on the district’s reported budget variance sheet in Avalon and Pace and audited financial reports 

for the other two districts. Financial data for Fiscal Year 2018-19 was from all four districts’ budget variance sheets as audited financial reports 
were not available at time of review. During these five fiscal years, Pace was operating as a MSBU.  

18 We found that there was no statistically significant change in the number of housing units from 2010 and 2018 for the area consistent with Avalon 
Fire Control District. 

$154,830 

$1,563,037 

$2,743,907 

$1,243,257 

$642,340 

$2,655,743 

$3,972,583 

$1,584,472 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace

FY 2014-15 FY 2018-19



 

11 
 

Exhibit 5 

Housing Units Increased Within Fire Control District Boundaries Between 2010 and 2018 

Increase in Housing Units 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace 

317
1 

2,440 896 1,823 

Percentage Change in Housing Units 12.7%
1 

19.3% 9.0% 15.5% 

1 This increase was not a statistically significant change; this means we could not be confident there was growth in the number of housing units in 

Avalon. The large percentage growth is due to the small number of housing units being analyzed; thus, even a small increase is a large change. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of U.S. Census Bureau data.  

Revenue growth is also attributable to increases in property values. According to Santa Rosa County 

Property Appraiser data, property values within fire control district boundaries increased between 

2010 and 2018. Property values increased for those districts that use ad valorem assessments.19 (See 

Exhibit 6.) Property appraisal values were not available for the Holley-Navarre district boundary; 

however, property values should have no effect on the district’s property tax revenue because it uses 

non-ad valorem assessments. 

Exhibit 6 

Housing Values Increased in Fire Control District Boundaries Between 2010 and 2018 

Increase in Housing Value 

Avalon Midway Pace 

$70,801,823
 

$567,510,139 $715,145,365 

Percentage Change in Housing Value 17%
 

30% 44% 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of U.S. Census Bureau data.  

Changes in taxing structures or rates, resulting in higher assessments, also contributed in part 

to revenue growth. Three fire districts changed their taxing structures or rates during the review 

period. In 2016, voters in Holley-Navarre approved a new assessment rate structure for the fire 

district, which eliminated flat fees and added new per square footage rates; these additional square 

footage rates helped the district capitalize on revenue from larger properties. Holley-Navarre’s 

property tax revenues increased by 87% between Fiscal Years 2016-17 and 2017-18.  

Midway’s millage rate changed three times between Fiscal Years 2015-16 and 2018-19.20 Its largest 

percentage increase in property tax revenues was 23% between Fiscal Years 2017-18 and 2018-19. 

During this time, Midway’s millage rate increased from 2.0 mils to 2.2 mils. If housing values and units 

remained constant, this increase in millage would result in a 10% increase in property tax revenue. 

The remaining increase in property tax revenue is likely due to the increase in housing units and 

property values during this time.  

In Fiscal Year 2019-20, Pace began operating as a special fire control district and administering ad 

valorem property taxes. Previously, as a MSBU, its tax structure was non-ad valorem and based on the 

county’s assessed square footage rates. After becoming a special district, Pace’s budgeted property tax 

revenues increased by 72%.  

Expenditures for most fire control districts have increased, primarily due to personnel costs 

In general, fire control districts’ expenditures increased over the previous five fiscal years. New 

personnel expenses accounted for most of these increases. Districts try to manage costs through some 

cooperative activities. 

                                                           
19 During this period, Pace operated as a MSBU using non-ad valorem property tax assessments. Therefore, revenue was not affected by property 

values. Property values affect Pace’s revenues as of Fiscal Year 2019-20.  
20 The millage rate was 1.75 mills in Fiscal Years 2014-15 and 2015-16, 1.85 mills in Fiscal Year 2016-17, 2.0 mills in Fiscal Year 2017-18, and 2.2 

mills in Fiscal Year 2018-19.  



 

12 
 

Total expenditures increased for most fire control districts from Fiscal Years 2014-15 to 

2018-19; these increases are largely due to changes in personnel costs. The highest percentage 

change in expenditures during this time was in Avalon (103%), followed by Holley-Navarre (59%), 

and Midway (39%). Pace’s expenditures decreased by 4% between 2014-15 and 2018-19. (See 

Exhibit 7.) 

These expenses do not include the districts’ outstanding debt or liabilities. Consequently, some of the 

districts’ investments in land, buildings, fire trucks, and equipment are not reflected in the total 

expenditures. As of March 2020, the four fire control districts operated out of 13 active and storage 

stations housing 43 pieces of apparatus and other vehicles. (See Appendix C, Exhibit C-1 for more 

information on special districts’ vehicle inventory.) 

Exhibit 7 

Most Fire Control District Expenditures Increased From Fiscal Years 2014-15 Through 2018-19 

 
Source: OPPAGA analysis of financial data provided by each district. 

Fire district expenditure increases are largely attributable to changes in personnel costs. Employee 

wages and benefits was the largest expense category for the four fire control districts over the last five 

local fiscal years. On average, employee wages and benefits made up 63% of each districts’ total 

expenses during this period.  

One reason for rising personnel costs is adding career firefighters to staff. The four fire control districts 

currently provide services through 123 all-paid or a combination of paid and volunteer firefighters 

and 9 support staff. (See Exhibit 8.) In Fiscal Year 2018-19, all of Holley-Navarre and Midway’s 

firefighters were full-time staff. Avalon and Pace have been shifting from volunteer to full-time 

positions. For example, Avalon added one full-time firefighter each year from 2016-17 through 

2018-19. Pace added part-time firefighters in 2017-18 and 2018-19. Although Pace lost one full-time 

firefighter in Fiscal Year 2018-19, it gained six full-time firefighters in Fiscal Year 2019-20. While using 

volunteer staff can extend a district’s budget, two of the four districts reported that recruiting 

firefighters is difficult, suggesting that firefighters leave the county after completing fire academy 

training due to pay or cost of living concerns.  

  

$331,312 

$1,427,017 

$2,452,238 

$1,352,356 

$671,640 

$2,262,954 

$3,420,728 

$1,293,591 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace

FY 2014-15 FY 2018-19



 

13 
 

Exhibit 8 

As of March 2020, Most Fire Control Districts’ Staff Were Majority Full-Time Firefighters
 

Fire Control District 

Number of 

Full-Time 

Percentage 

Full-Time 

Number of 

Part-Time 

Percentage 

Part-Time 

Number of 

Volunteer 

Percentage 

Volunteer 

Avalon 6 29% 0 0% 15 71% 

Holley-Navarre 26 96% 0 0% 1 4% 

Midway 31 100% 0 0% 0 0% 

Pace 22 50% 5 11% 17 39% 

Total 85  5  33  

Note: Due to rounding, percentages may not sum to 100%. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of information from Santa Rosa County Emergency Services.  

We compared district staffing proportions with national data and found that Avalon, Holley-Navarre, 

and Midway’s staffing ratios of full-time versus volunteer firefighters exceed national trends while 

Pace’s staffing ratio falls below. For U.S. fire departments that served a population size comparable to 

Holley-Navarre, Midway, and Pace, full-time firefighters made up an average of 72% of total 

firefighters in 2018. For U.S. fire departments that served a population size comparable to Avalon, the 

average percentage of volunteer firefighters was 80%. These trends are based on data reported from 

the NFPA Survey of Fire Departments for U.S. Fire Experience during 2018.  

Rising personnel costs may also be associated with changes in employee benefits, such as retirement 

plans. For example, in local Fiscal Year 2016-17, Midway’s expenses for personnel services, which 

includes employee salaries and benefits, increased by 60% from Fiscal Year 2015-16. This increase 

was due primarily to pension plan changes that resulted in an additional expense of $888,467.21 

Fire control districts conduct collaborative activities to manage expenses. In addition to 

collaborating with other districts or departments through providing mutual aid, some districts share 

other resources to offset common costs. For example, leaders from Midway Fire District, Holley-

Navarre Fire District, and Navarre Beach Fire Rescue reported that their districts share apparatus and 

training with each other. Midway leaders reported that they have donated equipment and hosted 

firefighter physical examinations for other departments across the county. 

Further, districts have considered merging to further leverage resources. For example, in 2018, 

Midway Fire District, Holley-Navarre Fire District, and Navarre Beach Fire Rescue commissioned a 

consolidation study.22 The purpose of the study was to identify the feasibility and consequences of 

merging the three entities into one special district. The report found that a full merger between all 

three areas would likely result in increased costs to district taxpayers. In addition, consolidation would 

require voter referendums to terminate the existing organizations, reorganize taxing structures, and 

form the new special district. However, the report noted that costs could be justifiable when 

considering the improvement to service delivery, prevention, training, staffing, and administration.  

Fire control district revenues generally covered expenditures over the past five years 

For most of the fire districts, revenues generally covered expenditures for Fiscal Years 2014-15 
through 2018-19; however, each fire control district had at least one year within our review period 
when expenditures exceeded revenues. The districts’ average ratio of expenses to revenues was 95%, 

                                                           
21 Effective October 1, 2017, the district switched to a Ch. 175, F.S., local pension plan. 
22 The consolidation study was conducted by Emergency Services Consulting International, and the report is dated October 2018. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0175/0175ContentsIndex.html


 

14 
 

which means that on average, 95% of revenues were used for expenses each year, and the districts’ 
net margin was 5%. 23  

Each fire control district had at least one year within our review period when expenditures exceeded 

revenues. This difference was due to both increases in expenditures and revenue losses. Fire control 

districts reported a number of reasons for budget differences, including declines in impact fees, 

increased personnel expenses, and purchases of new apparatus. However, most of the special districts 

maintained an overall positive net position.24  

Fire control districts reported being able to fund future expenditures if growth in housing 

values continues 

Most districts reported being able to fund their current needs. Each fire control district maintains a 

strategic plan that outlines projected needs to address future growth such as anticipated apparatus or 

equipment purchases. Housing growth is expected to persist in Santa Rosa County, and some districts 

anticipate the related revenue growth will be sufficient to fund future expenses outlined in district 

strategic plans. 

Most districts reported having adequate revenue to meet current needs; all districts develop 

strategic plans to address future growth. Fire control district leaders from Avalon, Holley-Navarre, 

and Midway reported that they have sufficient revenue for the county’s current population size. 

Specifically, they are able to fund the staff, apparatus or equipment, and fire stations necessary to meet 

current needs. Pace Fire Control District leaders reported that their current outlook has improved now 

that it has become a special district. District leaders reported that they had sufficient funding this year 

to begin replacing apparatus and adding running water to stations over the next several years, and that 

they will add tax increases gradually if needed. (See Appendix C, Exhibits C-1, C-2, and C-3 for 

information about fire control district vehicle and station inventories and current budgets.) 

District strategic plans include anticipated apparatus or equipment purchases, personnel additions, 

and facility construction.25 Most districts specify in the plans that they are based on the need to provide 

service levels described in NFPA 1710 and to maintain or improve district ISO ratings. The strategic 

plans for Midway, Holley-Navarre, and Pace detail the districts’ current capabilities and needs over the 

next several years.  

Over the next five fiscal years, districts plan to add 56 firefighters and 18 other personnel. In addition, 

districts plan to build or remodel several stations. Finally, districts plan to purchase seven engines or 

trucks, several additional vehicles, and a range of life saving equipment. (See Exhibit 9.) 

  

                                                           
23 Avalon’s financial data for Fiscal Year 2014-15 was omitted from this calculation due to being an outlier and inconsistency between the district’s 

reported revenues and expenditures and its financial audit for the same year. 
24 Net position takes into account the districts’ assets and liabilities. Avalon’s Fiscal Year 2018-19 audited financial report was not available during 

our review, so overall net position could not be determined. 
25 Most districts reported that maintaining four firefighters for each engine company helps them adhere to the NFPA 1710 two-in-two-out rule. 

Additionally, most districts reported that stations help with engine coverage for the districts to abide by ISO grading recommendations.  



 

15 
 

Exhibit 9 

Fire Control Districts Have Plans to Add Equipment, Staff, and Facilities Over the Next Few Years 

Fire Control District Strategic Plan Timeframe Strategic Plan Activities 

Avalon Fiscal Years 2017-18 

through 2021-22 

• Purchase property for building a new station 

• Acquire new self-contained breathing apparatus, automated external defibrillators, 

and other gear 

• Purchase a new tank for the ladder truck and a new boat 

• Add eight firefighters  

Holley-Navarre Fiscal Years 2018-19 

through 2022-23 

• Purchase one engine and start leasing two engines 

• Replace self-contained breathing apparatus and extrication equipment 

• Begin advanced life support response with existing paramedics and train existing 

firefighter/EMTs as paramedics 

• Add six firefighters and nine other personnel  

Midway Fiscal Years 2018-19 

through 2024-25 

• Replace three engines, one truck, and operations chief and inspector vehicles 

• Make capital outlay to its stations 

• Purchase new self-contained breathing apparatus and extrication equipment 

• Add 27 firefighter/EMTs and 4 other personnel  

Pace Fiscal Years 2019-20 

through 2025-26 

• Replace one engine, one truck, and five vehicles  

• Purchase new self-contained breathing apparatus and extrication equipment  

• Remodel Station 3 and Station 4 to accommodate personnel 24/7 

• Add 15 firefighter/EMTs and 5 other personnel  

Source: OPPAGA analysis of fire control district strategic plans. 

Most fire control district leaders estimate that housing growth will adequately fund planned 

operational changes if growth continues as projected. Housing growth expectations are consistent 

with historical growth in district areas. For the three fire control districts that use ad valorem 

assessments, increases in housing value and housing units contribute to property tax revenue for the 

districts. Although Avalon’s housing unit increase was not statistically significant between 2010 and 

2018, its increase in housing values was significant. For Midway and Pace, both housing units and 

housing values increased between 2010 and 2018. However, because Holley-Navarre uses non-ad 

valorem assessments, the growth in housing units drives property tax revenue growth. Historically, 

between 2010 and 2018, Holley-Navarre had the highest growth in housing units of the four fire 

control districts. Without holding a voter referendum, the fire control district leaders in Holley-

Navarre can only make small increases to the non-ad valorem assessment. 

Fire control districts use response time to assess performance 

and develop strategic plans but could consider utilizing additional 

performance information 

There are no mandated national or state fire service performance measurements, though fire control 

districts track response times as a primary performance measure. The fire control districts are 

generally meeting goals for response times, but could consider adopting additional performance 

measures to help assess operational efficiency and effectiveness and develop strategic plans. National 

standards present additional performance metrics that districts could use to assess service quality and 

community value. 

There are no mandated national or state performance measurements for fire districts 

OPPAGA’s review of literature and interviews with key stakeholders suggest that there are no 

mandated local, regional, or national fire service performance metrics. Further, national and state fire 

service-related association interviewees most commonly referenced National Fire Protection 



 

16 
 

Association standards and Insurance Services Office ratings as potential metrics. A state EMS 

association leader also suggested monitoring patient outcomes as a measure of medical service 

performance. 

Florida’s Division of State Fire Marshal does not require or maintain statewide performance 

measurement systems or standards for the state’s fire departments. Instead, the division leaves it up 

to individual agencies and departments to determine which performance measurements they use and 

track if any are desired. State Fire Marshal staff noted that districts may be referencing NFPA standards 

1710 and 1720 for guidance on performance measures, as these standards provide recommendations 

for alarm answering times, crew size on duty, and minimum EMS provisions. However, neither of these 

standards are required for use by fire departments.  

Fire control districts track response times as a primary performance measure, but could 

utilize a few other measures to support planning 

Fire control districts reported that they primarily use incident response times to assess their 

performance relative to NFPA standards, and in 2019 most of them outperformed response time 

objectives. This information also helps districts plan for future needs. Some districts also use their ISO 

rating to gauge performance and reported informally gathering other relevant information. 

Fire control districts track response times to assess performance, and most outperformed 2019 

response time objectives. Most fire control districts track and measure some metrics that they deem 

important. For example, Holley-Navarre, Midway, and Pace reported they track call response times for 

all types of calls. In addition, Avalon, Holley-Navarre, and Pace track call volume and calls received.  

The fire control districts use portions of the NFPA codes as performance objectives. NFPA 1710, for 

career fire departments, recommends a performance objective of an 8-minute total response time from 

the time a call is first received until the first responding unit initiates actions or intervenes to control 

the incident. 26 NFPA 1710 does not provide separate recommendations for urban, suburban, or rural 

response times. However, NFPA 1720, for volunteer fire departments, recommends a total response 

time of 9 minutes for urban areas, 10 minutes for suburban areas, and 14 minutes for rural areas.27  

Most of the fire control districts meet these performance objectives. As of 2019, the Midway and 

Holley-Navarre districts were predominantly career departments, while Avalon and Pace are a 

combination of paid and volunteer firefighters. While Midway and Pace are predominantly urban 

districts, Avalon and Holley-Navarre are a combination of urban and rural. During 2019, Avalon, 

Midway, and Pace had average extinguishment response times of 7 minutes and 22 seconds or less. 

Holley-Navarre averaged 8 minutes and 8 seconds for fire extinguishment calls; district officials are 

actively working to add a station to reduce total response times. (See Appendix C, Exhibit C-4 for 2019 

average response times and run volumes for the four fire control districts.) 

Fire control districts also use ISO ratings and informal mechanisms to gauge performance and 

help build their strategic plans. The ISO uses the Fire Suppression Rating Schedule to evaluate four 

major areas in assessing an ISO rating: Emergency Communication System (10% of total rating), Fire 

Departments (50%), Water Supply (40%), and Community Risk Reduction (extra credit 5.5%). The 

Fire Departments section of the rating schedule considers factors that departments can control, such 

                                                           
26 The response time for high-rise fires is 10 minutes and 10 seconds. 
27 NFPA 1720 defines “urban area” as more than 1,000 people per square mile, “suburban area” as 500-1,000 people per square mile, and “rural 

area” as less than 500 people per square mile 



 

17 
 

as engine companies, ladder or service companies, deployment of fire companies, equipment carried 

on apparatus, pumping capacity, reserve apparatus, company personnel, and training. Three districts 

(Holley-Navarre, Pace, and Midway) reported that they evaluate their staffing, performance, and/or 

planning (e.g. building new stations) with the intent of improving their ISO rating. As of August 2020, 

most fire departments in the United States received an ISO rating classification of 5 or better, while 

most fire departments in Florida received an ISO rating of 4 or better. 

Midway’s ISO rating remained a 3 from Fiscal Years 2014-15 through 2018-2019, while Pace’s ISO 

rating improved from a 6/9 to a 4/4 between Fiscal Years 2016-17 and 2017-18. Holley-Navarre’s ISO 

rating remained a 4, while Avalon improved its rating to 4/4 after several years as 5/9.28 By 

comparison, Santa Rosa’s two municipal districts were both rated 4, while the nine MSBUs ranged from 

low scores of 6/8 and 5/10 to a high rating of 2. Holley-Navarre and Midway are trying to improve 

their ISO ratings by planning to add new fire stations to reduce the distance between stations and the 

buildings in the community they protect. 

Other information that districts use to gauge performance is informal. Fire control district board 

members noted that they relied on the fire chief for feedback or informal mechanisms such as letters, 

community feedback, and comments from employees. In addition, district leaders described 

occasionally utilizing formal mechanisms such as audits to assess performance.  

Fire control districts collect data for the state that they could use to further support planning 

and assessing value. Florida fire control districts also collect and provide data to the Florida Fire 

Incident Reporting System maintained by the State Fire Marshal, which in turn transmits data to the 

National Fire Incident Reporting System. (See Exhibit 10.) Florida law requires the State Fire Marshal 

to establish this system for the reporting of fire incidents. Fire departments can voluntarily participate 

in the system. Although all of Santa Rosa County’s fire districts participate in this system, it does not 

appear that they use this data in their strategic planning efforts. Considering that the vast majority of 

fire service calls are for rescue and EMS assistance and the ISO ratings are not focused on this sector, 

fire districts may consider which of this data could be used to present more of the value they offer to 

their community. 

                                                           
28 For a split number (e.g., 5/9), the first number refers to the classification of properties within 5 road miles of a fire station and within 1,000 feet 

of a creditable water supply. The second number applies to properties within 5 road miles of a fire station but beyond 1,000 feet of a creditable 
water supply. ISO generally assigns Class 10 to properties beyond 5 road miles. 



 

18 
 

Exhibit 10 

National Standards Performance Areas Provide a Base for Performance Measure Development 

 
Source: Fire Service Performance Measures, National Fire Protection Association, 2009. 

 
 

Sources of 

Incident Calls 

•Source of Call 

Fire Incident Calls 

•Fire Rate 

•Response and 

Control Times -

Fire Incident Calls 

•Fire Spread 

•Civilian Fire Death 

and Injury Rate -

Fire Incident Calls 

•Firefighter Death 

and Injury Rate -

Fire Incident Calls 

•Human Saves and 

Rescues - Fire 

Incident Calls 

•Property Saves -

Fire Incident Calls

•Quality of Service -

Training and 

Certification - Fire 

Incident Calls 

Medical Aid 

Responses 

•Medical Response 

Rate 

•Response and 

Transport Times -

Emergency 

Medical Response 

Calls 

•Patient Treatment 

Measures 

•Quality of Service -

Training and 

Certification -

Emergency 

Medical Response 

Calls 

HazMat Calls 

•Rate of HazMat 

Calls 

•Response and 

Transport Times -

HazMat Calls 

•Quality of Service -

Training and 

Certification -

HazMat Calls 

Other Calls 

•Rate of Non-Fire, 

Nonmedical 

Emergency, and 

Nonhazardous 

Materials Calls 

•Response Times -

Other Calls 

Other Fire 

Department 

Activities 

•Code Compliance 

Effectiveness



 

19 
 

APPENDIX A 

Services Provided and Resources of Santa Rosa County Municipal Service Benefit Units and 

Municipal Fire Department  

Santa Rosa County’s Municipal Service Benefit Units (MSBUs) and municipal fire departments provide a number of services and maintain various 

equipment and facilities to support these services. Exhibit A-1 includes service information and Exhibit A-2 provides a facility inventory. Exhibit 

A-3 includes the ISO ratings for the 11 departments.  

Exhibit A-1 

MSBU and Municipal Fire Department Services 

Services Allentown Bagdad Berrydale 

East 

Milton Harold Jay Munson 

Navarre 

Beach Skyline 

City of Gulf 

Breeze 

City of 

Milton Notes 

Fire Service X X X X X X X X X X X  

EMS Advanced Life 

Support  

            

EMS Basic Life 

Support  
X X X X X X X X X X X 

All departments are non-transport 

capable 

Hazardous Materials 

Response
1
 

X X X X X X X X X X X 
 

Special Rescue 

X X X X X X X X X X X 

All departments have extrication 

equipment and respond to motor 

vehicle crashes 

Inspection and Code 

Enforcement 

          X
3
 

 

Fire and Arson 

Investigation
2
 

           Fire departments do initial investigation 

in consultation with State Fire Marshal, 

then if results are “suspicious,” turn 

the case over to State Fire Marshal 

Fire Safety 

Education 

X X X X X X X X X X X  

1 All are operations level only except for the City of Gulf Breeze, which is awareness level only. Santa Rosa County relies on a Regional HazMat Team from Escambia Fire Rescue for advanced HazMat response. 

2 Fire departments do an initial investigation in consultation with the State Fire Marshal. If results are “suspicious,” they turn the case over to the State Fire Marshal. Departments without investigative 
capabilities rely on the State Fire Marshal for those services. 

3 Incudes permitting. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of data provided by the Santa Rosa County Director of Emergency Services and the cities of Gulf Breeze and Milton. 

 



 

20 
 

Exhibit A-2 

MSBU and Municipal Fire Department Facility Inventory 

 Allentown Bagdad Berrydale East Milton Gulf Breeze Harold Jay Milton Munson Navarre Beach Skyline 

Stations 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 3 1 4 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of data provided by the Santa Rosa County Director of Emergency Services. 

Exhibit A-3 

Current MSBU and Municipal Fire Department ISO Ratings 

 Allentown Bagdad Berrydale East Milton Gulf Breeze Harold Jay Milton Munson Navarre Beach Skyline 

ISO Rating 5/9 5/9 5/10 6/6 4 6/8 5/10 4/4 6/6 2 4/4 

Note:  For ISO ratings, 1 = highest score, 10 = lowest score.   For a split number (i.e.., 5/9), “the first number refers to the classification of properties within 5 road miles of a fire station and within 1,000 feet 
of a creditable water supply. The second number applies to properties within 5 road miles of a fire station but beyond 1,000 feet of a creditable water supply. ISO generally assigns Class 10 to properties 
beyond 5 road miles.  
Source: Data provided by the Santa Rosa County Director of Emergency Services. 



 

21 
 

APPENDIX B 

Lifeguard Contract EMS 

As noted in the service agreement, Lifeguard Ambulance Services of Florida, LLC, the Santa Rosa 

County ambulance contractor, manages all day-to-day operations, including field operations, billing, 

collections, purchasing and other operational functions. Santa Rosa County’s contract with Lifeguard 

includes performance standards for non-life threatening calls. Lifeguard ambulances must be on-scene 

within 20 minutes in urban areas and 25 minutes in rural areas.29 For more serious calls, Lifeguard 

ambulances must be on-scene within 10 minutes in urban areas and 18 minutes in rural areas. Santa 

Rosa County Emergency Operations reported that Lifeguard is compliant with performance metrics 

for these activities.  

Exhibit B-1 presents recent data on the type of incidents to which Lifeguard responded in the county 

from 2017 to 2019.  Medical priority codes in the exhibit are presented alphabetically. OMEGA 

incidents are slightly different from other EMS response incidents; they require special referrals or 

alternate care.  

Exhibit B-1 

Lifeguard EMS Response Incidents From 2017 Through 2019 

Medical Priority Incident Examples Number of Incidents Percentage of Total 

ALPHA Abdominal pain, assault (not dangerous body area), and blood 

pressure abnormality 

11,976 23% 

BRAVO Threatening suicide, falls (not on stairs), animal bite, and heat 

exposure 

10,309 20% 

CHARLIE Diabetic problems, breathing problems, back pain, and fainting 14,034 27% 

DELTA Chest pain, seizures, hemorrhage/laceration, and imminent 

delivery pregnancy 

13,820 27% 

ECHO Cardiac arrest, ineffective breathing, drowning, and electrocution 1,350 3% 

OMEGA Baker Act, overdose (no priority symptoms), and obvious death 589 1% 

Total  52,078 100.00% 

Note: The Medical Priority Dispatch System, including priority codes Alpha through Omega, was developed by the International Academies of 
Emergency Dispatch. Due to rounding, percentages may not sum to 100%. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of data extracted from Santa Rosa County Emergency Communication Center Computer-Aided Dispatch system. Data does 
not include the City of Gulf Breeze because it has its own dispatch system.

                                                           
29 “The area designated urban is generally described as the central developed area of the county around Pace and the City of Milton plus the south 

end of the county from Gulf Breeze to Navarre. The area designated rural is generally described as the less densely developed areas of the 
county.” 



 

22 
 

APPENDIX C 

Additional Information on Services Provided and Resources of 

Santa Rosa County Fire Control Districts 

For the four Santa Rosa County fire control districts under review, Exhibit C-1 presents an inventory 

of major vehicles and facilities operated by the fire control districts. Exhibits C-2 and C-3 present fire 

district budget information for Fiscal Year 2019-20 compared to Fiscal Year 2018-19. Exhibit C-4 

presents the types of incidents districts are called to address, workload by district, and average 

response time by incident type.  

Exhibit C-1 

Fire Control Fire District Apparatus, Vehicles, and Stations 

 
Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace 

Apparatus/Vehicles     

Battalion Chief’s Vehicle   1 1 

Boats 2  1 1 

Brush Truck 1 1   

Chief's Vehicle 1  1  

Deputy Chief’s Vehicle    1 

Engines-Active 3 3 2 2 

Engines-Reserve   2  

General Purpose 

vehicles 

 3   

Inspector Vehicle   1  

Ladder Trucks 1  1 1 

Other   1 1 

Rescue Units 2 1  1 

Rehab Trailer    1 

Service Vehicles 2   1 

Support Vehicle-Reserve   1  

Tanker    1 

Total Apparatus/Vehicles 12 8 11 12 

Stations 3 4
1
 2 4

2
 

1 Two stations are designated as “active” and two as “storage.” 

2 Three of the four stations did not have running water at the time of our review. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of data submitted by each respective fire control district and Santa Rosa County Emergency Services. 



 

23 
 

Exhibit C-2 

District Revenues Increased From Fiscal Years 2018-19 Through 2019-20  

Source: OPPAGA analysis of financial data provided by each district. 

Exhibit C-3 

District Budgeted Expenditures for Fiscal Year 2019-20 are Higher than Prior Year  

Source: OPPAGA analysis of financial data provided by each district. 

 

 

 

$642,340 

$2,655,743 

$3,972,583 

$1,584,472 

$680,671 

$3,909,292 

$4,493,999 

$2,457,584 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace

Revenues for FY 2018-19 Revenues for FY 2019-20

$671,640 

$2,262,954 

$3,420,728 

$1,293,591 $680,671 

$3,909,292 

$4,493,999 

$2,457,584 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace

Expenditures for FY 2018-19 Expenditures for FY 2019-20



 

24 
 

Exhibit C-4 

Selected Incident Actions Taken and Average Response Time for Fire Control Districts in 2019 

NFIRS 

Incident 

Code
1
 Incident Action Description 

Avalon Holley-Navarre Midway Pace 

Number 

of 

Incidents 

Average 

Response 

Time 

(Minutes) 

Number 

of 

Incidents 

Average 

Response 

Time 

(Minutes) 

Number 

of 

Incidents 

Average 

Response 

Time 

(Minutes) 

Number 

of 

Incidents 

Average 

Response 

Time 

(Minutes) 

11 Extinguish (Fire) 3 7.33 28 8.14 19 7.26 33 7.36 

30 Emergency Medical Services (Other) 278 8.97 235 9.96 10 8.60 511 10.31 

32 Provide Basic Life Support (BLS) 73 7.96 807 9.51 207 7.98 928 9.52 

33 Provide Advanced Life Support (ALS) - - 11 8.45 562 7.87 467 9.24 

45 Remove Hazard 8 6.12 31 7.32 23 6.57 91 7.92 

58 Operate Apparatus or Vehicle 2 10.00 12 9.42 - - 1,347 9.34 

73 Provide Manpower 17 9.24 381 10.64 615 8.84 474 9.94 

80 

Information, investigation and 

enforcement, other 
354 9.46 9 11.22 114 8.32 6 9.33 

86 Investigate 10 8.10 342 8.92 311 7.92 640 8.35 

93 Cancelled Enroute 4 5.00 278 7.50 311 9.00 354 7.89 

 TOTAL INCIDENTS  749 8.02 2,134 9.11 2,172 8.04 4,851 8.92 

1 National Fire Incident Reporting System. 
Source: OPPAGA analysis of data provided by Florida State Fire Marshal’s Office. 



Gary R. VanLandingham, Ph.D., Director 

111 West Madison Street  ■  Room 312  ■  Claude Pepper Building  ■  Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1475 
850/488-0021      SUNCOM 278-0021     FAX 850/487-9083 

www.oppaga.state.fl.us 

 

The Florida Legislature 
 

OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS AND 
GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 

 Gary R. VanLandingham, Ph.D., Director  
 

SUNSET MEMORANDUM 
 
 

Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration  

 
 

December 19, 2007 
 

Summary 

To support the Sunset Review process, the Legislature directed OPPAGA to examine 
Florida’s water management districts. 1  This memo is part of a series that reviews the 
districts’ operations, and focuses on district governance and options for legislative 
consideration.  These options include requiring the Legislative Budget Commission to 
review and comment on district budgets (Option 1), revising dates for the water 
management district budget review process to match the state fiscal year (Option 2), 
directing districts with basin boards to assess the value of their basin boards (Option 3), 
eliminating the authority of district governing boards to designate basin boards (Option 4), 
and providing for the election of governing board members (Option 5).  For each option, 
we describe the advantages, and disadvantages. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                  
1 Sections 11.901-11.920, F.S. 



Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration 
December 19, 2007 
Page 2 of 7 
 
 

 

Purpose, Organization, and Responsibilities 
Florida’s five water management districts are responsible for managing and protecting the state’s water 
resources and related natural systems.  As shown in Exhibit 1, the districts are regionally based with 
boundaries that match the state’s hydrological geography, and include Northwest Florida, Suwannee 
River, St. Johns River, Southwest Florida, and South Florida.  The districts are governed by boards whose 
members are appointed by the Governor and must be confirmed by the Florida Senate.  The governing 
board of each district is composed of nine members, except the Southwest Florida Water Management 
District, which has 13 members. 2  The term of office for a governing board member is four years.  
Vacancies are filled according to residency requirements that are unique to each district, such as 
requirements that appointees reside in a certain county.  For example, two members of the South Florida 
Water Management District Governing Board must reside in Dade County. 

District governing boards, which meet on a monthly basis, oversee district operations, establish policy, 
hire an executive director, issue orders to implement or enforce regulations, and approve contracts. 3  
Governing boards are also authorized by the Florida Constitution and by statute to levy ad valorem taxes 
to fund district operations.  As specified by the Florida Constitution, four districts are limited to a 
maximum property tax rate of 1.00 mill, which is $1 for every $1,000 of taxable property value; the 
Northwest Florida Water Management District is limited to 0.05 mill. 

In addition, governing boards can designate areas as subdistricts or hydrological basins. 4  Two districts 
have designated such basins.  The basins are represented by boards composed of at least one member 
from each county in the basin.  The Southwest Florida Water Management District has established eight 
basin boards with 44 members. 5  There are two basins in the South Florida Water Management District; 
the district’s Big Cypress Basin has a six-member board and the district’s governing board serves as the 
board for the Okeechobee Basin.  Basin board members are appointed to three-year terms by the 
Governor and must be confirmed by the Florida Senate.  A governing board member serves as the ex-
officio chair of each basin board. 

Basin boards assist districts in implementing their mission within a hydrological area.  The basin boards 
do not have regulatory authority but are statutorily responsible for planning and developing water 
resources and water control facilities that connect to and complement the primary engineering works in 
the basin.  The two districts utilize their boards differently.  In the Southwest Florida Water Management 
District, the basin boards plan for and carry out the works of the basin including construction and 
maintenance of water control structures, work with local governments and regional water supply 
authorities to identify local needs and priorities (e.g., alternative water supplies), and develop projects and 
budgets to address those needs.  In contrast, the Big Cypress Basin Board in the South Florida Water 
Management District emphasizes planning, building, operating, and maintaining canals, and water control 
structures in the region. 

The Basin Boards may request the district governing board to levy ad valorem taxes within a basin to 
finance that basin board’s works and functions.  These taxes are not in addition to the water management 
                                                                  
2 Chapter 2007-120, Laws of Florida, revised the composition of the Southwest Florida Water Management District’s Governing Board from 11 to 13 

members. 
3 The executive director must be approved by the Governor and confirmed by the Senate. 
4 The St. Johns River Water Management District cannot establish basins without legislative approval. 
5 The ninth basin is the Green Swamp, the headwaters for four major rivers.  Given its hydrologic importance to the district, the governing board serves as the 

basin board. 



Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration 
December 19, 2007 
Page 3 of 7 
 
 

 

district taxes, but represent an allocation of the total authorized millage rate.  Specifically, the total 
authorized millage rate is divided for district and basin purposes and cannot exceed the statutory 
maximum total millage rate.  For example, the statutory maximum millage rate in the Southwest Florida 
Water Management District is one mill, with the maximum millage assessed for district purposes not to 
exceed 50% of the total authorized millage when there are one or more basins in the district, and the 
maximum millage assessed for basin purposes not to exceed 50% of the total authorized millage. 

Resources 

The water management districts reported total budgeted expenditures of $2.4 billion for Fiscal Year  
2006-07. 6  Of this total, $813,578 was spent to support the governing boards (see Exhibit 1), including 
travel, equipment, advertising, office supplies, subscriptions, memberships, and estimated staff support.  
As shown in Exhibit 1, board-related costs reported by the South Florida Water Management District 
exceeded the total reported by the other four districts combined, which may be attributed in part to 
$216,215 incurred for outside counsel to provide additional qualified representation for the district’s 
governing board in legal affairs. 7 

Exhibit 1 
Water Management Districts Reported $813,578 in Governing Board Costs in Fiscal Year 2006-07 
District Reported Costs 
Northwest Florida $    68,933 

Suwannee River 64,792 

St. Johns River 92,838 

Southwest Florida 112,961 

South Florida  474,054 

Total Funds $813,578 

Source: Water Management Districts. 

The water management districts also reported spending $509,046 during the fiscal year to support basin 
boards.  The Southwest Florida Water Management District reported $478,222 (approximately $60,000 
per basin board) in operating and staff costs for its eight basin boards. 8  The South Florida Water 
Management District reported $30,824 in staff support for the Big Cypress Basin Board.  Since the 
district governing board also serves as the Okeechobee Basin Board and has no separate meetings, 
operating expenses for this basin board are included in the district costs reported above. 

Several Long-Standing Issues Relate to District Governance 

Over the years, citizens and policymakers have raised several concerns about the current governance 
structure of Florida’s water management districts.  These concerns are related to board member selection, 
the budget approval process, and basin board expenditures. 

                                                                  
6 The water management district fiscal year runs from October 1 to September 30.  
7 The Northwest Florida and Suwannee River Water Management District also incurred $13,219 and $20,740 for outside counsel, respectively. 
8 According to Southwest Florida Water Management District Officials, the governing board costs represent direct costs including staffing costs to conduct the 

meetings; whereas the basin board costs include indirect costs associated with staff preparing, attending, and following up on basin board meetings. 



Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration 
December 19, 2007 
Page 4 of 7 
 
 

 

Some stakeholders have raised the concern that appointed governing boards result in “taxation without 
representation” because the boards have taxing authority but governing members are not elected.  According to a 
1995 Water Management District Review Commission Report, the Legislature in creating the districts reasoned 
that appointed governing board members from across a district’s jurisdiction would better manage regional 
resources for the benefit of the entire region, since each member would not be elected by and represent a discrete 
constituency. 9  However, as board members are not elected, citizens who are dissatisfied with decisions about 
district funding and operation cannot address these concerns through the electoral process. 

A second and related concern is that some stakeholders assert that there is a lack of accountability over 
district funding decisions.  This issue arises because the Florida law provides that the Governor, rather 
than the Legislature, has the authority to approve or disapprove, in whole or in part, the budget of each 
water management district.  The Legislature’s appropriation committee chairs may provide comments and 
objections to the districts on their proposed budgets.  While the district’s governing board has final budget 
approval, any provision rejected by the Governor cannot be included in the district’s final budget.  This 
approval process was established to avoid a separation of powers issue because the state is 
constitutionally prohibited from levying ad valorem taxes, which is a source of district revenues. 10 

Third, concerns have also been raised about the purpose and benefits of basin boards relative to time and 
effort expended on supporting them; in particular, the Southwest Florida Water Management District, 
which has eight basin boards and 44 members.  Basin boards provide a mechanism for local input and 
guidance for water resource programs and projects.  Property taxes recommended to the governing board 
and raised by basin board assessments also provide a dedicated funding source to address local needs and 
priorities.  However, taxpayers incur $509,046 in costs to support the basin boards, due mainly to 
considerable staff time spent preparing and attending basin board meetings (an average of five meetings 
per year per basin), responding to board requests and inquires, and developing budgets for each board. 

Numerous accountability mechanisms can help address these issues.  There are several accountability 
mechanisms in place that address some of these concerns.  These include statutory millage caps, budget 
reporting requirements, Department of Environmental Protection oversight authority, and the 
Legislature’s ability to modify governing board composition. 

Statutory millage caps.  The Legislature has exercised its authority to reduce the districts’ maximum 
millage rate.  The Florida Constitution provides a millage cap of .05 mill for Northwest Florida Water 
Management District and limited the remaining four districts to 1 mill.  However, the Legislature has 
further restricted the taxing authority for three districts: Suwannee River (0.75 mill), St. Johns River 
(0.6 mill), and South Florida (0.80 mill). 

Budget reporting requirements.  The districts must submit their proposed annual budgets to several 
entities, including the Governor, the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, 
and the chairs of all substantive and fiscal committees by August 1 of each year. 11  The House and Senate 
appropriation committee chairs may submit comments and objections to each district on their proposed 
budgets by September 5.  In adopting their final budget, the district governing board must include a 
written response to any comments and objections of the appropriation chairs. 
                                                                  
9 Bridge Over Troubled Water: Recommendations of the Water Management District Review Commission, Water Management District Review Commission, 

December 1995. 
10 Article VII, Section 1(a) of the Florida Constitution. 
11 Section 373.536(1), F.S. 



Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration 
December 19, 2007 
Page 5 of 7 
 
 

 

The Executive Office of the Governor is required to review the districts’ proposed budgets and may veto 
all or part of these proposed budgets.  The office must report annually to the Legislature the results of its 
review of the districts’ proposed budgets; the report also identifies those districts that do not comply with 
reporting requirements.  State funds can be withheld from a water management district that fails to 
comply with these reporting requirements. 

Water management district staff indicates that they have not received comments or objections on their 
proposed budgets from the Legislature in recent years.  One possible reason is that the legislators are not 
in session during the comment period.  Districts have made presentations on their budget to committees 
and legislative staff during the regular legislative sessions to assist in their review of water management 
district budgets.  The Executive Office of the Governor and water management districts also indicate that 
the Governor has never vetoed a water management district budget.  Instead, the districts receive and 
follow direction from the governor’s office in developing their budgets. 

Department of Environmental Protection oversight.  The Department of Environmental Protection has 
general supervisory authority of the water management districts.  The department carries out its oversight 
responsibilities in several ways including 

 receiving copies of spending plans and budgets;  
 auditing funds granted or contracted to the districts for water related projects; 
 reviewing water management district rules for consistency with state water policy;  
 monitoring the status, expenditures, and revenues for the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration 

Program; and 
 administering trust funds used for land acquisition and management such as the Florida Forever Trust 

Fund. 

The department’s secretary also conducts monthly conference calls with district executive directors and 
meets quarterly with the governing board chairs and executive directors to enhance coordination and 
discuss concerns between the agencies. 

Legislative modification of governing boards.  Over the years, the Legislature has enacted legislation to 
revise the number of governing board members and associated residence requirements.  For example, the 
2007 Legislature provided for two additional members to be appointed to the Southwest Florida Water 
Management District Governing Board. 12  It also specified that one of the governing board members 
must reside in Polk County and revised the qualifications for the “at large” seats to specify that one 
member must reside in Hardee, DeSoto, or Highland counties and one must reside in Sarasota or 
Charlotte counties, and one member must reside in Marion or Hernando counties. 

Options for Legislative Consideration 

If the Legislature wishes to take additional actions to address the accountability concerns that have been 
raised regarding the current governance structure of the water management districts, it could consider 
several options, as discussed in Exhibit 2.  These options include requiring the Legislative Budget 
Commission to review and comment on district budgets (Option 1), revising dates for the water 
management district budget review process to match the state fiscal year (Option 2), directing districts 
with basin boards to reduce the number of basins and associated boards (Option 3), eliminating the 
                                                                  
12 Ch. 2007-120, Laws of Florida. 



Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration 
December 19, 2007 
Page 6 of 7 
 
 

 

authority of district governing boards to designate basin areas (Option 4), and providing for the election of 
governing board members (Option 5).  The exhibit outlines the policy options and describes the 
advantages and disadvantages associated with each option. 

Exhibit 1 
The Legislature Could Consider Several Options to Enhance Water Management District Accountability 
Mechanisms 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 
Option 1 – Require the Legislative Budget Commission to Review Water Management District Budgets 
The Legislature would amend s. 373.536, 
F.S. to require the districts to provide a 
copy of their proposed budget to the 
Legislative Budget Commission.  The 
commission would review the proposed 
budget and provide comments and 
objections to each district. 
 

 Provides additional legislative review of 
water management district budgets. 

 

 Would require a statutory change. 
 Legislative Budget Commission does not always 

meet during the timeframe necessary to timely 
consider water management district budgets. 

Option 2 – Revise the Water Management District Budget Review Process 
The Legislature would amend s. 373.536, 
F.S.  to revise the water management 
district budget process.  These changes 
would result in the actions described below.  
 
 Revise the water management district 

fiscal year (October 1 through September 
30) to run concurrent with the state fiscal 
year. 

 Remove the requirement that the tentative 
budget be submitted to the governing 
board by July 15. 

 Revise the date from August 1 to 
February 1 for the submittal of the district 
tentative budgets to the Governor, the 
President of the Senate, the Speaker of 
the House, and the chairs of all 
substantive and fiscal committees. 

 Revise the date from September 5 to 
March 5 for the submittal of comments 
and objections on district proposed 
budgets by the House and Senate 
Appropriation chairs. 

 Revise the date from December 15 to 
May 15 for the submittal of a report on its 
review of district budgets by the 
Executive Office of the Governor. 

 Provides additional legislative review of 
water management district budgets. 

 Provides the Legislature with information 
on district budgets prior to the legislative 
session, which would help facilitate state 
funding decisions related to district 
activities. 

 Would require a statutory change. 
 Would complicate local government taxation, as 

Florida law requires county property appraisers to 
provide certification of taxable values by July 1 of 
each year to the water management districts.  
The districts use this information in setting their 
millage rates and developing their budgets. If the 
submittal date of the districts’ tentative budget is 
revised to February, then the district’s governing 
board would not have certified taxable values to 
set their millage rates and develop their budgets. 

 Changes to the water management district fiscal 
year could be disruptive to county property 
appraisers.  Currently, the water management 
districts and local governments are on the same 
fiscal year.  Florida law requires the county 
property appraisers to provide an estimate of the 
total assessed value of non-exempt property to 
each taxing authority by June 1 of each year.  
This estimate is provided for budget planning 
purposes.  Changing the districts’ budget 
submission date would result in having the 
county property appraiser provide this estimate to 
the districts and local governments at different 
times. 

 Local governments and water management 
districts are partners in developing and funding 
projects, such as alternative water supply 
development projects.  A change in the water 
management district fiscal year could be 
disruptive to the working relationship between 
local governments and the districts. 



Governance of Florida’s Water Management Districts 
Options for Legislative Consideration 
December 19, 2007 
Page 7 of 7 
 
 

 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 
Option 3 – Require Districts to Assess Value of Basin Boards 

The Legislature could direct the water 
management districts to periodically assess 
the costs and benefits of their basin boards 
to ensure that the boards provide adequate 
value to justify their continued existence 
and taxpayer support.  This could lead to 
reducing the number of basins and 
associated boards through consolidation. 

 Could identify opportunities to reduce the 
number of boards and/or reduce their 
expenses. 

 Consolidated basin boards covering 
larger geographic areas may facilitate 
regional projects, rather than smaller 
projects. 

 Larger basins could facilitate projects that 
would not normally be approved by 
smaller basins because of a desire to 
restrict tax levels or inability to raise 
funds due to their existing tax base. 

 Consolidated or eliminated boards would reduce 
local decision making over the types of projects 
and funding levels. 

 Spreading ad valorem taxes over larger area may 
result in higher tax rates for those areas that had 
lower tax rates. 

 Potential opposition from basin residents who 
may feel that their interests are no longer 
represented. 

 Hydrological considerations could be overlooked 
to the disadvantage of the area’s water 
resources. 

Option 4 – Eliminate Basin Boards 
The Legislature would repeal 
ss. 373.0693-373.0698, F.S., thereby 
eliminating the ability for water 
management districts to create basin areas. 

 Maximizes ad valorem revenues available 
for overall district purposes because the 
millage rate would no longer be divided 
between the district and basin boards. 

 Reduces costs associated with 
supporting basin boards.  

 Eliminates district staff time associated 
with supporting basin boards, which 
could facilitate staff reductions. 

 Would require a statutory change. 
 May reduce local feedback mechanism, thus 

limiting information available for funding and 
project decisions. 

 Potential opposition from basin residents who 
may feel that their interests are no longer 
represented. 

Option 5 – Require  Governing Board Members to be Elected 

The Legislature would amend s. 373.073, 
F.S. to provide for the election of governing 
board members. 

 Increased accountability over board 
members. 

 Increased voter awareness of governing 
board member positions on water policy, 
due to information provided to the public 
during campaigning. 

 Could require a constitutional amendment 
because the water management districts are 
under Department of Environmental Protection in 
the executive branch of government. 

 Would require a statutory change. 
 Would result in additional costs associated with 

establishing an election process. 
 May require salaries and office expenses for 

elected board members. 
 Elected officials would more likely be expected to 

represent the interests of a group of residents 
from one area rather than the entire region. Thus, 
elected officials may not collectively represent 
the range of stakeholders’ interests that 
appointed board members could represent. 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis. 



Gary R. VanLandingham, Ph.D., Director 

111 West Madison Street  ■  Room 312  ■  Claude Pepper Building  ■  Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1475 
850/488-0021      SUNCOM 278-0021     FAX 850/487-9083 

www.oppaga.state.fl.us 

 

The Florida Legislature 
 

OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS AND 
GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 

   

SUNSET MEMORANDUM                    Report No. 07-S28
 
 

Florida’s Water Management District 
Environmental Resource Permitting Options 

for Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 

February 8, 2008 

Summary 

To support the Sunset Review Process, the Legislature directed OPPAGA to examine the state’s 
five water management districts. 1  This memo is part of a series that reviews the districts’ 
operations, and focuses on their environmental resource permit programs including their 
purpose, organization, responsibilities, resources, and performance.  While the Department of 
Environmental Protection also issues environmental resource permits, this memo will 
concentrate on the water management districts’ programs. 

The memo also presents three policy options for the Legislature and district governing boards to 
consider regarding the water management districts’ environmental resource permitting activities.  
These options include mandating that districts increase efforts to educate permit applicants about 
regulatory requirements in order to expedite the permitting process (Option 1); adjusting permit 
fees to avoid the need to subsidize this activity with local ad valorem tax revenues (Option 2); 
and mandating that permitting agencies increase coordination and move towards a ‘one-stop 
permitting’ process (Option 3).  The memo discusses the advantages and disadvantages of each 
option.  A separate interim project being conducted by the Florida House of Representatives also 
examines opportunities to streamline the permitting process by better coordinating the districts’ 
activities with those other governmental entities that also issue permits. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                           
1 Sections 11.901-11.920, F.S. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Purpose, Organization, and Responsibilities 
Florida’s five water management districts are responsible for managing and protecting the state’s 
water resources and related natural systems.  The districts include Northwest Florida, Suwannee 
River, St. Johns River, Southwest Florida, and South Florida.  The districts are responsible for 
water supply, water quality, flood protection, and natural systems (e.g., aquatic and 
wetland-dependent habitats). 
A primary way the districts meet these responsibilities is through their regulatory programs.  The 
districts are statutorily authorized to issue an environmental resource permit (ERP) to persons 
who seek to dredge and fill wetlands; construct drainage facilities, dams, or reservoirs; provide 
storm water containment and treatment; or undertake other activities that affect state waters.  The 
permitting process is intended to ensure that these construction activities do not degrade water 
quality, cause flooding, or adversely affect wetlands. 2  State law exempts certain activities, such 
as some agriculture and silviculture activities from ERP requirements. 
Depending on activity proposed by the applicant, either the Department of Environmental 
Protection or the water management districts processes the environmental resource permit.  
Operating agreements between the department and the districts dictate which agency processes a 
given permit application.  The department processes permit applications related to solid and 
hazardous waste, wastewater facilities, mines, power plants, communication cables and lines, 
single-family dwellings and docking facilities that are not part of a larger plan of development.  
The water management districts review and take action on all other ERP applications.  
Applicants may also be required to obtain permits for development activities from federal and 
local government agencies.  For example, an applicant seeking to build a structure that affects 
navigable waters may be required to obtain a permit from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, an 
environmental resource permit from a water management district, and review and approval from 
the local government. 
The Legislature provided the statutory authority to four of the five water management districts to 
issue environmental resource permits in 1994.  However, the Northwest Florida Water 
Management District did not begin implementing an ERP program until October 2007. 3  Prior to 
that time, the Legislature did not extend the authority for an ERP program to the district because 
it did not have sufficient funds to fully implement the program, and the Department of 
Environmental Protection issued environmental resource permits in the district’s boundaries for 
dredge and fill and stormwater activities for non-agricultural projects while the district issued 
permits for agriculture and some non-agricultural facilities (e.g., construction or alteration of 
dams and levees). 4  During Fiscal Year 2006-07, the district issued 34 of these types of permits; 
the Department of Environmental Protection was not able to provide the number of permits 
issued within the Northwest Florida Water Management District’s boundaries during this period.  
The Legislature appropriated $3.8 million to the district to implement the ERP program in Fiscal 
Year 2007-08, and the district expects to fully implement the program by July 2008. 
 

                                                           
2 The Environmental Resource Permit consolidated two former permits – the Wetland Resource Management Permit issued by the Department of 

Environmental and the Management and Storage of Surface Waters permit issued by the water management districts – in an effort to streamline 
the permitting process. 

3 The 2006 Legislature provided for a phased approach for implementing an environmental resource permitting program in the district  
(Ch. 2006-228, Laws of Florida). 

4 The water management districts are constitutionally authorized to levy ad valorem taxes to fund their operations.  The district’s ad valorem 
millage rate is constitutionally and statutorily capped at .05 mills. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 3 
 
 

 

Permit Types.  There are three types of environmental resource permits: noticed general, 
standard general, and individual. 
Noticed general permits are issued by rule for activities that have minimal or no impacts on the 
environment and do not have any wetland impacts.  Due to the nature of noticed general permits, 
most applications require less staff time to review and fewer, if any, requests for additional 
information.  District staff issue most noticed general permits. 
Standard general permits are for projects that have minimal impacts on the environment, 
typically less than 100 acres of project area, and/or contain one acre or less of wetland or surface 
water impacts.  District staff issue most standard general permits. 
Individual environmental resource permits are required on projects at or over 100 acres, have 
significant impacts on water and land resources, and/or contain one or more acres of wetlands or 
surface water impacts.  District governing boards issue individual permits. 
As shown in Exhibit 1, the water management districts issued 8,483 Environmental Resource 
Permits in Fiscal Year 2006-07.  General permits accounted for 80% of the permits issued, while 
individual permits represented 14%.  The number of permits issued varied by district, with 
Southwest Florida Water Management District issuing the most permits, at 3,819.  Differences in 
permit thresholds may account for differences in the number of permits across districts.  For 
example, the South Florida Water Management District exempts projects that are less than 10 
acres in size or contain less than 2 acres of impervious surface from environmental resource 
permit requirements.  Other districts require permits for such activities. 

Exhibit 1 
Water Management Districts Issued 8,483 Environmental Resource Permits in Fiscal Year 2006-07 1 
District Individual Standard General Noticed General Total 

Southwest Florida 478 3,088 253 3,819 

St. Johns River 346 2,086 83 2,515 

South Florida 250 1,324 73 1,647 

Suwannee River 40 266 196 502 

Total 1,114 6,764 605 8,483 
1 Data for Northwest Florida Water Management District was not included in this exhibit because the district had not implemented 

its Environmental Resource Permitting Program during the fiscal year.  The Department of Environmental Protection was not able 
to provide the number of permits issued within the Northwest Florida Water Management District’s boundaries during this period. 

Source: Water Management Districts. 

Permit Application Process 

The districts follow a multi-step process for issuing environmental resource permits (see 
Exhibit 2).  The process includes 

 reviewing the permit application for completeness; 
 requesting additional information from the applicant, if an application is not complete; 
 deeming the application complete and determining whether the application meets 

requirements for issuance; and 
 issuing the permit and ensuring proper public notice. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 4 
 
 

 

Exhibit 2 
The Water Management Districts Use a Multi-Step Process to Issue Environmental Resource Permits 

 
Source: OPPAGA analysis.

Pre-Application Conference Held (optional)

Staff determines if a 
permit is required 

Is application 
complete? 

Does application 
meet requirements 

for issuance? 

Is this a permit to 
be issued by staff 

or board?

Permit application or 
additional information is 

received 

Staff reviews 
application for 
completeness 

Notice of Final Agency 
Action (permit) sent out 

End

Yes 

End 
No 

Additional information 
from applicant 

Request for additional 
information 

Staff processes 
notices and fees 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Staff 

Public 
comments 

from notices 

Staff prepares 
recommendations for 

Governing Board 
No 

Board 

Governing Board 
approves or 

denies 

Notice of Final Agency 
Action (permit) sent out 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 5 
 
 

 

Through the application process, a permit applicant must demonstrate that a proposed activity 
will not be harmful to water resources or inconsistent with the overall objectives of the water 
management district.  In addition, the applicant must provide reasonable assurance that state 
water quality standards will not be violated and such activity in, on, or over surface waters or 
wetlands is not contrary to the public interest.  While not required, permit applicants can meet 
with district staff before submitting their application to discuss their proposed activity. 
District staff must process environmental resource permit applications within time limits 
specified by law. 5  Once an applicant submits a permit application, the district has 30 days to 
review the application or request additional information; there is no limit on the number of 
requests for additional information.  When the requested materials have been received, within 30 
days district staff must review it and request only information needed to clarify or to answer new 
questions raised by or directly related to such additional information.  Each district has 
established timeframes in their rules for applicants to respond to requests for additional 
information; these timeframes vary between 30 and 120 days.  Applicants can request an 
extension to have additional time to respond to an information request; there is no limit on the 
number of extension requests.  Final agency action, meaning either issuance or denial, must 
occur within 90 days after receipt of a completed application or the last submittal of additional 
requested information, whichever is the latter, or the permit is issued by default. 

Permit Compliance and Enforcement 

Once permits are issued, permittees must comply with permit conditions.  The districts conduct 
numerous activities to ensure compliance, including reviewing monitoring reports submitted by 
permittees; conducting inspections during and after project completion; and investigating public 
complaints. 
A permittee can be found non-compliant for several reasons, including failing to adhere to 
conditions specified in the permit.  For example, a permittee may fail to submit a required 
monitoring report on the project, may violate district rules in carrying out the project, or may 
perform activities which have not been authorized by a permit and are not exempted.  For 
example, if a developer’s project affects five acres of wetlands while the permit only authorizes 
one acre of impact, the permittee is in violation of permit conditions. 
The nature and severity of the non-compliance determines whether the district handles 
enforcement formally or informally.  Informal enforcement actions are conducted by telephone 
call, courtesy letter, and/or warning letter before a compliance case is turned over for legal 
enforcement.  Informal enforcement actions usually occur when the issue does not represent a 
danger to life, property or the environment, and the district believes the issue can be resolved 
with the applicant more expeditiously through informal means.  District officials believe it is 
more advantageous for the applicant and district to try and settle issues informally. 
Formal enforcement actions occur if the violation represents a danger to life, property or the 
environment and/or the permittee had prior non-compliance issues that could not be handled 
informally.  For example, formal enforcement action would be taken if flooding or unauthorized 
impacts to wetlands occur because of a permittee’s actions.  The formal process involves issuing 
a notice of violation letter.  If, after receiving the letter, the permittee remains out of compliance, 
the district may request litigation authority from its governing board and file an administrative 

                                                           
5 Section 373.4141, F.S. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 6 
 
 

 

complaint and order.  Continued non-compliance can lead to an administrative hearing and 
possible revocation of the permit. 
Permittees that violate their permit conditions are liable for damages caused and for civil 
penalties.  The districts are statutorily authorized to recover a civil penalty for each offense in an 
amount not to exceed $10,000 per offense, with each day constituting a separate offense. 6  The 
water management districts reported recovering approximately $3.35 million in penalties for 
Fiscal Year 2006-07. 7  It is the intent of the Legislature that the civil penalties imposed by the 
court are of such amount as to ensure immediate and continued compliance. 
Most Compliance Cases Are Resolved by Informal Actions.  Water management district officials 
report that most compliance cases are handled using informal enforcement actions.  Due to the 
severity of enforcement actions that could be taken, each applicant, and the corresponding 
district tries to resolve compliance issues informally.  Formal enforcement actions are usually 
taken for significant non-compliance issues.  For example, significant non-compliance would 
occur when an applicant dredges and fills in 50 acres of wetlands when the permit called for only 
5 acres of wetlands to be impacted.   
District officials indicate that most non-compliance cases are resolved within 30 to 60 days.  
Typically, cases involving serious non-compliance issues or where the applicant refuses to 
cooperate with the district can take a substantial amount of time to resolve.  Cases that cannot be 
resolved in an expeditious manner are handled by formal enforcement, which includes issuing a 
notice of violation letter.  If, after receiving the letter, the permittee remains out of compliance, 
the district may issue an administrative complaint and order.  Continued non-compliance can 
lead to an administrative hearing and possible revocation of the permit. 

Resources 
The water management districts reported allocating $42 million for their environmental resource 
permit programs in Fiscal Year 2007-08 (see Exhibit 3).  The districts employ approximately 433 
full-time equivalent employees to process permit applications and conduct compliance activities.  
Staffing for ERP activities has remained stable over the last several years, while the number of 
permits issued and associated compliance activities have increased.  To meet this increased 
workload and ensure that permits are processed within statutory time limits, some of the districts 
have hired consultants to review permit applications and conduct compliance activities. 
The districts charge fees for environmental resource permits, but these fees only cover a small 
fraction of ERP program costs, with other funds being used to subsidize permitting activities.  
For example, the Southwest Florida and South Florida Water Management Districts report that 
permit fees cover, about 20% and 25%, respectively, of program costs.  The districts use other 
revenue sources, including ad valorem tax revenues and legislative appropriations (provided to 
the Northwest Florida and Suwannee River Water Management Districts) to fund the remaining 
program costs. 
 

                                                           
6 Section 373.129, F.S. 
7 Penalty data is reported for all five water management districts.  Data for the Northwest Florida Water Management District includes only 

penalties collected as part of the agriculture/silviculture surface water component of the environmental resource permit in Fiscal Year 2006-07 
because the program was not fully implemented during this period. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 7 
 
 

 

Exhibit 3 
The Water Management Districts Reported Budgeting $42 Million for Environmental 
Resource Permit Programs in Fiscal Year 2007-08 1 

District 
Budget, 

Fiscal Year 2007-08  
Full Time 

Equivalents 
South Florida $13,007,115 129 

St. Johns River 12,460,556 144.45 

Southwest Florida 10,049,165 117.64 

Northwest Florida1 4,943,713 26.8 

Suwannee River 1,667,000 15 

Total $42,127,549  432.89 
1 Northwest Florida Water Management District is phasing in its Environmental Resource 

Permitting program during Fiscal Year 2007-08.  The district expects to fully implement its 
program by July 2008. 

Source:  Water Management Districts, Fiscal Year 2007-08, which is from October 1 to September 30. 

Timeliness of Permit Reviews 

Over the years, stakeholders have raised concerns about excessive delays caused by the districts’ 
application review processes and requests for additional information.  A related concern is that 
district requests for additional information are excessive and unnecessary.  Stakeholders have 
also raised concerns about the lack of coordination between permitting agencies at the federal, 
state and local levels.  The primary concern has been that individuals may be required to obtain 
permit approvals from federal, state, and local agencies for the same project.  (The Florida House 
of Representatives is conducting a separate interim study on current federal, state, and local 
regulations regarding environmental resource permitting to determine whether state regulatory 
standards provide adequate protections of wetlands and the impacts of a multi-tiered regulatory 
system.) 
Our analysis of district permitting data concluded that districts are meeting their statutory 
timeframes for permit issuance.  Requests for additional information are the major cause for 
permit delays.  While the districts have taken some steps to expedite the permitting process by 
offering pre-application meetings and an appeals process to challenge the legality of information 
requests, these processes are not always used by applicants and additional steps to educate 
applicants about permit requirements would be beneficial. 
Districts Are Meeting Their Statutory Timeframes for Permit Issuance.  The water management 
districts have established a performance measure that reflects how long, on average, it takes staff 
to issue a permit once all required materials are submitted and the application is deemed 
complete.  According to state law, final agency action must occur within 90 days after receipt of 
a completed application or the last submittal of additional requested information, whichever is 
the latter, or the permit is issued by default. 
Performance data reported by the districts to the Legislature shows that in Fiscal Year 2006-07, the 
districts met their statutory time limits for environmental resource permits issued (see 
Exhibit 4).  According to this data, the districts, on average, took between 28 days (Suwannee River) 
and 54 days (South Florida) to issue a permit once the application was deemed complete. 8 

                                                           
8  The amount for South Florida was calculated by averaging the number of days to issue individual (61 days) and general permits (47.6 days). 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 8 
 
 

 

Exhibit 4 
Water Management Districts Generally Are Meeting Statutory Timeframes 
to Issue Environmental Resource Permits 1, 2 

Average Days to Act Once
Application Is Complete

54

33 33
28

South Florida St. Johns River Southwest Florida Suwannee River

 
1 Data for Northwest Florida Water Management District was not included in this exhibit 

because the district had not implemented its Environmental Resource Permitting Program 
during the fiscal year. 

2 The amount for South Florida was calculated by averaging the number of days to issue 
individual (61 days) and general permits (47.6 days). 

Source: Water Management Districts August 1 Tentative Budget Submission, Fiscal Year 
2006-07, which is from October 1 to September 30. 

While this measure is useful for determining whether the districts have met their statutory 
timeframes for issuing permits, it provides limited information about the overall time it takes to 
issue a permit since it does not account for the time between application submittal to when it is 
deemed complete.  This is an important consideration because our analysis of permits issued 
during Fiscal Year 2006-07 found that 80% of permit applications were submitted incomplete.  
Thus, most applications required at least one request for additional information to prepare them 
for staff review and final action (e.g., issuance or denial). 
Our analysis of permits issued in Fiscal Year 2006-07 found that it typically takes three to four 
months from the time an environmental resource permit application is initially submitted until 
the permit is issued (see Exhibit 5).  The amount of time varies significantly by type of permit 
issued.  For example, it typically took the districts an average of less than 30 days to issue 
noticed general permits, while individual permits took over 7 months (222 days) on average.  
Noticed general permits are generally issued in less time than individual permits because the 
proposed activities involve minimal or no wetland impacts and permits can be issued by district 
staff after their review.  Conversely, applications for individual permits require more extensive 
staff review due to the complexity of the proposed development, and district governing boards, 
which meet only monthly, must approve or deny individual permits. 

 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 9 
 
 

 

Exhibit 5 
Water Management Districts Typically Take 3-4 Months to Issue Environmental Resource Permits,  
Counting Time for Submitting Additional Information 1 

District 
Total Number of 

Permits 

Median Days to 
Issue Noticed 

General Permits 

Median Days to 
Issue Standard 
General Permits 

Median Days to 
Issue Individual 

Permits 

Median Days to 
Issue for All 

Permits 
South Florida 1,647 29 117 305.5 127 

St. Johns River 2,515 38 106 272.5 118 

Southwest Florida 3,819 28 102 172 104 

Suwannee River 502 10 48 140.5 28 

All Districts 8,483 28.5 104 222.25 111 
1 Data for Northwest Florida Water Management District was not included in this exhibit because the district had not 

implemented its Environmental Resource Permitting Program during the fiscal year. 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis of Water Management District data, Fiscal Year 2006-07. 

Water management districts are implementing electronic permitting programs to help expedite 
the timely issuance of permits.  For example, the St. Johns River and South Florida Water 
Management Districts have implemented an electronic permitting program that allows applicants 
to complete, submit, and track applications on-line as well as to submit compliance reports via 
the Internet.  The program is expected to help streamline operations by eliminating the need for 
paper documents and reducing the need to input application information into data systems.  The 
Northwest Florida and Southwest Florida districts are in the process of implementing similar 
electronic permitting programs. 
The districts also report encouraging applicants to attend pre-application meetings with district 
staff.  These meetings allow permit applicants an opportunity to discuss proposed activities and 
obtain district feedback.  While the pre-application meetings are voluntary, district staff reports 
that they save time in the permitting process because they result in more complete permit 
application submittals. According to district staff, most applicants do not participate in these 
meetings. 
Requests for Additional Information Are the Major Cause for Permit Delays, But Applicants 
Rarely Challenge These Requests.  Several factors affect the time necessary to issue permits.  
The most significant factor affecting timeliness is requests for additional information due to 
incomplete applications. 9  Our analysis found that on average, each request for additional 
information added 85 days to the time it took to issue a permit.  The presence of wetlands and 
larger parcel sizes added to the complexity of the project and required additional staff review 
time.  In addition, district staff indicates that third-party challenges also increase the time to issue 
permits. 
Florida law establishes that the water management districts may only request information needed 
to clarify the application or to answer new questions raised by previously sent information. 
However, there are no statutory limits regarding how many times a district can request additional 
information from an applicant.  A concern frequently raised by applicants is that districts 

                                                           
9 We conducted a regression analysis to determine how several factors affect the time to issue a permit.  The regression analysis was conducted 

using available data from three water management districts: St. Johns River, Southwest Florida, and South Florida.  Data was not available for 
the Suwannee River and Northwest Florida Water Management Districts.  Factors included in our regression analysis included permit type, 
parcel size, the presence of wetlands, and whether the district requested additional information.  These factors explained 47% of the variation in 
the time to issue a permit. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 10 
 
 

 

repeatedly ask for additional information.  Our analysis found that 86% of permit applications 
have two or less requests for additional information, although some had as many as 13 
information requests. 
Florida law has established a 30-day timeframe for districts to respond to or request additional 
information, and our analysis showed that districts were meeting this time limit (see Exhibit 6).  
In addition, each district has established timeframes in their rules for applicants to respond to 
requests for additional information, with the times varying between 30 and 120 days.  Districts 
may deny an application if a permittee fails to respond to a request for additional information 
within a timely manner.  However, district officials reported applicants often ask for an extension 
to respond to a request for additional information, resetting the time clock and thus delaying 
permit approval. 

Exhibit 6 
Water Management Districts Met Deadlines for Requesting Additional Information 1 

District 
Average days for WMD 

to request RAI 
Average days for Permittee 

to respond to RAI 
St. Johns River 27 53 

Southwest Florida 27.5 31.5 

South Florida 28.5 46.75 
1 Information on requests for additional information could only be provided by South Florida, Southwest Florida, and St. Johns River 

Water Management districts.  Suwannee River and Northwest Florida did not track requests for additional information in their 
databases during the time period covered by our analysis. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of Water Management District data. 

Florida statutes provide applicants the ability to request a hearing if they believe the request for 
additional information is unwarranted or not authorized by law or rule. 10  According to the water 
management districts, no hearings were requested during Fiscal Year 2006-07.  In addition, the 
applicant may request that the district proceed to process the permit application without 
providing the requested information.  The districts reported that since most applicants are 
seeking a timely resolution, they usually pursue less formal means to address issues with 
requests for additional information.  For example, applicants may request a meeting with district 
permitting staff to discuss the permit application and information request.  District officials 
reported that this process typically resolves any issues an applicant might have with a request for 
additional information. 

Options for Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 

Through their regulatory programs, Florida’s five water management districts work to fulfill 
their responsibilities for water supply, water quality, flood protection, and natural systems.  
Issuing environmental resource permits (ERP) is a primary activity within the districts’ 
regulatory programs, with this activity allocated $42 million in Fiscal Year 2007-08.  However, 
permit fees do not cover program costs, and the districts use other funds to subsidize permitting 
activities.  In addition, over the years, stakeholders have raised concerns about the districts’ ERP 
process, including concerns about excessive delays caused by the  application review process and 
requests for additional information.  Our analysis of district permit data found that requests for 
additional information are the major cause for permit delays.  Moreover, district staff reports that 
                                                           
10 Section 373.4141, F.S. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 11 
 
 

 

applicants often request extensions for more time to respond to information requests, which 
lengthens the permitting process.  Based on these findings, we determined that there are 
additional steps that the Legislature and district governing boards could consider to help improve 
the process. 
Exhibit 7 presents three policy options for the Legislature and governing boards to consider for 
streamlining the environmental resource permitting process and increasing program self-
sufficiency.  These options include mandating district to increase outreach efforts to applicants to 
help ensure that they understand permit requirements, (Option 1); increasing permit fees to 
reduce the need to subsidize this activity with local ad valorem tax revenues (Option 2); and 
increasing coordination among permitting agencies (Option 3).  The exhibit outlines the policy 
options and describes the advantages and disadvantages associated with each option. 



Florida’s Water Management District Environmental Resource Permitting Options for 
Legislative and District Governing Board Consideration 
Date:  February 8, 2008 
Page 12 
 
 

 

Exhibit 7 
The Legislature and District Governing Boards Could Consider Three Options to Improve and 
Streamline the Environmental Resource Permitting Process 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 
Option 1 – Mandate increased outreach efforts to educate applicants about permit requirements 

The Legislature would direct water 
management districts to increase efforts to 
educate applicants about regulatory 
requirements by holding periodic 
workshops for applicants and consultants 
on permitting processes and criteria as well 
as by advertising and encouraging 
applicants to participate in pre-application 
meetings. 

 It might decrease the number of 
incomplete applications submitted and 
expedite the permitting process because 
applicants would better understand 
regulatory requirements and resolve 
issues prior to application submittal 

 It could increase staff time and costs 
to conduct educational workshops 
and meetings with applicants 

Option 2 – Modify permit fees avoid relying on local ad valorem tax revenues 
The Legislature would direct the water 
management districts to set permit fees at a 
level to support district environmental 
resource permitting programs.  This would 
avoid the need to subsidize these activities 
with property tax revenues. 

 It would eliminate need to subsidize 
program activities using taxpayer’s 
dollars (a portion of district ad valorem 
revenues are currently supplementing 
program costs) 

 The regulated entity would bear 
regulatory program costs, which is 
consistent with the Legislature’s general 
intent regarding regulatory programs 
(s. 216.0236, Florida Statutes) 1 

 It would increase the costs of 
obtaining regulatory permits 

 It could increase un-permitted 
activities because individuals might 
be unwilling to pay increased fees 

Option 3 – Increase coordination among permitting agencies 
The Legislature would direct the water 
management districts to establish a 
working group to develop strategies to 
increase coordination among permitting 
agencies at the federal, state, and local 
level.  Working group members could 
include staff from the Department of 
Environmental Protection, water 
management districts, the U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers, and local government 
representatives.  The working group would 
submit a report proposing any statutory 
changes that would be necessary to 
implement the strategies to the Speaker of 
House and Senate President by January 1, 
2009. 

 It could provide a more efficient delivery 
of government services 

 It could reduce costs to the public and 
private sector by reducing the need to 
obtain approvals from multiple agencies 

 It could avoid permitting processing 
delays 

 It could increase staff time and costs 
to conduct working group meetings 

1 The section of law provides that “It is the intent of the Legislature that all costs of providing a regulatory service or regulating a 
profession or business be borne solely by those who receive the service or who are subject to regulation.  It is also the intent of the 
Legislature that the fees charged for providing a regulatory service or regulating a profession or business be reasonable and take 
into account the differences between the types of professions or businesses being regulated.” 

Source: OPPAGA analysis. 



Gary R. VanLandingham, Ph.D., Director 

111 West Madison Street  ■  Room 312  ■  Claude Pepper Building  ■  Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1475 
850/488-0021      SUNCOM 278-0021     FAX 850/487-9083 

www.oppaga.state.fl.us 

 

The Florida Legislature 
 

OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS AND 
GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 

   

SUNSET MEMORANDUM                    Report No. 07-S35
 
 

Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 

February 15, 2008 

Summary 

To support the Sunset Review process, the Legislature directed OPPAGA to examine 
Florida’s water management districts. 1  This memo is part of a series that reviews district 
operations and focuses on district budgets and options for legislative consideration.  We 
identified 15 policy options for the Legislature and district governing boards to consider for 
reducing water management district reliance on ad valorem tax revenues and state funding.  
For each option, we describe the associated advantages and disadvantages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
                                                           
1 Sections 11.901-11.920, F.S. 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 2 of 10 
 
 

 

Exhibit 1 
Florida’s Water Management Districts 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis. 

Purpose, Organization, and Responsibilities 

Florida’s five water management districts are responsible for managing and protecting the state’s water resources and 
related natural systems.  As shown in Exhibit 1, the districts’ boundaries are based on major watersheds or hydrologic 
basins and include Northwest Florida, Suwannee River, St. Johns River, Southwest Florida, and South Florida. 

The districts are governed by boards 
whose members are appointed by the 
Governor and confirmed by the Florida 
Senate. 2  District governing boards, 
which meet on a monthly basis, oversee 
district operations, establish policy, hire 
an executive director, issue orders to 
implement or enforce regulations, and 
approve contracts.  Governing boards 
are also authorized by the Florida 
Constitution and state law to levy ad 
valorem taxes to fund district operations.  
As specified by the Florida Constitution, 
four districts are limited to a maximum 
property tax rate of 1.00 mill, which is 
$1 for every $1,000 of taxable property 
value; the remaining district, Northwest 
Florida, is limited to 0.05 mill. 

Governing boards in two water 
management districts have designated 
sub-districts, which are represented by 
basins boards. 3 Specifically, the 
Southwest Florida Water Management 
District has established eight basin 
boards with 44 members.  There are two 
basins in the South Florida Water 
Management District; the Big Cypress 
Basin has a six-member board and the 
Okeechobee Basin is overseen by the 
district’s governing board. 

Basin boards assist districts in implementing their mission within a hydrological area.  The basin boards do not have 
regulatory authority but are statutorily responsible for planning and developing water resources and water control 
facilities that connect to and complement the primary engineering works in the basin.  The basin boards may also 
request the district governing board to levy ad valorem taxes within a basin to finance functions. 4 

                                                           
2 The governing board of each district is composed of nine members, except the Southwest Florida Water Management District, which has 13 members.   

Chapter 2007-120, Laws of Florida, revised the composition of the Southwest Florida Water Management District’s Governing Board from 11 to 13 members. 
3 The basins are represented by boards composed of at least one member from each county in the basin.  Basin board members are appointed to three-year terms by 

the Governor and must be confirmed by the Florida Senate.  A governing board member serves as the ex-officio chair of each basin board. 
4 These taxes are not in addition to the water management district taxes, but represent an allocation of the total authorized millage rate.  Specifically, the total 

authorized millage rate is divided for district and basin purposes and cannot exceed the statutory maximum total millage rate.  For example, the statutory 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 3 of 10 
 
 

 

The districts must submit their proposed annual budgets to several entities, including the Governor, the 
President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the chairs of all substantive and 
fiscal committees by August 1 of each year. 5  The House and Senate appropriation committee chairs may 
submit comments and objections to each district on their proposed budgets by September 5.  In adopting 
their final budget, the district governing board must include a written response to any comments and 
objections of the appropriation chairs. 

The Executive Office of the Governor is required to review the districts’ proposed budgets and may veto all or part of 
these proposed budgets.  The office must report annually to the Legislature the results of its review of the districts’ 
proposed budgets; the report also identifies those districts that do not comply with reporting requirements.  State funds 
can be withheld from a water management district that fails to comply with these reporting requirements. 

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection has general supervisory authority of the water management 
districts.  The department carries out its oversight responsibilities in several ways including receiving copies of district 
spending plans and budgets; administering trust funds used for land acquisition and management (e.g., Florida Forever 
Trust Fund); and auditing funds granted or contracted to the districts for water related projects. 

The districts’ activities are organized among six major programs. 

 District Management and Administration includes executive direction, ombudsman services, 
budgeting, the inspector general, and governing board support.  

 Acquisition, Restoration and Public Works includes developing and constructing capital projects; land 
acquisition; and restoring lands and water bodies. 

 Regulation includes water use permitting; water well permitting and contractor licensing; environmental 
resource and surface water management permitting; and permit administration and enforcement. 

 Operation and Maintenance of Lands and Works includes operating and maintaining facilities, flood 
control and water supply structures, lands, and other works. 

 Water Resources Planning and Monitoring includes water management planning (e.g., water supply 
planning and protecting water resources); research, data collection, analysis, and monitoring of 
hydrologic and meteorological data; and technical assistance. 

 Outreach includes environmental and water conservation education; governmental affairs; and public 
relation activities, such as public service announcements. 

Resources 

The total budget for the water management districts is $2.3 billion for Fiscal Year 2007-08 (see Exhibit 2).  The 
districts receive revenue from six major sources including ad valorem taxes, state appropriations, local revenues, 
federal revenues, permit fees, and miscellaneous revenues. 6  Staffing for the districts includes 3,388 full-time 
equivalent positions and 103 temporary positions. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
 

maximum millage rate in the Southwest Florida Water Management District is one mill, with the maximum millage assessed for district purposes not to exceed 
50% of the total authorized millage when there are one or more basins in the district, and the maximum millage assessed for basin purposes not to exceed 50% of 
the total authorized millage. 

5 Section 373.536(1), F.S. 
6 Miscellaneous revenues include interfund transfers, interest from investments, and sales of assets. 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 4 of 10 
 
 

 

Exhibit 2 
The Water Management District Budgets Total $2.3 Billion for Fiscal Year 2007-08 

District Non-Dedicated Revenue Dedicated Revenues Total Revenues FTE 
South Florida $549,349,672 $734,034,414 $1,283,384,086 1,808 

St. Johns River 210,418,929 189,709,629 400,128,558 715 

Southwest Florida 301,930,174 88,093,496 390,023,670 736 

Northwest Florida 33,122,669 86,802,739 119,925,408 61 

Suwannee River 9,014,696 72,888,579 81,903,275 68 

Total Funds $1,103,836,140 $1,171,528,857 $2,275,364,997 3,388 

Source:  Water Management Districts.  Data reported for Fiscal Year 2007-08 (October 1, 2007, to September 30, 2008). 

The districts’ receive both dedicated and non-dedicated funding.  Dedicated funding is reserved for specified projects 
such as Everglades restoration.  The districts’ Fiscal Year 2007-08 dedicated funding of $1.2 billion includes $675.8 
million in state funding (see Exhibit 3). 7  Other sources of dedicated funding include local revenues, federal revenues, 
and permit and license fees.  The districts have not generally received state general revenue appropriations. 8  The 
districts allocate most state funds ($574 million or 85%) to acquisition, restoration, and public works programs that 
fund the districts’ land acquisition, water supply, and surface water restoration projects.  For example, the districts 
reported $152.9 million in dedicated state revenue from the Florida Forever Trust Fund, which primarily funds land 
acquisition projects. 

Exhibit 3 
The Water Management District Budgets Include $675.8 Million in State Funds for Fiscal Year 2007-08 

Program Area 
Southwest 

Florida South Florida St. Johns River 
Suwannee 

River 
Northwest 

Florida Total 
Water Resource Planning 
and Monitoring $1,440,503 $33,262,888 $525,620 $2,775,900 $3,302,189 $41,307,100 
Acquisition, Restoration 
and Public Works 62,341,004 255,926,107 162,657,661 36,422,137 56,471,505 573,818,414 
Operation and 
Maintenance of Lands and 
Works 11,237,903 22,501,404 8,249,795 5,588,294 6,704,233 54,281,629 

Regulation 816,100 0 162,216 923,550 3,816,000 5,717,866 

Outreach 133,233 0 0 384,972 127,576 645,781 
Management and 
Administration 0 0 720 0 0 720 

Total Funds $75,968,743 $311,690,399 $171,596,012 $46,094,853 $70,421,503 $675,771,510 
Source:  Water Management Districts.  Data reported for Fiscal Year 2007-08 (October 1, 2007, to September 30, 2008). 

                                                           
7 The reported amount includes funds carried over from prior years for multiple-year projects. 
8 The 2007 Legislature appropriated $3,840,000 in general revenue to the Northwest Florida Water Management District for implementation of its Environmental 

Resource Permitting Program. 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 5 of 10 
 
 

 

Non-dedicated funding can be used for a wide range of activities, and totaled $1.1 billion for Fiscal Year 2007-08.  
Sources of non-dedicated funds primarily include ad valorem taxes and funds carried over from prior years.  Ad 
valorem taxes accounted for $869.6 million (see Exhibit 4).  The districts decreased their millage rates for Fiscal Year 
2007-08 to comply with tax reform legislation passed by the 2007 Legislature. 9  Ad valorem tax revenues for the 
districts slightly decreased from the prior year ($128,288). 

Exhibit 4 
The Water Management Districts Levied $869.6 Million in Ad Valorem Taxes in Fiscal Year 2007-08 

District 
Millage Rate 

Fiscal Year 2006-07 
Ad Valorem Tax Revenue 

Fiscal Year 2006-07 
Millage Rate 

Fiscal Year 2007-08 
Ad valorem Tax Revenue 

Fiscal Year 2007-08 
South Florida1 0.5265 to 0.6970 $553,009,838 0.4814 to 0.6240 $549,484,359 

Southwest Florida1 0.4220 to 0.8220 236,160,294 0.3866 to 0.7567 237,527,258 

St. Johns River 0.462 142,470,000 0.4158 144,678,000 

Suwannee River 0.4914 6,100,000 0.4399 6,100,000 

Northwest Florida 0.05 5,196,632 0.041 5,018,859 

Total  $942,936,764  $942,808,476 
1 The district has basins that levy ad valorem taxes at different rates. 

Source:  Water Management Districts.  Data reported for Fiscal Year 2007-08 (October 1, 2007, to September 30, 2008). 

State Funding for Water Management Districts Has Been Reduced, and They 
Have Taken Steps to Address these Reductions 

In addition to rolling back district ad valorem tax rates, during 2007 Special Session C the Legislature 
reduced state funding for some district programs. 10  This legislation reduced funds distributed to districts 
from the Water Protection and Sustainability Program Trust Fund by $18 million: a reduction of $8 million 
from district programs that provide financial assistance to local governments for alternative water supply 
projects and $10 million from surface water restoration activities. 

The districts have taken several actions to address reductions in ad valorem tax rates and state funding.  These actions 
include using funds in reserve accounts and other trust funds to supplement revenues; reducing funds available for 
alternative water supply development and surface water restoration projects; and reducing travel, conferences, training, 
and centralized fleet expenditures.  For example, St. Johns River reduced its budget by $7.8 million, including $4.1 
million for the St. Johns River Basin nutrient reduction program, $2.5 million for storm water treatment projects, and 
$1.2 million in contracted services for scientific research activities.  Similarly, the Southwest Florida Water 
Management District reduced funds allocated to two alternative water supply projects by $2 million.  The South 
Florida Water Management District reduced expenditures for agency-wide travel by $259,425, employee training by 
$519,500, and centralized fleet costs by $656,950. 

                                                           
9 House Bill 1B required a change to the millage rate for independent special districts including water management districts for the Fiscal Year 2007-08 to 3% 

below the rolled-back rate.  The rolled-back rate is the millage that would provide the same amount of tax revenue for the taxing authority as it received in the 
prior fiscal year. 

10 Chapter 2007-335, Laws of Florida. 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 6 of 10 
 
 

 

Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 

In addition to the reductions described above, Florida’s five water management districts face potential additional 
reductions due to state budget shortfalls and the recent property tax constitutional amendment. 11  The districts have 
taken some actions to address these budget reductions, but there are other strategies that the Legislature and district 
governing boards could consider to address ongoing funding concerns.  The fiscal impact of these options will depend 
on implementation timeframes and the number of options adopted.  To determine precise fiscal impact estimates, 
district budget staff should consult with Senate and House appropriations committee staff. 

Exhibit 5 below presents 15 policy options for the Legislature and district governing boards to consider for reducing 
water management district reliance on ad valorem tax revenues and state funding.  The exhibit summarizes the policy 
options and describes the advantages and disadvantages of each option. 

Exhibit 5 
The Legislature and District Governing Boards Could Consider Several Options to Reduce Reliance on Ad Valorem 
and State Trust Funds 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 1 – Increase Less-than-fee Acquisitions 

District governing boards could direct district 
staff to increase less-than-fee acquisitions.  
This allows the district to acquire the right to 
preserve and protect a property’s resources at a 
reduced cost because the land remains in 
private ownership. 

 Would reduce land acquisition costs 
 Land management costs would be borne by 

the land owner 
 Land would remain on county tax rolls 

 Districts would increase their monitoring 
activities due to additional conservation 
easements, which may result in additional 
costs 

 Would reduce public access to district-owned 
lands because private landowners would 
likely not allow visitors 

Option 2 – Lease District-owned Lands 

District governing boards could lease lands for 
purposes including agriculture, silviculture, 
livestock grazing, and hunting. 

 Would reduce reliance on state trust funds 
currently used for land management 

 Would reduce land management costs 
because the leasing entity would have 
responsibility for such expenses 

 Existing process for establishing and 
monitoring conservation easements could be 
used as a model for such leases 

 Districts would have to establish a process 
for identifying lands that are appropriate for 
such uses 

 Districts would have to expand monitoring 
system currently used for conservation 
easements, which may result in increased 
costs 

 Would reduce public access to district-owned 
lands 

Option 3 – Limit District Land Management to Mission Critical Activities 

District governing boards could limit land 
management activities to only mission critical 
functions such as prescribed burning and 
restoring natural water flow.  This would reduce 
funding for expanding public access and 
recreational activities such as improving access 
roads and recreational facilities (e.g. 
campgrounds and trails). 

 Would reduce land management costs 
associated with constructing and maintaining 
district recreational facilities 

 Would allow districts to reallocate land 
management staff to other priority areas 

 May reduce public access and use, if 
infrastructure is not maintained 

 Could lead to higher long-term costs if 
infrastructure or land conditions deteriorate 

                                                           
11 The constitutional amendment approved by voters in January 2008 increases the homestead exemption by $25,000, allows homestead property owners to transfer 

up to $500,000 of their Save-Our-Homes benefits to their next homestead, provides a $25,000 exemption for tangible personal property, and limits the assessment 
increases for specified nonhomestead real property to 10% each year. 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 7 of 10 
 
 

 

 
Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 4 – Maximize Opportunities to Increase Cooperative Agreements with Other Agencies  

District governing boards could increase 
cooperative land management agreements to 
shift land management activities to other 
agencies (e.g., Department of Agriculture and 
Consumer Services, Department of 
Environmental Protection, Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission, local governments, 
federal agencies). 

 Could reduce district land management costs 
for activities assumed by another agency, if 
the agency had local infrastructure (such as 
adjoining parcels) that allowed economies of 
scale 

 Could shift costs to federal or local 
governments that assumed responsibility for 
land management 

 Would allow districts to reallocate land 
management staff to other priority areas 

 May facilitate the reduction of district staff 

 Districts would lose control of land 
management activities 

 Federal or local governments may not have 
adequate funding to take on additional land 
management activities 

Option 5 – Increase Volunteer and Inmate Labor Use for Land Management Activities 

District governing boards could increase use of 
volunteers and inmate labor for land 
management activities (e.g., trail development, 
trash removal, and removal of invasive 
nonnative plants) 

 Would reduce reliance on state trust funds 
currently used for land management 

 Would allow activities such as land 
management to continue in the absence of 
paid staff 

 Would increase community involvement 

 Would require district staff time to coordinate 
volunteer activities 

 Would require districts to develop procedures 
to protect themselves from liability associated 
with volunteer injury 

 Would require district staff to coordinate with 
law enforcement agencies to ensure proper 
supervision of inmates 

Option 6 – Increase Delegation for Permit Approval 

District governing boards could review 
permitting criteria, including project size 
thresholds, to consider delegating additional 
authority to staff in taking final action on permit 
applications. Staff would refer any denials of 
permit applications to the governing board for 
final action. 

 Would allow district staff to issue more 
permits, which reduces the time and costs 
associated with governing board approval 
(e.g., preparing a staff report to the governing 
board, using board meeting time to consider 
permit applications) 

 Would decrease the time to issue permits 
because permit applications would no longer 
need to wait for the governing board to 
approve or deny at their monthly meeting 

 Would reduce the opportunity for the public to 
provide feedback regarding permit 
applications 

Option 7 – Reprioritize Compliance Activities 

District governing boards could direct district 
staff to reprioritize compliance activities, which 
may result in reducing the amount of regulatory 
compliance activities conducted (e.g., 
inspections).  For example, district staff could 
establish a risk-based approach that would 
emphasize public safety and protection of 
environmentally sensitive areas. 

 Would reduce regulatory program costs 
 Would reduce workload for compliance staff 
 May facilitate the reduction of district staff 

 District staff would have to revise compliance 
activity procedures 

 Reduced oversight may increase non-
compliance, which may result in reduced 
water quality, increased negative 
environmental impacts, and decreased public 
safety 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 8 of 10 
 
 

 

 
Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 8 – Reduce Land Acquisition 

District governing boards could delay or 
eliminate land acquisition projects; the districts 
annually receive $105 million in Florida Forever 
Trust Funds, which are used for land 
acquisition.  For example, districts could 
institute a one-year acquisition moratorium or 
could permanently discontinue their acquisition 
programs. 

 Would reduce reliance on state trust funds 
currently used for land acquisition 

 Would reduce long-term debt obligation and 
acquisition-related expenditures 

 Would reduce management costs for lands 
not acquired 

 Would enable district staff to concentrate on 
the management of previously acquired lands 

 May facilitate the reduction of district staff 

 New conservation lands would not be 
acquired 

 Some conservation lands may not be 
available for purchase at a later date 

 Price of land may increase during the 
acquisition moratorium 

 May result in negative environmental impacts 
(e.g., loss of threatened and endangered 
species; diminished water quality; growth of 
exotic, invasive species) 

Option 9 – Sell District Lands   

District governing boards could sell lands that 
are no longer needed for the purposes for which 
they were acquired or are considered relatively 
low priority.  Florida law authorizes the 
governing board to surplus conservation lands 
and dispose of them by a two-thirds vote.  For 
all other lands, the governing board can make a 
determination that such lands are no longer 
needed and may dispose of them by majority 
vote. 

 Would reduce reliance on state trust funds 
currently used for land management 

 If properties were sold to a private entity, land 
would likely be placed back on local property 
tax rolls 

 May facilitate the reduction of district staff 

 May negatively affect the state’s preservation 
of natural resources 

 Prior to sale or transfer, would require 
determination of compliance with Florida 
Forever bond covenants 

Option 10 – Reduce Water Supply and Water Restoration Project Funding and Activities 

District governing boards could delay or 
eliminate funding for water supply and water 
restoration projects.  For example, the districts 
could reduce the amount of cost share funds 
available to local governments to implement 
alternative water supply projects. 

 Would reduce reliance on state funding 
 Would reduce district expenditures on water 

supply projects 
 Would allow district funds and staff to be 

redirected to other priority areas 
 Would reduce workload for district staff in 

planning, managing, and monitoring projects 
 May facilitate the reduction of district staff 

 Would create additional stress to existing 
water supply sources, especially under 
drought conditions 

 Would increase costs for alternative water 
supplies and restoration projects over time 

 May result in the loss of matching funding 
from local and federal government for 
projects 

 Local governments would incur additional 
costs to develop alternative water supplies 
and restore water bodies 

 Would limit growth in areas that are not 
financially able to develop alternative water 
supplies on their own 

 Could result in litigation over existing water 
supplies 

 Would result in fewer environmental 
restoration efforts and loss of the associated 
benefits (e.g., water quality, recreation, public 
health, and habitat restoration) 

 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 9 of 10 
 
 

 

 
Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 11 – Modify Water-Related Tax Structures to Reduce Reliance on Ad Valorem Tax Revenue 

The Legislature could revise the tax structures 
for some water-related products or services and 
use the revenues to offset ad valorem taxes.  
For example, it could eliminate the sales tax 
exemption on bottled water (s. 212.08(4)(a), 
F.S.); currently sales tax is not collected for 
bottled water sold in retail outlets.  Another 
option would be to apply the gross receipts tax 
to water utilities (s. 203.01, F.S.); currently 
gross receipts are imposed on the sellers of 
electricity, natural or manufactured gas, and 
sellers of communication services. 

 Would reduce reliance on ad valorem taxes 
 Would provide a funding source that is 

directly tied to water supply, which is 
consistent with districts’ mission 

 

 Would require a statutory change 
 Would increase business taxes and consumer 

costs 
 Could decrease sales of bottled water, which 

would reduce revenue for water vendors 

Option 12 – Charge Fees for Access to and Use of District-owned Lands 

District governing boards could charge fees to 
access district-owned recreational areas. 
Currently, fees are charged to access state 
parks.  Districts could also charge fees for the 
use of some recreational infrastructure, such as 
campsites and boat launches. 

 Would reduce reliance on state trust funds 
currently used for land management 

 Users would help support resource 
management and recreational activities 

 Would increase cost for users 
 Fees may reduce overall visitation on district-

owned lands 
 May face potential opposition from users 

Option 13 – Institute a Re-inspection Fee for Continued Non-Compliance with Permit Conditions and District Regulations 

District governing boards could institute a re-
inspection fee for multiple inspections resulting 
from non-compliance.  For example, permittees 
found to be non-compliant after the first site 
inspection would have one opportunity to 
address the specific issue.  The district would 
charge a fee to re-inspect if the permittee 
remains non-compliant. 

 Would reduce reliance on ad valorem 
revenues that are currently used to subsidize 
regulatory program activities 

 Regulated entity would bear a higher portion 
of program costs 

 Would encourage permittees to address 
compliance issues immediately rather than 
risking a re-inspection fee 

 May reduce re-inspection workload 

 District would have to establish a fee 
schedule and mechanism to collect fees 

 May increase administrative costs and 
workload associated with fee collection 

Option 14 – Merge Northwest FL and Suwannee River Water Management Districts 

The Legislature could reduce the number of 
water management districts by merging 
Northwest Florida and Suwannee River Water 
Management Districts 

 Would reduce state general revenue that is 
currently used to subsidize Northwest 
Florida’s regulatory activities 

 Would increase operational efficiency (e.g., 
one governing board, eliminate or consolidate 
staff, share information technologies) 

 Would increase economies of scale for land 
acquisition, water supply projects, contracted 
services, and administration 

 Would allow developers that have projects in 
both districts to interact with a single district 

 Would require a constitutional amendment 
 Would increase taxes for residents within 

Northwest Florida Water Management District 
boundaries 

 May face potential resistance from the 
affected districts 

 May incur costs in establishing operations in 
new locations (e.g., transferring personnel, 
equipment, office space, and titles to land 
holdings to the consolidated district offices) 

 Developing new working relationships with 
stakeholders could result in short-run 
disruption of activities 



Florida Water Management District Budgets 
Options for Legislative and Governing Board Consideration 
February 12, 2008 
Page 10 of 10 
 
 

 

 
Option Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 15 – Modify Permit Fees to Avoid Reliance on Local Ad Valorem Tax Revenues 

The Legislature could direct the water 
management districts to set permit fees at a 
level to support district environmental resource 
permitting programs.  This would avoid the need 
to subsidize these activities with property tax 
revenues. 
 

 Would eliminate the need to subsidize 
program activities using taxpayer dollars 
(a portion of district ad valorem revenues are 
currently supplementing the district regulatory 
program costs) 

 The regulated entity would bear regulatory 
program costs, which is consistent with the 
Legislature’s general intent regarding 
regulatory programs (s. 216.0236, F.S.) 

 Would increase the costs of obtaining 
regulatory permits 

 Could increase un-permitted activities 
because individuals might be unwilling to pay 
increased fees 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis. 


	February 22 Meeting Agenda
	FAC Response Materials
	FAC Recommendations
	County Unfunded Mandates in Florida.Final 2016
	I. Introduction
	II. Historical Overview of County Home Rule and the Unfunded Mandates Provision
	A. Home Rule Powers
	B. The Unfunded Mandates Provision

	III. The Obligations and Uncertainty behind Mandates Delegated to County Governments
	A. County Operations
	B. County Buildings
	C. Public Safety and Courts
	D. Health and Human Services
	E. Parks, Recreation, and Libraries
	F. Growth Management
	ii. Development Permits
	G. Environmental Protection
	H. Transportation
	I. Constitutional Officers

	IV. Example of County Expenditures

	FAC Unfunded Mandates Cheat Sheet
	FAC Preemption Research
	FAC Preemption Cheat Sheet
	NACo Strong Economies Case Study
	FAC Additional Service Sharing Resources
	FAC State Reporting

	FLC Response Documents
	FLC Efficiency Task Force Recommendations and Comments 1.29.21
	FLC Efficiency Task Force Powerpoint
	Local Government Efficiency Task Force
	Top Efficiency Issues Identified by �City Managers, Finance Officers, City Clerks & City Attorneys
	Municipal Ordinance Adoption
	Waiver of Physical Quorum in Emergencies
	Legal Notice Requirements – Chapter 50, F.S.
	Legal Notice Requirements – Chapter 50, F.S., Cont’d
	Statutory Reporting Requirements 
	Statutory Reporting Requirements – Cont’d
	Suggestions
	Thank You


	Special Districts 2021 LGETF Presentation PDF
	List of Member Interests
	OPPAGA Materials
	OPPAGA - CRA Presentation
	CRAs
	Legislative Scope

	Background
	CRAs Created to Revitalize Slum and Blighted Areas 
	219 Active CRAs; Number per County Varies Widely

	Q & A
	What Are the Primary Activities of CRAs? 
	How Are CRAs Governed? 
	How Are CRAs Funded? 
	Do CRA Programs and Projects Overlap With Those of Other Entities? 
	Are CRAs Achieving Established Goals? 

	Options for Improvement
	Improve Governance 
	Ensure Appropriate Use of Funds
	Enhance Accountability
	Enhance Accountability

	QUESTIONS
	Contact Information

	Santa Rosa County Fire Memo FINAL
	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Fire and Emergency Medical Providers in Santa Rosa County

	Findings
	Fire control districts provide comparable services and primarily respond to medical incidents
	Fire control districts generally provide similar services to other fire departments, but differ in life support services offered
	From 2017 to 2019, fire control districts responded primarily to rescue and emergency medical calls, which is consistent with national patterns
	Deployment of fire departments and county ambulance service to EMS calls is a routine practice perceived by some experts as an efficient method to meet service demands

	Fire control district revenues generally covered expenditures over the past five years; districts reported that if growth in housing values continues, current budgets will meet future needs
	Fire control district revenues have increased largely due to housing market growth and changes to revenue sources and property tax rates
	Expenditures for most fire control districts have increased, primarily due to personnel costs
	Fire control district revenues generally covered expenditures over the past five years
	Fire control districts reported being able to fund future expenditures if growth in housing values continues

	Fire control districts use response time to assess performance and develop strategic plans but could consider utilizing additional performance information
	There are no mandated national or state performance measurements for fire districts
	Fire control districts track response times as a primary performance measure, but could utilize a few other measures to support planning

	Lifeguard Contract EMS
	Additional Information on Services Provided and Resources of Santa Rosa County Fire Control Districts


	OPPAGA - WMD Governance Options
	OPPAGA - WMD Report 1 07-28S
	OPPAGA - WMD Report 2 07-35S




